Myanmar

Monitoring the situation of children and women

Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2009-2010

Finling Grant and State

Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development



Ministry of Health

unicef

United Nations Children's Fund





Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2009 - 2010

Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development

Ministry of Health

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

October 2011

The Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS) was carried out by the Department of Planning under the Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development; in collaboration with the Department of Health Planning and Department of Health under the Ministry of Health, Myanmar. Financial and technical support was provided by the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF).

The MICS Steering Committee and MICS Working Committee were composed of members from the Planning Department, Foreign Economic Relations Department and Central Statistical Organization under the Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development; Department of Health, Department of Health Planning and Department of Medical Research (Central Myanmar) under the Ministry of Health; Department of Educational Planning and Training under the Ministry of Education; Department of Social Welfare under the Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement; Department of Population under the Ministry of Immigration and Population; Department of Progress of Border Areas and National Races and Department of Development Affairs under the Ministry of Progress of Border Areas and National Races; the General Administrative Department under the Ministry of Home Affairs; Myanmar Maternal and Child Welfare Association; and Myanmar Red Cross Society.

The survey has been conducted as part of the third round of MICS surveys (MICS3), carried out around the world in more than 50 countries, from 2005, following the first two rounds of MICS surveys that were conducted globally in 1995 and the year 2000. Survey tools are based on the models and standards developed by the global MICS project, designed to collect information on the situation of children and women in countries around the world. Additional information on the global MICS project may be obtained from www.childinfo.org.

Suggested citation: Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development and Ministry of Health, Myanmar, 2011. Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2009 - 2010 Final Report. Nay Pyi Taw, Myanmar. Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development and Ministry of Health, Myanmar.

Summary Table of Findings Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys (MICS) and Millennium Development Goals (MDG) Indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	MICS	MDG		
Торіс	Indicator	Indicator	Indicator	Value
	Number	Number		
NUTRITION				
Nutritional	6	4	Underweight prevalence	
status			Moderate	22.6 per cent
			Severe	5.6 per cent
	7		Stunting prevalence	
			Moderate	35.1 per cent
			Severe	12.7 per cent
	8		Wasting prevalence	
			Moderate	7.9 per cent
			Severe	2.1 per cent
Breastfeeding	45		Timely initiation of breastfeeding	75.8 per cent
	15		Exclusive breastfeeding rate	23.6 per cent
	16		Continued breastfeeding rate	
			at 12-15 months	91.0 per cent
			at 20-23 months	65.4 per cent
	17		Timely complementary feeding rate	80.9 per cent
	18		Frequency of complementary feeding	56.5 per cent
	19		Adequately fed infants	41.0 per cent
Vitamin A	42		Vitamin A supplementation (under-fives)	55.9 per cent
	43		Vitamin A supplementation (post-partum mothers)	66.4 per cent
Low birth	9		Low birth weight infants	8.6 per cent
weight	10		Infants weighed at birth	56.3 per cent
CHILD HEALTH				
Immunization	25		Tuberculosis immunization coverage	97.2 per cent
	26		Polio immunization coverage	95.9 per cent
	27		DPT immunization coverage	95.9 per cent
	28	15	Measles immunization coverage	90.7 per cent
	31		Fully immunized children	88.6 per cent
	29		Hepatitis B immunization coverage	95.9 per cent
Tetanus toxoid	32		Neonatal tetanus protection	91.8 per cent
Care of illness	33		Use of oral rehydration therapy (ORT)	66.3 per cent
	34		Home management of diarrhoea	15.5 per cent
	35		Received ORT or increased fluids, and continued feeding	50.3 per cent
	23		Care seeking for suspected pneumonia	69.3 per cent
	22		Antibiotic treatment of suspected pneumonia	34.2 per cent
Solid fuel use	24	29	Solid fuels	94.3 per cent

CHILD MORTALITY				
Child mortality	1	13	Under-five mortality rate	46.1 per thousand
	2	14	Infant mortality rate	37.5 per thousand
ENVIRONMENT				
Water and	11	30	Use of improved drinking water sources	82.3 per cent
Sanitation	13		Water treatment	34.5 per cent
	12	31	Access to improved sanitation facilities	84.6 per cent
REPRODUCTIVE	HEALTH			
Contraception	21	19c	Contraceptive prevalence	46.0 per cent
Maternal	20		Antenatal care	83.1 per cent
and newborn	44		Content of antenatal care	
nealth			Blood pressure measured	80.1 per cent
			Urine specimen taken	56.9 per cent
			Weight measured	63.6 per cent
	4	17	Skilled attendant at delivery	70.6 per cent
	5		Institutional deliveries	36.2 per cent
CHILD DEVELOP	MENT			
Child	46		Support for learning	57.9 per cent
development	47		Father's support for learning	44.0 per cent
EDUCATION				
Education	52		Pre-school attendance	22.9 per cent
	53		School readiness	39.8 per cent
	54		Net intake rate in primary education	74.4 per cent
	55	6	Net primary school attendance rate	90.2 per cent
	56		Net secondary school attendance rate	58.3 per cent
	57	7	Grade promotion from grade 1 to grade 5	93.3 per cent
	58		Transition rate to secondary school	95.3 per cent
	59	7b	Net primary completion rate	54.2 per cent
	61	9	Gender Parity Index	
			Primary	1.01 ratio
			Secondary	1.01 ratio
Literacy	60	8	Young female literacy rate	87.8 per cent
CHILD PROTECTI	ON			
Birth	62		Birth registration	72.4 per cent
registration	75		Prevalence of orphans	6.6 per cent
	78		Children's living arrangements	5.4 per cent
	68		Young women aged 15-19 currently married	7.4 per cent
HIV/AIDS				
HIV/AIDS knowledge	82	19b	Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young women	31.8 per cent
and attitudes	89		Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	65.0 per cent
	86		Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	34.9 per cent
	87		Women who know where to be tested for HIV	70.6 per cent
	88		Women who have been tested for HIV	17.6 per cent

Contents

	Summary Table of Findings Contents	i iii
	List of Tables	V
	List of Figures	vii
	List of Abbreviations	viii
	Acknowledgements	ix
	Executive Summary	xi
I.	Introduction	1
	Background	1
	Survey Objectives	3
II.	Sample and Survey Methodology	4
	Sample Design	4
	Questionnaires	4
	Iraining and Fieldwork	5
	Data Processing	/
III.	Sample Coverage and the Characteristics of Households and Respondents	8
	Sample Coverage	8
	Characteristics of Households	8
	Characteristics of Respondents	10
IV.	Child Mortality	11
V.	Nutrition	14
	Nutritional Status	14
	Breastfeeding	16
	Vitamin A Supplements	20
	Low Birth Weight	21
VI.	Child Health	24
	Immunization	24
	Tetanus Toxoid	26
	Oral Rehydration Treatment	27
	Care Seeking and Antibiotic Treatment of Pneumonia	29
	Solid Fuel Use	31
VII.	Environment	32
	Water and Sanitation	32
VIII.	Reproductive Health	36
	Contraception	36
	Antenatal Care	36
	Assistance at Delivery	38

IX. **Child Development** 40 Х. Education 42 Pre-School Attendance and School Readiness 42 Primary and Secondary School Participation 43 Young Female Literacy 47 XI. **Child Protection** 48 **Birth Registration** 48 Early Marriage 49 Orphans and Children's Living Arrangements 50 XII. **HIV/AIDS** 52 Knowledge of HIV Transmission 52 List of References 56 Appendix A. Sample Design 124 Appendix B. List of Personnel Involved in the Survey 130

Appendix C.	Estimates of Sampling Errors	134
Appendix D.	Data Quality Tables	176
Appendix E.	MICS Indicators: Numerators and Denominators	183
Appendix F.	Questionnaires	187

List of Tables

Table HH.1:	Results of household and individual interviews	59
Table HH.2:	Household age distribution by sex	60
Table HH.3:	Household composition	61
Table HH.4:	Women's background characteristics	62
Table HH.5:	Children's background characteristics	63
Table CM.1:	Child mortality	64
Table CM.2:	Child mortality by background characteristics	64
Table NU.1:	Child malnourishment (WHO Standard)	65
Table NU.1A:	Child malnourishment (NCHS Standard)	67
Table NU.2:	Initial breastfeeding	68
Table NU.3:	Breastfeeding	69
Table NU.4:	Adequately fed infants	70
Table NU.5:	Children's vitamin A supplementation	71
Table NU.6:	Post-partum mothers' vitamin A supplementation	72
Table NU.7:	Low birth weight infants	73
Table CH.1:	Vaccinations in first year of life	74
Table CH.1c:	Vaccinations in first year of life (continued)	74
Table CH.2:	Vaccinations by background characteristics	75
Table CH.2c:	Vaccinations by background characteristics (continued)	76
Table CH.3:	Neonatal tetanus protection	77
Table CH.4:	Oral rehydration treatment	78
Table CH.5:	Home management of diarrhoea	79
Table CH.6:	Care seeking for suspected pneumonia	80
Table CH.7:	Antibiotic treatment of pneumonia	81
Table CH.8:	Knowledge of the two danger signs of pneumonia	82
Table CH.9:	Solid fuel use	83
Table CH.10:	Solid fuel use by type of stove or fire	84
Table EN.1:	Use of improved water sources	85
Table EN.2:	Household water treatment	87
Table EN.3:	Time to source of water	89
Table EN.4:	Person collecting water	90
Table EN.5:	Access to sanitary means of excreta disposal	91
Table EN.6:	Use of improved water sources and access to improved sanitation	93
Table RH.1:	Use of contraception	94
Table RH.2:	Antenatal care provider	96
Table RH.3:	Antenatal care content	98
Table RH.4:	Assistance during delivery	99
Table CD.1:	Family support for learning	101
Table ED.1:	Early childhood education	103
Table ED.2:	Primary school entry	104
Table ED.3:	Primary school net attendance ratio	105
Table ED.4:	Secondary school net attendance ratio	106
Table ED.4A:	Secondary school age children attending primary school	107
Table ED.5:	Grade promotion rate from grade 1 to grade 5	108
Table ED.6:	Primary school completion and transition to secondary education	109
Table ED.7:	Education gender parity	110
Table ED.8:	Young female literacy	111

Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2009 - 2010 vi

Table CP.1:	Birth registration	112
Table CP.2:	Early marriage	113
Table CP.3:	Children's living arrangements and orphanhood	114
Table HA.1:	Knowledge of preventing HIV transmission	116
Table HA.2:	Identifying misconceptions about HIV/AIDS	117
Table HA.3:	Comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS transmission	118
Table HA.4:	Knowledge of mother-to-child HIV transmission	119
Table HA.5:	Attitudes toward people living with HIV/AIDS	120
Table HA.6:	Knowledge of a facility for HIV testing	121

List of Figures

Figure HH.1:	Age and Sex Distribution of Household Population, Myanmar, 2009-2010	9
Figure CM.1:	Infant Mortality and Under 5 Mortality rates by sex, mother's education level and wealth quintile, Myanmar 2009-2010	13
Figure NU.1:	Percentage of children under 5 who are undernourished. Myanmar, 2009-2010	15
Figure NU.2:	Percentage of mothers who started breastfeeding within one hour and within one day of birth. Myanmar, 2009-2010	17
Figure NU.3:	Infant feeding patterns by age: Per cent distribution of children aged under 3 years by feeding pattern by age group. Myanmar, 2009-2010	19
Figure NU.4:	Percentage of infants weighing less than 2,500 grams at birth. Myanmar, 2009-2010	23
Figure CH.1:	Percentage of children aged 12-23 months who received the recommended vaccination by 12 months, Myanmar, 2009-2010	25
Figure CH.2:	Percentage of women with a live birth in the last 24 months who are protected against neonatal tetanus. Myanmar, 2009-2010	26
Figure CH.3:	Percentage of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea who received oral rehydration treatment. Myanmar, 2009-2010	28
Figure CH.4:	Percentage of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea who received ORT or increased fluids, AND continued feeding. Myanmar, 2009-2010	29
Figure EN.1:	Percentage distribution of household members by source of drinking water. Myanmar, 2009-2010	32
Figure ED.1:	Percentage of children aged 36-59 months currently attending early childhood education by area of residence, mother's education level and wealth quintile. Myanmar 2009-2010	43
Figure ED.2:	Net primary completion rate by area of residence, mother's education level and wealth quintile. Myanmar, 2009-2010	46
Figure CP.1:	Percentage of children aged 0-59 months whose birth is registered by area of residence, mother's education level and wealth quintile. Myanmar, 2009-2010	49
Figure HA.1:	Per cent of women who have comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS transmission by education level, Myanmar, 2009-2010	53

List of Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
BCG	Bacillis-Cereus-Geuerin (Tuberculosis)
CEDAW	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
CEU	Central Epidemiological Unit
CRC	Convention on the Rights of the Child
CRR	Children's Response Rate
CSPro	Census and Survey Processing System
DHP	Department of Health Planning
DoH	Department of Health
DPT	Diphteria Pertussis Tetanus
EPI	Expanded Programme on Immunization
GPI	Gender Parity Index
GPS	Global Positioning System
HHRR	Household Response Rate
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IUD	Intrauterine Device
LAM	Lactational Amenorrhea Method
LHV	Lady Health Visitor
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
MICS	Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey
МоН	Ministry of Health
NAR	Net Attendance Rate
NHC	National Health Committee
ORS	Oral Rehydration Salt
ORT	Oral Rehydration Treatment
RHF	Recommended Homemade Fluid
PD	Planning Department
PPS	Probability proportional to size
PSU	Primary sampling unit
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Sciences
STI	Sexually Transmitted Infection
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TOT	Training of Trainers
UNGASS	United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
WFFC	World Fit for Children
WHO	World Health Organization
WRR	Women's Response Rate

Acknowledgements

Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (2009-2010) was conducted by Planning Department, Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development and Department of Health Planning, Ministry of Health with the collaborations of other ministries including Ministry of Education, Ministry of Home Affairs, Ministry of Progress of Border Areas and National Races and Development Affairs (Currently Ministry of Border Affairs), Ministry of Immigration, Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement, and NGOs such as Myanmar Maternal and Child Welfare Association, Myanmar Red Cross Society.

Deputy Director General of those ministries participated as members of Steering Committee which was chaired by Director General of Planning Department. Deputy Director General of Department of Health Planning acted as secretary for Steering Committee.

In addition, Deputy Director General of Department of Health Planning chaired the Technical Committee and directors of the above ministries participated as members.

UNICEF Myanmar has provided funding and technical assistance for data collection, analysis as well as publication of report. UNICEF Headquarters in New York and Regional Office in Bangkok have provided knowledge and advice in data processing and report preparation.

The Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development and Ministry of Health acknowledge officials from ministries concerned for their valuable suggestions and efforts. In addition, the ministries would like to thank UNICEF for their funding and assistance.

Special thanks also go to the Director General Daw Lai Lai Thein, Planning Department who dedicated best of the efforts during the survey and preparing the report.

Finally, the ministries thank the report main contributors, officials from Planning Department, Department of Medical Research (Central Myanmar) and UNICEF for their efforts and time in preparing the report.

©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Nyaung U Pho Cho



Executive Summary

Myanmar MICS 2009-2010 was conducted by the Planning Department, Department of Health Planning and the Department of Health. Its main objectives are to provide updated information for assessing the situation of children and women in Myanmar; to furnish data needed for monitoring progress towards the Millennium Development Goals and other internationally agreed goals; and to contribute to the improvement of data collection and monitoring systems in Myanmar.

Myanmar MICS 2009-2010 is a nationally representative survey designed to provide estimates at national level, for urban and rural areas and for each of the 17 states and divisions. Data collection was mainly undertaken between October 2009 and March 2010, although data were collected from four clusters already in June 2009. A sample of 29,250 households was selected, of which 29,238 households were successfully interviewed. Data were collected for indicators at household level, as well as for 38,081 individual women aged 15 to 49, and 15,539 children under five. Data are disaggregated by gender, area of residence, education level and wealth quintile.

It is notable that most indicators do not show any significant differences between male and female children. Urban areas show better outcomes than rural areas on most indicators. There is wide variation among states and divisions, with Rakhine, Chin and Shan (North) States showing lower coverage than other states and divisions on most indicators. Disparities according to wealth level are also visible on most indicators.

Child Mortality

One of the overarching goals of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and the World Fit for Children (WFFC) is to reduce infant and under-five mortality. It is important to note that estimates should be treated with caution, due to the inherent difficulty in collecting accurate birth history data. The Myanmar infant mortality rate has been estimated at 37.5 per 1,000 live births. Under-five mortality rate is estimated at 46.1 per 1,000 live births. Infant and under-five mortality rates are higher in rural than in urban areas. The two lowest wealth quintiles show similar outcomes on child mortality, whereas there is a steady decline in the trend from the middle quintile to the richest. Comparisons across time indicate a decline in levels of infant and under-five mortality rates.

Nutrition

Nutritional status

Children's nutritional status is a reflection of their overall health. Overall, 22.6 per cent of Myanmar children aged under five are moderately underweight, and 5.6 per cent are severely underweight. 35.1 per cent are moderately stunted or too short for their age, while 12.7 per cent are severely stunted. 7.9 per cent of children are moderately wasted or too thin for their height, and 2.1 per cent are severely wasted. Whereas there is little difference between urban and rural children in terms of wasting, more children in rural areas are underweight and stunted than children in urban areas. Undernourishment in children is more common in Rakhine and Chin than in other states and divisions. When the mother has secondary or higher education, a lower percentage of children are underweight or stunted than if the mother has primary education only, but this difference is not significant for wasting. Undernourishment is more common among children in the poorest households.

Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding for the first few years of life protects children from infection, provides an ideal source of nutrients, and is economical and safe. Three quarters (75.8 per cent) of Myanmar mothers initiate breastfeeding within one hour of birth, and 89.3 per cent of women begin breastfeeding within one day of birth. Mothers in urban areas are more likely to begin breastfeeding within one hour of birth than mothers in rural areas. The proportion of mothers initiating breastfeeding within one hour of birth increases with their level of education, as well as their wealth level.

In Myanmar, 23.6 per cent of children are exclusively breastfed up to age six months. The prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding is slightly higher in rural areas than in urban areas. Exclusive breastfeeding rate varies between 1.3 per cent in Rakhine and 40.6 per cent in Kachin. There is no association between the mother's education level and exclusive breastfeeding.

In total, 80.9 per cent of children aged 6-9 months receive breast milk and solid or semi-solid foods. By age 12-15 months 91 per cent of children are still breastfed, and 65.4 per cent of children are still breastfed at age 20-23 months. Continued breastfeeding of children aged 20-23 months is more common in rural areas than in urban areas, and is least common among mothers with secondary or higher education and among the richest mothers.

A total of 41 per cent of children aged 0-11 months are adequately fed. Infant feeding patterns are similar across urban and rural locations. Low levels of adequate feeding of infants is mainly due to the low prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding up to six months.

Vitamin A supplements

Vitamin A is essential for vision and proper functioning of the immune system. For countries with vitamin A deficiency problems, current international recommendations call for high-dose vitamin A supplementation every four to six months for all children aged 6-59 months. A total of 55.9 per cent of Myanmar children received a high-dose vitamin A supplement in the last six months. Additionally 11.9 per cent received the supplement more than six months ago, and 21.3 per cent of children received it but the mother or caregiver was unable to specify when. A total of 66.4 per cent of mothers with a birth in the previous two years received a vitamin A supplement within eight weeks of the birth. More mothers in rural areas than in urban areas received the supplement.

Low Birth Weight

Weight at birth is a good indicator of a mother's health and nutritional status, as well as the newborn's chances for survival and growth. Overall, 56.3 per cent of infants were weighed at birth, and 8.6 per cent of infants are estimated to weigh less than 2,500 grams at birth. The proportion of infants being weighed at birth varies across location of residence, mother's level of education and the economic status of the household. Whereas 81.6 per cent of infants in urban areas are weighed at birth, only 46.1 per cent of infants in rural areas are weighed at birth.

Child Health

Immunization

Immunization plays a key part in reducing child mortality. Immunization data for Myanmar MICS3 were collected from vaccination cards, from midwives' registers and mothers' recall if no written record was available. It could be interpreted that copying information from the records of midwives might affect data quality. It was found that 88.6 per cent of children are fully immunized by age one. Tuberculosis immunization coverage is reported as 97.2 per cent, and both polio and DPT immunization coverage were reported as 95.9 per cent. Measles immunization coverage is 90.7 per cent.

Tetanus Toxoid

Prevention of maternal and neonatal tetanus is to assure all pregnant women receive at least two doses of tetanus toxoid vaccine. As many as 91.8 per cent of Myanmar mothers with a birth in the last 24 months are protected against neonatal tetanus. The proportion of mothers who are protected against tetanus is slightly higher in urban areas (94.6 per cent) than in rural areas (90.7 per cent). There is also a difference according to wealth level. Whereas 87.2 per cent of the poorest women are protected against tetanus, the prevalence reaches 96.2 per cent among the richest women.

Oral Rehydration Treatment

Diarrhoea is the second leading cause of death among children under five worldwide. Overall, 6.7 per cent of under-five children had diarrhoea in the two weeks preceding the survey. Prevalence is highest in Chin State with 13.1 per cent. Overall, 66.3 per cent of children with diarrhoea in the last two weeks received either oral rehydration salts (ORS) or a recommended home-made fluid. Prevalence of oral rehydration treatment is highest among children in urban areas, children whose mother has secondary or higher education and children in the richest households.

Overall, 50.3 per cent of children with diarrhoea received either ORT or increased fluid intake and at the same time continued feeding. Under-five children in urban areas are more likely than children in rural areas to receive ORT or increased fluids and continue feeding when sick with diarrhoea. In terms of socioeconomic differences, 43.8 per cent of diarrhoea cases among the poorest children are properly managed, compared to 65.3 per cent among the richest children. Adequate home management of diarrhoea is lowest among children aged 0-11 months, with 36.5 per cent.

Care seeking and Antibiotic treatment of Pneumonia

Pneumonia is the leading cause of death in children, in Myanmar and worldwide, and the use of antibiotics in under-fives with suspected pneumonia is a key intervention. Overall, 2.6 per cent of children under five had symptoms of pneumonia during the two weeks preceding interview, and 69.3 per cent of these were taken to an appropriate provider. A higher percentage of children with symptoms of pneumonia were taken to an appropriate provider in urban areas (74.4 per cent) than in rural areas (67.3 per cent). Whereas there is no clear association between children being taken to an appropriate provider and the education level of the mother, children from the richest households (77.3 per cent) are more likely to be taken to an appropriate provider than children from the poorest households (62.5 per cent).

A total of 34.2 per cent of under-five children with suspected pneumonia in the two weeks preceding interview received antibiotics. Children whose mother has secondary or higher education (41.1 per cent) are more commonly treated with antibiotics when demonstrating symptoms of pneumonia than children whose mother has primary education (30.8 per cent).

Overall, 6.5 per cent of mothers or caregivers of children under five know of the two danger signs of pneumonia – fast and difficult breathing. The most commonly identified symptoms for seeking immediate health care are when the child develops a fever or becomes sicker. Awareness of the danger signs of pneumonia or recognition of other symptoms that would cause mothers or caregivers to take the child immediately to a health provider does not vary considerably between urban and rural areas or across other background characteristics.

Solid fuel use

Cooking and heating with solid fuels lead to high levels of indoor smoke, with a complex mix of healthdamaging pollutants. A total of 94.3 per cent of households in Myanmar use solid fuels for cooking. In rural areas and among the poorest households the proportion of households using solid fuels for cooking is above 99 per cent. Wood is the most commonly used type of fuel, followed by charcoal. As many as 97.6 per cent of households using solid fuels for cooking have an open stove or fire with no chimney or hood. Richer households (92.8 per cent) cooking with solid fuels less often have an open stove or fire with no chimney or hood than the poorest ones (99.3 per cent).

Environment

Water and Sanitation

Safe drinking water and sanitation are basic necessities for good health. Overall, 82.3 per cent of the population use an improved source of drinking water. While 93.2 per cent of those in urban areas use an improved source of drinking water, 77.6 per cent of those in rural areas do so. Whereas 66.8 per cent of the poorest use an improved source of drinking water, 95 per cent of the richest quintile do so. The most common sources of drinking water are tube well/ bore hole and protected well.

Overall, 34.5 per cent of Myanmar households use an appropriate water treatment method, mostly boiling (33.1 per cent) the water. The most common way of treating water is, however, straining it through a cloth, which will not make it safe to drink. Appropriate water treatment is most commonly found among the urban population and in the richest households.

For 35 per cent of households, the drinking water source is on the premises, and 50.6 per cent need less than 15 minutes to go to the water source and collect water. Households in urban areas more commonly have water on their premises than those in rural areas. Excluding households with water on their premises, the average time it takes to collect water is 10.1 minutes in rural areas and 7.3 minutes in urban areas.

In the majority of households (71.9 per cent) an adult female is the person usually collecting water when the water source is not on the premises. Children's involvement in water collection is generally low. The tendency of women bearing the main responsibility for water collection is strongest in rural areas and among the poorest households.

A total of 84.6 per cent of the population in Myanmar live in households with improved sanitation facilities. In urban areas 94.4 per cent have access to improved sanitation facilities, compared to 80.4 per cent in rural areas. In both rural and urban areas the most common type of sanitation facility is a pit latrine with slab. Population without access to sanitary facilities is found almost exclusively in rural areas, with 9.7 per cent of the rural population being without access to sanitary facilities.

Overall, 72.3 per cent of the population both use improved sources of drinking water and have access to a sanitary means of excreta disposal. This figure is highest in the urban areas and among the richest fifth of the population.

Reproductive Health

Contraception

Appropriate family planning is important to the health of women and children by preventing pregnancies that occur too early or too late in life; extending the period between births; and limiting the number of children. In Myanmar, 46 per cent of ever-married women use contraception. The most commonly used method is by injection. Contraceptive use is highest among women in urban areas, those with secondary or higher education, and among the richest women. Ever-married women with two children have the highest usage rate of contraceptives.

Antenatal care

The antenatal period presents important opportunities for reaching pregnant women with a number of interventions that may be vital to their health and well-being and that of their infants. Overall, 93.1 per cent of women with a birth in the two years preceding interview received antenatal care at least once during their pregnancy, from any type of provider. Coverage of antenatal care is higher in urban areas (98.3 per cent) than in rural areas (91 per cent). The vast majority of pregnant women with secondary or higher education as well as women in the richest households received antenatal care. Also as many as 86.2 per cent of the poorest women received antenatal care at least once during their pregnancy.

A total of 83.1 per cent of ever-married women with a birth in the last two years received antenatal care from a skilled provider. More women in urban areas (95 per cent) than women in rural areas (78.4 per cent) receive antenatal care from a skilled provider. Women with secondary or higher education and who are among the richest quintile have the highest prevalence of receiving antenatal care from a skilled provider.

Although prevalence of antenatal care is high, the content of antenatal care differs. In total, 80.1 per cent of women who received antenatal care had their blood pressure measured, 63.6 per cent had their weight measured, and 56.9 per cent had a urine sample taken. All indicators of content of antenatal care vary widely between states and divisions, as well as between urban and rural locations. Percentages on all aspects of antenatal care increase with the education level and wealth level of women.

Assistance at Delivery

Three quarters of all maternal deaths occur during delivery and the immediate post-partum period. The single most critical intervention for safe motherhood is to ensure a competent health worker with midwifery skills is present at every birth. In total, 70.6 per cent of births occurring in the two years preceding MICS interview were attended by skilled personnel. It is notable that in certain locations of the country (Chin and Shan (North)) more than one in ten women delivers without any attendance at all. The prevalence of skilled attendance at delivery is higher in urban areas than in rural areas, and also higher for women with secondary or higher education as well as among the richest women.

Over one third (36.2 per cent) of women with a birth in the last two years delivered in a health facility, either government or private. The highest rate of institutional delivery is found in Yangon with 68.9 per cent. As is the case with skilled attendance at delivery, the rate of institutional delivery is higher in urban areas, among women with secondary or higher education and among the richest women.

Child Development

Adults' engagement in activities with children is an important determinant for children's mental development in their first three or four years of life. For 57.9 per cent of the under-five children an adult member of household engaged in more than four activities that promote learning and school readiness during the three days preceding the interview. The average number of activities that adults engaged in with children was 3.8. Father's engagement in one or more such activities was 44 per cent. A higher proportion of children in urban areas than children in rural areas have engaged with an adult member of the household in activities that promote learning. Furthermore, more urban children have been involved in such activities with their father. Education level of both mother and father as well as socioeconomic background is shown to play a role for adult household members' engagement in activities with children.

Education

Pre-school Attendance and School Readiness

Attendance to pre-school education in an organized learning or child education programme is important for the readiness of children to school. Overall, 22.9 per cent of Myanmar children aged 36-59 months attend early childhood education. Pre-school attendance in urban areas (39.1 per cent) is more than double that of rural areas (15.9 per cent). Whereas 46 per cent of children in the richest households attend early childhood education, the rate of attendance among the poorest children is as low as 7.6 per cent. Children whose mother has secondary or higher education (35.7 per cent) have a higher attendance of early childhood education than children whose mother has primary education (15.8 per cent). 39.8 per cent of children in the first grade of primary school attended pre-school in the previous year.

Primary and Secondary School Participation

Universal access to basic education and the achievement of primary education by the world's children is one of the most important goals of the Millennium Development Goals. In Myanmar, 74.4 per cent of five-year-olds attend school, with no difference between girls and boys. Whereas there is only a slight difference between urban and rural areas, it is notable that while 80.7 per cent of children aged five from the richest households are in school, only 63.5 per cent of children from the poorest households have entered primary school.

A total of 90.2 per cent of children of primary school age, which is five to nine years, attend school. While only 77.3 per cent of children aged five are in school, 95 per cent of both seven- and eight-yearolds are in school, indicating a tendency for children to begin school late.

Only 58.3 per cent of children of secondary school age are in secondary school. The rate is as low as 28.2 per cent among children from the poorest households, compared to 85.5 per cent among children from the richest households. Overall, 11.9 per cent of secondary school aged children attend primary school. Among the poorest, almost one out of five (19.4 per cent) secondary school aged children are still in primary school, compared to 5 per cent of the richest children.

The net primary completion rate (percentage of nine-year-olds who are in the last grade of primary school) is 54.2 per cent. Only 31.2 per cent of nine-year-olds from the poorest households have reached the last year of primary school, compared to 78.7 per cent of children from the richest households.

The ratio of girls' to boys' school attendance is 1.01 for primary and 1.01 for secondary school. Whereas the Gender Parity Index for primary school does not vary much with area of residence or other background characteristics, there is more variance in the ratio of girls to boys in secondary school.

Young Female Literacy

Being literate is important for young women in enhancing job productivity and employment opportunities, as well as allowing them to access information. In Myanmar, 87.8 per cent of young women aged 15-24 are literate, that is they have attended secondary or higher education, or are able to read a short simple statement. Young urban women have a higher literacy rate than their rural peers, with 94.9 per cent against 84.9 per cent. Among the richest young women, the literacy rate is 96.6 per cent, compared to 69 per cent among young women from the poorest households.

Child Protection

Birth registration

The Convention on the Rights of the Child articles 7 and 8 state that every child has the right to a name and a nationality and the right to protection from being deprived of his or her identity. Birth registration is a fundamental means of securing these rights for children. A total of 72.4 per cent of under-five children have been registered at birth. Whereas 93.5 per cent of children in urban areas are registered at birth, 63.5 per cent of children in rural areas are registered. Children in the richest households and those whose mother has secondary or higher education have a higher rate of birth registration. Among children whose birth is not registered, the main reason is that the mother or caregiver did not know the child should be registered at birth.

Early marriage

Early marriage, before or around the age of 18, is a reality for many young girls worldwide. In Myanmar, 7.4 per cent of young women aged 15-19 are currently married. Prevalence of early marriage varies by geographic location, and is as high as 22.3 per cent in Shan (East). Girls and young women aged 15-19 are less commonly married if they have secondary or higher education, and if they live in the richest households.

Orphans and Children's Living Arrangements

One or both parents of 6.6 per cent of Myanmar children have died. In the age group 15-17, this figure reaches 13.5 per cent, indicating that more than one out of ten Myanmar children lose one or both parents by that age.

In total, 5.4 per cent of Myanmar children aged 0-17 do not live with a biological parent, although the parents of most of these children are still alive. In Mon State as many as 18.7 per cent of children live without their biological parents.

HIV/AIDS

One of the most important prerequisites for reducing the rate of HIV infection is accurate knowledge of how HIV is transmitted and ways of preventing transmission. In Myanmar most of the interviewed women (95.4 per cent) have heard about HIV/AIDS. Only 30.1 per cent of women, however, have comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS, that is, they know at least two ways of preventing HIV transmission and reject three common misconceptions. A greater proportion of urban women (41.2 per cent) than rural women (25 per cent) have comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS.

A total of 87 per cent of women know that HIV/AIDS can be transmitted from mother to child, and 65 per cent know all three ways of mother-to-child transmission. There is little difference between urban and rural areas, but the level of awareness varies markedly between states and divisions.

Overall 70.6 per cent of women know of a place where they can be tested for HIV, and 17.6 per cent have been tested. Urban women are almost three times as likely as rural women to get tested (33 per cent against 10.5 per cent). Compared to 33 per cent of women in the richest households who have been tested for HIV, 5.9 per cent of women in the poorest households have done so.

©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Nyaung U Pho Cho



I. Introduction

Background

This report is based on the Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey, conducted in 2009-2010 by the Planning Department, Department of Health Planning and Department of Health. The survey provides valuable information on the situation of children and women in Myanmar, and was based, in large part, on the need to monitor progress towards goals and targets emanating from recent international agreements: the Millennium Declaration, adopted by all 191 United Nations Member States in September 2000, and the Plan of Action of A World Fit for Children, adopted by 189 Member States at the United Nations Special Session on Children in May 2002. Both of these commitments build upon promises made by the international community at the 1990 World Summit for Children.

In signing these international agreements, governments committed themselves to improving conditions for their children and to monitoring progress towards that end. UNICEF was assigned a supporting role in this task (see table below).

A Commitment to Action: National and International Reporting Responsibilities

The governments that signed the Millennium Declaration and the World Fit for Children Declaration and Plan of Action also committed themselves to monitoring progress towards the goals and objectives they contained:

"We will monitor regularly at the national level and, where appropriate, at the regional level and assess progress towards the goals and targets of the present Plan of Action at the national, regional and global levels. Accordingly, we will strengthen our national statistical capacity to collect, analyse and disaggregate data, including by sex, age and other relevant factors that may lead to disparities, and support a wide range of child-focused research. We will enhance international cooperation to support statistical capacity-building efforts and build community capacity for monitoring, assessment and planning." (A World Fit for Children, paragraph 60)

"...We will conduct periodic reviews at the national and subnational levels of progress in order to address obstacles more effectively and accelerate actions...." (A World Fit for Children, paragraph 61)

The Plan of Action (paragraph 61) also calls for the specific involvement of UNICEF in the preparation of periodic progress reports:

"... As the world's lead agency for children, the United Nations Children's Fund is requested to continue to prepare and disseminate, in close collaboration with Governments, relevant funds, programmes and the specialized agencies of the United Nations system, and all other relevant actors, as appropriate, information on the progress made in the implementation of the Declaration and the Plan of Action."

Similarly, the Millennium Declaration (paragraph 31) calls for periodic reporting on progress:

"...We request the General Assembly to review on a regular basis the progress made in implementing the provisions of this Declaration, and ask the Secretary-General to issue periodic reports for consideration by the General Assembly and as a basis for further action."

Myanmar acceded to the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) in 1991, and to the Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) in 1997.

To align with the commitments under the CRC, Myanmar Child Law was enacted in 1993. This law is a comprehensive law on the rights of children and is in line with the CRC. It is to be implemented by the committees on the rights of the child at the different levels; and ministries concerned, such as the Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement, Ministry of Education, Ministry of Labour, and Ministry of Information.

Myanmar has put into place the following objectives in the Fourth Short-Term Five-Year Plan (2006/2007 to 2010/2011):

- to extend education and health sectors for human resource development
- to carry on for the development of border areas
- to carry on for the development of rural areas
- to alleviate poverty
- to exceed the targets of MDGs in implementing the national plans

Subsequently, the National Health Plan was drawn to contribute to the National Economic Plan. This plan covers the second five-year period of Myanmar Health Vision 2030. The main objectives of the National Health Plan (2006-2011) include striving for the development of a health system that will be in conformity with political, economic and social evolution in the country as well as global changes; enhancing the quality of health care and coverage; and accelerating rural health development activities.

Children's health situation is one of the priority areas for Myanmar. Under the guidelines laid down by the National Health Committee (NHC), the Ministry of Health, other related ministries and partner agencies are implementing programmes and projects that are directly or indirectly related to the wellbeing of children in Myanmar. However, the Five-year Strategic Plan for Child Health Development for 2010-2014 recognizes that a challenge remains in that many interventions for child health have been implemented as separate projects supported by the government and various partners. These do not cover the entire country, and there is some overlap in projects and limited consistency in training.

Recognizing that around one-third of all infant deaths occur in the neonatal period, the National Health Plan has given a high priority to newborn health care. Training courses on Essential Newborn Care have been included in pre-service training for doctors, nurses and midwives. Other child survival interventions outlined in the Five-year Strategic Plan for Child Health Development for 2010-2014 include extending the coverage for prevention and treatment of diarrhoea and pneumonia; expanding the coverage of exclusive breastfeeding of infants up to six months; and intensifying the implementation of programmes for treatment of acute moderate and severe malnutrition.

This final report presents the results of the indicators and topics covered in the survey.

Survey Objectives

The 2009-2010 Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey has as its primary objectives:

- To provide up-to-date information for assessing the situation of children and women in Myanmar;
- To furnish data needed for monitoring progress toward goals established in the Millennium Declaration, the goals of A World Fit for Children (WFFC), and other internationally agreed upon goals, as a basis for future action;
- To contribute to the improvement of data and monitoring systems in Myanmar and to strengthen technical expertise in the design, implementation, and analysis of such systems.

ΙΙ. Sample and Survey Methodology

Sample Design

The sample for the Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS) was designed to provide estimates on the selected MICS indicators on the situation of children and women at the national level, for urban and rural areas, and for the 17 states and divisions: Kachin, Kayah, Kayin, Chin, Mon, Rakhine, Shan (North), Shan (East), Shan (South), Ayeyarwaddy, Mandalay, Bago (East), Bago (West), Magwe, Sagaing, Tanintharyi, and Yangon.

Ten townships in Ayeyarwaddy Division and four townships in Yangon Division affected by Cyclone Nargis in 2008 were excluded from the sampling frame prior to sampling. Five townships in Shan (North) were removed from the sampling frame due to security concerns.

Urban and rural areas were identified as the main sampling domains, and the sample was selected in multi-stages. In each state/division, the clusters (primary sampling units) were distributed to urban and rural domains, proportional to the size of urban and rural populations in that state/division. After household listing and mapping activities were carried out within the selected enumeration areas, a sample of 29,250 households was drawn.

Forty of the selected enumeration areas were not visited because they were inaccessible due to security concerns during the fieldwork period. These were replaced with other clusters of similar size. Substitution of selected clusters is, however, not a recommended MICS procedure. The geographical location of the 40 clusters which were not accessible was as follows:

- 1. Kachin State 1 cluster 2. Kayin State 3 clusters
- 3. Rakhine State 1 cluster
- 1 cluster
- 4. Shan (North) State
- 5. Shan (East) State 19 clusters
- 6. Shan (South) State 10 clusters
- 7. Sagaing Division 1 cluster
- 8. Tanintharyi Division 4 clusters

For reporting national level results, sample weights are used. A more detailed description of the sample design can be found in Appendix A.

Questionnaires

Three sets of questionnaires were used in the survey: 1) a household questionnaire which was used to collect information on all de jure household members, the household, and the dwelling; 2) a women's questionnaire administered in each household to all women aged 15-49 years, with two different versions used according to marital status of the woman; and 3) an under-five questionnaire, administered to mothers or caregivers of all children under five living in the household. The Household Questionnaire included the following modules:

- Household Listing 0
- Education 0

o Water and Sanitation

Data were also collected about household expenditure, hand washing practices and use of bednets but this information has not been included in the MICS3 report.

The Questionnaire for Individual Women was administered to all women aged 15-49 years living in the households. Two versions of the questionnaire were used; one for women who currently were, or had ever been, married, and a separate and shorter questionnaire for women who had never been married. The questionnaire for ever-married women included the following modules:

- o Child Mortality
- o Tetanus Toxoid
- o Maternal and Newborn Health
- o Contraception
- o HIV knowledge

Never-married women were asked only the HIV knowledge module. It was considered too sensitive in the national cultural context to ask unmarried women about issues pertaining to contraceptive use, pregnancy and childbirth. This means that information related to contraceptive use and childbirth of unmarried women was not captured in the data.

The Questionnaire for Children under Five was administered to mothers or caregivers of children under five years of age¹ living in the households. In most cases the questionnaire was administered to mothers of under-five children; in cases when the mother was not listed in the household roster, a primary caregiver for the child was identified and interviewed. The questionnaire included the following modules:

- o Birth Registration and Early Learning
- o Vitamin A
- o Breastfeeding
- o Care of Illness
- o Immunization
- o Anthropometry

The questionnaires are based on the MICS3 model questionnaire². From the MICS3 model English version, the questionnaires were translated into Myanmar and were pre-tested in Pyan-ka-pyae Village in Pyinmana Township, Mandalay Division during May 2009. Based on the results of the pre-test, modifications were made to the wording and translation of the questionnaires. Questionnaires were not translated into any of the other languages spoken in Myanmar. A copy of the Myanmar MICS questionnaires is provided in Appendix F. In addition to the administration of questionnaires, fieldwork teams measured the weights and heights of children under five.

Training and Fieldwork

A series of trainings were conducted throughout the country³:

- o Training for 20 core trainers at central level in Nay Pyi Taw for six days in June 2009
- o Three rounds of Trainings of Trainers (TOT) at central level in July and August 2009

¹ The terms "children under 5", "children age 0-4 years", and "children aged 0-59 months" are used interchangeably in this report.

² The model MICS3 questionnaire can be found at www.childinfo.org, or in UNICEF, 2006.

³ Training for Myanmar MICS differs from standard recommended MICS procedures in that the time allocated for each training is shorter than the MICS recommendations of 12-14 days. MICS also recommends having only one level of training to ensure that all trainees undergo the same training. In Myanmar, training was arranged in the rainy season which led to difficult travel conditions for attendees.

- o State and division level trainings for data editors and enumerators in September and October 2009
- o Data entry training in November and December 2009

Initially, training for core trainers was conducted at central level in June 2009. A total of 20 core trainers comprised of senior and mid-level officials from various concerned departments attended the training, which lasted for six days including field practice for two days in Pyan-ka-pyae village, Pyinmana Township. MICS coordinators and team members from the Department of Health Planning (DHP) and the Planning Department (PD), some of whom have medical background and previous experience on conducting MICS, provided trainings. Specialists from the Nutrition Division of the Department of Health (DoH) conducted training on Anthropometry including theoretical background and practical measurements. Core trainers were assigned later as trainers for Training of Trainers (TOT).

In July and August 2009, three rounds of Trainings of Trainers (TOT) were conducted in Nay Pyi Taw with participants from central level and each state and division. Participants from five to seven states or divisions, with three to five representatives from each, attended each TOT. Each TOT lasted for 10 days including practice on field work for three days such as map sketching, GPS use, filling in cluster control sheets, interviewing practice using the three sets of questionnaires and anthropometry measurements for under-five children. Field practices were conducted in Ngan-sat, Pyan-ka-pyae and Nat-thu-ye villages in Pyinmana Township for each TOT. A total of 77 trainers attended TOTs, and they became supervisors for data collection teams.

State and division level trainings for data editors and enumerators were conducted from September to October 2009 in all 17 states and divisions. Each training lasted for seven days including three days field practice where questionnaire interviewing and anthropometric measurement for under-five children were practiced. These trainings were organized by trainers who had attended at central level TOT, one central level supervisor and one nutritional team leader for anthropometric training. In each state and division level training, 15 to 25 participants were trained.

Data entry training was carried out from November to December 2009. Trainings were conducted in the three data entry centres in Nay Pyi Taw, Yangon and Mandalay. Each training lasted for four days each, and a total of six data entry supervisors and 30 data entry operators were trained.

After the first round of training for core trainers, data collection was launched in the last week of June 2009 and was carried out by these trainers in four clusters in Mandalay. Actual mass data collection started in October 2009 following the state and division level training and concluded in March 2010. Data collection was supervised by members from the central level monitoring team of the Planning Department, the Department of Health Planning and the Department of Health, and staff from UNICEF.

A total of 63 data collection teams collected data throughout the country in 17 states and divisions. In each state or division, there were three to five data collection teams, and each team was composed of one supervisor, one data editor, four enumerators and one field guide. Most of the data editors were Health Assistants, Lady Health Visitors and Public Health Nurses from the Department of Health who had previous experience with anthropometric measurement and survey data collection. Field teams were accompanied by local authorities to facilitate appointment for interview, and in some cases midwives and Lady Health Visitors who helped translate interviews with respondents from a few clusters who could not speak Myanmar. Additionally, midwives assisted in recording data related to immunization.

Data Processing

Completed questionnaires from each state/division were sent back to three assigned data entry centres in Yangon, Mandalay and Nay Pyi Taw, where data entry was done for five to seven states or divisions in each centre. A total of 30 data entry operators and six data entry supervisors were involved in entering the data, and 11 microcomputers were used in each centre. Data were entered using the CSPro software. In order to ensure quality control, all questionnaires were double entered and internal consistency checks were performed. Procedures and standard programmes developed under the global MICS3 project and adapted to the Myanmar questionnaire were used throughout. Data entry started in December 2009 and concluded in April 2010⁴. Final consistency checks were then performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 18 software programme.

Data were analysed using SPSS Version 18 and the model syntax and tabulation plans developed by UNICEF for this purpose, with adaptations to the Myanmar questionnaire.

⁴ It is recommended MICS procedure to begin data entry simultaneously with fieldwork, so that any problems or inconsistencies in recording of data can be fed back to enumerators early in the fieldwork process. In Myanmar data entry began at a later date than fieldwork because the data entry programme was not yet ready in July. Mass data collection started in October, and data entry began in December.

III. Sample Coverage and the Characteristics of Households and Respondents

Sample Coverage

Of the 29,250 households selected for the sample, all households were found to be occupied. Of these, 29,238 were successfully interviewed for a household response rate of 100 per cent.⁵ In the interviewed households, 39,025 women aged 15-49 were identified. Of these, 38,081 were successfully interviewed, yielding a response rate of 97.6 per cent. In addition, 15,574 children under five were listed in the household questionnaire. Questionnaires were completed for 15,539 of these children, which corresponds to a response rate of 99.8 per cent. Overall response rates of 97.5 and 99.7 are calculated for the women's and under-five's interviews respectively (Table HH.1).

Since the household response rate was 100 per cent, no difference could be seen between urban and rural areas or across the 17 states and divisions of the country. Women's overall response rate is slightly lower than children's overall response rate because some women were not available in their home at the time of interview. Kachin State has the lowest women's response rate (89.5 per cent), followed by Bago (East) Division (94.1 per cent), Mandalay and Sagaing (95.4 and 95.6 per cent respectively). Other states and divisions showed a response rate for women above 98 per cent.

Variations in women's response rates across the country may be due to slight differences in cultural and socioeconomic situation, influencing the daily activities and working status of women.

Characteristics of Households

The age and sex distribution of the survey population is provided in Table HH.2. The distribution is also used to produce the population pyramid in Figure HH.1. In the 29,238 households successfully interviewed in the survey, 141,269 household members were listed. Of these, 66,712 were male, and 74,557 were female. These figures indicate the average household size at 4.8. Child population (aged 0-14 years) was found to be 30.1 per cent of total population, and labour age population (aged 15-64 years) was 64.2 per cent of total. The elderly population (65 years and older) was 5.7 per cent of total population. Of the survey population, 35.4 per cent were children aged 0-17 years, and 64.6 per cent were adults aged 18 years and above.

Table HH.3 provides basic background information on the households. Within households, the sex of the household head, states/division, urban/rural status and number of household members are shown in the table. These background characteristics are also used in subsequent tables in this report; the figures in the table are also intended to show the numbers of observations by major categories of analysis in the report.

The table also shows the proportions of households where at least one child under 18, at least one child under five, and at least one eligible woman aged 15-49 years were found.

⁵ Response rates were high because the assistance of the Peace and Development Council and Health Departments at local levels were enlisted to give support to the survey, and people in the selected enumeration areas were asked to stay at home during the survey period.



The weighted and unweighted numbers of households are equal at national level, since sample weights were normalized (See Appendix A). Weighted and unweighted numbers of households are also similar for the urban/rural distribution. When looking at the state and divisional level, however, it can be seen that weighted and unweighted numbers differ. In Kayah State, for example, the unweighted number of households is 1,170, while the weighted number is only 145. In Yangon, on the other hand, the unweighted number is 2,550, while the weighted number of households is 4,286. The reason for these differences is variation in size and population density across states and divisions. In smaller states and divisions, such as Kayah, there was over-sampling of households would be sufficient to provide reliable estimates. Because of its small population size, Kayah was assigned a low weight, which results in a lower weighted number of households. The same pattern of weighted and unweighted numbers can be seen also for individual women and children.

Weighted distribution of households by area of residence shows 29.6 per cent of households were located in urban areas and 70.4 per cent were located in rural areas. Out of the 17 states and divisions, Yangon and Mandalay Divisions have the highest weighted percentage of households (14.7 per cent and 14.5 per cent respectively) followed by Sagaing, Magwe and Ayeyarwaddy (11.2, 9.2 and 8.9 per cent respectively). These are the states and divisions providing the highest contribution to the national estimates. Kayah State had lowest weighted percentage of households (0.5 per cent), Chin State was second lowest (1 per cent) and Shan (East) was third lowest (1.5 per cent).

The largest group of households (43.1 per cent) had 4-5 members, and most had male heads of household (83.2 per cent). Forty-two per cent of households had at least one child aged under five years, and 90.6 per cent of households had at least one woman aged 15-49 years.

Characteristics of Respondents

Tables HH.4 and HH.5 provide information on the background characteristics of female respondents aged 15-49 years and of children under five. In both tables, the total numbers of weighted and unweighted observations are equal, since sample weights have been normalized (standardized). In addition to providing useful information on the background characteristics of women and children, the tables are also intended to show the numbers of observations in each background category. These categories are used in the subsequent tabulations of this report.

Table HH.4 provides background characteristics of female respondents aged 15-49 years. The table includes information on the distribution of women according to state/division, urban-rural areas, age, marital status, motherhood status of ever-married women, education⁶, and wealth index quintiles⁷. It is found that 31.5 per cent of women were residing in urban areas, and 68.5 per cent were residing in rural areas. Regarding the marital status of women, 60.6 per cent were ever-married (including divorced, separated and widowed women) and 39.4 per cent were never-married women. Among ever-married women, 92 per cent had ever given birth. Education status of more than half of the women (51.2 per cent) was secondary and above, while 39.4 per cent of women have primary school. 6.7 per cent of the women have received no education.

Some background characteristics of children under five are presented in Table HH.5. These include distribution of children by several attributes: sex, state/division and urban/rural area of residence, age in months, mother's or caregiver's education and wealth index quintiles.

Out of all under-five children, 51.4 per cent were male and 48.6 per cent were female. It was found that 29.6 per cent of children were residing in urban areas and 70.4 per cent were residing in rural areas. Regarding mothers' educational status, 45.7 per cent of children had mothers with primary level education, and 41.6 per cent had mothers with secondary or higher education. Also 10.3 per cent of children had mothers without education. It is worth noting that more children under five fall into the poorer wealth quintiles than in the richest. Whereas 24.7 per cent of children under five are found in the poorest households, 17.8 per cent are found in the richest households.



©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Mya Win

⁶ Unless otherwise stated, "education" refers to educational level attended by the respondent throughout this report when it is used as a background variable.

⁷ Principal components analysis was performed by using information on the ownership of household goods and amenities (assets) to assign weights to each household asset, and obtain wealth scores for each household in the sample (The assets used in these calculations were as follows: persons per sleeping room, types of floor, roof, wall, type of cooking fuel used, electricity, radio, television, mobile phone, land line phone, refrigerator, ownership of watch, bicycle, motorcycle, boat/animal drawn cart, car, motorized boat/ trawlargyi, source of drinking water used, type of sanitary facility). Each household was then weighted by the number of household members, and the household population was divided into five groups of equal size, from the poorest quintile to the richest quintile, based on the wealth scores of household assets, and is intended to produce a ranking of households by wealth, from poorest to richest. The wealth index does not provide information on absolute poverty, current income or expenditure levels, and the wealth scores calculated are applicable for only the particular data set they are based on. Further information on the construction of the wealth index can be found in Rutstein and Johnson, 2004, and Filmer and Pritchett, 2001.

IV. Child Mortality

One of the over-arching goals of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and the World Fit for Children (WFFC) is to reduce infant and under-five mortality. Specifically, the MDGs call for the reduction in under-five mortality by two thirds between 1990 and 2015. Monitoring progress towards this goal is an important but difficult objective.

The infant mortality rate is the probability of dying before the first birthday, while the under-five mortality rate is the probability of dying before the fifth birthday. Both are presented as probabilities per thousand live births.

The 2009-2010 Myanmar MICS used a direct estimation technique for calculating infant and under-five mortality rates⁸. The mortality rates were computed from information gathered from the birth history of the Women's Questionnaire. Ever-married women aged 15-49 years were asked whether they had ever given birth, and if they had, they were asked to report the number of sons and daughters who live with them, the number who live elsewhere, and the number who have died. In addition, they were asked to provide a detailed birth history of their children in chronological order starting with the first child. Women were asked whether a birth was single or multiple; the sex of the child; the date of birth (month and year); survival status; age of the child on the date of the interview if alive; and if not alive; the age at death of each live birth. Both infant and under-five mortality rates can be calculated from these data by dividing deaths for given ages and time periods by exposure to risk in terms of person-years of life lived by the reported children.

At the time of developing the questionnaire it was deemed too sensitive in the cultural context to ask unmarried women questions about childbirth or contraceptive use. Child mortality probabilities as calculated in the 2009-2010 Myanmar MICS therefore include only children born to mothers who were married at time of interview, or had been so in the past.

Estimates of child mortality are very sensitive to data errors and can in particular suffer from the omissions of deceased children. Estimating child mortality from the self-reporting of mothers presents a number of challenges. Because the death of a child can be difficult to speak about, some women might want to avoid any mention of children who died. Women may also misunderstand the questions and think only children who are still alive should be reported, and so inadvertently omit to mention children who died in early childhood. Estimation of infant mortality, using direct methods, also depends heavily on the correct reporting of age at death as under or over one year. It can be very challenging to obtain accurate reporting of age at death, and heaping on 12 months is common, where, for example, the age of a child who died before the age of one might be rounded upwards to one year.

Another issue to consider, which may contribute to data quality problems in mortality estimates, is that some infants who die shortly after birth might be mistaken for stillbirths in the absence of a skilled health provider⁹. In Myanmar, the rate of institutional delivery is low, and not all births occur in the presence of a skilled birth attendant. Birth asphyxia is a condition where the newborn is deprived of oxygen during delivery. The newborn baby might not be breathing and might have a low heart rate

⁸ This technique is the one used by the Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) project, and the questionnaire module used for Myanmar MICS is based on the DHS questionnaire.

⁹ The Myanmar Fertility and Reproductive Health Survey 2007 estimates the prevalence of stillbirths as 1.33 per cent of all pregnancies

and a bluish skin tone. Without emergency health care the baby could die. The mother and any birth attendant without relevant medical expertise might, however, think that the baby was born dead. In such cases the mother would therefore not report the birth of this child to the interviewer. Although there is no evidence to prove the extent to this problem, there is suggestion that it could possibly lead to the under-reporting of deceased children.

In addition to issues surrounding mothers' reporting of mortality, survey-based estimates of infant and under-five mortality rates should be treated with some caution due to sampling issues. Account needs to be taken of sampling error. As infant death is typically a rare event, sampling error for survey-based mortality estimates can be substantial, implying a great deal of uncertainty regarding the true population rate¹⁰.

Furthermore, in a household survey population groups such as migrants and those living in temporary settlements tend not to be included. In the Myanmar context it also has to be acknowledged that certain areas of the country were excluded from the sampling frame, as mentioned in the methodology section. Areas were excluded due to security concerns, and the area affected by Cyclone Nargis in 2008 was also omitted. The situation of children in the excluded areas might be more precarious than in the rest of the country, and the infant and under-five mortality rates might have shown a higher estimate if these areas were included.

Detailed findings of infant mortality and under-five mortality rates per 1,000 live births for national, urban and rural areas by period of analysis of five years are shown in Table CM.1. For the most recent time period of 0-4 years immediately preceding the time of interview, which is from 2005/2006 to 2009/2010, the infant mortality rate for Myanmar has been estimated at 37.5 per 1,000 live births. The under-five mortality rate is 46.1 per 1,000 live births. In urban areas of the country the infant mortality rate is 24.5 per 1,000 live births for the most recent time period, while the under-five mortality rate is 29.1 per 1,000 live births. The corresponding figures for rural areas are 42.8 per 1,000 live births and 52.9 per 1,000 live births respectively. This suggests that children in urban areas are more likely to survive to both their first and fifth birthday than their peers in rural areas. Mortality rates have not been calculated at state/divisional level because the sample size was not considered sufficient to provide reliable estimates.

The infant and under-five mortality estimates for the most recent five-year period shows a wide variation by wealth quintile (Table CM.2). Whereas the infant mortality rate for the poorest households is 49.2, it is only 13.2 for the richest households. Along the same lines, the under-five mortality rate is 62.4 among the poorest households and 17.2 among the richest. The two bottom quintiles display very similar outcomes, while from the middle quintile and up to the richest there is a steady decline in mortality of children. Infant and under-five mortality rates also indicate an association with the education level of the mother. Where the mother has primary education only, the infant mortality rate is 43.1 and the under-five mortality rate is 50.9. This contrasts with an infant mortality rate of 26.8 and an under-five mortality rate of 32.9 where the mother has secondary or higher education. Fewer boys than girls survive infancy. While the infant mortality rate is 41.8 for boys, it is 33.0 for girls.

For both the national level and rural and urban areas the figures for the most recent five-year period are lower than for the previous two five-year periods, indicating a declining trend in child mortality, although we have to be cautious in drawing conclusions about the existence and strength of this decline.

¹⁰ The range of uncertainty has not been calculated for infant and under-five mortality estimates.



V. Nutrition

Nutritional Status

Children's nutritional status is a reflection of their overall health. When children have access to an adequate food supply, are not exposed to repeated illness, and are well cared for, they reach their growth potential and are considered well nourished.

Malnutrition is associated with more than half of all child deaths worldwide. Undernourished children are more likely to die from common childhood ailments, and for those who survive, have recurring sicknesses and faltering growth. Three quarters of the children who die from causes related to malnutrition were only mildly or moderately malnourished – showing no outward sign of their vulnerability. The Millennium Development target is to reduce by half the proportion of people who suffer from hunger between 1990 and 2015. The World Fit for Children goal is to reduce the prevalence of malnutrition among children under five years of age by at least one third (between 2000 and 2010), with special attention to children under two years of age. A reduction in the prevalence of malnutrition will assist in the goal to reduce child mortality.

In a well-nourished population, there is a reference distribution of height and weight for children under age five. Under-nourishment in a population can be gauged by comparing children to a reference population. The reference population used in this report is the WHO Child Growth Standards, which is recommended for use by UNICEF and the World Health Organization. Each of the three nutritional status indicators can be expressed in standard deviation units (z-scores) from the median of the reference population.

Weight-for-age is a measure of both acute and chronic malnutrition. Children whose weight-for-age is more than two standard deviations below the median of the reference population are considered moderately or severely underweight while those whose weight-for-age is more than three standard deviations below the median are classified as severely underweight.

Height-for-age is a measure of linear growth. Children whose height-for-age is more than two standard deviations below the median of the reference population are considered short for their age and are classified as moderately or severely stunted. Those whose height-for-age is more than three standard deviations below the median are classified as severely stunted. Stunting is a reflection of chronic malnutrition as a result of failure to receive adequate nutrition over a long period and recurrent or chronic illness.

Finally, children whose weight-for-height is more than two standard deviations below the median of the reference population are classified as moderately or severely wasted, while those who fall more than three standard deviations below the median are severely wasted. Wasting is usually the result of a recent nutritional deficiency. The indicator may exhibit significant seasonal shifts associated with changes in the availability of food or disease prevalence.

In MICS, weight and height of all children under five years of age were measured using anthropometric equipment recommended by UNICEF (UNICEF, 2006). Findings in this section are based on the results of these measurements.
Table NU.1 shows percentages of children classified into each of these categories, based on the anthropometric measurements that were taken during fieldwork. Additionally, the table includes the percentage of children who are overweight, which takes into account those children whose weight for height is above two standard deviations from the median of the reference population.

In Table NU.1, children who were not weighed and measured (approximately 0.5 per cent of children) and those whose measurements are outside a plausible range are excluded. Percentage of under-five children who are severely or moderately undernourished determined by WHO growth standard is shown in Table NU.1. The similar findings analysed by NCHS standard is shown in Table NU.1A.

In Myanmar, nearly one in four children under age five (22.6 per cent) are moderately underweight, and 5.6 per cent are classified as severely underweight (Table NU.1). More than a third of children (35.1 per cent) are moderately stunted or too short for their age, and 7.9 per cent are moderately wasted or too thin for their height.



There is no notable difference in the nutritional status of male and female children. Children in rural areas appear more likely to be underweight and stunted than children in urban areas, but there is little difference in level of wasting. About one in four (24.2 per cent) of rural children are moderately or severely underweight, and more than one third (38.4 per cent) of rural children are moderately or severely stunted. Children in Rakhine and Chin States are more likely to be undernourished than other children. In Rakhine, a total of 37.4 per cent of children are either moderately or severely underweight prevalence is 30.7 per cent in Chin. Also in Shan (North), Ayeyarwaddy and Magwe around one in four children are underweight. Severe or moderate stunting is as high as 58 per cent in Chin, and 49.9 per cent in Rakhine.

Children's nutritional status is correlated with the educational level of their mothers, as well as their socioeconomic background. Those children whose mothers have secondary or higher education are less likely to be underweight and stunted compared to children of mothers with primary or no education, whereas variation is smaller for wasting. Distribution across wealth quintiles shows that higher percentages of undernourished children are found in poorer quintiles. For example, among the poorest children 33.1 per cent are moderately underweight and 9.7 per cent of children are severely underweight, contrasting with 13.5 per cent of the richest children who are moderately underweight and 2.7 per cent who are severely underweight. Close to five out of 10 of the poorest children are stunted, compared to one in five of the richest.

The age pattern shows that the highest prevalence of underweight is found in children aged 48-59 months, highest coverage of stunting is found in children aged 24-47 months and highest rate of wasting is found in children aged 12-23 months (Figure NU.1). This pattern of wasting is expected and is related to the age at which many children cease to be breastfed and are exposed to contamination in water, food, and environment.

Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding for the first few years of life protects children from infection, provides an ideal source of nutrients, and is economical and safe. However, many mothers stop breastfeeding too soon, and there are often pressures to switch to infant formula, which can contribute to growth faltering and micronutrient malnutrition and is unsafe if clean water is not readily available. The World Fit for Children goal states that children should be exclusively breastfed for six months and continue to be breastfed with safe, appropriate and adequate complementary feeding for up to two years of age and beyond.

WHO/UNICEF have the following feeding recommendations:

- Exclusive breastfeeding for first six months
- Continued breastfeeding for two years or more
- Safe, appropriate and adequate complementary foods beginning at six months
- Frequency of complementary feeding: two times per day for 6- to 8-month-olds; three times per day for 9- to 11-month-olds

It is also recommended that breastfeeding be initiated within one hour of birth.

The indicators of recommended child feeding practices are as follows:

- Exclusive breastfeeding rate (< 6 months and < 4 months)
- Timely complementary feeding rate (6-9 months)
- Continued breastfeeding rate (12-15 and 20-23 months)
- Timely initiation of breastfeeding (within one hour of birth)
- Frequency of complementary feeding (6-11 months)
- Adequately fed infants (0-11 months)

Table NU.2 provides the proportion of women who start breastfeeding their infants within one hour of birth, and women who begin breastfeeding within one day of birth (which includes those who begin within one hour). Overall, 75.8 per cent of women in Myanmar start breastfeeding within one hour of birth. Rakhine has the lowest rate of initiation of breastfeeding within one hour of birth (44.2 per cent) followed by Bago (East) and Tanintharyi (63.4 and 67.7 per cent respectively). In comparison 91.6 per cent of mothers in Mon begin breastfeeding their baby within one hour of birth. A higher percentage of mothers from urban areas start breastfeeding within one hour of birth than mothers



from rural areas (81.3 per cent vs 73.5 per cent). Percentage of breastfeeding initiated within one hour of birth increases from 67.9 per cent for mothers with no education to 80.5 per cent of mothers with secondary and higher education; while 73.1 per cent of women with primary education breastfeed their baby within one hour of birth. It is also observed that the percentage increases from 67 per cent of mothers in the poorest quintile to 82 per cent of mothers in the richest quintile.

Nearly 90 per cent of women initiate breastfeeding within one day of birth. The level is overall high across the country. Rakhine has the lowest percentage of initiation of breastfeeding within one day of birth (80.7 per cent) followed by Bago (East) and Mandalay (81.6 and 82 per cent respectively). There is little difference between mothers with primary and secondary education, or between women from urban and rural areas, regarding initiation of breastfeeding within one day. It is found that the percentages increase only slightly with increased wealth, from 86.1 per cent of mothers in the poorest quintile to 90.6 per cent of mothers in the richest quintile.

In Table NU.3, breastfeeding status is based on the reports of mothers/caregivers of children's consumption of food and fluids in the 24 hours prior to the interview. Exclusively breastfed refers to infants who received only breast milk (and vitamins, mineral supplements, or medicine). The table shows exclusive breastfeeding of infants during the first six months of life (separately for 0-3 months and 0-5 months), as well as complementary feeding of children aged 6-9 months and continued breastfeeding of children at 12-15 and 20-23 months of age.

Approximately one fourth of children aged less than six months are exclusively breastfed (23.6 per cent), a level considerably lower than recommended. Exclusive breastfeeding rate is slightly higher among infants aged less than four months, at 29.3 per cent. At age 6-9 months, 80.9 per cent of children receive breast milk and solid or semi-solid foods. By age 12-15 months, 91 per cent of children are still being breastfed and by age 20-23 months, 65.4 per cent are still breastfed. Rakhine State has lowest level of exclusive breastfeeding up to age six months (1.3 per cent only) followed by Kayin (9.4 per cent) and Shan (North) (12.9 per cent). The highest prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding up to age six months is found in Mon State with 47 per cent.

There is no difference in the feeding pattern for boys and girls. There is also very little difference in feeding patterns between urban and rural areas. Rural mothers (24.8 per cent) appear slightly more likely to exclusively breastfeed their baby up to age six months than urban mothers (20.8 per cent). Whereas there is no difference between urban and rural mothers in their likelihood to continue breastfeeding their baby up to 15 months, continued breastfeeding of children aged 20-23 months is more common in rural areas (68.7 per cent) than in urban areas (58 per cent). Six- to nine- monthold children in urban areas (84 per cent) are slightly more likely than rural children (79.9 per cent) to receive breast milk and solid/mushy food.

Looking at the association between the education levels of mothers and feeding pattern of their children, there is very little difference in terms of exclusive breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices between mothers who have primary education and those who have secondary or higher education. The 20-23 months old children whose mothers have secondary or higher education are, however, less likely to be breastfed (57.8 per cent), compared to 70.4 per cent of children whose mothers have primary education. Similarly, no major difference between children of different economic status is found regarding prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding up to six months and complementary feeding for children aged 6-9 months. However, prevalence of continued breastfeeding is lower in the richest quintile for children aged more than 12 months. While 77.5 per cent of the poorest 20-23 month- olds are still being breastfed, this goes down to 48.9 per cent among the richest children.

Figure NU.3 shows the detailed pattern of breastfeeding by the child's age in months. Even at the earliest ages, the majority of children receive liquids or foods other than breast milk. By the end of the sixth month, the percentage of children exclusively breastfed is below 5 per cent. Nearly one half of the children (44.6 per cent) still receive breast milk after two years.



The adequacy of infant feeding in children under 12 months is provided in Table NU.4. Different criteria of adequate feeding are used depending on the age of the child. For infants aged 0-5 months, exclusive breastfeeding is considered as adequate feeding. Infants aged 6-8 months are considered to be adequately fed if they receive breast milk and complementary food at least two times per day, while infants aged 9-11 months are considered to be adequately fed if they receive breast milk and eat complementary food at least three times a day.

As already noted above, nearly one fourth of children less than six months (23.6 per cent) are exclusively breastfed. While 69.2 per cent of children aged 6-8 months received breast milk and complementary food at least two times in prior 24 hours, nearly half of the children aged 9-11 months (45.2 per cent) received breast milk and complementary food at least three times in prior 24 hours. As a result of these feeding patterns, only 56.5 per cent of children aged 6-11 months are being adequately fed. Adequate feeding among all infants (aged 0-11 months) drops to 41 per cent.

Adequate feeding of infants aged 0-11 months is lowest in Kayin State with 23.7 per cent. This is due to low level of exclusive breastfeeding up to six months (9.4 per cent) and low prevalence of 9-11 month-olds receiving breast milk and complementary food three times a day, with only 12.2 per cent. Adequate feeding of infants aged 0-11 months is highest in Kayah with 51.9 per cent. It is interesting to note that infant feeding patterns are very similar across urban and rural locations. The most notable difference is that 9-11 month-olds in urban areas (49.7 per cent) are more likely than their rural peers (43.6 per cent) to receive breast milk and complementary food at least three times a day.

Similarly, feeding pattern does not show strong association with the mother's level of education. The most apparent difference in adequate feeding can be found in children aged 6-8 months, who are more likely to receive breast milk and complementary food at least twice a day if their mother has secondary

or higher education (73.5 per cent) than if their mother has primary education only (65.7 per cent). In the same way, adequate feeding does not show strong association with the mother's economic background. The poorest 9-11 month-olds are, however, less likely to receive the recommended feeding, at 41.7 per cent, compared to 50.9 per cent of the richest.

Vitamin A Supplements

Vitamin A is essential for eye health and proper functioning of the immune system. It is found in foods such as milk, liver, eggs, red and orange fruits, red palm oil and green leafy vegetables, although the amount of vitamin A readily available to the body from these sources varies widely. In developing areas of the world, where vitamin A is largely consumed in the form of fruits and vegetables, daily per capita intake is often insufficient to meet dietary requirements. Inadequate intakes are further compromised by increased requirements for the vitamin as children grow or during periods of illness, as well as increased losses during common childhood infections. As a result, vitamin A deficiency is quite prevalent in the developing world and particularly in countries with the highest burden of underfive deaths.

The 1990 World Summit for Children set the goal of virtual elimination of vitamin A deficiency and its consequences, including blindness, by the year 2000. This goal was also endorsed at the Policy Conference on Ending Hidden Hunger in 1991, the 1992 International Conference on Nutrition, and the UN General Assembly's Special Session on Children in 2002. The critical role of vitamin A for child



©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Myo Thame

health and immune function also makes control of deficiency a primary component of child survival efforts, and therefore critical to the achievement of the fourth Millennium Development Goal: a two-thirds reduction in under-five mortality by the year 2015.

For countries with vitamin A deficiency problems, current international recommendations call for high-dose vitamin A supplementation every four to six months, targeted to all children aged 6-59 months living in affected areas. Providing young children with two high-dose vitamin A capsules a year is a safe, cost-effective, efficient strategy for eliminating vitamin A deficiency and improving child survival. Giving vitamin A to new mothers who are breastfeeding helps protect their children during the first months of life and helps to replenish the mother's stores of vitamin A, which are depleted during pregnancy and lactation. For countries with vitamin A supplementation programmes, the definition of the indicator is the percentage of children 6-59 months of age receiving at least one high-dose vitamin A supplement in the last six months.

Based on UNICEF/WHO guidelines, the Myanmar Ministry of Health recommends that children aged 6-11 months be given one high-dose vitamin A capsule, and children aged 12-59 months given a vitamin A capsule every six months. In some parts of the country, vitamin A capsules are linked to immunization services and are given when the child has contact with these services after six months of age. It is also recommended that mothers take a vitamin A supplement within eight weeks of giving birth due to increased vitamin A requirements during pregnancy and lactation. Vitamin A distribution under the national nutrition programme in Myanmar was undertaken in the months of August – September 2009 and in February 2010, coinciding with the MICS fieldwork.

Within the six months prior to the MICS interview, 55.9 per cent of children aged 6-59 months received a high dose vitamin A supplement (Table NU.5). Additionally 11.9 per cent did not receive the supplement in the last six months but did receive one prior to that time. Finally, 21.3 per cent of children received a vitamin A supplement at some time in the past, but their mother/caregiver was unable to specify when. Coverage of vitamin A supplementation in the last six months is lowest in Shan (North) (20.4 per cent) followed by Rakhine (32.5 per cent) and Chin State (33.9 per cent). In Shan (North), 26.1 per cent of children have never received a vitamin A supplement. The highest prevalence of vitamin A supplementation in the past six months is found in Kayin, with 84.8 per cent.

The age pattern of vitamin A supplementation shows that supplementation in the last six months is lowest, with 36.5 per cent, among children aged 6-11 months, and highest with 62.2 per cent among children aged 12-23 months. The association between mother's level of education and the likelihood of the child receiving Vitamin A supplementation indicates that the most important factor is whether or not the mother has received education, rather than at which level she has completed her education. There is no significant difference between children whose mothers have primary or secondary and higher education. On the other hand, while 58.5 per cent of children whose mothers have primary education, have received a vitamin A dose in the last six months, the corresponding figure is only 41.7 per cent for children whose mother is without any education.

A total of 66.4 per cent of mothers with a birth in the previous two years before the MICS survey received a vitamin A supplement within eight weeks of birth (Table NU.6). This percentage is highest in Shan (East) at 84.9 per cent and Mon at 84.6 per cent, and lowest in Shan (North) at 33.5 per cent. While urban mothers had received a high-dose vitamin A supplement in 61.7 per cent of cases, 68.3 per cent of rural mothers had received the supplement. As is the case with vitamin A supplement among children, there is very little difference in the likelihood of receiving a vitamin A supplement between women of primary and women of secondary or higher education. Women with no education are, however, less likely (57.1 per cent) to receive the supplement than women with primary education (66.4 per cent).

Low Birth Weight

Weight at birth is a good indicator not only of a mother's health and nutritional status but also the newborn's chances for survival, growth, long term health and psychosocial development. Low birth weight (less than 2,500 grams) carries a range of grave health risks for children. Babies who were undernourished in the womb face a greatly increased risk of dying during their early months and years. Those who survive may have impaired immune function and increased risk of disease; they are likely to remain undernourished, with reduced muscle strength, throughout their lives, and suffer a higher incidence of diabetes and heart disease in later life. Children born underweight also tend to have a lower IQ and cognitive disabilities, affecting their performance in school and their job opportunities as adults.

In the developing world, low birth weight stems primarily from the mother's poor health and nutrition. Three factors have most impact: the mother's poor nutritional status before conception, short stature (due mostly to under nutrition and infections during her childhood), and poor nutrition during the pregnancy. Inadequate weight gain during pregnancy is particularly important since it accounts for a large proportion of foetal growth retardation. Moreover, diseases such as diarrhoea and malaria, which are common in many developing countries, can significantly impair foetal growth if the mother becomes infected while pregnant.

In the industrialized world, cigarette smoking during pregnancy is the leading cause of low birth weight. In developed and developing countries alike, teenagers who give birth when their own bodies have yet to finish growing run the risk of bearing underweight babies.

One of the major challenges in measuring the incidence of low birth weight is the fact that more than half of infants in the developing world are not weighed. In the past, most estimates of low birth weight for developing countries were based on data compiled from health facilities. However, these estimates are biased for most developing countries because the majority of newborns are not delivered in facilities, and those who are represent only a selected sample of all births.

Because many infants are not weighed at birth and those who are weighed may be a biased sample of all births, the reported birth weights usually cannot be used to estimate the prevalence of low birth weight among all children. Therefore, the percentage of births weighing below 2,500 grams is estimated from two items in the questionnaire: the mother's assessment of the child's size at birth (i.e., very small, smaller than average, average, larger than average, very large) and the mother's recall of the child's weight or the weight as recorded on a health card if the child was weighed at birth.

Overall, 56.3 per cent of infants are weighed at birth and approximately 8.6 per cent of infants are estimated to weigh less than 2,500 grams at birth (Table NU.7). The likelihood of the infant being weighed at birth varies across location of residence, mother's level of education and the economic status of the household. In Rakhine as little as 17.1 per cent of infants are weighed at birth and the percentage is also low in Chin at 19.2 per cent. In contrast more than 90 per cent of infants are being weighed at birth in Mon State and Shan (East). Whereas 81.6 per cent of urban infants are weighed at birth, this is considerably lower in rural areas, with 46.1 per cent. Looking at the education level of the mother, it is seen that while 72.5 per cent of infants whose mother has secondary or higher education are weighed at birth, the percentage drops to 46.6 per cent among infants whose mother has primary education. When the mother has no education, the likelihood of the infant being weighed at birth is less than one third (30.3 per cent). The majority of infants from the richest households are weighed at birth is seen that with 30.3 per cent of infants from the poorest households.

Variation across states and divisions in prevalence of low birth weight is shown in Figure NU.4. Kayin and Bago (East) have the highest percentage of live births below 2,500 grams (11.1 per cent in each place). The lowest prevalence of low birth weight is found in Shan (East) with 6.2 per cent. Differences across background characteristics such as urban or rural residence, mother's education level or economic background are not significant. This might be attributed to the wide variations in practice regarding whether or not infants are weighed at birth.

¹¹ For a detailed description of the methodology, see Boerma, Weinstein, Rutstein and Sommerfelt, 1996.



VI. Child Health

Immunization

The Millennium Development Goal (MDG) 4 is to reduce child mortality by two thirds between 1990 and 2015. Immunization plays a key part in this goal. Immunizations have saved the lives of millions of children in the three decades since the launch of the Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) in 1974. Worldwide there are still 27 million children overlooked by routine immunization and as a result, vaccine-preventable diseases cause more than 2 million deaths every year.

A World Fit for Children goal is to ensure full immunization of children under one year of age at 90 per cent nationally, with at least 80 per cent coverage in every district or equivalent administrative unit.

According to UNICEF and WHO guidelines, a child should receive a BCG vaccination to protect against miliary tuberculosis or TB meningitis, three doses of DPT to protect against diphtheria, pertussis, and tetanus, three doses of polio vaccine, and a measles vaccination by the age of 12 months.

The standard MICS practice is to ask mothers to provide vaccination cards for children under the age of five, and interviewers copy vaccination information from the cards onto the MICS questionnaire. Different from such a standard procedure, in Myanmar MICS, vaccination information was collected not only from vaccination cards provided by mothers but also from midwives' registers. The decision to also consider the register of midwives was taken because it was thought that some mothers would have lost their vaccination cards. Also, there are commonly not enough vaccination cards to be distributed to all mothers in some parts of the country. Immunization records could be easily available from responsible midwives and taken as recorded from vaccination card.

As already noted in the section describing fieldwork practices, midwives accompanied enumerators during interviews to help with translation and to obtain immunization data when vaccination cards were not present. It could be interpreted that involving midwives in data collection regarding immunization, and to copy information from their records might affect data quality. Midwives are responsible for ensuring that children receive the required vaccinations, and it could be interpreted that they might therefore inadvertently have a tendency to over-report the incidence of immunization.

Overall, 96 per cent of children had recorded vaccination information that came from health cards or from midwives' registers (Table CH.2). If the child did not have recorded vaccination information, the mother was asked to recall whether or not the child had received each of the vaccinations and, for DPT and polio, how many times. The percentage of children aged 12-23 months who received each of the vaccinations is shown in Table CH.1. The denominator for the table is comprised of children aged 12-23 months so that only children who are old enough to be fully vaccinated are counted. In the top panel, the numerator includes all children who were vaccinated at any time before the survey according to the recorded vaccination information or the mother's report. In the bottom panel, only those who were vaccinated before their first birthday, as recommended, are included. For children without vaccination cards, the proportion of vaccinations given before the first birthday is assumed to be the same as for children with recorded vaccination information from vaccination cards or from midwives' registers.

As many as 97.2 per cent of children aged 12-23 months received a BCG vaccination by the age of 12 months, and the first dose of DPT was given to 96.9 per cent. The percentage only marginally declines

for subsequent doses of DPT, and is 95.9 per cent for the third dose (Figure CH.1). Similarly, 97.5 per cent of children received polio 1 by age 12 months and this declines to 95.9 per cent by the third dose. The coverage for measles vaccine by 12 months is slightly lower than for the other vaccines at 90.7 per cent. This is primarily because, although 98 per cent of children received the vaccine, only 90.7 per cent received it by their first birthday. As a result, the percentage of children who had all the recommended vaccinations by their first birthday is as high as 88.6 per cent.



In Myanmar, Hepatitis B vaccine is also recommended as part of the immunization schedule. It is given to newborn babies just after birth at the hospital.

A total of 96.9 per cent of children aged 12-23 months received first dose of Hepatitis B1 vaccination by the age of 12 months, and the second dose was given to 96.8 per cent. The percentage marginally declines to 95.9 per cent for the third dose.

Tables CH.2 and CH.2c show vaccination coverage rates among children aged 12-23 months by background characteristics. The figures indicate children receiving the vaccinations at any time up to the date of the survey, and are based on information from both the vaccination cards, midwives' immunization registers and mothers'/caregivers' reports.

No significant difference can be found in immunization coverage between urban and rural areas, or between male and female children. Shan (North) and Chin States have slightly lower levels of coverage of all immunization (88 and 91 per cent, respectively) than other states and divisions. There is no clear association between immunization coverage and wealth level of the households. While the percentage of 12-23 months-old children with all recommended immunizations does not vary notably between

children of mothers with primary (97.2 per cent) and secondary or higher education (98.7 per cent), there is a small gap down to children of mothers with no education, of whom 90.6 per cent have all recommended immunizations.

Tetanus Toxoid

One of the MDGs is to reduce by three quarters the maternal mortality ratio, with one strategy to eliminate maternal tetanus. In addition, another goal is to reduce the incidence of neonatal tetanus to less than one case of neonatal tetanus per 1,000 live births in every district. A World Fit for Children goal is to eliminate maternal and neonatal tetanus by 2005.

Prevention of maternal and neonatal tetanus requires all pregnant women to receive at least two doses of tetanus toxoid vaccine. However, if women have not received two doses of the vaccine during their pregnancy, they (and their newborns) are also considered to be protected if the following conditions are met:

- Received at least two doses of tetanus toxoid vaccine, the last within the prior three years;
- Received at least three doses, the last within the prior five years;
- Received at least four doses, the last within 10 years;
- Received at least five doses during their lifetime.



Table CH.3 shows the protection status against tetanus of women who have had a live birth within the last 24 months. Figure CH.2 shows the protection of women against neonatal tetanus by major background characteristics. The proportion of mothers with a birth in the previous 24 months protected against neonatal tetanus in Myanmar is 91.8 per cent. Among them, 89.8 per cent of women received at least two doses during last pregnancy and 2 per cent received at least two doses, the last within the prior three years. The percentage of mothers protected against tetanus is lowest in Shan (North) and Chin States (59.5 per cent and 76.4 per cent respectively). Mon State has the highest coverage at 98.9 per cent. A slightly higher proportion of mothers from urban areas (94.6 per cent) are protected against tetanus than in rural areas (90.7 per cent).

The coverage of neonatal tetanus protection increases with the level of education of mothers, and wealth quintile. The difference between women with primary (91.5 per cent) and secondary or higher (95.8 per cent) education is small. Noteworthy, however, is the gap down to mothers who have no education, of whom only 76 per cent are protected against tetanus. Among the poorest mothers, 87.2 per cent are protected against tetanus, compared to 96.2 per cent of mothers from the richest households.

Oral Rehydration Treatment

Diarrhoea is the second leading cause of death among children under five worldwide. Most diarrhoearelated deaths in children are due to dehydration from loss of large quantities of water and electrolytes from the body in liquid stools. Management of diarrhoea – either through oral rehydration salts (ORS) or a recommended home fluid (RHF) - can prevent many of these deaths. Preventing dehydration and malnutrition by increasing fluid intake and continuing to feed the child are also important strategies for managing diarrhoea.

The goals are to: 1) reduce by one half deaths due to diarrhoea among children under five by 2010 compared to 2000 (A World Fit for Children); and 2) reduce by two thirds the mortality rate among children under five by 2015 compared to 1990 (Millennium Development Goals). In addition, the World Fit for Children calls for a reduction in the incidence of diarrhoea by 25 per cent.

The indicators are:

- Prevalence of diarrhoea
- Oral rehydration therapy (ORT)
- Home management of diarrhoea
- (ORT or increased fluids) AND continued feeding

In the MICS interview, mothers (or caregivers) were asked to report whether their child had had diarrhoea in the two weeks prior to the interview. If so, the mother was asked a series of questions about what the child had to drink and eat during the episode and whether this was more or less than the child usually ate and drank.

Overall, 6.7 per cent of under-five children had diarrhoea in the two weeks preceding the interview (Table CH.4). Diarrhoea prevalence was higher in Chin (13.1 per cent), Kachin (10.7 per cent) and Bago (East) (10.7 per cent) than in other states and divisions. The peak of diarrhoea prevalence occurs in the weaning period, among children aged 12–23 months.

Table CH.4 also shows the percentage of children receiving various types of recommended liquids during the episode of diarrhoea. Because mothers were able to name more than one type of liquid, the percentages do not necessarily add up to 100. In total, 60.6 per cent of children with diarrhoea

received fluids from ORS packets, and 13.6 per cent received recommended home-made fluids. As a result, 66.3 per cent of children with diarrhoea received one or more of the recommended home treatments (i.e., were treated with ORS or RHF), while 33.7 per cent received no treatment.

As the prevalence of diarrhoea in the two weeks prior to the interview is not very high, comparisons across states and divisions become indicative because they are based on small numbers of children in each. However, more children in urban areas receive ORT than children in rural areas (77.1 per cent vs. 61.8 per cent). The use of ORT is correlated with mothers' education level and socioeconomic background. For instance, 64.5 per cent of children whose mother has primary education receive ORT when being sick with diarrhoea, compared to 71.5 per cent of children whose mother has secondary or higher education. Children with diarrhoea from the poorest households received ORT in 58.2 per cent of cases, while the coverage of ORT use among the richest children is 79.2 per cent.



Less than one fourth (22.2 per cent) of under-five children with diarrhoea drank more than usual while 77.2 per cent drank the same or less (Table CH.5). Some 70.9 per cent ate somewhat less, the same or more (continued feeding), but 28.7 per cent ate much less or ate almost nothing. Given these figures, 15.5 per cent of children with diarrhoea received increased fluids and at the same time continued feeding. Combining the information in Table CH.5 with that in Table CH.4 on oral rehydration therapy, it is observed that 50.3 per cent of children with diarrhoea either received ORT or fluid intake was increased and, at the same time, feeding was continued, as is the recommended response.

Home management of diarrhoea varies by background characteristics, such as area of residence, age of the child, mother's education level and socioeconomic background. More children in urban areas (57.3 per cent) than in rural areas (47.4 per cent) receive ORT or increased fluids and continue feeding when they are sick with diarrhoea. There is only a slight variation between children of mothers with

primary (48.6 per cent) and secondary or higher (53.9 per cent) education. In terms of socioeconomic status, 43.8 per cent of diarrhoea cases among the poorest children are properly managed, compared to 65.3 per cent among the richest children. Children aged 0–11 months are least likely to receive either ORT or increased fluid and continue feeding, at 36.5 per cent. For all other age groups, more than half of the children receive ORT or increased fluid along with continued feeding.



Care Seeking and Antibiotic Treatment of Pneumonia

Pneumonia is the leading cause of death in children worldwide, and the use of antibiotics in underfives with suspected pneumonia is a key intervention. A World Fit for Children goal is to reduce by one third the deaths due to acute respiratory infections.

Children with suspected pneumonia are those who had an illness with a cough, accompanied by rapid or difficult breathing and whose symptoms were not due to a problem in the chest and a blocked nose. The indicators are:

- Prevalence of suspected pneumonia
- Care seeking for suspected pneumonia
- Antibiotic treatment for suspected pneumonia
- Knowledge of the danger signs of pneumonia

Table CH.6 presents the prevalence of suspected pneumonia and, if care was sought outside the home, the site of care. A total of 2.6 per cent of children aged 0–59 months were reported to have had symptoms of pneumonia during the two weeks preceding the survey. Of them, 69.3 per cent were taken to an appropriate health care provider.

Just over one fourth (27.1 per cent) of children with symptoms of pneumonia were taken to a private physician while 13.4 per cent were taken to government hospitals, 9.2 per cent were taken to sub-rural health centre and 7.8 per cent to a rural health centre. More children in urban areas visited a private physician (44.8 per cent in urban areas vs. 20.3 per cent in rural areas) or a government hospital (16.9 per cent in urban areas vs. 12.1 per cent in rural areas). More children in rural areas were taken to a rural health centre (2.5 per cent in urban areas vs. 9.9 per cent in rural areas) or a sub-centre (1 per cent in urban areas vs. 12.3 per cent in rural areas).

Because the prevalence of suspected pneumonia is not very high, comparisons across states and divisions can not indicate trends because they are based on small numbers of children in each. It can be noted, however, that a higher percentage of children with pneumonia from urban areas were taken to an appropriate health care provider than those in rural areas (74.4 per cent vs. 67.3 per cent). The youngest children, aged 0-11 months, were the most likely to be taken to an appropriate provider when they had symptoms of pneumonia. In this age group, 77 per cent of the children who had symptoms of pneumonia were taken to an appropriate provider. There is no notable difference in the likelihood of being taken to an appropriate provider between the children of mothers with primary and secondary or higher education. Looking at differences in wealth level, children from the richest quintile are more likely to be taken to an appropriate provider when they show symptoms of pneumonia. The percentage increases from 62.5 per cent to 77.3 per cent from the poorest to richest quintile.



©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Myo Thame

Table CH.7 presents the use of antibiotics for the treatment of suspected pneumonia in under-fives. In Myanmar, 34.2 per cent of under-five children with suspected pneumonia during the two weeks prior to the interview received an antibiotic. The incidence of antibiotic use is not significantly different between urban and rural areas. The table indicates that antibiotic treatment of suspected pneumonia is lowest among children in the poorest households (29.2 per cent), but it is interesting to note that the highest coverage of antibiotic treatment is found in the second lowest quintile, at 40.2 per cent. More children of mothers with secondary or higher education (41.1 per cent) were treated with an antibiotic when demonstrating symptoms of pneumonia than children of mothers with only primary education (30.8 per cent). Coverage of antibiotic use was highest for children aged 12-23 months (38.2 per cent) and lowest for children aged 36-47 months (27.6 per cent).

Issues related to knowledge of danger signs of pneumonia are presented in Table CH.8. Obviously, mothers' knowledge of the danger signs is an important determinant of care-seeking behaviour. Overall, only 6.5 per cent of mothers or caregivers of children under five know of the two danger signs of pneumonia – fast and difficult breathing. The most commonly identified symptoms for taking a child to a health facility are when the child develops a fever (72.7 per cent) and becomes sicker (65.8 per cent). Only 14.8 per cent of mothers identified fast breathing, and 20.5 per cent of mothers identified difficult breathing as symptoms for taking children immediately to a health care provider. Sagaing Division has the smallest proportion of mothers/ caregivers who recognize the two danger signs of pneumonia (0.7 per cent), followed by Magwe (1.4 per cent) and Mon (1.5 per cent). The highest level of recognition of these symptoms is found in Kayin with 17 per cent. The awareness of the danger signs of pneumonia, as well as the recognition of other symptoms that would prompt taking a child immediately to a health care provider, does not vary considerably between urban and rural locations or across other background characteristics, such as mothers' education level or socioeconomic background.

Solid Fuel Use

More than 3 billion people around the world rely on solid fuels (biomass and coal) for their basic energy needs, including cooking and heating. Cooking and heating with solid fuels produces high levels of indoor smoke, which is a complex mix of health-damaging pollutants. The main problem with the use of solid fuels is products of incomplete combustion, including carbon monoxide, poly aromatic hydrocarbons, sulphur dioxide and other toxic elements. Use of solid fuels increases the risks of acute respiratory illness, pneumonia, chronic obstructive lung disease, cancer, and possibly tuberculosis, low birth weight, cataracts and asthma. The primary indicator is the proportion of the population using solid fuels as the primary source of domestic energy for cooking.

As shown in Table CH.9, 94.3 per cent of all households in Myanmar use solid fuels for cooking. Use of solid fuels is lower in urban areas (83.2 per cent) compared to rural areas, (99 per cent), where almost all of the households use solid fuels. The findings show that use of solid fuels is very common among households all over the country except Yangon (74 per cent), and among the richest households (76.7 per cent). Among the poorest households, and also in several states and divisions, the percentage is above 99 per cent. Wood is the most commonly used fuel (63.7 per cent) for cooking purposes, followed by charcoal (28.9 per cent). Wood is used by 80.7 per cent in rural and 23.4 per cent in urban area, whereas charcoal is used by 59.2 per cent of urban households and 16.1 per cent of rural households. Only 4.3 per cent of Myanmar households use electricity for cooking.

Solid fuel use alone is a poor proxy for indoor air pollution, since the concentration of the pollutants is different when the same fuel is burnt in different stoves or fires. Use of closed stoves with chimneys minimizes indoor pollution, while an open stove or fire with no chimney or hood means that there is no protection from the harmful effects of solid fuels. The type of stove used with a solid fuel is depicted in Table CH.10.

Overall, 97.6 per cent of households using solid fuel cook their food on an open stove or fire with no chimney or hood. Only 2.3 per cent use an open stove or fire with chimney or hood. There is no significant difference between urban and rural households. In Chin State 16.6 per cent of households cooking with solid fuels use open stove or fire with chimney or hood, while in most states and divisions more than 94 per cent of the households who use solid fuels for their cooking do so on open stove or fire with no chimney or hood. More richer households who cook with solid fuels have some ventilation to alleviate indoor pollution than poorer ones. While 99.3 per cent of the poorest households cook their food on open stove or fire with no chimney or hood, this percentage decreases to 92.8 for the richest households, of whom 7 per cent have a chimney or hood.

VII. Environment

Water and Sanitation

Safe drinking water and sanitation are basic necessities for good health. Contaminated drinking water can be a significant carrier of diseases such as trachoma, cholera, typhoid, and schistosomiasis. The most common cause of bacteriological contamination of water is exposure to faecal matter of human origin. Drinking water can also be tainted with chemical, physical and radiological contaminants with harmful effects on human health. In addition to its association with disease, access to drinking water may be particularly important for women and children, especially in rural areas, as women tend to bear the primary responsibility for carrying water, often for long distances.

The MDG goal is to reduce by half, between 1990 and 2015, the proportion of people without sustainable access to safe drinking water and basic sanitation. The World Fit for Children goal calls for a reduction in the proportion of households without access to hygienic sanitation facilities and affordable and safe drinking water by at least one third.

The indicators used in Myanmar MICS are as follows:

Water

- Use of improved drinking water sources
- Use of adequate water treatment method
- Time to source of drinking water
- Person collecting drinking water

Sanitation

• Access to improved sanitation facilities

The distribution of the population by source of drinking water is shown in Table EN.1 and Figure EN.1. The population using improved sources of drinking water are those using any of the following types of supply: piped water (into dwelling, yard or plot), public tap/standpipe, tube well/bore hole, protected well, protected spring, or rainwater collection. Bottled water is considered as an improved water source only if the household uses an improved water source for other purposes, such as hand washing and cooking.



Overall, 82.3 per cent of the population use an improved source of drinking water – 93.2 per cent in urban areas and 77.6 per cent in rural areas. The lowest coverage of improved sources of drinking water is found in Kayin, with 51.1 per cent and Rakhine with 57.7 per cent. In Shan (East), 99 per cent of the population get their drinking water from an improved source. Among the poorest households 66.8 per cent use an improved source of water, while in the richest households the percentage rises to 95.

The source of drinking water for the population varies across states and divisions (Table EN.1). Only 4.1 per cent of Myanmar household population have water piped into their dwelling¹². The percentage is as high as 31.3 per cent in Chin State, a location where it is common to use bamboo pipes to bring water from a protected spring into the dwelling (in this case the water at the point of consumption cannot be defined as safe). In Kayah, Tanintharyi and Yangon, 10.6, 11.1 and 11.3 per cent respectively use water piped into dwelling. In contrast, in several states and divisions less than one per cent has water piped into their dwelling. The most common sources of drinking water in Myanmar are tube well/bore-hole (31.5 per cent) and protected well (27.2 per cent), but as many as 10.9 per cent use unprotected wells. The use of unprotected well is high in Kayah (23.8 per cent), Kayin (43.9 per cent) and Rakhine (37.2 per cent). In Magwe 10.6 per cent rely on surface water.

Use of in-house water treatment is presented in Table EN.2. Households were asked of ways they may

be treating water at home to make it safer to drink. Boiling, adding bleach or chlorine, using a water filter, and using solar disinfection were considered as proper treatment of drinking water. The table shows the percentages of household members using appropriate water treatment methods, separately for all households, for households using improved sources and households using unimproved drinking water sources.

In Myanmar, the most common way of treating water is to strain it through a cloth (76.2 per cent), a practice which will not make water safe to drink. While 33.1 per cent of household population boil their water, only 1.4 per cent use a water filter and 0.6 per cent add bleach or chlorine. As many as 12.2 per cent do not use any water treatment method, and 9.5 per cent let their water stand and settle.

Overall, 34.5 per cent of the household population use an appropriate water treatment method. Out of those using improved water sources, 35.3 per cent treat their water with an appropriate method, and 31 per cent of those with unimproved water sources do so.



©UNICEF Myanmar/2009/Myo Thame

¹² The term 'piped water' may have been interpreted differently among enumerators, to include not only water piped through the main public pipes, but also self-made structures made of bamboo.

The urban population is more likely than the rural population to treat their water with an appropriate method, with 39 and 32.6 per cent respectively. The lowest level of appropriate water treatment is found in Bago (West), with 9.2 per cent. Water treatment is also low in Rakhine (18.1 per cent) and Ayeyarwaddy (18.7 per cent). The highest level of household water treatment is found in Kayah (84.3 per cent) and Chin (83.2 per cent), where the preferred method is boiling. Among the poorest households, 25.2 per cent use an appropriate water treatment method, while 40.5 per cent do so in the richest households.

The amount of time it takes to obtain water is presented in Table EN.3, and the person who usually collects the water in Table EN.4. Note that these results refer to one round-trip from home to drinking water source. Information on the number of trips made in one day was not collected. The longer it takes to collect water, the less water will be collected. This has a detrimental effect on hygiene, especially for people who are unable to go to the water source to bathe.

Table EN.3 shows that for 35 per cent of households, the drinking water source is on the premises. For half of all households (50.6 per cent), it takes less than 15 minutes to get to the water source and bring water, and 10.4 per cent need 15-30 minutes for one round-trip to the water source. Only 0.5 per cent of households spend more than one hour collecting water. Urban-rural differentials show that in urban areas 64.2 per cent of the population have water on their premises, while 31.2 per cent spend less than 15 minutes to collect water. By contrast, in rural areas 24.1 per cent have water on their premises, and 57.8 per cent of the population spend under 15 minutes to collect water. Among the poorest households, only 10.5 per cent have water on their premises, and as many as 17.7 per cent spend 15-30 minutes to collect water. In comparison, 74.5 per cent of the richest households have water on their premises, and most of the remaining households in this category can get their water in less than 15 minutes.

Excluding the households with water on their premises, the average time spent in rural areas (10.1 minutes) on collecting water is only slightly higher than in urban areas (7.3 minutes). The highest average time spent collecting water is found in Chin, with 16.8 minutes per round-trip. In Shan (North), Shan (South), Magwe, and Mandalay, households who do not have water on their premises need more than 12 minutes on average to collect water.

Table EN.4 shows that in the majority of households (71.9 per cent) an adult female is usually the person collecting water, when the source of drinking water is not on the premises. Adult men collect water in 24.1 per cent of cases, while for the rest of the households, female or male children under age 15 collect water (2.5 per cent and 1.4 per cent). While the use of children for collecting water is generally low, gender differences can be observed among adults, varying across area of residence. In rural areas an adult woman collects the water in 72.7 per cent of households, compared to 66.9 per cent in urban areas. Gender differences in water collection are most pronounced in Rakhine, where an adult woman collects water in 93.4 per cent of households, and men collect water in 5.2 per cent of households. Men's involvement in water collection is also low in Chin, where men collect water in only 10.2 per cent of households. Only in Yangon do more men (52.7 per cent) than women (43.5 per cent) collect water. Gender differences in water collection also vary according to socioeconomic status. While a woman collects water in 76.5 per cent of the poorest households, and a man in 18.8 per cent; in the richest households, women collect water in 65.5 per cent of the cases and men in 31.9 per cent of cases.

Inadequate disposal of human excreta and poor personal hygiene is associated with a range of ailments including diarrhoeal diseases and polio. Improved sanitation facilities for excreta disposal include: flush or pour flush to a piped sewer system, septic tank, or latrine; ventilated improved pit latrine, pit latrine

with slab, and composting toilet. Information on sanitary facilities is based on the facility household members access in their homes, and does not capture the type of facility used by household members who leave the home during the day for work or school.

Overall, 84.6 per cent of the population of Myanmar live in households with improved sanitation facilities (Table EN.5). The table indicates that access to improved sanitation facilities is strongly correlated with wealth and area of residence. In urban areas 94.4 per cent of the population have access to sanitary means of excreta disposal, compared to 80.4 per cent in rural areas. Residents of Rakhine (48 per cent) and Shan (North) (68.3 per cent) are the least likely to have access to improved facilities. In contrast 93.8 per cent of the population in Yangon have access to improved sanitation facilities. Only 59.8 per cent of the population have access to improved facilities, compared to 98.2 per cent among the richest population.

In both urban and rural areas, the most common toilet facility is a pit latrine with slab, which is in 53.5 per cent of the urban households and 69.8 per cent of the rural households. In urban areas it is also common to have a toilet flushing to septic tank/pit (32.3 per cent). This type of facility is in more than half (51.8 per cent) of the richest households in Myanmar, but only 0.2 per cent of the poorest. It is interesting to note that in Rakhine 40.7 per cent of the population have no toilet facilities and use bushes or fields for excreta disposal. In Magwe this percentage is 10.1, and in Chin 9.2. Population without access to sanitary facilities are found almost exclusively in rural areas, with 9.7 per cent of the rural population not having access to sanitary facilities. In contrast less than one per cent in urban areas lack sanitary facilities. While no one in the richest quintile in Myanmar live without a toilet facility, 25.5 per cent of the poorest population have no access to a sanitary facility.

An overview of the percentage of household members both using improved sources of drinking water and having access to a sanitary means of excreta disposal is presented in Table EN.6. In Myanmar 72.3 per cent of the population both use improved sources of drinking water and have access to a sanitary means of excreta disposal. This figure is strongly correlated with wealth and area of residence. While two thirds (65.2 per cent) of the rural population both use improved sources of drinking water and have access to a sanitary means of excreta disposal, this proportion rises to 88.8 per cent in urban areas. Use of improved sources of drinking water and access to a sanitary means of excreta disposal is lowest in Rakhine (30.1 per cent). Coverage of improved sanitation facilities and water sources also extends to less than two thirds of the population in Kayin (42.1 per cent), Kayah (59.7 per cent) and Shan (North) (59.7 per cent). The highest coverage of improved sources of drinking water and sanitary excreta disposal facilities is found in Shan (East), with 91 per cent. Only 43.1 per cent of the poorest quintile in Myanmar both use an improved source of drinking water and have access to improved sanitation facilities, contrasting with 93.6 per cent of the richest quintile.



©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Myo Thame

VIII. Reproductive Health

Contraception

Appropriate family planning is important to the health of women and children by: 1) preventing pregnancies that are too early or too late; 2) extending the period between births; and 3) limiting the number of children. A World Fit for Children goal is access by all couples to information and services to prevent pregnancies that are too early, too closely spaced, too late or too many.

Current use of contraception was reported by 46 per cent of ever-married women (Table RH.1). The most popular method is the injection, which is used by nearly one in three (27.5 per cent) of evermarried women in Myanmar. The next most popular method is the pill, which is used by 11.5 per cent of the ever-married women. Only 2.1 per cent use IUD and 3.6 per cent of women reported female sterilization. Less than one per cent uses male condoms, male sterilization, the lactational amenorrhea method (LAM), abstinence, implants and withdrawal.

Contraceptive prevalence among ever-married women is highest in Yangon at 58.7 per cent and almost as high in Bago (West) and Shan (East) at 51.9 and 51.1 per cent respectively. In Chin, contraceptive use is rare; only 7.8 per cent of ever-married women use any method. Other states and divisions with low contraceptive prevalence are Kayah State (32.3 per cent), Kayin (36 per cent), Magwe (38 per cent), Tanintharyi (38.4 per cent), Kachin (38.7 per cent) and Shan (North) (39 per cent). Contraceptive prevalence is higher in urban areas (51.3 per cent) than in rural areas (43.7 per cent). Fewer women over 40 use contraception than in the other age groups. Only 18.6 per cent of ever-married women aged 45–49 use a method of contraception. The highest level of contraceptive prevalence is found among women aged 25-29, with 55.3 per cent.

Women's education level is strongly associated with contraceptive prevalence. The proportion of women using any method of contraception rises from 31.5 per cent among those with no education to 44.3 per cent among women with primary education, and to 52.5 per cent among women with secondary or higher education. Contraceptive use is highest among women with two children, at 53.3 per cent. The coverage is 29.3 per cent among women with no children, while 36 per cent of women with four or more children use contraceptives. The prevalence of contraceptive use increases from 38.3 per cent in the poorest wealth quintile to 51.7 per cent among the richest women.

Antenatal Care

The antenatal period presents important opportunities for reaching pregnant women with a number of interventions that may be vital to their health and well-being and that of their infants. Better understanding of foetal growth and development and its relationship to the mother's health has resulted in increased attention to the potential of antenatal care as an intervention to improve both maternal and newborn health. For example, if the antenatal period is used to inform women and families about the danger signs and symptoms and about the risks of labour and delivery, it may provide a route for ensuring that pregnant women do, in practice, deliver with the assistance of a skilled health care attendant. The antenatal period also provides an opportunity to supply information on birth spacing, which is recognized as an important factor in improving infant survival. Tetanus immunization during pregnancy can be life-saving for both the mother and infant. The prevention and treatment of malaria among pregnant women, management of anaemia during pregnancy and treatment of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) can significantly improve foetal outcomes and improve maternal health. Adverse outcomes, such as low birth weight, can be reduced through a combination of interventions to improve women's nutritional status and prevent infections (e.g., malaria and STIs) during pregnancy. More recently, the potential of the antenatal period as an entry point for HIV prevention and care, in particular for the prevention of HIV transmission from mother to child, has led to renewed interest in access to and use of antenatal services.

WHO recommends a minimum of four antenatal visits, based on a review of the effectiveness of different models of antenatal care. WHO guidelines are specific on the content on antenatal care visits, which include:

- Blood pressure measurement
- Urine testing for bateriuria and proteinuria
- Blood testing to detect syphilis and severe anaemia
- Weight/height measurement (optional)

Coverage of antenatal care is relatively high in Myanmar, as the findings in Table RH.3 indicate. A total of 93.1 per cent receive antenatal care one or more times during their pregnancy, from any type of provider. The coverage of antenatal care is slightly higher in urban areas (98.3 per cent) than in rural areas (91 per cent). The lowest level of antenatal care coverage is found in Shan (North) with 63.2 per cent, contrasting with 99.6 per cent in Mon State. Most women with secondary or higher education (97.5 per cent) receive antenatal care at least once during pregnancy, compared to 91.7 per cent of women with primary education and 80.3 per cent of women with no education. Nearly all women from the richest households receive antenatal care at least once during pregnancy, while 86.2 per cent of the poorest women do so.

The type of personnel providing antenatal care to ever-married women aged 15-49 years who gave birth in the two years preceding the survey is presented in Table RH.2. In Myanmar, 83.1 per cent of women receive antenatal care from a skilled provider. The lowest level of antenatal care from a skilled provider is found in Chin (50 per cent) followed by Shan (North) (53.9 per cent), compared to (96.7 per cent) in Mon. Coverage of antenatal care from a skilled provider is 95 per cent in urban areas and 78.4 per cent in rural areas.

Among skilled antenatal care providers, midwives provide the largest proportion of antenatal care (53.7 per cent) followed by medical doctors (20 per cent) and lady health visitors (LHVs) and nurses (9.4 per cent). A larger proportion of women in urban areas receive antenatal care from doctors or lady health visitors and nurses (46.8 per cent and 13.4 per cent respectively for urban and 9.2 and 7.8 per cent respectively, for rural areas), whereas a larger proportion of women in rural areas receive antenatal care from midwives (61.3 per cent for rural and 34.7 per cent for urban areas). The percentage of women receiving antenatal care from doctors and LHVs/nurses increases with women's education status and wealth quintiles, whereas the reverse finding is observed for midwives. Among women with primary education, 78.4 per cent receive antenatal care from a skilled provider, while 92.2 per cent of women with secondary or higher education receive antenatal care from a skilled provider. The corresponding rate for women with no education is 65.7 per cent. Whereas nearly all (97.4 per cent) of the richest women receive antenatal care from a skilled provider, 70.7 per cent of the poorest women do so.

The types of services pregnant women received are shown in Table RH.3. Among women who received antenatal care one or more times during their pregnancy, 80.1 per cent had their blood pressure measured, 63.6 per cent had their weight measured and 56.9 per cent had a urine sample taken. Additionally, 76.9 per cent of women received vitamin B1 tablets, and 83.7 per cent received iron

tablets as part of their antenatal care.

It is interesting to note that content of antenatal care varies across the country. Chin, Rakhine and Shan (North) display the lowest percentages on most measures when compared with other states and divisions. In Chin, for example, only 16.2 per cent of the women had a urine sample taken, and 37.3 per cent had their weight measured. In Mon, on the other hand, more than 90 per cent of pregnant women received these services as part of their antenatal care. Fewer women in rural areas than in urban areas received all aspects of antenatal care during their pregnancy. While 94.3 per cent of urban women had their blood pressure measured, 74.4 per cent of rural women had this done. Similarly, 84.5 per cent of urban women had a urine sample taken, compared to 45.8 per cent of rural women. While 88.9 per cent of urban women had their weight measured as part of antenatal care, the corresponding rate for rural women is 53.4 per cent.

Coverage rates on all aspects of antenatal care increase with the education level of women and wealth quintiles. For example, it is worth noting that 48.7 per cent of the women with primary education had their urine specimen taken, and 54.6 per cent had their weight measured, while 70.6 per cent of women with secondary or higher education had a urine sample taken and 77.7 per cent had their weight measured. Most (97.8 per cent) of the richest women had their blood pressure measured, 87.1 per cent had a urine sample taken and 90.7 per cent had their weight measured, contrasting with the poorest women of whom 62.9 per cent had their blood pressure measured, 35.7 per cent had a urine specimen taken, and 43.7 per cent had their weight measured.

Assistance at Delivery

Three quarters of all maternal deaths occur during delivery and the immediate post-partum period. The single most critical intervention for safe motherhood is to ensure that a competent health worker with midwifery skills is present at every birth and that transport is available to a referral facility for obstetric care in case of an emergency. A World Fit for Children goal is to ensure that women have ready and affordable access to skilled attendance at delivery. The indicators are the proportion of births with a skilled attendant and proportion of institutional deliveries. The skilled attendant at delivery indicator is also used to track progress towards the Millennium Development target of reducing the maternal mortality ratio by three quarters between 1990 and 2015.

The MICS questionnaire included a number of questions to assess the proportion of births attended by a skilled attendant. A skilled attendant in Myanmar refers to a doctor, nurse or midwife. Although auxiliary midwives receive six months training, they are not taken as skilled attendance for delivery in Myanmar.

Table RH.4 shows 70.6 per cent of births occurring in the two years prior to the interview were attended by skilled personnel. This percentage is highest in Shan (East) (94.5 per cent). Chin, Shan (North) and Ayeyarwaddy has a smaller proportion of delivery by skilled personnel (38.9, 42.8 and 54 per cent respectively) than other states and divisions.

More than one in three of the births (36.3 per cent) in the two years prior to the MICS interview were delivered with assistance by a midwife. Doctors assisted with the delivery of 28.2 per cent of births, a traditional birth attendant assisted with delivery of 17.7 per cent, auxiliary midwives assisted in 7.6 per cent of births and LHVs/nurses assisted with 6.1 per cent of deliveries.

More than half of the women were attended during delivery by a midwife in Tanintharyi (54.2 per cent) and Sagaing (54 per cent), while in Yangon the most common type of birth attendant is a medical

doctor (60.8 per cent). States and divisions with largest proportion of delivery by a traditional birth attendant are Ayeyarwaddy (35.2 per cent), Rakhine (30.2 per cent), Bago (East) (29.6 per cent) and Chin (25.1 per cent). It is notable that in Shan (North) as many as 24.9 per cent of women delivered their baby without any assistance at all. In Chin State this is also high at 10.4 per cent.

The proportion of skilled attendance at delivery is higher in urban areas (89.6 per cent) than in rural areas (63 per cent). The smallest proportion of delivery by skilled personnel is found among adolescent females (aged 15–19 years), at 59 per cent. The education level of women and the socioeconomic status of households are associated with the rate of delivery by skilled personnel. The more educated a woman is, the more likely she is to have delivered with the assistance of a skilled attendant (46.8 per cent for women with no education, 62.2 per cent for women with primary education, and 85.3 per cent for women with secondary or higher education). Women from the poorest households received assistance from skilled attendants during delivery in 51 per cent of cases, compared to 96.1 per cent of women from the richest households.

Overall, 36.2 per cent of women delivered in a health facility, either government or private. Chin has the smallest proportion of delivery in health facility (5.6 per cent) followed by Rakhine (11.7 per cent), Magwe (16.9 per cent) and Bago (East) (19 per cent). The highest rate of delivery in health facility is found in Yangon, with 68.9 per cent. Prevalence of delivery in health facility varies with women's background characteristics, similar to assistance at delivery by skilled personnel. While 65.2 per cent of urban babies are delivered in a health facility, only 24.5 per cent of rural babies are delivered in a health facility, compared to 54 per cent of women with secondary or higher education. The corresponding figure for women with no education is only 10.3 per cent. Among the poorest women, as few as 12.4 per cent delivered their baby in a health facility, contrasting with 77.5 per cent of the richest women.

IX. Child Development

It is well recognized that a period of rapid brain development occurs in the first three to four years of life, and the quality of home care is the major determinant of the child's development during this period. In this context, adults' engagement in activities with children is an important indicator of quality of home care. A World Fit for Children goal is that "children should be physically healthy, mentally alert, emotionally secure, socially competent and ready to learn."

Information on a number of activities that support early learning was collected in the survey. These included the involvement of adults with children in the following activities: reading books or looking at picture books, telling stories, singing songs, taking children outside the home, compound or yard, playing with children, and spending time with children naming, counting, or drawing things.

For over half (57.9 per cent) of the children younger than five years, an adult engaged in more than four activities that promote learning and school readiness during the three days preceding the interview (Table CD.1). The average number of activities that adults engaged in with children was 3.8. The father's involvement with one or more such activities was at 44 per cent. More adults engage in learning activities with older children than with infants. While adult household members had engaged in learning activities with 40.5 per cent of children aged 0-23 months, the proportion rises to 70.5 per cent among children aged 24-59 months.

There are no gender differentials in terms of adult activities with children; neither for household members in general or for fathers. A larger proportion of adults engaged in learning and school readiness activities with children in urban areas (71.2 per cent) than in rural areas (52.4 per cent). More urban fathers engaged in activities with their children (48.5 per cent) than rural fathers (42.1 per cent).

Strong variation can be seen by region and socioeconomic status. Adult engagement in activities with children was greatest in Yangon (79.1 per cent) and lowest in Rakhine (33.5 per cent). In Bago (West) 66.2 per cent of fathers had engaged in one or more activity promoting learning, in contrast to



25.1 per cent in Kayah. Adult household members had engaged in learning activities with 75.7 per cent of children in the richest households, as opposed to 41.6 per cent of those living in the poorest households. While 50.3 per cent of children in the richest households had engaged in one or more activities with their father, only 37.4 per cent of children in the poorest households had done so.

The education level of adults influences their engagement in learning activities with

©UNICEF Myanmar/2008/Myo Thame

children. Of children whose mother has secondary or higher education, 69.3 per cent experienced an adult household member engaging in four or more learning activities with them in the three days prior to the MICS interview. Among children whose mother has primary education, adult household members had engaged in learning activities with 53.5 per cent of them. Fathers with secondary or higher education were similarly more likely to engage in learning activities with children (51.8 per cent) than fathers with only primary education (44.5 per cent).

X. Education

Pre-school attendance and school readiness

Attendance to pre-school education in an organized learning or child education programme is important for the readiness of children to school. One of the World Fit for Children goals is the promotion of early childhood education.

Overall 22.9 per cent of Myanmar children aged 36–59 months are attending early childhood education. There is no difference between boys and girls. Urban–rural differences are, however, visible with 39.1 per cent of children in urban areas attending early childhood education, compared to 15.9 per cent in rural areas. The highest rate of attendance is found in Kayah, being as high as 60.7 per cent, and the lowest in Rakhine with 5.4 per cent. Children aged 48-59 months are far more likely (32.9 per cent) to attend than 36-47 months old children (13.8 per cent). The mother's education level considerably influences whether or not a child attends early childhood education. It is found that 35.7 per cent of children whose mothers have secondary or higher education are attending early childhood education, compared to 15.8 per cent of the children whose mothers have primary education only. Socioeconomic status is another important factor. As many as 46 per cent of children in the richest households attend early childhood education, while the rate for the poorest is as low as 7.6 per cent.



Table ED.1 also shows the proportion of children in the first grade of primary school who attended pre-school the previous year, an important indicator of school readiness. Overall, 39.8 per cent of children currently attending first grade attended pre-school in the previous year. More than half (52.8 per cent) of first-graders in urban areas had attended pre-school in previous year, compared to 34.4 per cent in rural areas. Mothers' education is again shown to play a role in children's enrolment in preschool. It is found that 44.5 per cent of first graders whose mothers have secondary or higher education attended pre-school in the previous year, compared to 39.7 per cent of first graders whose mothers have primary education. Differences according to socioeconomic status can also be seen, with 34.5 per cent of first graders in the poorest households having had the opportunity to attend pre-school, and 51.7 per cent of the richest children having done so.

©UNICEF Myanmar/2009/Myo Thame



Primary and Secondary School Participation

Universal access to basic education and the achievement of primary education by the world's children is one of the most important goals of the Millennium Development Goals and A World Fit for Children. Education is a vital prerequisite for combating poverty, empowering women, protecting children from hazardous and exploitative labour and sexual exploitation, promoting human rights and democracy, protecting the environment and influencing population growth.

The indicators for primary and secondary school attendance include:

- Net intake rate in primary education
- Net primary school attendance rate
- Net secondary school attendance rate
- Primary school attendance rate of children of secondary school age
- Female to male education ratio (or gender parity index GPI)

The indicators of school progression include:

- Transition rate to secondary school
- Net primary completion rate

It should be noted that the indicators do not take into account seasonal variation in school attendance or how regularly children attend school.

The Myanmar MICS was conducted from June 2009 to March 2010. The school year in Myanmar begins in June; therefore many of the children living in households that were interviewed in 2010 may have already turned one year older than when they began the school year back in June 2009. Therefore during the data analyses for education indicators children living in households interviewed in 2010 were rejuvenated by one year so they would still be included in the respective net attendance ratios at the age they most likely began the current school year.



©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Myo Thame

Table ED.2 shows the percentage of children aged five, which is the primary school entry age in Myanmar, who are currently attending grade one. As shown, 74.4 per cent of five-year-olds are attending school, with no difference between boys and girls. The difference between urban and rural areas is very slight, with 77.4 and 73.3 per cent respectively. Among the country's states and divisions, the highest rate is found in Tanintharyi with 93 per cent, compared to 58.6 per cent in Shan (North). While 81.5 per cent of five-year olds whose mothers have secondary or higher education are attending first grade, 75.2 per cent of those whose mothers have primary education have entered school. There is a visible gap between children from the poorest and the richest households when it comes to timely entry in school. While 80.7 per cent of children aged five in the richest households are in first grade, 63.5 per cent of children from the poorest households have entered primary school.

Table ED.3 provides the percentage of children of primary school age, which is 5–9 years, attending primary or secondary school. The majority of children of primary school age are attending school (90.2 per cent). This means, however, that close to 10 per cent of the children are out of school. At the national level there is no notable difference between boys and girls. Slightly more children in urban areas (93 per cent) than in rural areas (89.2 per cent) are attending. Primary school-aged children in Tanintharyi are most likely to attend school at 98 per cent, compared to 75.8 per cent in Rakhine. It is interesting to note that while only 77.3 per cent of 5-year-olds are attending school, 95 per cent of both 7- and 8-year-olds are in school, indicating that several children begin school late. A total of 94.9 per cent of children from the richest households are in school, compared to 81.4 per cent from the poorest households.

The secondary school net attendance ratio in Myanmar is presented in Table ED.4. More notable than in primary school where 10 per cent of primary school aged children are not attending school at all, is the fact that only 58.3 per cent of the children of secondary school age are attending secondary school. Of the remaining children, some of them are either out of school or attending primary school. The difference in secondary school attendance between urban and rural areas is a lot more pronounced than it is for primary school attendance. While 76 per cent of children in urban areas attend secondary school, the rate in rural areas is 52 per cent. The secondary school attendance rate is as high as 74.7 per cent in Yangon, but only 30.9 per cent in Rakhine. The importance of mothers' education for children's school attendance is also here notable. While 83.9 per cent of children whose mothers have secondary or higher education, attend secondary school, only 54.1 per cent of children whose mother has primary education, do so. Where the mother has no education, the rate is 31.2 per cent. It is also interesting to note that secondary school attendance varies according to age. Only half of 10-year-olds are in secondary school, but this increases to 67.4 per cent for 11- and 12-year-olds. Only 45.2 per cent of 15-year-olds attend secondary school. Socioeconomic status has a strong impact on attendance in secondary school. Only 28.2 per cent of children from the poorest households are in secondary school, while the figure for children from the richest households is as high as 85.5 per cent.

The rate of secondary school age children attending primary school is presented in Table ED.4A. Overall, 11.9 per cent of children aged 10-15 years attend primary school in Myanmar. The findings do, however, vary strongly across the age group. While 40.2 per cent of children aged 10 are still in primary school, from age 13 (3 per cent) and onwards the percentage is very low. More children in rural areas tend to be in primary school despite being of secondary school age, at 13.6 per cent, compared to 7.3 per cent of urban children. In Shan (North) 19.8 per cent of secondary school age children are still in primary school, while the rate drops to 7.2 per cent in Yangon. It is notable that while as many as 19.4 per cent of secondary school age children in the poorest households attend primary school, only 5 per cent of children in the richest households are still in primary school.

The grade promotion rate between grade one and grade five is presented in Table ED.5. It should be noted that this rate is calculated based on information regarding which grade children attend in the current year as well as the previous year. Children who dropped out of school at an earlier time than last school year, or children who repeat grades, do not enter the calculation. For Myanmar the grade promotion rate has been calculated as 93.3 per cent. The rate is lowest in Bago (West) at 86.6 per cent, but reaches more than 90 per cent in most states and divisions. Grade promotion rate is highest among children in the richest households at 98.9 per cent, but it is also as high as 83.2 per cent among children in the poorest households.

The net primary school completion rate and transition rate to secondary education are presented in Table ED.6. Only 54.2 per cent of children of primary school completion age, which in Myanmar is nine years of age, are attending the last grade of primary education. This value should be distinguished from the gross primary completion ratio which includes children of any age attending the last grade of primary school. As already noted above, there is a tendency for children to begin school later than at age five. The overall percentage of Myanmar children who complete primary school is therefore likely to be higher than the net primary school completion rate.

Geographical location has a strong influence on whether children complete primary school on time. A total of 66.6 per cent of 9-year-olds in urban areas are in the last grade of primary school, as opposed to 49.6 per cent of 9-year-olds in rural areas. While 72.3 per cent of 9-year-olds in Tanintharyi are in the last grade of primary, the lowest rate is found in Rakhine with 31.7 per cent. The education level of children's mothers, as well as their households' socioeconomic status, is of high importance. It is remarkable that only 31.2 per cent of 9-year-old children from the poorest households have reached the last grade of primary, compared to 78.7 per cent of 9-year-olds from the richest households.

A total of 95.3 per cent of the children that successfully completed the last grade of primary school were found to be attending the first grade of secondary school. This rate is lower among children from the poorest households at 87.2 per cent, and reaches 99.6 per cent among children from the richest households.

The ratio of girls to boys attending primary and secondary education is provided in Table ED.7. These ratios are better known as the Gender Parity Index (GPI). The ratios included here are obtained from net attendance ratios rather than gross attendance ratios. The gross ratios can provide an erroneous description of the GPI mainly because in most of the cases the majority of over-aged children attending primary education tend to be boys. The table shows that gender parity for primary school is 1.01 at



the national level, indicating no difference in the attendance of girls and boys to primary school. The exact same result is found for secondary school gender parity. Nonetheless it can be seen that while for primary school this rate remains close to the national average, regardless of socioeconomic status and geographic location, the value for secondary education varies more. In Shan (East) the primary school gender parity index is 1.11, and for secondary school 1.26. This means that more girls than boys attend school, and the tendency becomes more pronounced after reaching secondary school. Secondary school aged girls are at a disadvantage in Rakhine (0.85) and Shan (North) (0.92).



©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Myo Thame

Young Female Literacy

One of the World Fit for Children goals is to assure adult literacy. Adult literacy is also an MDG indicator, relating to both men and women. In MICS, because only a women's questionnaire was administered, the results are based only on females aged 15–24 years. Literacy was assessed on the ability of women to read a short, simple statement or on school attendance. Individuals who had secondary or higher education were assumed to be literate and were not asked to do the reading test. The percentage of literate young women is presented in Table ED.8.

Overall, 87.8 per cent of young Myanmar women are literate. The percentage is higher in urban areas at 94.9 per cent than in rural areas, at 84.9 per cent. The rate differs markedly with place of residence, with young women in Kachin most likely to be literate (96.4 per cent). Rakhine has the lowest literacy rate with 54.6 per cent. It is interesting to note that only 73.4 per cent of young women with primary education are literate, indicating that one in every four young women who have attended primary school, not counting the ones who have moved on to secondary school, are still unable to read simple sentences about everyday life. Socioeconomic differences are also visible. Among young women in the poorest households, 69 per cent are literate, while among the richest the literacy rate is as high as 96.6 per cent.

XI. Child Protection

Birth Registration

The Convention on the Rights of the Child articles 7 and 8 state that every child has the right to a name and a nationality and the right to protection from being deprived of his or her identity. Birth registration is a fundamental means of securing these rights for children. The World Fit for Children states the goal to develop systems to ensure the registration of every child at or shortly after birth, and fulfil his or her right to acquire a name and a nationality, in accordance with national laws and relevant international instruments. The indicator used in MICS is the percentage of children under five years of age whose birth is registered.

In Myanmar, birth registration is administered through the Department of Health. Basic health staff and midwives fill in the relevant forms when a child is born and forward them to the Township Medical Office. The only authorized person to sign the birth certificates is the Township Medical Officer. Because of the central role of health staff in the process, children who are born in health facilities are generally more likely to receive a birth certificate than other children. Obstacles in the process tend to include a lack of forms for registration, distances to travel for people living in remote areas and the cost of health staff having to travel to the Township Medical Office. Furthermore, the utility of a birth certificate is not clear. Showing a birth certificate is not required to obtain immunization or for school enrolment but is nevertheless a crucial proof of age. A parallel channel for registering the birth of a child is through the General Administration Department. The local authorities' letter of endorsement of the birth is often the one used for obtaining a National Registration Card at age 10.

During the MICS interview, mothers or caregivers of children under five were asked to show the child's birth certificate. If the certificate was not shown, they were asked whether the child's birth had been registered. It was not well specified which type of registration was being asked about, so it is likely that respondents would have reported registration both through health staff and through local administrative authorities.

The births of 72.4 per cent of children under five years in Myanmar have been registered (Table CP.1). Births of boys and girls are equally often registered. More births are registered in urban areas, at 93.5 per cent, than in rural areas, at 63.5 per cent. The rate of birth registration varies across states and divisions, with Yangon and Shan (East) highest, at 95.2 and 95.4 per cent respectively, and Chin lowest, at 24.4 per cent. The education of mothers is highly important for the birth of a child to be registered. Whereas 85.3 per cent of children whose mothers have secondary or higher education have birth registration, only 52.4 per cent of children whose mothers have no education have had their birth registered. Along the same lines, 50.4 per cent of children in the poorest 20 per cent of households are registered, while 95.9 per cent of children in the richest quintile are registered. Among children whose births are not registered, the most common reason given is that the main caregiver did not know the child should be registered (34 per cent).



Early Marriage

Early marriage, before or around the age of 18, is a reality for many young girls. According to UNICEF's worldwide estimates, over 60 million women aged 20–24 were married/in union before the age of 18. Factors that influence early marriage rates include: the state of the country's civil registration system, which provides proof of age for children; the existence of an adequate legislative framework with an accompanying enforcement mechanism to address cases of child marriage; and the existence of customary or religious laws that condone the practice.

In many parts of the world, parents encourage the marriage of their daughters at an early age in hopes that the marriage will benefit them both financially and socially, while also relieving financial burdens on the family. Poverty, protection of girls, family honour and the provision of stability during unstable social periods are considered as significant factors in determining a girl's risk of becoming married while still a child. Early marriage can, however, compromise the development of girls and often results in early pregnancy and social isolation, with little education and poor vocational training, thus reinforcing the gendered nature of poverty.

The right to 'free and full' consent to a marriage is recognized in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, with the recognition that consent cannot be 'free and full' when one of the parties involved is not sufficiently mature to make an informed decision about a life partner. The Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination Against Women mentions the right to protection from child marriage in article 16, which states: "The betrothal and the marriage of a child shall have no legal effect, and all necessary action, including legislation, shall be taken to specify a minimum age for marriage..." While marriage is not considered directly in the Convention on the Rights of the Child, child marriage is linked to other rights, such as the right to express their views freely, the right to protection from all forms of abuse and the right to be protected from harmful traditional practices, and is frequently addressed by the Committee on the Rights of the Child. Another international agreement related to child marriage is the Convention on Consent to Marriage, Minimum Age for Marriage and Registration of Marriages.

Young married girls are a unique, though typically invisible, group. Often required to perform heavy amounts of domestic work, under pressure to demonstrate fertility, and responsible for raising children while barely more than children themselves, married girls face constrained decision-making

and reduced life choices. Women who married at a younger age are often more likely to experience domestic violence.

Closely related to the issue of early marriage is the age at which girls become sexually active. Women who were married before or around the age of 18 tend to have more children than those who married later in life. Internationally, pregnancy-related deaths are known to be a leading cause of mortality for both married and unmarried girls between the ages of 15 and 19, particularly among the youngest of this cohort.

The indicator selected for Myanmar MICS is the percentage of young women and girls aged 15–19 currently married. As shown in Table CP.2, overall, 7.4 per cent of young women and girls aged 15 -19 in Myanmar are married. More girls and young women in rural areas (8.4 per cent) are married than girls in urban areas (5.1 per cent). Percentages vary strongly across states and divisions, with the highest rate of early marriage found in Shan (East), at 22.3 per cent. This means that one in every five females in Shan (East) is already married by the age of 15–19. Prevalence of early marriage is also high in Shan (North) and Shan (South), at 13.7 per cent and 11.2 per cent respectively. The lowest rate is found in Sagaing at 4.7 per cent.

Girls and young women with secondary or higher education are less likely to be married than those with only primary education. The percentage married among young women with secondary and higher education is 5.2 per cent, while 12.4 per cent of girls with primary education only are married. Furthermore, 9 per cent of young women in the poorest 20 per cent of households are married, while on the other hand 4.3 per cent among the richest have entered into marriage.

Orphans and Children's Living Arrangements

The care from parents and caregivers is crucial for children of all ages. According to article 18 of the CRC, parents or, as the case may be, legal guardians, have the primary responsibility for the upbringing and



©UNICEF Myanmar/2009/Myo Thame
development of a child; the best interests of the child should be their basic concern. Children rely on their parents or caregivers to provide them with appropriate food, clothes and shelter and to provide them with an environment in which they can fully develop to their best potential. Parents have the responsibility to ensure that their children receive preventive health services, such as immunization, and to seek appropriate medical care in the event of illness.

As mentioned in the chapter on child development, it is widely recognized that spending time with adults on activities such as singing songs and reading stories is crucial for a young child's mental development. Parents likewise can play a central role in children's education by ensuring their enrolment and attendance in both early childhood education and in school from the appropriate age. Additionally, parents can help children succeed in their education by assisting them with homework and providing time and space for them to study, as much as possible. It is the responsibility of parents to protect children from harm, be healthy role models and to prepare children for life as adults.

Children who are orphaned or not living with their parents may receive less adult guidance and support, and may be at increased risk of neglect or exploitation.

Table CP.3 shows the percentage of children living with one or both parents and the percentage of orphans. In Myanmar 85.2 per cent of children live with both parents. This percentage does not vary across sex of child, urban and rural areas or socioeconomic status. It does, however, vary between states and divisions. The highest percentage of children living with both parents is found in Kayah and Shan (South) States, at 91.5 per cent each, while the lowest percentage is found in Mon State, at 65.4 per cent. In terms of age, 90.4 per cent of children aged 0-4 years live with both parents, while 78.9 per cent of children aged 15-17 do so.

In total, 5.4 per cent of Myanmar children do not live with a biological parent. The highest rate is in Mon with as much as 18.7 per cent, and the lowest is in Rakhine at 1.3 per cent. It is interesting to note that while only 2.9 per cent of children in the poorest wealth quintile live without their parents, 7.1 per cent of children in the richest quintile do not live with their biological parents. Although the reason for children living without their parents was not asked, it is clear that the death of parents is not the primary cause; 3.8 per cent of children in Myanmar do not live with any of their parents, although both parents are alive. This rate is highest in Mon State, at 16.4 per cent. It is also high in Kayin, at 10.3 per cent, followed by Tanintharyi, at 9.2 per cent. Some 8 per cent of children live with their mother only, while only 1.3 per cent of children live with their father only.

One or both parents of 6.6 per cent of Myanmar children have died. The rate is highest in Kachin State, at 8.4 per cent and lowest in Kayin, at 3.9 per cent. While 2 per cent of children aged 0-4 have lost one or both parents, 13.5 per cent of children aged 15-17 have lost one or both parents. This suggests that when reaching the age of 15-17, more than 1 of every 10 children will have lost at least one parent.

XII. HIV /AIDS

Knowledge of HIV Transmission

One of the most important prerequisites for reducing the rate of HIV infection is accurate knowledge of how HIV is transmitted and ways of preventing transmission. Correct information is the first step towards raising awareness and giving young people the tools to protect themselves from infection. Misconceptions about HIV are common and can confuse young people and hinder prevention efforts. Different regions are likely to have variations in misconceptions although some appear to be universal, for example that sharing food can transmit HIV, or mosquito bites can transmit HIV. The UN General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS (UNGASS) called on governments to improve the knowledge and skills of young people to protect themselves from HIV. The indicators to measure this goal as well as the MDG of reducing HIV infections by half include improving the level of knowledge of HIV and its prevention and changing behaviours to prevent further spread of the disease. The HIV module was administered to all women 15-49 years of age.

One indicator which is both an MDG and UNGASS indicator is the per cent of young women who have comprehensive and correct knowledge of HIV prevention and transmission. Women were asked whether they knew of the three main ways of preventing HIV transmission – having only one faithful uninfected partner, using a condom every time, and abstaining from sex. The results are presented in Table HA.1. In Myanmar, most of the interviewed women (95.4 per cent) have heard of AIDS. However, the percentage of women who know of all three main ways of preventing HIV transmission is only 45 per cent. Some 75 per cent of women know of having one faithful uninfected sex partner, 70.6 per cent know of using a condom every time, and 57.8 per cent know of abstaining from sex as main ways of preventing HIV transmission. While 86.1 per cent of women know at least one way, 13.9 per cent do not know any of the three ways.

The lowest level of awareness of AIDS is found in Shan (North), where 66.6 per cent of women had heard of AIDS. In comparison, in Mon, Bago (West), Magwe, Tanintharyi and Yangon, more than 99 per cent of women had heard of the disease. Regarding prevention of HIV, there is very little difference between urban (47 per cent) and rural (44.1 per cent) areas in knowledge of all three ways of prevention. On the other hand, 91.3 per cent of urban women could identify at least one way, as opposed to 83.8 per cent in rural areas. In Chin State, only 22.2 per cent of women could identify all three ways of preventing HIV transmission, compared with 54.1 per cent in Shan (South).

Knowledge of all three ways of prevention does not vary considerably between women with primary (45.5 per cent) or secondary or higher (48.2 per cent) education, although more women with secondary (92 per cent) education than women with primary education (84.7 per cent) are able to identify at least one way. There is, however, a large gap in knowledge when compared with women without any education, of whom only 22.8 per cent can identify all three ways. Knowledge varies with socioeconomic background, but the proportion of women knowing all three ways of prevention is largest in the second-richest quintile (50.2 per cent). The lowest level of knowledge is found among the poorest women, at 37.3 per cent. While 76.7 per cent of women in the poorest households could identify at least one way of preventing transmission, this rises to 90.5 per cent among women in the richest households.

Table HA.2 presents the percentage of women who can correctly identify misconceptions concerning HIV. The indicator is based on the two most common and relevant misconceptions in Myanmar, that

HIV can be transmitted by sharing food and by mosquito bites. The table also provides information on whether women know that HIV cannot be transmitted by supernatural means and that HIV can be transmitted by sharing needles. Of the interviewed women, 40.8 per cent reject the two most common misconceptions and know that a healthy-looking person can be infected. Some 75.9 per cent of women know that HIV cannot be transmitted by sharing food, and 66.1 per cent know that HIV cannot be transmitted by mosquito bites, while 59.7 per cent of women know that a healthy-looking person can be infected. Some 55 per cent of urban women can correctly identify misconceptions about HIV/AIDS, as opposed to 34.3 per cent of rural women. In Shan (East), only 26.4 per cent of women reject the two most common misconceptions and know that a healthy-looking person can be infected, while the rate in Yangon is 57.8.

Age, educational background and socioeconomic status are also shown to influence awareness. Women aged 20–24 were found to be most likely to identify misconceptions, at 44.6 per cent, while the lowest level of identification of misconceptions was found in the 45-49 age group, at 33.9 per cent. Among women with primary education, 28.4 per cent correctly identified misconceptions, while 55.2 per cent of women with secondary or higher education were able to do so. Among the poorest women, 25.9 per cent rejected the most common misconceptions and know that a healthy-looking person can be infected, as opposed to 57.9 per cent of women in the richest households.

Table HA.3 summarizes information from Tables HA.1 and HA.2 and presents the percentage of women who know two ways of preventing HIV transmission and reject three common misconceptions. Comprehensive knowledge of HIV prevention methods and transmission is still fairly low, although there are differences by area of residence. Overall, 30.1 per cent of women are found to have comprehensive knowledge. The percentage is higher in urban areas (41.2 per cent) than in rural areas (25 per cent). Comprehensive knowledge is lowest in Shan (East) (17.5 per cent) and greatest in Yangon (46.3 per cent). As expected, the proportion of women with comprehensive knowledge increases with their level of education (Figure HA.1). While 20.2 per cent of women with primary education



have comprehensive knowledge, this rate rises to 41.7 per cent for women with secondary or higher education. Only 17.3 per cent of women in the poorest households have comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS transmission, compared to 42.5 per cent among the richest women. Knowledge varies with age, being lowest in the 45-49 age group (24.7 per cent) and greatest among the 20–24 age group (32.8 per cent). Comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS transmission among young women aged 15–24 was found to be 31.8 per cent.

Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV is an important first step for women to seek HIV testing when they are pregnant to avoid infection in the baby. Women should know that HIV can be transmitted during pregnancy, delivery and through breastfeeding. The level of knowledge among women aged 15–49 years concerning mother-to-child transmission is presented in Table HA.4. Overall, 87 per cent of women know that HIV can be transmitted from mother to child. The percentage of women who know all three ways of mother-to-child transmission is 65 per cent, while 8.3 per cent of women did not know of any specific way. A total of 81.5 per cent of women know that HIV can be transmitted during pregnancy, 73.4 per cent know that HIV can be transmitted during delivery, and 75.6 per cent are aware that HIV can be transmitted through breast milk.

There is no notable difference between urban (64.5 per cent) and rural (65.2 per cent) women on their knowledge of ways of HIV transmission from mother to child. In Bago (West), 79.6 per cent of women could identify all three ways HIV can be transmitted from mother to child, while the lowest percentage is found in Shan (North), at 39 per cent. It is interesting to note that the highest percentage of women knowing all three ways of transmission from mother to child is found in the second lowest socioeconomic group with 69.1 per cent.

The indicators on attitudes towards people living with HIV measure stigma and discrimination in the community. Stigma and discrimination are low if respondents report an accepting attitude on the following four questions: 1) would care for family member sick with AIDS; 2) would buy fresh vegetables from a vendor who was HIV positive; 3) thinks that a female teacher who is HIV positive should be allowed to teach in school; and 4) would not want to keep HIV status of a family member a secret. Table HA.5 presents the attitudes of women towards people living with HIV /AIDS. Overall, 65.1 per cent of Myanmar women agree with at least one discriminatory statement about HIV /AIDS. The most negative attitude was expressed against buying vegetables from a person with HIV/AIDS (53.7 per cent), followed by the negative stance against allowing a female HIV-positive teacher to work (41.6 per cent). Considerably fewer women said they would not care for a family member with AIDS (11.8 per cent) or would want to keep it a secret if a family member was HIV-positive (10.7 per cent).

There are notable variations on women's attitudes towards people living with HIV /AIDS according to area of residence, education and socioeconomic background. While 53.7 per cent of urban women agree with at least one discriminatory statement, the rate rises to 70.5 per cent among rural women. The smallest proportion of women agreeing with a discriminatory statement is found in Chin State, at 50.8 per cent, as opposed to 80 per cent in Rakhine. Some 75.6 per cent of women with primary education only, agree with at least one discriminatory statement, compared with 55.3 per cent of women with secondary or higher education. Among women in the poorest households, 78.1 per cent expressed a discriminatory attitude towards people living with HIV/AIDS, while 51.2 per cent of women in the richest households did so.

Another important indicator is the knowledge of where to be tested for HIV and the use of such services. Questions related to knowledge among women of a facility for HIV testing and whether they have ever been tested is presented in Table HA.6. In Myanmar 70.6 per cent of women know where they can be tested for HIV, while 17.6 per cent have actually been tested. Of them, a large proportion

has been told the result (91.5 per cent).

In total, 82.1 per cent of urban women know of a place to get tested for HIV, compared with 65.3 per cent of rural women. As many as 91.5 per cent of women in Bago (West) know where they can be tested. The lowest level of awareness is found in Rakhine at 45.9 per cent. Similarly, as many as 33 per cent of urban women have been tested, while only 10.5 per cent of rural women have been tested. The highest rate of women who have been tested is in Yangon, at 42 per cent. The lowest rate is found in Chin and Rakhine at 3.3 per cent each.

The education level and socioeconomic background of women influence both their knowledge of where to be tested for HIV, and whether they have actually been tested or not. Among women with primary education, 63 per cent know of a place to be tested, and 13 per cent have been tested. In comparison, 82.2 per cent of women with secondary or higher education know where to go for an HIV test and 23 per cent have been tested. One half (50.7 per cent) of women from the poorest households know of a place they can go to for an HIV test, and 5.9 per cent have been tested. Among women from the richest households, 84 per cent know where they can be tested, and 33 per cent have been tested.

List of References

Boerma, J. T., Weinstein, K. I., Rutstein, S.O., and Sommerfelt, A. E., 1996. Data on Birth Weight in Developing Countries: Can Surveys Help? Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 74(2), 209-16.

Filmer, D. and Pritchett, L., 2001. Estimating wealth effects without expenditure data – or tears: An application to educational enrolments in states of India. Demography 38(1): 115-132.

Rutstein, S.O. and Johnson, K., 2004. The DHS Wealth Index. DHS Comparative Reports No. 6. Calverton, Maryland: ORC Macro.

UNICEF, 2006. Monitoring the Situation of Children and Women. Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey Manual, New York.

Union of Myanmar Ministry of Health. Five-Year Strategic Plan for Child Health Development in Myanmar (2010-2014). Nay Pyi Taw.

Union of Myanmar Ministry of Immigration and Population, Department of Population, 2009. Country Report on 2007 Fertility and Reproductive Health Survey. Nay Pyi Taw.

United Nations, 1983. Manual X: Indirect Techniques for Demographic Estimation (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.83.XIII.2).

United Nations, 1990a. QFIVE, United Nations Program for Child Mortality Estimation. New York, UN Pop Division

United Nations, 1990b. Step-by-step Guide to the Estimation of Child Mortality. New York, UN

www.Childinfo.org.



©UNICEF Myanmar/2009/Saw Thein Win



Number of households, wome	en, and c	hildren ui	nder five	by results	s of the h	ousehold	, women	's and un	der-five	's intervie	ws, and	househo	ld, wome	in's and i	under-fiv	e's respo	nse rate:	, Myanm	iar, 2009	-2010
	Are	ea									State/Div	'ision								
	Urban	Rural	Kachin	Kayah	Kayin	Chin	Mon	Ra- khine	Shan (Nor- th)	Shan (East)	Shan (Sou- th)	Aye- yar- vaddy	Bago (East) (Bago West)	Jagwe	Man- dalay	Sa- gaing	Tanin- tharyi	'angon	Total
Number of households																				
Sampled	8,340	20,910	1,260	1,170	1,290	1,170	1,530	1,590	1,410	1,200	1,350	2,910	1,590	1,440	2,160	2,940	2,400	1,290	2,550	29,250
Occupied	8,340	20,910	1,260	1,170	1,290	1,170	1,530	1,590	1,410	1,200	1,350	2,910	1,590	1,440	2,160	2,940	2,400	1,290	2,550	29,250
Interviewed	8,331	20,907	1,258	1,170	1,290	1,169	1,530	1,590	1,403	1,200	1,350	2,910	1,590	1,440	2,160	2,938	2,400	1,290	2,550	29,238
Response rate	99.9	100.0	99.8	100.0	100.0	6.66	100.0	100.0	99.5	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	6.66	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number of women																				
Eligible	11,808	27,217	1,820	1,713	1,609	1,507	1,878	2,169	1,987	1,328	1,728	3,586	2,238	1,623	2,873	4,154	3,451	1,676	3,685	39,025
Interviewed	11,568	26,513	1,631	1,685	1,590	1,494	1,873	2,168	1,957	1,318	1,717	3,536	2,106	1,617	2,829	3,967	3,298	1,637	3,658	38,081
Response rate	98.0	97.4	89.6	98.4	98.8	99.1	7.66	100.0	98.5	99.2	99.4	98.6	94.1	9.66	98.5	95.5	95.6	7.76	99.3	97.6
Overall response rate	97.9	97.4	89.5	98.4	98.8	99.1	99.7	100.0	98.0	99.2	99.4	98.6	94.1	9.66	98.5	95.4	92.6	97.7	99.3	97.5
Number of children under 5																				
Eligible	4,253	11,321	947	1,097	1,033	925	736	936	894	529	757	1,399	821	400	861	1,112	944	590	1,593	15,574
Mother/Caretaker interviewed	4,238	11,301	929	1,097	1,031	925	736	936	890	529	757	1,398	817	400	861	1,112	941	588	1,592	15,539
Response rate	9.66	99.8	98.1	100.0	99.8	100.0	100.0	100.0	9.66	100.0	100.0	6.66	99.5	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.7	99.7	99.9	99.8
Overall response rate	99.5	8.66	97.9	100.0	8.66	6.66	100.0	100.0	99.1	100.0	100.0	6.66	99.5	100.0	100.0	6.66	99.7	7.66	6.66	7.66

Table HH.1: Results of household and individual interviews

Table HH.2: Household age distribution by sexPer cent distribution of the household population by five-year age groups and dependency age groups, and number of
children aged 0-17 years, by sex, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Mal	es	Fema	lles	Tota	al
	Number	Per cent	Number	Per cent	Number	Per cent
Age						
0-4	7,521	11.3	7,112	9.5	14,632	10.4
5-9	7,249	10.9	7,074	9.5	14,323	10.1
10-14	6,699	10.0	6,856	9.2	13,555	9.6
15-19	5,768	8.6	6,347	8.5	12,115	8.6
20-24	5,187	7.8	6,299	8.4	11,486	8.1
25-29	5,259	7.9	6,405	8.6	11,664	8.3
30-34	5,206	7.8	5,950	8.0	11,156	7.9
35-39	5,023	7.5	5,717	7.7	10,740	7.6
40-44	4,290	6.4	5,014	6.7	9,304	6.6
45-49	3,650	5.5	3,783	5.1	7,433	5.3
50-54	3,211	4.8	4,156	5.6	7,366	5.2
55-59	2,378	3.6	2,874	3.9	5,252	3.7
60-64	1,874	2.8	2,289	3.1	4,162	2.9
65-69	1,228	1.8	1,606	2.2	2,834	2.0
70-74	1,044	1.6	1,325	1.8	2,370	1.7
75-79	624	0.9	942	1.3	1,566	1.1
80+	493	0.7	798	1.1	1,291	0.9
Missing/DK	8	0.0	12	0.0	20	0.0
Dependency age groups						
< 15	21,468	32.2	21,041	28.2	42,510	30.1
15-64	41,846	62.7	48,833	65.5	90,679	64.2
65 +	3,390	5.1	4,671	6.3	8,060	5.7
Missing/DK	8	0.0	12	0.0	20	0.0
Children aged 0-17	25,135	37.7	24,919	33.4	50,054	35.4
Adults 18+/Missing/ DK	41,577	62.3	49,638	66.6	91,215	64.6
Total	66,712	100.0	74,557	100.0	141,269	100.0

Table HH.3: Household compositionPer cent distribution of households by selected characteristics, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Number o	f households
	Weighted per cent —	Weighted	Unweighted
Sex of household head			
Male	83.2	24,334	24,412
Female	16.8	4,904	4,826
State/Division			
Kachin	2.4	714	1,258
Kayah	0.5	145	1,170
Kayin	2.8	824	1,290
Chin	1.0	298	1,169
Mon	4.6	1,333	1,530
Rakhine	6.2	1,819	1,590
Shan (North)	3.7	1,093	1,403
Shan (East)	1.5	428	1,200
Shan (South)	4.7	1,379	1,350
Ayeyarwaddy	8.9	2,589	2,910
Bago (East)	6.2	1,821	1,590
Bago (West)	5.3	1,562	1,440
Magwe	9.2	2,688	2,160
Mandalay	14.5	4,250	2,938
Sagaing	11.2	3,266	2,400
Tanintharyi	2.5	742	1,290
Yangon	14.7	4,286	2,550
Area			
Urban	29.6	8,658	8,331
Rural	70.4	20,580	20,907
Number of household members			
1	1.2	357	352
2-3	24.5	7,174	6,986
4-5	43.1	12,590	12,375
6-7	21.8	6,386	6,616
8-9	7.2	2,097	2,232
10+	2.2	634	677
Total	100.0	29,238	29,238
At least one child aged < 18 years	78.4	29,238	29,238
At least one child aged < 5 years	42.0	29,238	29,238
At least one woman aged 15-49 years	90.6	29,238	29,238

Table HH.4: Women's background characteristicsPer cent distribution of women aged 15-49 years by background characteristics, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Number of	f women
	Weighted per cent	Weighted	Unweighted
State/ Division			
Kachin	2.6	996	1,631
Kayah	0.5	205	1,685
Kayin	2.6	987	1,590
Chin	1.0	370	1,494
Mon	4.1	1,577	1,873
Rakhine	6.3	2,385	2,168
Shan (North)	3.9	1,498	1,957
Shan (East)	1.2	456	1,318
Shan (South)	4.5	1,701	1,717
Ayeyarwaddy	8.1	3,075	3,536
Bago (East)	6.5	2,470	2,106
Bago (West)	4.5	1,697	1,617
Magwe	9.0	3,446	2,829
Mandalay	15.2	5,791	3,967
Sagaing	11.9	4,530	3,298
Tanintharyi	2.4	928	1,637
Yangon	15.7	5,967	3,658
Area			
Urban	31.5	12,011	11,568
Rural	68.5	26,070	26,513
Age		·	
15-19	15.7	5,984	6,126
20-24	15.7	5,988	5,982
25-29	16.2	6,179	6,117
30-34	15.2	5,787	5,780
35-39	14.7	5,579	5,567
40-44	12.9	4,900	4,882
45-49	9.6	3,663	3,627
Marital status			
Ever-married	60.6	23,070	23,593
Never-married	39.4	15,011	14,488
Motherhood status of ever-married women			
Ever gave birth	92.0	21,232	21,835
Never gave birth	8.0	1,838	1,758
Education			
None	6.7	2,542	3,127
Primary	39.4	15,010	14,652
Secondary +	51.2	19,492	19,396
Non-standard curriculum	2.7	1,037	906
Wealth index quintiles			
Poorest	18.5	7,035	6,597
Second	19.6	7,475	7,217
Middle	19.8	7,535	7,826
Fourth	20.4	7,781	8,064
Richest	21.7	8,256	8,377
Total	100.0	38,081	38,081

Table HH.5: Children's background characteristicsPer cent distribution of children under five years of age by background characteristics, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Number of un	der-five children
	Weighted per cent	Weighted	Unweighted
Sex			
Male	51.4	7,980	7,923
Female	48.6	7,558	7,616
State/Division			
Kachin	3.7	570	929
Kayah	0.9	145	1,097
Kayin	4.5	701	1,031
Chin	1.6	250	925
Mon	4.4	680	736
Rakhine	7.3	1,137	936
Shan (North)	5.4	835	890
Shan (East)	1.3	200	529
Shan (South)	5.3	822	757
Ayeyarwaddy	8.5	1,322	1,398
Bago (East)	6.4	1,000	817
Bago (West)	3.0	461	400
Magwe	7.3	1,138	861
Mandalay	11.0	1,708	1,112
Sagaing	8.8	1,364	941
Tanintharyi	2.3	360	588
Yangon	18.3	2,844	1,592
Area			
Urban	29.6	4,593	4,238
Rural	70.4	10,946	11,301
Age			
< 6 months	9.9	1,546	1,530
6-11 months	11.2	1,743	1,738
12-23 months	20.6	3,207	3,232
24-35 months	19.7	3,063	3,071
36-47 months	20.2	3,132	3,107
48-59 months	18.3	2,848	2,861
Mother's education			
None	10.3	1,594	1,892
Primary	45.7	7,100	6,979
Secondary +	41.6	6,459	6,332
Non-standard curriculum	2.5	386	336
Wealth index quintiles			
Poorest	24.7	3,843	3,504
Second	20.6	3,204	3,164
Middle	18.4	2,851	3,167
Fourth	18.5	2,872	2,976
Richest	17.8	2,768	2,728
Total	100.0	15,539	15,539

Table CM1: Child Mortality

Infant mortality and under-five mortality rates (per 1,000 live births), by 5 year period, Myanmar 2009-2010

	Approximate	Nat	ional	Url	ban	Ru	ıral
Periods of analysis of 5 years	calendar year	Infant mortality*	Under-5 mortality**	Infant mortality	Under-5 mortality	Infant mortality	Under-5 mortality
0-4	2005/06- 2009/10	37.5	46.1	24.5	29.1	42.8	52.9
5-9	2000/01- 2004/05	49.7	61.3	27.2	35.4	57.8	70.6
10-14	1995/96- 1999/2000	47.7	62.7	34.9	44.1	51.9	68.9

* MICS indicator 2; MDG indicator 14

** MICS indicator 1; MDG indicator 13

 Table CM2: Child Mortality by background characteristics

 Infant mortality and under-five mortality rates (per 1,000 live births), in the period of 0-4 years preceding interview,
 Myanmar 2009-2010

	Infant mortality	Under-5 mortality
Sex		
Male	41.8	49.8
Female	33.0	42.2
Mother's education level*		
Primary	43.1	50.9
Secondary+	26.8	32.9
Wealth index quintile		
Poorest	49.2	62.4
Second	52.2	62.4
Middle	40.4	48.9
Fourth	23.5	27.2
Richest	13.2	17.2

*Infant and under-five mortality was not calculated for mothers with no education and mothers who have been educated with nonstandard curriculum due to low numbers of women in these categories

		Weight for age			Height for age		-	Veight for height		Number of
	% below - 2 SD*	% below - 3 SD*	Number of children	% below - 2 SD**	% below - 3 SD**	Number of children	% below - 2 SD***	% below - 3 SD***	% above + 2 SD	children aged 0-59 months
Sex										
Male	23.0	5.6	7,923	36.7	13.2	7,882	8.7	2.4	2.7	7,817
Female	22.1	5.6	7,507	33.4	12.1	7,460	7.1	1.9	2.6	7,407
State/Division										
Kachin	13.0	2.4	564	36.6	10.7	564	4.8	1.7	2.9	557
Kayah	14.6	2.5	145	41.7	12.3	145	2.3	1.1	1.9	144
Kayin	15.1	3.2	700	29.0	7.4	669	3.9	0.8	1.6	693
Chin	30.7	8.9	249	58.0	26.3	247	8.9	2.7	4.2	245
Mon	17.8	3.3	679	29.7	6.8	679	5.9	0.0	1.5	675
Rakhine	37.4	14.9	1,136	49.9	26.7	1,118	10.8	2.8	1.7	1,125
Shan (North)	24.1	8.0	815	46.9	21.3	809	9.4	4.1	3.1	795
Shan (East)	15.5	4.2	199	38.5	19.0	199	3.4	1.6	9.5	191
Shan (South)	17.7	5.2	816	41.8	18.8	796	5.3	3.3	11.5	758
Ayeyarwaddy	26.5	6.0	1,319	37.0	12.9	1,310	9.8	2.3	2.8	1,304
Bago (East)	23.6	5.2	994	35.0	10.8	991	7.6	1.5	0.7	989
Bago (West)	22.4	4.5	458	30.8	11.1	456	6.7	1.0	2.8	449
Magwe	26.9	5.6	1,137	36.4	12.6	1,129	10.4	3.2	2.4	1,112
Mandalay	20.7	3.4	1,670	31.5	9.5	1,662	7.1	1.7	1.9	1,664
Sagaing	22.5	5.9	1,360	38.6	12.6	1,354	7.0	2.5	1.9	1,357
Tanintharyi	20.6	5.9	358	32.9	12.0	357	8.1	2.6	1.2	356
Yangon	20.1	4.3	2,830	24.0	7.4	2,828	9.2	1.9	2.0	2,808
Area										
Urban	18.7	3.7	4,545	27.2	8.1	4,522	7.6	1.8	2.7	4,492
Rural	24.2	6.4	10,885	38.4	14.6	10,820	8.1	2.3	2.6	10,732

 Table NU.1: Child malnourishment (WHO Standard)

 Percentage of children aged 0-59 months who are severely or moderately malnourished, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	nmar, 2009-2010
	ed, Mya
intinued)	r malnourish
ndard) (cc	or moderately
HO Sta	severely o
ent (W	who are
urishm	months
malno	aged 0-59
L: Child	children
le NU.1	entage of

Percentage of children a	ged 0-59 month	ıs who are sevei	ely or moderately	malnourished, N	Ayanmar, 2009-2	010				
		Weight for age			Height for age		-	Weight for height		Number of
	% below - 2 SD*	% below - 3 SD*	Number of children	% below - 2 SD**	% below - 3 SD**	Number of children	% below - 2 SD***	% below - 3 SD***	% above + 2 SD	children aged 0-59 months
Age										
< 6 months	10.1	4.0	1,525	13.6	5.9	1,495	7.1	2.8	5.5	1,466
6-11 months	13.0	2.9	1,729	17.8	5.9	1,718	7.8	1.8	3.2	1,719
12-23 months	20.5	5.5	3,190	33.2	12.1	3,165	10.1	2.6	1.9	3,161
24-35 months	25.9	6.0	3,053	43.7	15.3	3,043	8.1	2.1	2.3	3,032
36-47 months	26.0	6.8	3,108	43.1	16.4	3,100	6.8	2.2	2.2	3,074
48-59 months	30.0	6.5	2,824	41.0	14.2	2,821	7.1	1.4	2.3	2,771
Mother's education										
None	31.7	11.5	1,582	49.5	24.3	1,569	9.1	3.3	2.9	1,557
Primary	24.4	5.9	7,072	38.2	13.8	7,038	8.1	2.1	2.2	6,981
Secondary +	17.6	3.7	6,392	27.1	8.0	6,352	7.5	1.9	3.0	6,308
Non-standard curriculum	34.3	8.6	383	51.6	22.3	382	7.7	1.6	2.5	378
Wealth index quintiles										
Poorest	33.1	9.7	3,835	46.6	21.0	3,808	6.6	2.9	2.0	3,787
Second	23.9	6.3	3,176	39.6	14.1	3,153	7.8	2.2	2.6	3,129
Middle	21.6	4.8	2,835	35.7	11.4	2,826	7.1	1.8	2.7	2,799
Fourth	16.6	2.9	2,866	27.7	8.6	2,855	7.2	1.8	2.6	2,837
Richest	13.5	2.7	2,719	20.7	5.0	2,701	6.9	1.8	3.4	2,672
Total	22.6	9 9	15.430	35.1	12.7	15.342	6,7	2.1	2.6	15.224
* MICS indicator 6; MDG inc	licator 4 **MIC	S indicator 7 ***	'MICS indicator 8							

	Weight	for age	Height	for age	W	eight for heig	ght	Number of
	% below - 2 SD*	% below - 3 SD*	% below - 2 SD**	% below - 3 SD**	% below - 2 SD***	% below - 3 SD***	% above + 2 SD	children aged 0-59 months
Sex								
Male	27.7	4.3	28.8	9.0	8.2	1.2	1.9	7,635
Female	28.3	5.2	28.3	9.6	7.2	0.9	2.1	7,186
State/Division								
Kachin	17.9	2.4	28.4	7.5	3.8	0.8	2.4	546
Kayah	20.4	2.2	34.6	8.9	2.5	0.3	1.5	144
Kayin	20.6	3.0	22.6	4.5	3.9	0.2	1.3	685
Chin	35.8	7.6	51.8	19.7	8.2	1.1	2.6	240
Mon	24.1	2.1	23.7	5.1	4.9	0.0	1.4	674
Rakhine	41.6	12.2	42.9	22.3	10.3	1.8	0.9	1,071
Shan (North)	31.1	7.3	42.5	15.1	9.6	2.2	2.0	735
Shan (East)	19.5	3.5	32.0	12.4	2.3	1.0	6.2	186
Shan (South)	20.8	4.0	34.2	12.7	5.1	1.5	9.7	729
Ayeyarwaddy	33.3	5.7	30.6	9.2	9.9	1.5	1.6	1,272
Bago (East)	30.7	4.7	27.8	7.7	7.2	0.5	0.6	969
Bago (West)	32.6	4.7	25.4	8.8	7.3	0.3	2.1	445
Magwe	33.3	4.9	30.1	9.6	10.5	1.1	2.6	1,112
Mandalay	24.6	2.9	25.4	6.8	6.5	0.7	1.0	1,588
Sagaing	28.5	5.1	31.5	9.2	7.1	1.4	1.3	1,309
Tanintharyi	26.7	5.6	26.3	8.5	8.4	1.2	1.0	353
Yangon	24.6	3.4	18.0	5.4	9.0	1.1	1.7	2,762
Area								
Urban	23.5	3.0	21.4	5.6	7.4	0.8	1.9	4,399
Rural	29.9	5.5	31.6	10.8	7.9	1.2	2.0	10,421
Age								
< 6 months	2.2	0.0	5.7	1.7	2.1	0.2	5.6	1,415
6-11 months	16.3	2.1	14.2	3.5	5.2	0.7	2.8	1,675
12-23 months	32.0	6.2	29.4	9.1	14.1	1.7	1.3	3,082
24-35 months	33.7	6.3	30.4	9.7	8.1	1.1	1.2	2,965
36-47 months	31.0	5.2	36.1	12.7	6.3	1.2	1.4	2,993
48-59 months	34.7	5.1	38.3	12.8	6.1	0.8	1.9	2,691
Mother's education								
None	38.0	9.8	43.5	18.7	8.5	1.9	2.2	1,466
Primary	30.2	5.1	31.0	10.1	7.8	0.9	1.7	6,787
Secondary +	22.5	3.0	21.5	5.7	7.4	1.0	2.3	6,208
Non-standard curriculum	40.7	7.9	44.4	17.3	8.2	0.6	1.4	359
Wealth index quinti	iles							
Poorest	39.7	8.5	39.7	16.8	9.5	1.5	1.5	3,629
Second	29.4	5.5	32.7	10.2	7.9	1.1	2.0	3,038
Middle	27.3	4.1	28.3	7.6	6.9	1.1	1.8	2,735
Fourth	22.2	2.5	22.5	5.9	6.3	0.9	2.2	2,784
Richest	17.1	1.9	15.2	3.1	7.4	0.6	2.6	2,635
Total	28.0	<i>1</i> 8	28.6	93	77	1 1	2 0	14 871
	20.0	u	20.0	5.5		1.1	2.0	17,021

Table NU.1A: Child malnourishment (NCHS Standard)Percentage of children aged 0-59 months who are severely or moderately malnourished, Myanmar, 2009-2010

* MICS indicator 6; MDG indicator 4 ** MICS indicator 7

*** MICS indicator 8

Table NU.2: Initial breastfeedingPercentage of women aged 15-49 years with a birth in the two years preceding the survey who breastfed their babywithin one hour of birth and within one day of birth, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth*	Percentage who started breastfeeding within one day of birth	Number of women with a live birth in the two years preceding the survey
State/Division			
Kachin	83.6	94.6	238
Kayah	71.3	92.5	59
Kayin	88.4	93.8	289
Chin	88.2	95.4	85
Mon	91.6	94.5	230
Rakhine	44.2	80.7	391
Shan (North)	72.5	82.5	315
Shan (East)	72.5	96.0	75
Shan (South)	89.3	94.6	314
Ayeyarwaddy	73.3	91.1	565
Bago (East)	63.4	81.6	401
Bago (West)	75.6	89.5	180
Magwe	83.7	94.3	448
Mandalay	72.5	82.0	678
Sagaing	81.1	91.9	530
Tanintharyi	67.7	89.4	123
Yangon	78.1	91.3	1,105
Area			
Urban	81.3	91.1	1,733
Rural	73.5	88.6	4,294
Mother's education			
None	67.9	85.3	541
Primary	73.1	88.5	2,739
Secondary +	80.5	91.2	2,624
Non-standard curriculum	69.3	84.6	124
Wealth index quintiles			
Poorest	67.0	86.1	1,468
Second	72.9	88.4	1,264
Middle	79.3	91.2	1,138
Fourth	81.2	91.4	1,111
Richest	82.0	90.6	1,047
Total	75.8	89.3	6,028

* MICS indicator 45

Table NU.3: Breastfeeding

Percentage of living children according to breastfeeding status at each age group, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Childr mo	en 0-3 nths	Childr mor	en 0-5 nths	Childro mor	en 6-9 nths	Childre mor	n 12-15 1ths	Childre moi	n 20-23 nths
	Per cent exclu- sively breast- fed	Number of chil- dren	Per cent exclu- sively breast- fed*	Number of chil- dren	Per cent receiving breast milk and solid/ mushy food**	Number of chil- dren	Per cent breast- fed***	Number of chil- dren	Per cent breast- fed***	Number of chil- dren
Sex						·				
Male	29.5	514	23.5	785	80.5	577	90.8	606	65.6	527
Female	29.0	474	23.8	761	81.5	526	91.1	565	65.3	492
State/Division										
Kachin	49.6	46	40.6	64	69.0	42	82.7	47	22.6	32
Kayah	33.4	8	24.0	14	79.7	11	79.9	9	39.3	12
Kayin	15.5	40	9.4	73	70.8	58	73.7	65	50.6	55
Chin	(35.0)	12	25.4	21	80.6	18	94.2	14	83.9	19
Mon	(58.1)	40	47.0	63	(81.0)	39	81.9	51	(60.0)	42
Rakhine	2.0	64	1.3	94	90.1	82	92.3	81	(82.5)	55
Shan (North)	(11.9)	43	12.9	59	61.8	65	88.8	65	17.7	51
Shan (East)	(26.1)	13	23.3	19	(76.3)	10	(81.1)	16	(34.5)	16
Shan (South)	32.7	56	27.8	86	71.4	68	84.2	62	(46.8)	35
Ayeyarwaddy	28.7	96	25.0	132	83.6	104	93.6	104	83.6	104
Bago (East)	27.0	77	21.6	108	78.6	69	96.5	71	63.5	64
Bago (West)	(*)	27	(12.5)	46	(70.8)	28	(92.9)	32	(86.2)	33
Magwe	33.3	67	34.9	110	85.7	83	95.4	87	94.8	77
Mandalay	40.0	123	30.5	181	85.7	118	94.0	103	72.1	132
Sagaing	34.1	85	28.9	141	84.6	94	98.1	75	85.5	90
Tanintharyi	(20.1)	22	13.6	36	(66.3)	24	(81.5)	26	(56.3)	24
Yangon	25.3	170	18.6	298	88.8	191	94.5	261	53.5	180
Area										
Urban	27.4	279	20.8	449	84.0	294	90.4	369	58.0	311
Rural	30.0	708	24.8	1096	79.9	808	91.3	802	68.7	709
Mother's educat	ion									
None	27.5	75	21.0	129	75.4	113	85.4	100	73.8	92
Primary	27.4	451	23.2	702	78.3	512	91.8	513	70.4	462
Secondary +	31.1	439	24.2	682	85.2	456	91.0	543	57.8	440
Non-standard curriculum	(*)	23	(30.9)	33	(*)	21	(*)	15	(*)	26
Wealth index qu	intiles									
Poorest	28.9	220	24.4	355	82.4	287	94.5	273	77.5	237
Second	26.3	233	22.7	326	81.3	237	95.2	211	72.6	209
Middle	25.3	167	20.1	292	78.3	212	89.7	217	68.0	194
Fourth	34.2	181	26.7	285	79.9	191	87.5	248	57.1	174
Richest	32.2	186	24.3	288	82.3	176	87.8	221	48.9	206
Total	29.3	988	23.6	1,546	80.9	1,103	91.0	1,170	65.4	1,019
* MICS indicator 15		** MICS in	dicator 17	*	** MICS indi	cator 16				

* MICS indicator 15

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only. (*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

Table NU.4: Adequately fed infants

Percentage of infants under six months of age exclusively breastfed, percentage of infants 6-11 months who are breastfed and who ate solid/semi-solid food at least the minimum recommended number of times yesterday and percentage of infants adequately fed, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Per cent of infants			
	0-5 months exclusively breastfed	6-8 months who received breast milk and complementary food at least 2 times in prior 24 hours	9-11 months who received breast milk and complementary food at least 3 times in prior 24 hours	6-11 months who received breast milk and complementary food at least the minimum recommended number of times per day*	0-11 months who were appropriately fed**	Number of infants aged 0-11 months
Sex						
Male	23.5	67.4	46.3	56.6	41.1	1,677
Female	23.8	71.2	44.0	56.4	41.0	1,611
State/Division						
Kachin	40.6	(64.9)	50.1	56.9	48.3	121
Kayah	24.0	78.5	68.9	73.5	51.9	32
Kayin	9.4	62.6	12.2	35.1	23.7	165
Chin	25.4	75.0	(52.6)	65.6	46.7	46
Mon	47.0	(63.4)	(12.3)	31.7	38.8	136
Rakhine	1.3	83.5	26.9	53.7	32.0	227
Shan (North)	12.9	(55.4)	(66.1)	60.5	41.6	149
Shan (East)	23.3	(*)	(*)	(68.8)	44.3	36
Shan (South)	27.8	(68.0)	(58.5)	63.0	47.5	194
Ayeyarwaddy	25.0	69.0	43.0	55.5	42.2	303
Bago (East)	21.6	(59.1)	28.0	42.6	32.4	223
Bago (West)	(12.5)	(*)	(*)	(52.3)	33.3	97
Magwe	34.9	(72.1)	58.1	63.8	51.1	248
Mandalay	30.5	74.1	65.7	69.4	50.4	372
Sagaing	28.9	(68.1)	39.9	53.6	41.2	281
Tanintharyi	13.6	(57.7)	(*)	50.7	31.6	70
Yangon	18.6	75.6	46.9	61.4	39.7	590
Area						
Urban	20.8	69.4	49.7	59.4	40.3	906
Rural	24.8	69.2	43.6	55.4	41.3	2,383
Mother's education						
None	21.0	65.5	42.5	53.7	39.3	292
Primary	23.2	65.7	44.7	54.7	40.1	1,520
Secondary +	24.2	73.5	46.2	58.8	42.1	1,411
Non-standard curriculum	(30.9)	(*)	(*)	(62.2)	46.6	66
Wealth index quintiles						
Poorest	24.4	72.7	41.7	56.5	42.4	809
Second	22.7	72.3	43.5	57.2	41.1	701
Middle	20.1	62.1	47.4	53.9	38.1	627
Fourth	26.7	66.8	45.3	54.8	41.5	603
Richest	24.3	69.9	50.9	60.7	41.6	548
Total	23.6	69.2	45.2	56.5	41.0	3,289

* MICS indicator 18 ** MICS indicator 19

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only. (*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

Table NU.5: Children's vitamin A supplementationPer cent distribution of children aged 6-59 months by whether they have received a high dose vitamin A supplement in
the last six months, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Per cent of ch	ildren who receiv	ed vitamin A:	Not sure	Never		Number of
	Within last 6 months*	Prior to last 6 months	Not sure when	if received vitamin A	received vitamin A	Total	children 6 – 59 months
Sex							
Male	55.7	11.8	21.4	0.2	10.8	100.0	7,195
Female	56.1	12.0	21.2	0.3	10.4	100.0	6,797
State/Division							
Kachin	72.8	12.7	3.2	0.1	11.1	100.0	507
Kayah	83.2	0.2	6.9	0.2	9.5	100.0	131
Kayin	84.8	2.3	2.0	0.6	10.3	100.0	628
Chin	33.9	8.2	44.7	0.1	13.1	100.0	228
Mon	80.1	9.1	1.3	0.0	9.4	100.0	618
Rakhine	32.5	38.4	20.0	0.0	9.1	100.0	1,043
Shan (North)	20.4	12.0	40.7	0.8	26.1	100.0	776
Shan (East)	54.1	4.9	28.1	0.0	12.9	100.0	181
Shan (South)	50.7	17.6	20.6	0.7	10.3	100.0	736
Ayeyarwaddy	62.7	8.2	20.8	0.2	8.0	100.0	1,190
Bago (East)	70.6	5.0	12.9	0.1	11.4	100.0	892
Bago (West)	72.5	4.2	16.7	0.3	6.4	100.0	415
Magwe	81.2	5.8	4.4	0.1	8.5	100.0	1,028
Mandalay	43.9	14.0	33.7	0.8	7.6	100.0	1,527
Sagaing	61.6	2.8	27.1	0.1	8.3	100.0	1,224
Tanintharyi	62.4	19.0	9.3	0.4	8.9	100.0	324
Yangon	44.7	13.7	29.4	0.1	12.1	100.0	2,546
Area							
Urban	51.2	12.6	25.4	0.4	10.4	100.0	4,143
Rural	57.9	11.6	19.5	0.3	10.7	100.0	9,849
Age							
6-11 months	36.5	2.4	10.9	0.4	49.9	100.0	1,743
12-23 months	62.2	11.9	18.6	0.2	7.1	100.0	3,207
24-35 months	58.0	13.5	24.2	0.1	4.1	100.0	3,063
36-47 months	56.7	14.2	24.2	0.3	4.5	100.0	3,132
48-59 months	57.6	13.3	24.4	0.4	4.3	100.0	2,848
Mother's education							
None	41.7	16.7	22.7	0.5	18.4	100.0	1,465
Primary	58.5	11.3	20.5	0.3	9.3	100.0	6,397
Secondary +	56.4	11.2	22.1	0.2	10.2	100.0	5,777
Non-standard curriculum	60.6	13.7	16.5	0.6	8.6	100.0	354
Wealth index quintiles							
Poorest	53.7	15.4	19.3	0.2	11.4	100.0	3,496
Second	59.8	9.8	19.9	0.3	10.3	100.0	2,868
Middle	57.7	10.1	21.5	0.3	10.3	100.0	2,557
Fourth	58.1	10.1	20.9	0.3	10.6	100.0	2,595
Richest	50.6	13.0	25.9	0.3	10.3	100.0	2,476
Total	55.9	11.9	21.3	0.3	10.6	100.0	13,993

* MICS indicator 42

Table NU.6: Post-partum mothers' vitamin A supplementationPercentage of women aged 15-49 years with a birth in the two last years preceding the survey by whether they receiveda high dose vitamin A supplement before the infant was eight weeks old, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Received vitamin A supplement*	Not sure if received vitamin A	Number of women aged 15-49 years
State/Division			
Kachin	56.4	0.0	238
Kayah	81.4	0.4	59
Kayin	71.2	0.4	289
Chin	42.9	1.4	85
Mon	84.6	1.5	230
Rakhine	78.5	0.6	391
Shan (North)	33.5	0.5	315
Shan (East)	84.9	1.8	75
Shan (South)	79.8	0.9	314
Ayeyarwaddy	65.3	0.5	565
Bago (East)	59.3	1.2	401
Bago (West)	80.8	0.6	180
Magwe	68.2	0.8	448
Mandalay	68.3	1.7	678
Sagaing	79.0	0.2	530
Tanintharyi	77.9	0.9	123
Yangon	56.3	0.3	1,105
Area			
Urban	61.7	0.7	1,733
Rural	68.3	0.7	4,294
Education			
None	57.1	1.0	541
Primary	66.4	0.8	2,739
Secondary +	68.3	0.5	2,624
Non-standard curriculum	68.4	2.8	124
Wealth index quintiles			
Poorest	64.3	0.7	1,468
Second	65.7	1.0	1,264
Middle	69.4	0.7	1,138
Fourth	69.7	0.6	1,111
Richest	63.6	0.7	1,047
Total	66.4	0.7	6,028

*MICS indicator 43

 Table NU.7 : Low birth weight infants

 Percentage of live births in the two years preceding the survey that weighed below 2500 grams at birth, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Per cent of	live births:	
	Below 2500 grams*	Weighed at birth**	 Number of live births
State/Division			
Kachin	9.3	47.5	238
Kayah	7.9	64.0	59
Kayin	11.1	62.7	289
Chin	9.4	19.2	85
Mon	9.7	91.2	230
Rakhine	7.4	17.1	391
Shan (North)	9.6	36.4	315
Shan (East)	6.2	92.6	75
Shan (South)	6.9	73.8	314
Ayeyarwaddy	7.3	49.7	565
Bago (East)	11.1	45.6	401
Bago (West)	8.0	58.8	180
Magwe	9.8	39.7	448
Mandalay	9.9	52.8	678
Sagaing	7.1	40.2	530
Tanintharyi	7.3	75.4	123
Yangon	8.0	85.1	1,105
Area			
Urban	8.2	81.6	1,733
Rural	8.8	46.1	4,292
Mother's education			
None	10.8	30.3	541
Primary	8.9	46.6	2,739
Secondary +	7.9	72.5	2,624
Non-standard curriculum	9.5	39.0	124
Wealth index quintiles			
Poorest	9.1	30.3	1,468
Second	9.3	42.5	1,264
Middle	8.9	55.9	1,138
Fourth	7.7	73.9	1,111
Richest	7.9	91.1	1,047
Total	8.6	56.3	6,028

* MICS indicator 9 ** MICS indicator 10

Table CH.1: Vaccinations in first year of life

Percentage of children aged 12-23 months immunized against childhood diseases at any time before the survey and before the first birthday, Myanmar, 2009-2010

(Information copied from Immunization Card/ Midwives' Register Book)

	Percentage of children who received:										Num- ber of
	BCG*	DPT1	DPT2	DPT3**	Polio 1	Polio 2	Polio 3***	Measles ****	All ****	None	children aged 12-23 months
Vaccinated at any time before the survey According to:											
Vaccination card/Midwives' register	95.9	96.0	96.1	95.5	96.1	96.2	95.2	93.2	96.1	0.0	3,207
Mother's report	2.4	2.3	2.0	2.4	2.6	2.3	2.4	4.7	1.2	1.3	3,207
Either	98.3	98.3	98.1	97.8	98.7	98.5	97.7	98.0	97.2	1.3	3,207
Vaccinated by 12 months of age	97.2	96.9	96.8	95.9	97.5	97.4	95.9	90.7	88.6	1.9	3,207

* MICS indicator 25

** MICS indicator 27

*** MICS indicator 26

**** MICS indicator 28; MDG indicator 15

***** MICS Indicator 31

Table CH.1c: Vaccinations in first year of life (continued)

Percentage of children aged 12-23 months immunized against childhood diseases at any time before the survey and before the first birthday, Myanmar, 2009-2010

(Information copied from Immunization Card/ Midwives' Register Book)

	Percenta	Number of children		
	HepB1	НерВ2	HepB3*	aged 12-23 months
Vaccinated at any time before the survey According to:				
Vaccination card/Midwives' register	96.0	95.9	95.5	3,207
Mother's report	2.3	2.1	2.2	3,207
Either	98.3	98.1	97.7	3,207
Vaccinated by 12 months of age	96.9	96.8	95.9	3,207

* MICS indicator 29

 Table CH.2: Vaccinations by background characteristics

 Percentage of children aged 12-23 months currently vaccinated against childhood diseases, Myanmar, 2009-2010

(Information copied from Immunization Card/ Midwives' Register Book)

				Percenta	ge of chilo	lren who	received:				Per cent with	Num-
	BCG	DPT1	DPT2	DPT3	Polio 1	Polio 2	Polio 3	Mea- sles	All	None	health card/ mid- wife's register	ber of children aged 12-23 months
Sex												
Male	98.2	98.2	98.0	97.8	98.6	98.4	97.6	97.7	96.9	1.4	95.8	1,650
Female	98.5	98.5	98.2	97.9	98.7	98.6	97.8	98.3	97.6	1.3	96.2	1,557
State/Division												
Kachin	98.4	98.4	98.4	97.2	98.4	98.4	97.2	95.6	95.6	1.6	98.4	115
Kayah	94.9	94.9	94.9	94.9	94.9	94.9	94.9	94.9	94.9	5.1	94.5	32
Kayin	98.4	98.4	98.4	98.4	98.4	98.4	97.6	98.4	97.6	1.6	96.4	175
Chin	91.6	91.6	91.6	91.0	91.6	91.6	91.0	91.6	91.0	8.4	91.6	48
Mon	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	98.6	133
Rakhine	100.0	100.0	99.4	99.4	100.0	99.4	99.4	100.0	99.4	0.0	98.9	206
Shan (North)	89.0	89.0	89.0	89.0	89.0	89.0	89.0	88.0	88.0	11.0	89.0	194
Shan (East)	98.3	98.3	98.3	98.3	98.3	98.3	98.3	98.3	98.3	1.7	98.3	47
Shan (South)	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	150
Ayeyarwaddy	98.0	98.0	97.7	96.7	99.7	98.7	97.4	98.4	96.7	0.3	90.5	288
Bago (East)	98.7	98.7	97.5	96.8	99.4	98.7	97.5	98.7	96.8	0.6	93.7	193
Bago (West)	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	98.8	94
Magwe	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	99.4	226
Mandalay	98.2	98.2	98.2	98.2	98.6	98.6	97.3	98.2	97.3	1.4	96.4	341
Sagaing	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.5	100.0	100.0	99.5	100.0	99.5	0.0	99.5	269
Tanintharyi	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	66
Yangon	98.9	98.9	98.6	98.3	99.4	99.4	97.7	97.7	96.6	0.6	94.9	631
Area												
Urban	98.5	98.7	98.5	98.2	98.9	98.9	97.7	97.8	97.4	1.1	95.9	967
Rural	98.2	98.2	97.9	97.7	98.6	98.3	97.7	98.0	97.2	1.4	96.0	2,240
Mother's education												
None	92.9	92.9	92.1	91.1	93.5	93.1	91.4	92.5	90.6	6.5	91.5	301
Primary	98.5	98.4	98.2	97.9	98.8	98.5	97.8	98.1	97.2	1.2	95.3	1,437
Secondary +	99.3	99.4	99.3	99.2	99.7	99.7	99.0	99.0	98.7	0.3	97.6	1,395
Non-standard cur- riculum	97.9	97.9	97.9	97.9	97.9	97.9	97.9	97.9	97.9	2.1	97.9	74
Wealth index quintiles												
Poorest	98.6	98.6	98.2	97.5	99.1	98.6	97.6	98.4	97.3	0.9	96.6	754
Second	97.1	96.8	96.5	96.3	97.7	97.5	96.9	96.3	95.7	2.3	94.5	633
Middle	98.0	98.0	97.6	97.3	98.2	98.0	96.8	97.7	96.8	1.8	94.9	600
Fourth	99.1	99.1	99.1	99.1	99.1	99.1	98.5	99.0	98.4	0.9	97.0	612
Richest	98.9	99.2	99.2	99.2	99.2	99.2	98.6	98.4	98.1	0.8	96.8	608
Total	98.3	98.3	98.1	97.8	98.7	98.5	97.7	98.0	97.2	1.3	96.0	3,207

Table CH.2c: Vaccinations by background characteristics (continued)Percentage of children aged 12-23 months currently vaccinated against childhood diseases, Myanmar, 2009-2010

(Information copied from Immunization Card/ Midwives' Register Book)

	Percenta	ge of children who	received:	Per cent with health	Number of children
	HepB1	HepB2	НерВ3	card/ midwife's register	aged 12-23 months
Sex					
Male	98.2	97.9	97.6	95.8	1,650
Female	98.5	98.2	97.7	96.2	1,557
State/Division					
Kachin	98.4	98.4	97.2	98.4	115
Kayah	94.9	94.9	94.9	94.5	32
Kayin	98.4	98.4	98.4	96.4	175
Chin	91.6	91.6	91.0	91.6	48
Mon	100.0	100.0	100.0	98.6	133
Rakhine	100.0	98.9	98.9	98.9	206
Shan (North)	89.0	89.0	89.0	89.0	194
Shan (East)	98.3	98.3	98.3	98.3	47
Shan (South)	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	150
Ayeyarwaddy	98.0	97.3	96.4	90.5	288
Bago (East)	98.7	97.5	96.8	93.7	193
Bago (West)	100.0	100.0	100.0	98.8	94
Magwe	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.4	226
Mandalay	98.2	98.2	97.7	96.4	341
Sagaing	100.0	100.0	99.5	99.5	269
Tanintharyi	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	66
Yangon	98.9	98.6	98.0	94.9	631
Area					
Urban	98.7	98.3	98.0	95.9	967
Rural	98.2	97.9	97.5	96.0	2,240
Mother's education					
None	92.9	92.1	91.1	91.5	301
Primary	98.4	98.2	97.6	95.3	1,437
Secondary +	99.4	99.2	99.2	97.6	1,395
Non-standard curriculum	97.9	97.9	97.9	97.9	74
Wealth index quintiles					
Poorest	98.6	98.2	97.5	96.6	754
Second	96.8	96.3	95.8	94.5	633
Middle	98.0	97.6	97.3	94.9	600
Fourth	99.1	98.9	98.7	97.0	612
Richest	99.2	99.2	99.2	96.8	608
Total	98.3	98.1	97.7	96.0	3,207

Table CH.3: Neonatal tetanus protectionPercentage of mothers with a birth in the last 24 months protected against neonatal tetanus, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Per cent of m	others with a bi	rth in the last 24 r	nonths who:		
	Received at least 2 doses during last pregnancy	Received at least 2 doses, the last within prior 3 years	Received at least 3 doses, last within prior 5 years	Received at least 4 doses, last within prior 10 years	Received at least 5 doses during lifetime	Protected against tetanus*	Number of mothers
State/Division							
Kachin	94.1	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	94.9	238
Kayah	92.2	1.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	93.5	59
Kayin	91.2	3.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	94.2	289
Chin	67.8	8.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	76.4	85
Mon	98.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	98.9	230
Rakhine	89.7	1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	91.1	391
Shan (North)	54.9	4.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	59.5	315
Shan (East)	92.6	0.9	0.4	0.0	0.0	94.0	75
Shan (South)	95.0	1.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	96.2	314
Ayeyarwaddy	88.4	2.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	91.1	565
Bago (East)	89.8	1.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	91.5	401
Bago (West)	97.7	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	98.3	180
Magwe	92.1	1.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	93.7	448
Mandalay	87.9	3.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	90.9	678
Sagaing	92.8	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	93.5	530
Tanintharyi	96.8	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	97.3	123
Yangon	94.1	1.9	0.1	0.0	0.0	96.2	1,105
Area							
Urban	92.0	2.5	0.1	0.0	0.0	94.6	1,733
Rural	89.0	1.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	90.7	4,294
Age							
15-19	81.5	5.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	87.1	176
20-24	87.2	2.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	89.9	1,197
25-29	91.2	1.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	92.5	1,657
30-34	91.1	1.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	92.8	1,465
35-39	90.8	2.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	93.1	1,059
40-44	88.6	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	90.1	412
45-49	89.5	3.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	93.3	62
Education							
None	72.8	3.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	76.0	541
Primary	89.4	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	91.5	2,739
Secondary +	94.1	1.6	0.1	0.0	0.0	95.8	2,624
Non-standard curriculum	83.6	3.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	87.0	124
Wealth index quinti	les						
Poorest	84.7	2.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	87.2	1,468
Second	86.5	2.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	89.0	1,264
Middle	90.4	1.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	92.3	1,138
Fourth	94.4	2.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	96.6	1,111
Richest	95.5	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	96.2	1,047
Total	89.8	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	91.8	6,028

* MICS indicator 32

 Table CH.4: Oral rehydration treatment

 Percentage of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea in the last two weeks and treatment with oral rehydration
 solution (ORS) or other oral rehydration treatment (ORT), Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Llad diar	Number of	Children w	ith diarrhoea wh	no received:		Number of chil-	
	rhoea in last two weeks	children aged 0-59 months	Fluid from ORS packet	Recommend- ed home- made fluid	No treatment	ORT Use Rate *	dren aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea	
Sex								
Male	7.1	7,980	61.1	12.9	32.8	67.2	568	
Female	6.3	7,558	60.0	14.5	34.8	65.2	475	
State/Division								
Kachin	10.7	570	42.2	8.1	52.8	47.2	61	
Kayah	9.7	145	65.1	16.0	26.5	73.5	14	
Kayin	7.7	701	77.0	12.5	20.4	79.6	54	
Chin	13.1	250	52.2	17.3	34.6	65.4	33	
Mon	5.3	680	(61.6)	(17.9)	(28.2)	(71.8)	36	
Rakhine	7.6	1,137	54.1	31.0	40.4	59.6	86	
Shan (North)	6.1	835	(27.0)	(5.7)	(72.3)	(27.7)	51	
Shan (East)	2.8	200	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	6	
Shan (South)	5.9	822	(80.0)	(17.8)	(13.3)	(86.7)	49	
Ayeyarwaddy	9.4	1,322	70.2	6.9	28.2	71.8	124	
Bago (East)	10.7	1,000	51.6	13.8	41.4	58.6	107	
Bago (West)	5.3	461	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	24	
Magwe	4.3	1,138	(59.4)	(18.9)	(35.2)	(64.8)	49	
Mandalay	5.5	1,708	42.6	13.1	45.9	54.1	94	
Sagaing	2.5	1,364	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	35	
Tanintharyi	8.8	360	82.5	17.3	9.8	90.2	32	
Yangon	6.7	2,844	69.8	11.3	24.5	75.5	189	
Area								
Urban	6.6	4,593	71.8	12.0	22.9	77.1	303	
Rural	6.8	10,946	56.0	14.3	38.2	61.8	740	
Age								
<6 months	3.5	1,546	37.9	3.9	59.4	40.6	54	
0-11 months	9.5	1,743	58.3	12.0	37.3	62.7	165	
12-23 months	11.7	3,207	62.9	14.5	30.9	69.1	377	
24-35 months	6.9	3,063	59.6	14.1	32.9	67.1	211	
36-47 months	4.5	3,132	65.5	15.0	30.2	69.8	142	
48-59 months	3.3	2,848	62.9	15.0	31.5	68.5	95	
Mother's education								
None	6.1	1,594	49.4	19.5	43.9	56.1	97	
Primary	7.4	7,100	58.0	15.2	35.5	64.5	525	
Secondary +	6.0	6,459	67.4	9.7	28.5	71.5	390	
Non-standard curriculum	7.9	386	(53.1)	(16.7)	(37.6)	(62.4)	31	
Wealth index quintiles								
Poorest	7.8	3,851	51.7	15.6	41.8	58.2	299	
Second	7.2	3,195	57.2	13.0	37.4	62.6	230	
Middle	6.8	2,849	61.0	15.0	31.8	68.2	195	
Fourth	6.3	2,880	68.1	11.1	27.8	72.2	181	
Richest	5.0	2,764	74.8	11.7	20.8	79.2	139	
Total	6.7	15,539	60.6	13.6	33.7	66.3	1,043	

* MICS indicator 33

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only. (*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

Table CH.5: Home management of diarrhoea

Percentage of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea in the last two weeks who took increased fluids and continued to feed during the episode, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Cł	nildren with c	liarrhoea wl	ho:		Densities d	Numbor
	Had diar- rhoea in last two weeks	Num- ber of children aged 0-59 months	Drank more	Drank the same or less	Ate some- what less, same or more	Ate much less or none	Home manage- ment of diar- rhoea*	Received ORT or increased fluids AND continued feeding**	Number of children aged 0-59 months with diar- rhoea
Sex									
Male	7.1	7,980	20.6	78.9	73.4	26.4	14.1	51.8	568
Female	6.3	7,558	24.0	75.2	67.9	31.4	17.3	48.4	475
State/Division									
Kachin	10.7	570	36.3	63.7	66.1	33.0	23.2	39.2	61
Kayah	9.7	145	40.4	59.6	67.7	31.3	31.0	54.5	14
Kayin	7.7	701	16.1	83.9	69.5	30.5	13.5	52.9	54
Chin	13.1	250	21.5	76.8	67.8	31.4	16.6	46.3	33
Mon	5.3	680	(28.2)	(71.8)	(69.2)	(30.8)	(15.4)	(56.4)	36
Rakhine	7.6	1,137	7.0	90.1	69.9	30.1	5.5	44.7	86
Shan (North)	6.1	835	(14.9)	(85.1)	(83.7)	(16.3)	(13.5)	(32.6)	51
Shan (East)	2.8	200	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	6
Shan (South)	5.9	822	(40.1)	(59.9)	(86.7)	(11.1)	(37.8)	(80.0)	49
Ayeyarwaddy	9.4	1,322	21.4	77.9	66.4	32.8	13.0	46.6	124
Bago (East)	10.7	1,000	28.8	71.2	71.2	28.8	20.7	48.2	107
Bago (West)	5.3	461	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	24
Magwe	4.3	1,138	(27.0)	(73.0)	(59.5)	(37.8)	(16.2)	(46.0)	49
Mandalay	5.5	1,708	16.4	83.6	72.1	27.9	11.5	41.0	94
Sagaing	2.5	1,364	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	35
Tanintharyi	8.8	360	17.2	80.8	82.8	17.2	13.4	74.9	32
Yangon	6.7	2,844	17.9	81.1	72.7	27.3	11.3	56.6	189
Area									
Urban	6.6	4,593	21.4	78.6	72.1	27.9	13.7	57.3	303
Rural	6.8	10,946	22.5	76.7	70.4	29.0	16.3	47.4	740
Age									
0-11 months	6.7	3,289	14.5	84.7	62.0	36.2	8.4	36.5	219
12-23 months	11.7	3,207	25.4	74.6	68.3	31.7	16.3	50.1	377
24-35 months	6.9	3,063	24.7	74.4	78.8	21.2	19.1	56.7	211
36-47 months	4.5	3,132	24.1	75.9	75.1	24.9	19.4	57.1	142
48-59 months	3.3	2,848	18.6	78.8	77.8	22.2	15.5	58.5	95
Mother's education									
None	6.1	1,594	15.8	84.2	67.4	32.3	11.5	41.1	97
Primary	7.4	7,100	22.0	77.1	71.1	28.5	16.2	48.6	525
Secondary +	6.0	6,459	23.7	76.1	70.7	28.9	15.1	53.9	390
Non-standard cur- riculum	7.9	386	(25.3)	(70.7)	(80.8)	(19.2)	(22.2)	(60.5)	31
Wealth index quintiles									
Poorest	7.8	3,851	20.0	78.9	67.4	31.8	13.0	43.8	299
Second	7.2	3,195	25.8	74.1	68.8	31.0	17.6	45.8	230
Middle	6.8	2,849	23.0	76.7	71.8	27.6	17.2	51.4	195
Fourth	6.3	2,880	22.4	76.4	74.8	25.2	18.0	53.7	181
Richest	5.0	2,764	19.4	80.6	75.3	24.3	12.1	65.3	139
Total	6.7	15,539	22.2	77.2	70.9	28.7	15.5	50.3	1,043

* MICS indicator 34 ** MICS indicator 35

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.

(*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

48-59 months	1.8	2,848	10.3	6.7	3.1	5.3	8.4	3.6	29.4
Mother's education									

12.8

2.6 2.5

24-35 months

36-47 months

12-23 months

0-11 months

3.4

oorest	3.0	3,851	9.9	7.0	12.1	3.0	3.1	4.4	14.8	5.8
second	2.3	3,195	10.8	7.6	7.5	2.1	4.7	0.9	28.1	2.3
Middle	2.9	2,849	7.9	12.9	12.0	0.8	3.4	3.1	31.2	5.4
ourth	2.6	2,880	21.8	6.4	7.2	0.4	2.4	1.5	34.4	7.3
lichest	1.8	2,764	22.1	3.8	3.0	2.6	0.0	5.6	36.2	11.8
otal	2.6	15,539	13.4	7.8	9.2	1.8	2.9	3.1	27.1	6.1

* MICS indicator 23

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only. (*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

Mobile/outreach clinic, MCH clinic, Govt. traditional medicine clinic and shop were not used by any respondents and are not shown in the table.

(Sub-RHC)

109 288

74.4

1.0 4.8

0.0 0.5

5.1

1.9 1.6

0.0 0.1

7.0 5.8

44.8 20.3

3.3 3.0

0.3 4.0

0.5 2.3

1.0

2.5 9.9

16.9

4,593 10,946

2.4

Urban

Area

Rural

Age

12.1

2.6

L2.3

3.9

67.3

211 186

6.9 68.6

3.4 4.1

0.4 0.3

5.5

0.9 2.6

0.1 0.1

5.1

27.7 26.3

1.8

2.9 3.0

1.8 1.8

9.4 9.0

6.5

14.2 12.6

7,980 7,558

2.6 2.5

Female

Male

Sex

9.3

4.5

7.3

2.8

neumonia

suspected

Other

tive or friend Rela-

private medical Other

> practitional tioner

Tradi-

Mobile clinic

Pharmacy

Private physician

Private

pital/ clinic hos-

public Other

Village health worker

Govt. health post

> Govt. health centre (RHC)

children ber of aged 0-59

> acute reinfection

spiratory Had

Num-

Hospital Govt.

months

Public sources

aged 0-59

months with

propriate provider* Any ap-

of children

Other source

Percentage of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia in the last two weeks taken to a health provider, Myanmar, 2009-2010

Table CH.6: Care seeking for suspected pneumonia

Children with suspected pneumonia who were taken to $^{\scriptscriptstyle 1}$

Private sources

Number

79 78 52

67.3 61.5

4.5

4.4 1.3

6.2 3.7

19.3

68.3

71.1

79 109

77.0

2.7 2.4 3.6 7.3 2.5

0.3 0.2 0.0 0.3 1.2

3.1 6.1

2.6 0.9 1.71.2 2.8

0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

8.5 6.6 4.5

34.2

1.74.0 3.7 2.3

0.3 1.1 5.1 2.3

2.5 1.4 0.3 0.9

8.7 9.8 8.8 L3.2

10.19.9 5.1 6.2

16.4 13.2 13.5

3,289 3,207 3,063 3,132

2.4

26.9 26.2 136

13

*)

40 209

(56.9)

(3.0) 5.0 1.3 *)

(0.7) 0.0 0.8 *)

(2.4)

(0.0) 3.2 0.0 *)

(0.3)

(8.7)

(8.6)

(4.5) 2.2 4.4

(0.3) 3.5 2.2 *)

(3.3)

(14.1)

(6.7)

(14.4) 13.7

1,594

2.5 2.9 2.1 3.4

2.7 0.2

10.9 6.1 *)

10.0 3.8

7,100

14.0

6,459 386

0.1 0.0

3.8 9.5 *)

23.8

40.0

*)

*

*

*)

*

*

Wealth index quintiles

Non-standard

curriculum

Secondary +

Primary

None

3.3 3.5 *)

70.2 73.2 116

62.5 65.1 72.1

6.0 7.0 0.2 3.2 0.3 3.7

0.0 1.2 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.4

8.2

0.0 5.2 1.1 2.7 0.0 1.7

0.0 0.2

3.3

2.1 1.1

0.0

72 83

76 49

75.3 77.3 397

69.3

4.8 4.2

0.0

0.1

0.2

Q	n	

Table CH.7: Antibiotic treatment of pneumonia

Percentage of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia who received antibiotic treatment, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Percentage of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia who received antibiotics in the last two weeks*	Number of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia in the two weeks prior to the survey
Sex		
Male	36.4	211
Female	31.8	186
Area		
Urban	34.8	109
Rural	34.0	288
Age		
0-11 months	35.5	79
12-23 months	38.2	109
24-35 months	33.3	79
36-47 months	27.6	78
48-59 months	35.3	52
Mother's education		
None	(26.1)	40
Primary	30.8	209
Secondary +	41.1	136
Non-standard curriculum	(*)	13
Wealth index quintiles		
Poorest	29.2	116
Second	40.2	72
Middle	38.3	83
Fourth	33.3	76
Richest	31.8	49
Total	34.2	397

* MICS indicator 22

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only. (*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

	_	
	ž	
	S	
	ē	
	t	
	<u>e</u>	
	S	
	rs/	
	P	
	Ŧ	
	Ξ	
	5	
	Ð	
	ä	
	E	
	ĕ	
	ē	
	5	
	B	
	*	
	≝.	
	S	
	÷.	
	È	
	ea	
	–	
	0	
	£	
	e,	
	đ	
	ö	
	Ĕ	
	Ē	
	1	
	5	
	0	
	Ξ.	
	¥	
	ť.	
	9	
	ns	
	5	_
	Б	Ξ
	E	S
		0
	S	5
	of sy	C-POO
	es of sy	- 2009-2
	ypes of sy	ar 2009-2
	f types of sy	7009-7
	of types of sy	anmar 2009-2
	ge of types of sy	Mvanmar 2009-2
	edge of types of sy	V Mvanmar 2009-2
	wledge of types of sy	elv Mvanmar 2009-2
	nowledge of types of sy	iately Myanmar 2009-2
	knowledge of types of sy	adiately Myanmar 2009-2
	by knowledge of types of sy	mediately Myanmar 2009-2
	is by knowledge of types of sy	mmediately Mvanmar 2009-2
•	nths by knowledge of types of sy	e immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	nonths by knowledge of types of sy	are immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
) months by knowledge of types of sy	o care immediately. Mvanmar 2009-2
	59 months by knowledge of types of sy	cing care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	oking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	ed 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	seeking care immediately. Mvanmar 2009-2
	aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	or seeking care immediately. Myanmar. 2009-2
	in aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	is for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	dren aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	ions for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	nildren aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	s signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar, 2009-2
	of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	ng as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar, 2009-2
	irs of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	hing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	ivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	sathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	egivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	aregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	It breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	cult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	rs/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	fficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar, 2009-2
	hers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar, 2009-2
	others/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	od difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar, 2009-2
	mothers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	and difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	of mothers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	ist and difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	ge of mothers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	fast and difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	tage of mothers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	ize fast and difficult hreathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	entage of mothers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	znize fast and difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	rcentage of mothers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	conize fast and difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2
	Percentage of mothers/caregivers of children aged 0-59 months by knowledge of types of sy	recoonize fast and difficult breathing as signs for seeking care immediately. Myanmar 2009-2

	Percenta	ge of mothers/caregiv	vers of children aged 0)-59 months who think	c that a child should b	e taken immediately	o a health facility if th	e child:	Mothers/ caregivers	Number of mothers/
	Is not able to drink or breastfeed	Becomes sicker	Develops a fever	Has fast breathing	Has difficulty in breathing	Has blood in stool	Is drinking poorly	Has other symptoms	who recognize the two danger signs of pneumonia	caregivers of children aged 0-59 months
State/Division										
Kachin	5.3	64.6	72.3	9.5	26.7	29.4	8.2	14.2	4.1	570
Kayah	12.2	62.2	78.7	20.9	31.7	27.6	3.9	25.7	10.3	145
Kayin	7.5	73.6	69.5	27.4	32.3	24.1	5.5	8.2	17.0	701
Chin	10.5	60.1	54.7	18.3	14.2	20.0	2.8	1.1	5.5	250
Mon	4.2	78.5	70.1	7.1	11.8	12.0	5.5	15.8	1.5	680
Rakhine	20.1	65.3	71.7	25.2	22.0	30.9	6.0	1.0	7.8	1,137
Shan (North)	11.4	72.4	65.9	20.3	24.4	33.6	11.5	4.3	12.7	835
Shan (East)	16.4	75.5	80.5	14.8	16.6	14.1	28.0	5.9	5.7	200
Shan (South)	20.2	57.8	76.4	16.0	12.9	21.8	12.2	7.7	4.9	822
Ayeyarwaddy	12.4	64.4	72.1	6.4	8.6	10.4	8.2	13.2	1.9	1,322
Bago (East)	10.3	64.4	74.3	18.6	28.7	32.2	7.7	28.2	11.6	1,000
Bago (West)	14.3	64.7	70.3	11.0	15.8	33.0	5.0	23.7	2.0	461
Magwe	13.0	39.4	74.1	6.3	22.6	18.0	5.6	21.6	1.4	1,138
Mandalay	20.0	66.1	66.6	18.0	25.1	32.7	12.6	8.4	10.1	1,708
Sagaing	11.9	67.7	71.7	5.6	14.0	31.7	6.8	14.8	0.7	1,364
Tanintharyi	11.4	79.3	81.9	26.9	27.3	37.4	27.1	3.7	8.5	360
Yangon	16.8	70.7	78.8	15.6	21.2	29.3	12.1	18.2	7.2	2,844
Area										
Urban	15.5	6.99	74.9	15.8	21.4	28.2	12.9	15.6	7.3	4,593
Rural	13.4	65.3	71.8	14.4	20.1	25.9	8.1	12.6	6.2	10,946
Mother's education										
None	13.5	68.3	65.6	14.7	18.0	24.5	6.4	6.2	6.2	1,594
Primary	13.8	64.5	72.7	14.5	21.2	23.8	8.5	13.5	6.2	7,100
Secondary +	14.8	67.0	74.5	15.4	20.9	29.9	11.6	15.3	7.1	6,459
Non-standard curriculum	8.5	57.2	71.4	11.0	12.9	27.2	6.7	12.1	2.6	386
Wealth index quintiles										
Poorest	14.7	61.8	70.3	12.7	18.5	22.8	6.5	11.5	5.2	3,851
Second	14.1	64.7	72.3	14.0	20.5	26.6	7.9	14.0	5.3	3,195
Middle	12.3	66.3	73.9	15.4	21.0	27.2	9.2	12.7	7.0	2,849
Fourth	13.0	68.9	75.3	15.6	21.4	27.4	10.3	14.6	7.3	2,880
Richest	15.9	68.7	72.6	17.5	21.9	30.1	15.0	15.3	8.4	2,764
Total	14.0	65.8	72.7	14.8	20.5	26.5	9.5	13.5	6.5	15,539

	according to type
uel use	households
CH.9: Solid 1	distribution of
Table (Per cent

9	
8	
Ņ	
ġ.	
8	
ĸ	
0	
σ	
2	
_	
g	
5	
<	
60	
2.	
¥	
ŏ	
õ	
5	
Ч,	
2	
ē	
2	
σ	
-	
20	
60	
Ē	
si.	
3	
S	
ž	
Ĕ	
D	
S	
ō	
-	
5	
~	
Ø	
Ξ	
ē	
2	
e	
-	
2	
σ	
<u>e</u>	
÷.	
60	
Ξ.	
×	
ĸ	
5	
4	
~	
ă	
5	
7	
¥	
00	
2.	
p	
ō	
8	
ō	
²	
ž	
P	
G	
ST	
5	
Ĩ	
4	
0	
5	
Ĕ	
5	
ē	
÷.	
is.	
σ	

						Per	centage of hor	iseholds using							
	Electricity	Liquified Petroleum Gas (LPG)	Natural Gas	Biogas	Kerosene	Coal, lignite	Charcoal	Wood	Straw, shrubs, grass	Animal dung	Agricul- tural crop residue	Other source	Total	Solid fuels for cook- ing*	Number of households
State/Division															
Kachin	0.9	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	25.4	72.7	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.7	100.0	98.3	714
Kayah	9.5	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	7.0	83.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	90.4	145
Kayin	9.6	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	49.7	40.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	90.4	824
Chin	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	3.9	95.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	99.5	298
Mon	0.1	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	22.6	73.9	0.1	0.0	0.8	2.0	100.0	97.4	1,333
Rakhine	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	9.3	89.9	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.0	100.0	6.66	1,819
Shan (North)	2.9	0.1	0.5	0.1	0.0	0.2	24.4	71.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	96.3	1,093
Shan (East)	6.5	2.9	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	9.5	80.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	90.4	428
Shan (South)	2.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	30.8	6.99	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	97.7	1,379
Ayeyarwaddy	1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	11.2	83.4	0.0	0.0	3.2	0.8	100.0	97.8	2,589
Bago (East)	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	26.5	64.2	0.1	0.0	6.9	1.5	100.0	97.7	1,821
Bago (West)	0.4	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	19.9	77.2	0.1	0.0	2.2	0.1	100.0	99.4	1,562
Magwe	0.4	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	87.9	0.4	0.0	0.6	0.1	100.0	0.99.0	2,688
Mandalay	2.1	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	40.7	55.7	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.1	100.0	97.3	4,250
Sagaing	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	24.2	73.5	0.0	0.0	1.3	0.2	100.0	99.1	3,266
Tanintharyi	0.7	0.9	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	65.2	32.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	98.1	742
Yangon	20.4	4.7	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.4	52.8	18.6	0.0	0.1	2.0	0.2	100.0	74.0	4,286
Area															
Urban	13.0	2.7	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.3	59.2	23.4	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.4	100.0	83.2	8,658
Rural	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	16.1	80.7	0.1	0.0	2.0	0.4	100.0	0.66	20,580
Education of household hea	Ĭd														
None	1.7	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	18.3	78.1	0.1	0.2	0.8	0.3	100.0	97.6	2,717
Primary	1.6	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	23.0	72.4	0.0	0.0	2.1	0.5	100.0	97.8	10,602
Secondary +	8.6	1.9	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.2	42.3	45.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.3	100.0	88.6	11,385
Non-standard curriculum	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	14.8	82.2	0.1	0.0	1.6	0.3	100.0	98.7	4,479
Missing/DK	(11.4)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(29.6)	(55.9)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(3.1)	(0.0)	100.0	(88.6)	55
Wealth index quintiles															
Poorest	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.8	97.8	0.0	0.1	1.2	0.1	100.0	6.96	5,916
Second	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	13.5	83.4	0.1	0.0	2.5	0.4	100.0	99.5	6,039
Middle	0.8	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.2	25.8	70.8	0.0	0.0	1.8	0.5	100.0	98.6	5,838
Fourth	3.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	45.9	48.4	0.0	0.0	1.5	0.5	100.0	96.0	5,807
Richest	17.7	4.3	0.9	0.1	0.0	0.3	60.4	15.6	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.3	100.0	76.7	5,638
Total * MICC indicator 24: MICC Ind	4.3 licator 20	0.8	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	28.9 V Figures in r	63.7 Jarenthesis ij	0.0 ndicate that	0.0 the nercent	1.5 age or propo	0.4 Artion is base	100.0 14 00 25 to	94.3 10 mm/aight	29,238 ed rases only

		Percentage of ho	useholds using solid	fuels for cooking:		Number of
	Closed stove with chimney	Open stove or fire with chimney or hood	Open stove or fire with no chimney or hood	Other stove	Total	households using solid fuels for cooking
State/Division						
Kachin	0.2	2.8	96.8	0.1	100.0	702
Kayah	0.2	0.4	99.4	0.0	100.0	132
Kayin	0.2	1.6	98.2	0.0	100.0	745
Chin	0.2	16.6	83.2	0.0	100.0	296
Mon	0.0	5.8	94.2	0.0	100.0	1,298
Rakhine	0.0	0.9	99.1	0.0	100.0	1,817
Shan (North)	0.2	8.7	91.1	0.0	100.0	1,053
Shan (East)	0.2	4.6	95.2	0.1	100.0	387
Shan (South)	0.0	4.4	95.6	0.0	100.0	1,347
Ayeyarwaddy	0.1	0.5	99.4	0.0	100.0	2,532
Bago (East)	0.0	0.7	99.2	0.0	100.0	1,779
Bago (West)	0.0	0.6	98.7	0.7	100.0	1,553
Magwe	0.0	1.6	98.4	0.0	100.0	2,661
Mandalay	0.0	2.4	97.5	0.1	100.0	4,138
Sagaing	0.0	2.0	98.0	0.0	100.0	3,239
Tanintharyi	0.1	1.2	98.00.098.70.098.90.1		100.0	728
Yangon	0.1	1.0	98.9	0.1	100.0	3,173
Area						
Urban	0.1	3.3	1.0 98.9 3.3 96.5		100.0	7,207
Rural	0.0	3.3 96.5 1.9 98.0		0.1	100.0	20,371
Education of household	l head					
None	0.0	2.4	97.5	0.1	100.0	2,653
Primary	0.0	2.0	97.8	0.1	100.0	10,364
Secondary +	0.1	2.7	97.2	0.1	100.0	10,089
Non-standard curriculum	0.0	1.8	98.2	0.0	100.0	4,423
Missing/DK	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	100.0	48
Wealth index quintiles						
Poorest	0.0	0.7	99.3	0.0	100.0	5,910
Second	0.0	0.8	99.1	0.1	100.0	6,011
Middle	0.0	1.6	98.3	0.1	100.0	5,758
Fourth	0.1	2.6	97.3	0.1	100.0	5,573
Richest	0.1	7.0	92.8	0.1	100.0	4,325
Total	0.0	2.3	97.6	0.1	100.0	27,578

Table CH.10: Solid fuel use by type of stove or firePer cent of households using solid fuels for cooking by type of stove or fire, Myanmar, 2009-2010

(*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

 Table EN.1: Use of improved water sources

 Per cent distribution of household population according to main source of drinking water and percentage of household population using improved drinking water sources,
 Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Number	of house- hold members		4,034	834	4,142	1,696	6,390	9,303	5,882	1,860	6,215	11,306	9,054	6,432	12,619	20,833	16,346	3,706	20,618		42,339	98,930
	Improved	source of drinking water*		89.3	9.69	51.1	86.5	86.3	57.7	81.4	0.66	89.0	79.4	83.5	91.2	79.3	81.9	86.6	72.7	92.5		93.2	77.6
		Total		100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		100.0	100.0
		Other		0.1	0.0	0.0	1.7	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1		0.1	0.0
		Bottled water ¹		0.0	0.2	0.6	0.0	0.8	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	1.7	0.1		0.5	0:0
	rrces	Surface water		0.2	4.1	0.8	8.8	0.9	2.3	8.2	0.0	7.8	9.3	0.0	4.0	10.6	9.3	6.6	0.0	0.2		1.0	6.8
	proved so	Cart with tank/ drum		0.0	0.0	1.8	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.4	0.0	0.7	0.0	0.2	0.0	4.0	0.5		0.8	0.4
	Unim	Tanker truck		0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	1.0	0.1		0.4	0.0
		Unpro- tected spring		0.2	2.4	1.7	2.5	0.0	2.5	5.1	0.0	1.3	0.1	0.4	0.0	2.8	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.0		0.1	1.3
ing water		Unpro- tected well		10.2	23.8	43.9	0.5	11.0	37.2	5.0	0.7	1.7	8.6	15.8	4.0	7.2	7.9	6.6	20.4	6.4		3.9	13.9
irce of drink		Bottled water ¹		3.8	2.7	3.3	0.0	6.9	0.0	3.0	10.1	0.9	1.2	3.4	2.8	0.1	6.7	0.7	6.1	26.3		19.9	0.6
Main sour		Rain- water		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.2	0.0	0.0	6.7	0.6	0.6	1.7	0.0	0.8	0.4	0.0	0.4		0.6	0.7
		Pro- tected spring		0.2	3.6	3.1	7.3	1.6	0.2	33.7	0.6	12.7	0.1	1.5	1.0	0.6	1.5	3.6	0.3	0.0		0.9	4.0
	l sources	Pro- tected well		35.0	34.7	36.8	0.2	69.2	39.9	23.2	40.7	43.3	21.4	31.2	22.1	18.9	21.2	30.5	48.0	10.0		16.7	31.7
	Improved	Tube- well/ bore- hole		43.8	1.9	5.8	0.0	3.8	11.2	10.0	18.2	6.5	43.5	43.8	61.4	53.9	35.6	38.4	4.3	30.8		30.2	32.0
		Public tap/ stand- pipe		2.0	5.5	0.5	21.2	1.9	3.2	3.3	6.2	12.6	11.2	2.1	0.6	3.3	4.5	10.6	0.8	3.5		4.8	5.3
		Piped into yard/ plot		3.9	10.6	0.5	26.5	1.6	1.4	5.9	16.0	3.0	0.7	0.3	0.8	2.1	5.1	1.7	2.1	10.3		9.7	1.7
		Piped into dwell- ing		0.5	10.6	1.1	31.3	0.9	1.6	2.2	7.3	3.3	0.8	0.6	0.7	0.4	6.5	0.8	11.1	11.3		10.4	1.5
			State/Division	Kachin	Kayah	Kayin	Chin	Mon	Rakhine	Shan (North)	Shan (East)	Shan (South)	Ayeyarwaddy	Bago (East)	Bago (West)	Magwe	Mandalay	Sagaing	Tanintharyi	Yangon	Area	Urban	Rural

 Table EN.1: Use of improved water sources (continued)

 Per cent distribution of household population according to main source of drinking water and percentage of household population using improved drinking water sources,
 Myanmar, 2009-2010

							Main sou	rce of drinki	ing water									
				Improved	sources						Unimp	roved sour	ces				Improved	Number
	Piped into dwell- ing	Piped into yard/ plot	Public tap/ stand- pipe	Tube- well/ bore- hole	Pro- tected well	Pro- tected spring	Rain- water	Bottled water ¹	Unpro- tected well	Unpro- tected spring	Tanker truck	Cart with tank/ drum	Surface water	Bottled water ¹	Other	Total	source of drinking water*	of house- hold members
Education of hous	ehold head																	
None	3.0	4.1	5.1	22.0	31.9	8.0	0.4	2.2	13.9	1.8	0.1	0.3	7.1	0.1	0.1	100.0	76.7	13,570
Primary	2.4	3.0	5.8	32.5	29.6	3.0	0.8	2.7	12.8	1.1	0.1	0.4	5.7	0.1	0.1	100.0	79.8	51,569
Secondary +	7.4	6.1	4.4	32.1	22.3	2.2	0.7	13.1	9.9	0.5	0.3	0.7	3.3	0.3	0.1	100.0	88.3	53,545
Non-standard curriculum	1.1	1.7	5.9	33.1	30.9	2.5	0.6	1.2	15.0	1.0	0.0	0.3	6.8	0.0	0.0	100.0	76.9	22,330
Missing/DK	(0.0)	(3.6)	(5.1)	(55.3)	(7.9)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(9.9)	(16.4)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(2.3)	(2.8)	(0.0)	(0.0)	100.0	(78.5)	255
Wealth index quin	tiles																	
Poorest	0.0	0.2	5.7	32.2	25.9	2.8	0.1	0.0	20.8	2.2	0.0	0.1	10.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	66.8	28,252
Second	0.4	1.3	6.9	35.8	30.9	3.6	0.3	0.1	13.1	1.0	0.0	0.3	6.3	0.0	0.0	100.0	79.2	28,257
Middle	2.4	2.9	7.0	33.0	30.8	4.3	0.8	0.7	10.8	0.7	0.1	0.6	5.7	0.1	0.1	100.0	82.0	28,251
Fourth	4.0	6.4	4.8	34.0	30.5	3.2	1.2	4.2	7.2	0.5	0.2	0.9	2.7	0.1	0.1	100.0	88.2	28,256
Richest	13.8	9.6	1.5	22.4	18.1	1.7	1.1	26.9	2.6	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.0	100.0	95.0	28,252
Total	4.1	4.1	5.2	31.5	27.2	3.1	0.7	6.4	10.9	0.9	0.1	0.5	5.1	0.2	0.1	100.0	82.3	141,269
* MICS indicator 11	; MDG indica	ator 30																

¹ For households using bottled water as the main source of drinking water, the source used for other purposes such as cooking and hand washing is used to determine whether to classify the source as improved. (%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.
Table EN.2: Household water treatment

 Per cent distribution of household population according to drinking water treatment method used in the household, and percentage of household population that applied an appropriate water treatment method, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Water tree	itment metho	d used in the !	household			All drinkiı sour	ng water ces	lmproved dri sour	inking water ces	Unimprove water s	d drinking ources
	None	Boil	Add bleach/ chlorine	Strain through a cloth	Use water filter	Solar dis- infection	Let it stand and settle	Other	Appropri- ate water treatment method*	Number of household members	Appropri- ate water treatment method	Number of household members	Appropri- ate water treatment method	Number of household members
State/Division														
Kachin	16.8	41.7	0.9	67.7	7.6	0.4	3.9	0.1	47.5	4,034	47.2	3,600	49.6	433
Kayah	6.7	84.2	0.8	49.1	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.2	84.3	834	85.5	581	81.6	253
Kayin	8.2	26.8	0.1	85.5	0.0	0.1	9.7	0.0	26.9	4,142	28.7	2,117	25.1	2,025
Chin	14.1	83.2	0.0	2.9	0.0	0.0	11.2	0.0	83.2	1,696	94.5	1,467	10.9	229
Mon	6.7	65.7	0.5	85.8	0.1	0.1	12.4	0.0	65.8	6,390	68.3	5,515	49.8	875
Rakhine	19.9	17.9	0.0	76.0	0.4	0.0	1.8	0.0	18.1	9,303	23.5	5,369	10.7	3,934
Shan (North)	35.5	60.0	0.4	11.4	0.1	0.0	0.9	0.3	60.0	5,882	64.4	4,787	40.7	1,095
Shan (East)	20.7	39.1	0.1	59.1	6.4	0.0	0.3	0.0	39.5	1,860	39.6	1,841	(*)	19
Shan (South)	11.8	62.5	0.6	61.8	0.1	0.0	0.6	0.1	63.1	6,215	65.6	5,529	42.6	686
Ayeyarwaddy	4.1	17.9	0.8	89.4	0.1	0.0	16.6	2.8	18.7	11,306	15.6	8,974	30.7	2,331
Bago (East)	9.9	46.4	0.4	T.TT	6.8	1.4	21.1	0.3	52.4	9,054	50.0	7,556	64.3	1,498
Bago (West)	4.5	9.2	0.0	92.3	0.0	0.0	21.4	1.1	9.2	6,432	9.1	5,865	10.0	567
Magwe	4.6	43.4	0.2	88.1	0.1	0.1	11.9	1.5	43.6	12,619	41.6	10,010	51.2	2,609
Mandalay	9.4	23.1	0.3	83.3	0.4	0.0	4.2	0.1	23.7	20,833	24.9	17,071	18.2	3,762
Sagaing	8.0	18.1	0.1	84.0	3.5	0.0	1.1	0.1	21.8	16,346	19.8	14,153	34.5	2,193
Tanintharyi	6.9	26.0	0.3	86.7	0.1	0.0	1.1	0.2	26.2	3,706	30.1	2,695	16.0	1,010
Yangon	23.1	33.0	2.4	69.5	0.8	0.5	18.8	2.6	34.5	20,618	34.5	19,080	34.9	1,538
Area														
Urban	18.9	37.6	1.5	69.69	1.2	0.2	8.6	1.1	39.0	42,339	38.8	39,466	40.8	2,873
Rural	9.4	31.2	0.2	79.1	1.5	0.2	6.6	0.8	32.6	98,930	33.4	76,746	29.7	22,184

 Table EN.2: Household water treatment (continued)

 Per cent distribution of household population according to drinking water treatment method used in the household, and percentage of household population that applied an appropriate
 water treatment method, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Water trea	atment metho	d used in the	household			All drinki sour	ing water rces	Improved dr sour	inking water rces	Unimprove water s	d drinking ources
•	None	Boil	Add bleach/ chlorine	Strain through a cloth	Use water filter	Solar dis- infection	Let it stand and settle	Other	Appropri- ate water treatment method*	Number of household members	Appropri- ate water treatment method	Number of household members	Appropri- ate water treatment method	Number of household members
Education of househol	ld head													
None	18.1	35.2	0.4	63.3	0.9	0.1	5.8	0.5	36.0	13,570	39.1	10,403	25.5	3,166
Primary	6.9	31.4	0.4	78.8	1.5	0.2	10.5	0.7	32.9	51,569	33.5	41,134	30.4	10,435
Secondary +	14.6	35.3	1.0	74.0	1.5	0.2	9.3	1.1	36.9	53,545	37.1	47,306	35.1	6,239
Non-standard cur- riculum	8.6	30.5	0.2	83.6	1.3	0.3	10.0	0.8	31.7	22,330	32.0	17,168	30.7	5,162
Missing/DK	(0.0)	(30.3)	(2.0)	(84.8)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(8.8)	(8.6)	(30.3)	255	(34.7)	200	(*)	55
Wealth index quintiles														
Poorest	14.4	24.5	0.1	75.3	0.8	0.1	9.5	0.6	25.2	28,252	24.2	18,877	27.3	9,376
Second	9.1	29.7	0.2	80.7	1.1	0.1	9.8	0.8	30.8	28,257	31.3	22,393	28.9	5,864
Middle	9.9	33.6	0.5	81.5	1.3	0.2	10.3	0.8	35.0	28,251	35.6	23,169	32.5	5,082
Fourth	7.1	39.1	1.0	82.3	1.8	0.3	11.7	0.9	40.9	28,256	41.1	24,935	39.1	3,322
Richest	24.0	38.6	1.3	61.5	1.9	0.3	6.3	1.2	40.5	28,252	40.6	26,838	39.5	1,414
Total	12.2	33.1	0.6	76.2	1.4	0.2	9.5	0.9	34.5	141,269	35.3	116,211	31.0	25,058
* MICS indicator 13														

(*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.
 (%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.

Table EN.3: Time to source of water

Per cent distribution of households according to time to go to source of drinking water, get water and return, and mean time to source of drinking water, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Time to s	ource of drink	ing water				
	Water on premises	Less than 15 min- utes	15 minutes to less than 30 minutes	30 min- utes to less than 1 hour	1 hour or more	Don't know	Total	Mean time to source of drinking water*	Number of households
State/Division									
Kachin	71.3	25.8	2.6	0.2	0.1	0.0	100.0	7.8	714
Kayah	44.9	38.8	10.0	5.3	1.0	0.0	100.0	10.7	145
Kayin	22.6	74.2	2.9	0.2	0.1	0.0	100.0	5.8	824
Chin	56.5	22.0	14.6	6.1	0.9	0.0	100.0	16.8	298
Mon	25.6	67.9	4.6	1.8	0.0	0.0	100.0	6.0	1,333
Rakhine	6.6	74.1	14.8	4.3	0.1	0.1	100.0	9.2	1,819
Shan (North)	43.9	36.1	14.1	5.8	0.0	0.0	100.0	12.2	1,093
Shan (East)	78.0	12.3	9.3	0.4	0.0	0.1	100.0	11.9	428
Shan (South)	45.2	36.1	11.5	5.7	0.7	0.7	100.0	12.4	1,379
Ayeyarwaddy	28.8	59.5	10.0	1.3	0.4	0.0	100.0	8.2	2,589
Bago (East)	7.6	85.4	5.0	1.8	0.1	0.1	100.0	6.1	1,821
Bago (West)	47.5	43.4	7.7	1.4	0.0	0.0	100.0	8.0	1,562
Magwe	29.2	45.5	14.8	8.6	1.9	0.0	100.0	13.4	2,688
Mandalay	41.0	36.1	16.8	5.2	0.8	0.2	100.0	12.6	4,250
Sagaing	5.6	75.5	14.3	3.7	0.9	0.0	100.0	10.7	3,266
Tanintharyi	30.3	62.3	7.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	100.0	6.8	742
Yangon	73.2	23.2	2.5	0.8	0.0	0.2	100.0	6.9	4,286
Area									
Urban	64.2	31.2	3.4	0.8	0.1	0.3	100.0	7.3	8,658
Rural	24.1	57.8	13.1	4.3	0.7	0.1	100.0	10.1	20,580
Education of hou	usehold head								
None	31.2	49.5	13.2	5.3	0.6	0.3	100.0	11.0	2,717
Primary	27.6	56.7	11.6	3.5	0.5	0.1	100.0	9.6	10,602
Secondary +	48.4	42.4	6.5	2.2	0.3	0.1	100.0	8.7	11,385
Non-standard	22.7	56.3	15.2	4.8	0.9	0.1	100.0	10.8	4,479
Missing/DK	(56.2)	(28.7)	(6.1)	(5.9)	(0.0)	(3.2)	100.0	(10.5)	55
Wealth index qu	intiles								
Poorest	10.5	65.4	17.7	5.3	1.0	0.1	100.0	10.8	5,916
Second	20.3	60.0	14.3	4.7	0.6	0.2	100.0	10.1	6,039
Middle	29.5	55.8	10.3	3.8	0.6	0.0	100.0	9.6	5,838
Fourth	49.0	43.0	5.7	2.0	0.3	0.1	100.0	8.2	5,807
Richest	74.5	22.6	2.1	0.5	0.1	0.2	100.0	7.2	5,638
Total	35.0	50.6	10.4	3.4	0.5	0.1	100.0	9.7	29,238

* The mean time to source of drinking water is calculated based on those households that do not have water on the premises.

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.

Table EN.4: Person collecting waterPer cent distribution of households according to the person collecting drinking water used in the household,Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Person collecting	g drinking wate	r		
	Adult woman	Adult man	Female child under age 15	Male child under age 15	Don't know	Total	Number of households
State/Division							
Kachin	78.8	14.5	3.3	3.4	0.0	100.0	202
Kayah	66.3	27.3	3.8	2.5	0.0	100.0	79
Kayin	71.4	27.0	1.1	0.4	0.0	100.0	634
Chin	86.9	10.2	2.0	1.0	0.0	100.0	130
Mon	66.9	30.4	2.3	0.4	0.0	100.0	987
Rakhine	93.4	5.2	1.1	0.2	0.1	100.0	1,699
Shan (North)	80.6	15.1	2.9	1.4	0.0	100.0	606
Shan (East)	79.4	18.2	1.2	0.8	0.4	100.0	92
Shan (South)	72.3	25.1	1.4	1.0	0.3	100.0	753
Ayeyarwaddy	73.7	22.3	2.3	1.6	0.1	100.0	1,839
Bago (East)	67.6	26.4	3.7	2.2	0.1	100.0	1,679
Bago (West)	61.1	36.2	1.9	0.3	0.1	100.0	818
Magwe	68.7	27.8	2.0	1.6	0.0	100.0	1,904
Mandalay	64.8	27.9	4.7	2.5	0.1	100.0	2,418
Sagaing	79.1	17.7	2.1	1.1	0.0	100.0	3,072
Tanintharyi	72.9	23.1	2.7	1.3	0.0	100.0	500
Yangon	43.5	52.7	2.5	1.2	0.2	100.0	956
Area							
Urban	66.9	29.0	2.4	1.4	0.2	100.0	2,761
Rural	72.7	23.3	2.5	1.3	0.0	100.0	15,607
Education of household head	*						
None	77.0	18.1	3.2	1.6	0.0	100.0	1,854
Primary	73.1	22.8	2.6	1.4	0.0	100.0	7,601
Secondary +	68.4	28.0	2.0	1.3	0.1	100.0	5,445
Non-standard curriculum	72.0	24.1	2.7	1.2	0.0	100.0	3,445
Wealth index quintiles							
Poorest	76.5	18.8	3.1	1.5	0.0	100.0	5,295
Second	72.4	23.2	2.9	1.4	0.0	100.0	4,816
Middle	70.5	25.5	2.4	1.5	0.0	100.0	4,115
Fourth	67.1	30.2	1.8	0.9	0.1	100.0	2,942
Richest	65.5	31.9	1.0	1.0	0.5	100.0	1,200
Total	71.9	24.1	2.5	1.4	0.1	100.0	18,369

*23 cases where education of household head is not known are not shown in the table.

					Type of toi	et facility in h	ousehold							
		Improv	ed sanitation	facility			P	improved sa	nitation facili	tv			of popula-	
	Flush/por	ır flush to:	:			Flush/	Pit latrine		Hanging	Ŋ		Total	access to	Number of household
	Piped sewer system	Septic tank/pit	 Ventilated improved pit latrine 	Pit latrine with slab	Compos- ting toilet	pour flush to some- where else	without slab/ open pit	Bucket	toilet/ hanging latrine	facilities/ bush / field	Others		excreta disposal*	members
State/Division														
Kachin	0.0	31.6	5.7	53.9	0.9	0.6	6.8	0.0	0.1	0.4	0.0	100.0	92.1	4,034
Kayah	0.0	4.8	0.4	74.3	1.7	3.0	15.1	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.0	100.0	81.2	834
Kayin	0.0	2.2	1.2	69.4	0.7	0.0	18.5	0.0	0.1	7.9	0.0	100.0	73.6	4,142
Chin	0.0	0.3	5.6	76.8	4.2	0.4	3.0	0.0	0.3	9.2	0.3	100.0	86.9	1,696
Mon	0.0	2.9	12.9	75.0	0.4	1.3	1.9	0.3	1.4	3.9	0.0	100.0	91.2	6,390
Rakhine	0.0	1.0	1.6	41.6	3.9	0.4	10.6	0.1	0.2	40.7	0.0	100.0	48.0	9,303
Shan (North)	0.0	16.0	3.6	42.8	6.0	0.8	27.3	0.0	0.0	3.1	0.5	100.0	68.3	5,882
Shan (East)	0.0	71.0	0.4	20.6	0.1	6.0	4.0	0.0	0.1	2.9	0.0	100.0	92.1	1,860
Shan (South)	0.3	11.7	5.0	68.1	0.6	6.7	7.5	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	100.0	85.6	6,215
Ayeyarwaddy	0.0	3.7	0.9	77.1	1.4	2.1	9.3	0.0	0.8	4.7	0.0	100.0	83.1	11,306
Bago (East)	0.2	9.6	0.8	69.3	0.0	0.1	8.4	0.0	0.3	5.6	5.7	100.0	79.8	9,054
Bago (West)	0.0	0.6	1.3	85.8	0.8	0.0	9.1	0.0	0.0	2.4	0.1	100.0	88.4	6,432
Magwe	0.0	7.0	4.3	71.5	1.3	0.0	5.7	0.0	0.0	10.1	0.0	100.0	84.2	12,619
Mandalay	0.0	17.5	8.5	65.0	0.0	0.2	1.5	0.0	0.0	6.9	0.2	100.0	91.1	20,833
Sagaing	0.0	2.1	1.5	86.8	0.5	0.4	2.5	0.0	0.0	6.2	0.1	100.0	6.06	16,346
Tanintharyi	0.0	20.7	6.4	55.3	1.9	5.1	3.0	0.0	3.9	3.6	0.0	100.0	84.4	3,706
Yangon	7.3	38.8	0.9	46.7	0.2	2.0	3.0	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.4	100.0	93.8	20,618
Area														
Urban	3.6	32.3	4.8	53.5	0.3	1.6	2.6	0.0	0.4	0.8	0.2	100.0	94.4	42,339
Rural	0.0	6.0	3.1	69.8	1.4	0.9	8.0	0.0	0.3	9.7	0.7	100.0	80.4	98,930

 Table EN.5: Access to sanitary means of excreta disposal

 Per cent distribution of household population according to type of toilet facility in household, and the percentage of household population with access to sanitary means of excreta

					Two of toi	h the facility in b	photophoto							
						ובר ומרווורא ווו ו							Percentage	
		Improv	ed sanitation	facility			Ъ	nimproved sa	nitation facili	ty			or popula- tion with	
	Flush/pou	ır flush to:				Flush/	Pit latrine		Hanging	No		Total	access to sanitary	Number of household
	Piped sewer system	Septic tank/pit	venuated improved pit latrine	Pit latrine with slab	Compos- ting toilet	to some- where else	without slab/ open pit	Bucket	toilet/ hanging latrine	facilities/ bush / field	Others		means of excreta disposal*	members
Education of household head														
None	0.4	11.3	3.1	54.7	2.4	0.9	14.5	0.0	0.3	12.1	0.4	100.0	71.8	13,570
Primary	0.4	8.0	3.3	69.8	1.1	1.3	6.8	0.0	0.4	8.4	0.5	100.0	82.5	51,569
Secondary +	2.3	23.3	4.4	60.6	0.5	1.3	4.0	0.0	0.4	2.9	0.3	100.0	91.1	53,545
Non-standard curriculum	0.1	9.9	2.9	70.3	1.6	0.6	6.4	0.0	0.2	10.4	1.0	100.0	81.4	22,330
Missing/DK	(0.0)	(21.5)	(0.0)	(70.1)	(2.1)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(6.3)	(0.0)	100.0	(93.7)	255
Wealth index quintiles														
Poorest	0.0	0.2	0.7	56.1	2.9	0.6	13.3	0.0	0.2	25.5	0.5	100.0	59.8	28,252
Second	0.0	2.7	2.5	76.2	1.2	1.0	8.2	0.0	0.4	6.9	0.8	100.0	82.6	28,257
Middle	0.0	4.0	3.5	80.6	0.8	1.7	6.1	0.0	0.4	2.1	0.6	100.0	88.9	28,251
Fourth	0.0	10.8	4.8	77.4	0.3	1.7	3.5	0.0	0.6	0.4	0.4	100.0	93.4	28,256
Richest	5.4	51.8	6.6	34.3	0.1	0.6	0.9	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	98.2	28,252
Total	1.1	13.9	3.6	64.9	1.1	1.1	6.4	0.0	0.3	7.0	0.5	100.0	84.6	141,269
* A 11CC : Airchard 12, A 10, in Airchard 12, A 10, in Airchard 12, in Airch	, c													

* MICS indicator 12; MDG indicator 31 (%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.

 Table EN.5: Access to sanitary means of excreta disposal (continued)

 Per cent distribution of household population according to type of toilet facility in household, and the percentage of household population with access to sanitary means of excreta

Table EN.6: Use of improved water sources and access to improved sanitation

Percentage of household population both using improved drinking water sources and having access to sanitary means of excreta disposal, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Percent	age of household pop	oulation:	
	Using improved sources of drinking water*	Access to sanitary means of excreta disposal**	Using improved sources of drinking water and access to sanitary means of excreta disposal	Number of household members
State/Division				
Kachin	89.3	92.1	83.3	4,034
Kayah	69.6	81.2	59.7	834
Kayin	51.1	73.6	42.1	4,142
Chin	86.5	86.9	79.9	1,696
Mon	86.3	91.2	78.4	6,390
Rakhine	57.7	48.0	30.1	9,303
Shan (North)	81.4	68.3	59.7	5,882
Shan (East)	99.0	92.1	91.0	1,860
Shan (South)	89.0	85.6	78.5	6,215
Ayeyarwaddy	79.4	83.1	66.2	11,306
Bago (East)	83.5	79.8	73.0	9,054
Bago (West)	91.2	88.4	81.3	6,432
Magwe	79.3	84.2	66.5	12,619
Mandalay	81.9	91.1	76.6	20,833
Sagaing	86.6	90.9	80.1	16,346
Tanintharyi	72.7	84.4	63.5	3,706
Yangon	92.5	93.8	88.0	20,618
Area				
Urban	93.2	94.4	88.8	42,339
Rural	77.6	80.4	65.2	98,930
Education of household head				
None	76.7	71.8	58.4	13,570
Primary	79.8	82.5	68.5	51,569
Secondary +	88.3	91.1	82.3	53,545
Non-standard curriculum	76.9	81.4	65.3	22,330
Missing/DK	(78.5)	(93.7)	(77.5)	255
Wealth index quintiles				
Poorest	66.8	59.8	43.1	28,252
Second	79.2	82.6	67.1	28,257
Middle	82.0	88.9	74.4	28,251
Fourth	88.2	93.4	83.2	28,256
Richest	95.0	98.2	93.6	28,252
Total	82.3	84.6	72.3	141,269

* MICS indicator 11; MDG indicator 30

** MICS indicator 12; MDG indicator 31

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.

_
.0
÷.
Q
<u>N</u>
¥.
2
+
5
0
*
0
Ð
S
••
÷
~
Ð
5

 Table RH.1: Use of contraception

 Percentage of ever-married women aged 15-49 years who are using (or whose partner is using) a contraceptive method, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	tol					Per c	ent of eve	r-married	women w	ho are usir	.g:						No. V		Mumbor
	using any method	Female sterili- zation	Male sterili- zation	llid	QUI	lnjec- tions	lm- plants	Con- dom	Female con- dom	Diaph- ragm/ foam/ jelly	LAM	Peri- odic abstin- ence	With- drawal	Other	Total	Any modern method	tradi- tional method	Any meth- od*	of ever- married women
State/Division																			
Kachin	61.3	3.1	0.5	8.4	3.6	22.0	0.0	0.7	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	38.5	0.3	38.7	069
Kayah	67.7	5.4	0.3	9.3	1.6	15.0	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	100.0	31.8	0.4	32.3	139
Kayin	64.0	3.6	0.4	10.4	0.9	19.6	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	100.0	35.9	0.2	36.0	702
Chin	92.2	0.4	0.0	1.8	1.5	4.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	7.7	0.1	7.8	223
Mon	54.4	5.1	0.5	13.3	0.7	25.2	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	100.0	45.3	0.3	45.6	956
Rakhine	51.3	1.1	0.1	13.1	0.1	33.9	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	100.0	48.4	0.4	48.7	1,593
Shan (North)	61.0	3.9	0.7	7.5	3.1	21.0	0.8	0.8	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.7	100.0	37.9	1.0	39.0	1,018
Shan (East)	48.9	10.9	0.2	21.3	0.9	17.3	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	100.0	50.9	0.2	51.1	357
Shan (South)	54.2	5.1	0.4	7.9	3.4	28.0	0.2	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	100.0	45.5	0.3	45.8	1,166
Ayeyarwaddy	52.3	1.8	0.2	15.8	2.2	27.3	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	47.6	0.1	47.7	2,018
Bago (East)	54.0	1.6	0.7	11.4	2.4	29.5	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	45.9	0.2	46.0	1,476
Bago (West)	48.1	1.8	0.2	13.5	1.3	34.7	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	51.9	0.0	51.9	1,052
Magwe	62.0	1.3	0.1	8.7	2.8	24.8	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	38.0	0.0	38.0	1,944
Mandalay	54.3	3.4	0.6	9.1	2.7	28.6	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	44.9	0.8	45.7	3,098
Sagaing	59.3	1.8	0.6	7.9	1.9	27.9	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	40.5	0.2	40.7	2,378
Tanintharyi	61.6	4.7	1.8	7.1	0.1	24.2	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	38.4	0.0	38.4	500
Yangon	41.3	8.0	0.3	16.3	2.3	30.5	0.0	0.5	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.1	100.0	58.1	0.6	58.7	3,758
Area																			
Urban	48.7	7.6	0.6	14.3	2.8	24.5	0.1	0.7	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	100.0	50.7	0.6	51.3	6,983
Rural	56.3	1.9	0.3	10.2	1.8	28.8	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	43.5	0.3	43.7	16,087
Age																			
15-19	51.2	0.0	0.0	17.8	1.2	29.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	100.0	48.6	0.2	48.8	444
20-24	46.7	0.2	0.0	15.9	1.4	35.2	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	53.1	0.3	53.3	2,450
25-29	44.7	0.6	0.1	14.5	2.9	36.4	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	55.0	0.3	55.3	4,015
30-34	47.2	3.2	0.2	13.9	2.2	32.4	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.1	100.0	52.4	0.4	52.8	4,411
35-39	47.1	5.6	0.6	11.9	2.6	30.8	0.1	0.7	0.1	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	100.0	52.4	0.5	52.9	4,518
40-44	61.5	6.4	0.8	8.4	2.1	19.8	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	100.0	38.0	0.5	38.5	4,089
45-49	81.4	4.9	0.7	3.1	1.0	8.4	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	18.4	0.3	18.6	3,143

						1		-											
	Not					Per ci	ent of ever	-married	women wi	ho are usin	ы						Anv		Number
	using any method	Female sterili- zation	Male sterili- zation	Pill	DN	Injec- tions	lm- plants	Con- dom	Female con- dom	Diaph- ragm/ foam/ jelly	LAM	Peri- odic abstin- ence	With- drawal	Other	Total	Any modern method	tradi- tional method	Any meth- od*	of ever- married women
Number of living ch	ildren																		
0	70.7	0.0	0.0	10.9	0.1	18.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	29.2	0.1	29.3	1,955
1	50.0	0.5	0.1	14.0	2.2	32.2	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	49.6	0.4	50.0	6,294
2	46.7	4.5	0.6	13.4	2.6	31.1	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.1	100.0	52.9	0.4	53.3	6,116
З	51.6	7.5	0.7	9.7	2.3	27.1	0.1	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	100.0	48.0	0.4	48.4	4,104
4+	64.0	4.8	0.6	7.3	1.9	20.8	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	35.6	0.4	36.0	4,601
Education																			
None	68.5	1.9	0.2	9.4	1.0	18.5	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	31.3	0.3	31.5	2,108
Primary	55.7	2.3	0.4	10.5	1.7	28.9	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	44.1	0.3	44.3	10,647
Secondary +	47.5	5.6	0.5	13.4	2.9	28.6	0.1	0.7	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	100.0	52.0	0.5	52.5	9,531
Non-standard curriculum	70.2	2.0	0.3	6.0	1.0	20.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	29.6	0.2	29.8	783
Wealth index quinti	les																		
Poorest	61.7	0.4	0.0	10.7	1.2	25.4	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	37.9	0.4	38.3	4,787
Second	55.1	1.3	0.2	10.6	1.6	30.7	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	44.6	0.3	44.9	4,636
Middle	54.6	1.9	0.4	10.7	1.9	29.6	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	45.1	0.2	45.4	4,464
Fourth	49.8	4.0	0.4	12.0	2.4	30.5	0.1	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	50.0	0.2	50.2	4,620
Richest	48.3	10.7	1.0	13.3	3.4	21.5	0.2	0.9	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.1	100.0	51.0	0.7	51.7	4,564
Total	54.0	3.6	0.4	11.5	2.1	27.5	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	45.7	0.4	46.0	23,070

 Table RH.1: Use of contraception (continued)

 Percentage of ever-married women aged 15-49 years who are using (or whose partner is using) a contraceptive method, Myanmar, 2009-2010

* MICS indicator 21; MDG indicator 19C

<u> </u>
Ð
Ъ
5
2
Q
-
<u>۳</u>
5
Ũ
-
, CO
T
- 2
- 6
2
4
2
=
~
Ð
-
*
Ĕ
_

Per cent distribution of ever-married women aged 15-49 who gave birth in the two years preceding the survey by type of personnel providing antenatal care, Myanmar, 2009-2010

				Person p	roviding anten	atal care						Number of ever-
	Medical doctor	Lady Health Visitor/ Nurse	Midwife	Auxiliary midwife	Traditional birth attendant	Community health worker	Relative/ Friend	Other	No antenatal care received	Total	Any skilled personnel*	married women who gave birth in the preceding two years
State/Division												
Kachin	15.0	12.9	49.5	13.7	1.5	0.0	0.3	1.3	5.9	100.0	77.3	238
Kayah	18.1	14.1	54.1	0.8	2.5	0.4	0.0	0.4	9.5	100.0	86.2	59
Kayin	18.0	7.5	59.9	4.0	5.1	0.2	0.0	0.7	4.8	100.0	85.3	289
Chin	2.1	10.8	37.1	9.9	13.8	2.6	1.5	1.1	24.4	100.0	50.0	85
Mon	27.9	12.8	56.0	2.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.4	100.0	96.7	230
Rakhine	8.3	2.3	69.1	2.3	5.8	0.0	0.3	0.6	11.3	100.0	79.7	391
Shan (North)	12.0	10.7	31.2	2.0	5.6	0.1	0.4	1.2	36.8	100.0	53.9	315
Shan (East)	20.7	18.5	57.2	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.4	1.4	100.0	96.3	75
Shan (South)	9.9	22.7	64.7	2.2	1.3	0.6	0.0	0.6	1.3	100.0	94.0	314
Ayeyarwaddy	10.7	7.9	54.9	6.6	8.6	0.0	0.0	1.2	10.0	100.0	73.5	565
Bago (East)	9.3	4.1	60.2	6.7	13.5	0.0	0.0	1.5	4.7	100.0	73.7	401
Bago (West)	14.6	8.2	66.8	0.6	5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.1	100.0	89.5	180
Magwe	7.1	6.8	66.3	7.9	3.0	0.0	0.0	1.4	7.6	100.0	80.2	448
Mandalay	19.3	8.8	54.1	5.0	2.8	0.0	0.2	1.7	8.0	100.0	82.2	678
Sagaing	9.2	6.7	71.3	3.9	7.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	1.6	100.0	87.2	530
Tanintharyi	23.3	8.7	64.4	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.9	1.8	100.0	96.3	123
Yangon	51.8	11.8	31.1	1.0	2.8	0.1	0.0	0.1	1.2	100.0	94.7	1,105
Area												
Urban	46.8	13.4	34.7	0.6	2.0	0.1	0.1	0.5	1.7	100.0	95.0	1,733
Rural	9.2	7.8	61.3	5.5	5.9	0.1	0.1	1.0	9.0	100.0	78.4	4,294
Age												
15-19	13.3	12.8	47.2	6.7	8.6	0.0	0.0	1.7	9.8	100.0	73.2	176
20-24	15.5	8.9	56.8	3.7	6.8	0.2	0.3	1.0	6.9	100.0	81.1	1,197
25-29	19.8	10.5	53.4	4.8	4.2	0.0	0.1	0.7	6.5	100.0	83.6	1,657
30-34	22.9	10.2	51.2	3.7	4.4	0.1	0.0	0.9	6.5	100.0	84.3	1,465
35-39	24.4	8.4	52.6	3.6	3.7	0.2	0.0	0.6	6.4	100.0	85.4	1,059
40-44	16.0	5.8	59.2	4.0	4.5	0.1	0.0	0.8	9.5	100.0	81.0	412
45-49	17.3	8.5	60.1	2.3	2.0	0.0	0.0	2.4	7.4	100.0	85.9	62

education Vone Primary Secondary + Von-standard curriculum Wealth index quintiles Poorest Second Viddle	Medical doctor 4.4 9.6 34.8 4.2 4.2 2.0 5.7 12.7 27.8	Lady Health Visitor/ Nurse 6.7 8.9 4.9 4.9 4.6 8.2 8.2 13.5	Midwife 54.6 59.9 46.5 62.1 62.1 62.7 57.9 57.9	Person p Auxiliary midwife 5.7 2.4 4.8 4.8 5.6 5.5 5.5 3.2	rroviding anten Traditional birth attendant 6.5 6.5 2.1 9.7 9.7 9.7 3.4 7.4 7.4	atal care Community health worker 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1	Relative/ Friend 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	Other 1.3 0.9 0.6 1.5 1.9 0.7 0.2	No antenatal care received 19.7 8.3 2.5 12.8 13.8 8.2 8.2 6.9 6.9	Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	Any skilled personnel* 65.7 78.4 92.2 71.2 70.7 70.7 72.9 82.9	Number of ever- married women who gave birth in the preceding two years 541 2,739 2,624 1,264 1,264 1,113 1,111
ichest	61.1 20.0	10.4	25.9 53.7	0.8	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.8	100.0	97.4	1,047

 Table RH.2: Antenatal care provider (continued)

 Per cent distribution of ever-married women aged 15-49 who gave birth in the two years preceding the survey by type of personnel providing antenatal care, Myanmar, 2009-2010

* MICS indicator 20

Table RH.3: Antenatal care content

Percentage of pregnant women receiving antenatal care among ever-married women aged 15-49 years who gave birth in two years preceding the survey and percentage of pregnant women receiving specific care as part of the antenatal care received, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Per cent of pregnant		Per cent of	pregnant wome	n who had:		Number of
	women re- ceiving ANC one or more times during pregnancy	Blood pressure measured*	Urine speci- men taken*	Weight mea- sured*	Received Vitamin B1 tablets	Received Iron tablets	gave birth in two years preceding survey
State/Division							
Kachin	94.1	79.9	43.3	62.6	65.5	81.6	238
Kayah	90.5	80.6	36.4	68.9	57.9	80.1	59
Kayin	95.2	87.5	52.5	71.2	83.1	87.8	289
Chin	75.6	50.8	16.2	37.3	38.9	51.4	85
Mon	99.6	97.8	91.2	90.1	97.4	98.5	230
Rakhine	88.7	64.0	32.2	44.7	71.7	79.5	391
Shan (North)	63.2	50.7	32.5	45.2	40.6	47.2	315
Shan (East)	98.6	90.7	77.9	89.2	93.2	95.8	75
Shan (South)	98.7	92.1	73.2	81.7	87.4	93.1	314
Ayeyarwaddy	90.0	72.7	53.3	52.8	70.2	77.6	565
Bago (East)	95.3	76.0	43.2	40.0	71.9	78.9	401
Bago (West)	95.9	84.3	58.2	65.2	86.6	88.4	180
Magwe	92.4	74.5	40.9	48.8	74.5	86.2	448
Mandalay	92.0	79.0	58.6	58.2	81.8	84.2	678
Sagaing	98.4	75.7	46.9	58.5	82.9	87.8	530
Tanintharyi	98.2	91.7	56.0	74.1	85.3	89.0	123
Yangon	98.8	95.1	84.9	87.6	83.5	91.1	1,105
Area							
Urban	98.3	94.3	84.5	88.9	84.0	90.6	1,733
Rural	91.0	74.4	45.8	53.4	74.1	80.9	4,294
Age							
15-19	90.2	72.3	44.9	52.1	61.4	75.8	176
20-24	93.1	77.3	53.5	61.0	74.4	81.3	1,197
25-29	93.5	80.4	56.2	63.7	78.1	84.7	1,657
30-34	93.5	82.1	59.9	65.9	79.1	85.3	1,465
35-39	93.6	82.2	60.2	65.8	77.7	84.5	1,059
40-44	90.5	77.8	55.7	64.4	76.0	81.6	412
45-49	92.6	78.9	59.1	45.5	81.9	84.5	62
Education							
None	80.3	60.2	35.1	43.6	59.2	66.1	541
Primary	91.7	74.5	48.7	54.6	74.2	81.5	2,739
Secondary +	97.5	90.7	70.6	77.7	83.9	90.0	2,624
Non-standard curriculum	87.2	68.8	45.5	51.2	67.7	74.3	124
Wealth index quintiles							
Poorest	86.2	62.9	35.7	43.7	67.0	73.6	1,468
Second	91.8	73.5	46.9	52.6	72.5	79.2	1,264
Middle	93.1	81.0	55.2	61.7	78.4	85.1	1,138
Fourth	98.0	92.8	69.8	78.9	85.8	92.2	1,111
Richest	99.2	97.8	87.1	90.7	85.3	92.6	1,047
Total	93.1	80.1	56.9	63.6	76.9	83.7	6,028

* MICS indicator 44

	1
	1
	l
	1
2	1
Q	
.2	
σ	
σ	
60	
2	•
Ξ	
7	
~	
8	
Ē	
2	
<u>is</u>	
S	
ď	1
4	1
I	ł
2	Ĵ
Ð	
σ	

 Table RH.4: Assistance during delivery

 Per cent distribution of ever-married women aged 15-49 with a birth in two years preceding the survey by type of personnel assisting at delivery, Myanmar, 2009-2010

				Person	assisting at de	livery							Number of
	Medical doctor	Lady Health Visitor/ Nurse	Midwife	Traditional birth at- tendant	Commu- nity health worker	Relative/ friend	No atten- dant	Other	Auxiliary midwife	Total	Any skilled personnel*	Delivered in health facility**	women who gave birth in preceding two years
State/Division													
Kachin	17.8	10.1	32.6	14.1	0.5	2.8	1.3	2.6	18.3	100.0	60.4	25.0	238
Kayah	21.4	8.1	35.1	16.4	1.9	6.8	4.6	1.3	4.5	100.0	64.5	22.8	59
Kayin	28.8	4.2	36.0	21.1	0.0	0.7	0.0	0.9	8.4	100.0	69.0	35.3	289
Chin	4.4	5.2	29.3	25.1	3.7	6.7	10.4	3.2	12.1	100.0	38.9	5.6	85
Mon	36.3	8.8	36.6	7.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.8	9.5	100.0	81.7	40.7	230
Rakhine	9.9	1.4	51.9	30.2	0.0	0.3	1.9	0.6	3.9	100.0	63.1	11.7	391
Shan (North)	19.3	4.0	19.5	16.8	0.1	6.9	24.9	4.7	3.8	100.0	42.8	26.2	315
Shan (East)	29.5	16.6	48.4	0.5	0.0	0.4	0.5	1.4	2.8	100.0	94.5	41.1	75
Shan (South)	15.1	14.5	46.4	11.7	0.6	0.0	1.3	0.6	9.8	100.0	76.0	23.0	314
Ayeyarwaddy	20.6	5.1	28.3	35.2	0.0	0.3	0.6	1.1	8.8	100.0	54.0	23.2	565
Bago (East)	17.2	2.0	39.8	29.6	0.0	0.3	0.0	1.2	10.0	100.0	59.0	19.0	401
Bago (West)	32.0	4.7	44.2	16.8	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.7	100.0	80.8	32.6	180
Magwe	15.8	5.4	43.5	17.6	0.0	0.8	0.3	0.8	15.7	100.0	64.8	16.9	448
Mandalay	28.2	5.2	39.6	15.8	0.2	0.6	0.4	1.5	8.5	100.0	72.9	32.7	678
Sagaing	16.4	6.7	54.0	13.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	9.6	100.0	77.1	57.7	530
Tanintharyi	32.0	5.9	54.2	4.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.9	2.8	100.0	92.1	38.4	123
Yangon	60.8	7.4	19.5	10.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	1.9	100.0	87.7	68.9	1,105
Area													
Urban	56.2	7.9	25.4	7.4	0.1	0.5	0.3	0.6	1.5	100.0	89.6	65.2	1,733
Rural	16.8	5.4	40.7	21.9	0.2	1.1	2.5	1.3	10.1	100.0	63.0	24.5	4,294
Age													
15-19	15.5	10.1	33.5	23.8	0.0	1.8	3.7	1.1	10.6	100.0	59.0	22.6	176
20-24	24.6	6.0	37.9	19.4	0.2	1.1	2.3	0.9	7.6	100.0	68.5	33.0	1,197
25-29	27.9	7.0	36.3	15.9	0.2	1.1	1.7	1.3	8.5	100.0	71.2	36.7	1,657
30-34	29.9	6.0	36.1	18.1	0.1	0.4	1.6	1.1	6.7	100.0	71.9	38.8	1,465
35-39	33.1	5.6	34.5	16.0	0.2	1.2	1.8	0.6	7.0	100.0	73.2	39.6	1,059
40-44	25.1	3.3	38.8	21.2	0.1	0.4	1.6	1.2	8.2	100.0	67.2	30.9	412
45-49	34.8	7.9	33.7	14.7	0.0	0.2	1.8	2.4	4.5	100.0	76.4	41.0	62

				Person	assisting at de	livery							Number of
	Medical doctor	Lady Health Visitor/ Nurse	Midwife	Traditional birth at- tendant	Commu- nity health worker	Relative/ friend	No atten- dant	Other	Auxiliary midwife	Total	Any skilled personnel*	Delivered in health facility**	ever-married women who gave birth in preceding two years
Education													
None	7.2	3.8	35.9	29.4	0.4	2.4	10.5	2.7	7.7	100.0	46.8	10.3	541
Primary	17.0	5.8	39.4	24.4	0.2	0.9	1.3	1.1	9.9	100.0	62.2	24.7	2,739
Secondary +	44.8	7.1	33.4	7.9	0.1	0.6	0.7	9.0	4.8	100.0	85.3	54.0	2,624
Non-standard curriculum	14.6	3.1	32.4	28.3	0.0	1.1	2.2	2.6	15.7	100.0	50.1	28.6	124
Wealth index quintiles													
Poorest	7.2	2.5	41.3	34.4	0.2	1.0	3.1	1.7	8.7	100.0	51.0	12.4	1,468
Second	13.7	6.0	43.8	22.5	0.3	1.1	2.4	1.2	8.8	100.0	63.5	23.1	1,264
Middle	21.1	8.6	39.1	15.5	0.2	1.7	2.4	1.1	10.5	100.0	68.7	31.2	1,138
Fourth	40.9	7.5	34.3	8.4	0.0	0.5	0.8	0.6	7.1	100.0	82.7	48.9	1,111
Richest	69.3	7.4	19.5	1.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.4	2.1	100.0	96.1	77.5	1,047
Total	28.2	6.1	36.3	17.7	0.2	6.0	1.9	1.1	7.6	100.0	70.6	36.2	6,028

 Table RH.4: Assistance during delivery (continued)

 Per cent distribution of ever-married women aged 15-49 with a birth in two years preceding the survey by type of personnel assisting at delivery, Myanmar, 2009-2010

* MICS indicator 4; MDG indicator 17 ** MICS indicator 5

 Table CD.1: Family support for learning

 Percentage of children aged 0-59 months for whom household members are engaged in activities that promote learning and school readiness, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Percentage	of children aged O	-59 months		
	For whom household members engaged in four or more activities that promote learning and school readiness*	Mean number of activities household members engaged in with the child	For whom the father engaged in one or more activities that promote learning and school readiness**	Mean number of activities the father engaged in with the child	Living in a household without their natural father	Number of children aged 0-59 months
Sex						
Male	57.8	3.8	44.3	1.2	9.6	7,980
Female	58.1	3.8	43.6	1.2	8.7	7,558
State/Division						
Kachin	64.8	4.0	43.0	1.2	6.1	570
Kayah	60.0	3.9	25.1	0.5	4.7	145
Kayin	58.8	3.9	49.9	1.2	22.7	701
Chin	54.2	3.4	38.1	0.9	5.8	250
Mon	60.6	4.0	36.2	1.0	29.2	680
Rakhine	33.5	2.6	60.6	1.3	5.7	1,137
Shan (North)	37.0	2.9	28.7	0.5	7.3	835
Shan (East)	76.3	4.6	54.4	1.5	8.4	200
Shan (South)	59.3	3.8	58.1	1.6	4.5	822
Ayeyarwaddy	59.2	3.8	25.9	0.5	5.1	1,322
Bago (East)	43.2	3.3	27.5	0.5	6.1	1,000
Bago (West)	74.3	4.6	66.2	1.9	4.3	461
Magwe	49.4	3.5	41.3	1.1	11.2	1,138
Mandalay	53.0	3.6	42.5	1.1	8.6	1,708
Sagaing	53.5	3.7	30.7	0.6	11.7	1,364
Tanintharyi	69.7	4.4	61.9	1.9	17.2	360
Yangon	79.1	4.8	55.7	1.9	6.5	2,844
Area						
Urban	71.2	4.4	48.5	1.5	8.9	4,593
Rural	52.4	3.6	42.1	1.1	9.3	10,946
Age						
0-23 months	40.5	3.1	37.8	0.9	8.2	6,496
24-59 months	70.5	4.3	48.4	1.4	9.8	9,043
Mother's education						
None	35.9	2.8	38.8	0.9	9.6	1,594
Primary	53.5	3.6	41.3	1.1	9.1	7,100
Secondary +	69.3	4.3	48.8	1.4	8.8	6,459
Non-standard curriculum	40.5	3.1	33.1	0.7	13.9	386

 Table CD.1: Family support for learning (continued)

 Percentage of children aged 0-59 months for whom household members are engaged in activities that promote learning and school readiness, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Percentage	of children aged 0	-59 months		
	For whom household members engaged in four or more activities that promote learning and school readiness*	Mean number of activities household members engaged in with the child	For whom the father engaged in one or more activities that promote learning and school readiness**	Mean number of activities the father engaged in with the child	Living in a household without their natural father	Number of children aged 0-59 months
Father's education***						
None	38.0	2.8	41.9	0.9	na	782
Primary	52.5	3.6	44.5	1.1	na	5,289
Secondary +	66.0	4.2	51.8	1.5	na	7,090
Non-standard curriculum	39.6	3.1	36.4	0.8	na	939
Father not in HH	61.0	4.0	na	na	na	1,423
Wealth index quintiles						
Poorest	41.6	3.1	37.4	0.9	6.8	3,851
Second	54.7	3.7	42.0	1.1	9.3	3,195
Middle	57.5	3.8	44.8	1.2	9.7	2,849
Fourth	66.8	4.2	47.9	1.4	11.0	2,880
Richest	75.7	4.6	50.3	1.5	9.8	2,764
Total	57.9	3.8	44.0	1.2	9.2	15,539

* MICS indicator 46

** MICS Indicator 47

***16 cases where father's education is not known are not shown in the table

Table ED.1: Early childhood education

Percentage of children aged 36-59 months who are attending some form of organized early childhood education programme and percentage of first graders who attended pre-school, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Percentage of children aged 36-59 months currently attending early childhood education*	Number of children aged 36-59 months	Percentage of children attending first grade who attended pre- school programme in previous year**	Number of children attending first grade
Sex				
Male	22.6	3,093	38.5	654
Female	23.2	2,886	41.1	622
State/Division				
Kachin	34.6	229	86.9	47
Kayah	60.7	53	74.2	15
Kayin	25.1	228	16.4	53
Chin	32.7	107	80.2	21
Mon	13.1	268	16.0	87
Rakhine	5.4	485	(15.9)	38
Shan (North)	22.1	328	71.3	57
Shan (East)	22.4	75	(37.0)	11
Shan (South)	35.0	325	(68.1)	48
Ayeyarwaddy	16.2	467	47.3	85
Bago (East)	19.5	389	28.9	79
Bago (West)	24.7	168	(50.0)	50
Magwe	16.7	444	22.9	120
Mandalay	26.9	656	51.0	204
Sagaing	13.9	547	30.2	183
Tanintharyi	13.7	146	(2.2)	27
Yangon	34.0	1,066	37.8	151
Area				
Urban	39.1	1,802	52.8	373
Rural	15.9	4,178	34.4	904
Age of child				
36-47 months	13.8	3,132	na	na
48-59 months	32.9	2,848	na	na
5 years	na	na	39.8	1,276
Mother's education				
None	9.4	695	35.5	85
Primary	15.8	2,760	39.7	592
Secondary +	35.7	2,365	44.5	467
Non-standard curriculum	13.6	160	34.4	45
Mother not in household	0.0	0	22.3	88
Wealth index quintiles				
Poorest	7.6	1,522	34.5	265
Second	16.2	1,223	31.0	276
Middle	19.5	1,054	42.1	274
Fourth	32.3	1,117	41.8	233
Richest	46.0	1,064	51.7	227
Total	22.9	5,980	39.8	1,276

* MICS indicator 52 ** MICS indicator 53

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.

Table ED.2: Primary school entryPercentage of children of primary school entry age attending grade 1, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Percentage of children of primary school entry age currently attending grade 1*	Number of children of primary school entry age**
Sex		
Male	74.4	1,523
Female	74.4	1,415
State/Division		
Kachin	84.4	112
Kayah	82.8	28
Kayin	84.5	95
Chin	71.1	50
Mon	82.8	142
Rakhine	63.9	278
Shan (North)	58.6	148
Shan (East)	74.0	42
Shan (South)	76.4	147
Ayeyarwaddy	67.0	183
Bago (East)	67.1	171
Bago (West)	65.3	103
Magwe	79.9	248
Mandalay	76.4	392
Sagaing	81.2	319
Tanintharyi	93.0	81
Yangon	73.0	398
Area		
Urban	77.4	791
Rural	73.3	2,147
Age of child**		
5	74.4	2,938
Mother's education		
None	53.4	332
Primary	75.2	1,316
Secondary +	81.5	994
Non-standard curriculum	60.7	116
Mother not in household	77.0	180
Wealth index quintiles		
Poorest	63.5	767
Second	74.2	634
Middle	79.3	555
Fourth	79.9	473
Richest	80.7	509
Total	74.4	2,938

* MICS indicator 54
** Primary school entry age is 5 years

	M	ale	Fen	nale	То	tal
	Net attendance ratio	Number of children	Net attendance ratio	Number of children	Net attendance ratio*	Number of children
State/Division						
Kachin	94.9	256	96.6	236	95.8	492
Kayah	95.4	60	95.1	59	95.3	119
Kayin	93.0	251	96.0	242	94.5	493
Chin	88.9	109	89.4	124	89.2	233
Mon	93.9	369	93.7	375	93.8	744
Rakhine	78.0	667	73.7	670	75.8	1,337
Shan (North)	75.8	399	80.0	313	77.6	712
Shan (East)	81.4	99	90.1	95	85.6	194
Shan (South)	93.0	349	94.0	325	93.5	674
Ayeyarwaddy	89.8	530	89.9	530	89.8	1,060
Bago (East)	91.2	481	91.0	472	91.1	953
Bago (West)	84.9	280	90.9	239	87.7	519
Magwe	92.1	585	94.8	597	93.5	1,183
Mandalay	91.5	990	92.0	885	91.7	1,875
Sagaing	93.7	735	94.7	746	94.2	1,480
Tanintharyi	97.7	228	98.3	200	98.0	428
Yangon	92.2	909	92.3	960	92.3	1,869
Area						
Urban	93.0	1,921	92.9	1,953	93.0	3,874
Rural	88.6	5,377	89.8	5,114	89.2	10,491
Age**						
5	77.3	1,523	77.3	1,415	77.3	2,938
6	90.3	1,501	92.9	1,440	91.6	2,941
7	94.0	1,414	96.0	1,452	95.0	2,866
8	95.0	1,419	95.2	1,314	95.1	2,733
9	93.1	1,440	91.9	1,446	92.5	2,887
Mother's education						
None	73.0	894	72.1	867	72.6	1,761
Primary	90.7	3,318	92.5	3,282	91.6	6,601
Secondary +	95.4	2,231	95.2	2,184	95.3	4,414
Non-standard curriculum	82.7	326	84.1	238	83.3	564
Mother not in household	93.4	528	93.6	496	93.5	1,024
Wealth index quintiles						
Poorest	81.0	1,952	81.8	1,866	81.4	3,818
Second	90.0	1,480	91.1	1,495	90.6	2,976
Middle	93.2	1,421	94.3	1,381	93.7	2,802
Fourth	94.6	1,280	95.3	1,218	94.9	2,499
Richest	94.7	1,164	95.1	1,107	94.9	2,271
Total	89.8	7,298	90.6	7,067	90.2	14,364

 Table ED.3: Primary school net attendance ratio

 Percentage of children of primary school age** attending primary or secondary school (NAR), Myanmar, 2009-2010

* MICS Indicator 55; MDG Indicator 6

** Primary school age is 5-9 years

	М	ale	Fer	nale	То	tal
	Net attendance ratio	Number of children	Net attendance ratio	Number of children	Net attendance ratio*	Number of children
State/Division						
Kachin	62.7	247	73.3	237	67.9	484
Kayah	64.5	55	75.1	58	69.9	113
Kayin	56.2	241	62.1	262	59.3	503
Chin	65.6	130	61.7	124	63.7	254
Mon	52.2	411	59.0	378	55.4	789
Rakhine	33.3	625	28.4	607	30.9	1,232
Shan (North)	44.6	325	41.0	387	42.6	712
Shan (East)	42.8	81	54.1	102	49.1	183
Shan (South)	57.8	318	67.1	355	62.7	673
Ayeyarwaddy	53.2	589	56.2	608	54.7	1,197
Bago (East)	60.0	563	58.2	624	59.0	1,186
Bago (West)	55.3	330	54.6	334	54.9	664
Magwe	57.5	691	54.0	698	55.8	1,389
Mandalay	59.5	1,113	59.0	1,040	59.3	2,153
Sagaing	65.7	929	62.1	898	63.9	1,827
Tanintharyi	63.8	244	69.4	273	66.7	517
Yangon	73.9	896	75.5	963	74.7	1,859
Area						
Urban	75.0	2,051	77.0	2,098	76.0	4,149
Rural	51.9	5,735	52.0	5,849	52.0	11,584
Age**						
10	50.0	1,371	50.4	1,353	50.2	2,724
11	66.2	1,310	68.6	1,324	67.4	2,634
12	67.2	1,343	67.7	1,315	67.4	2,658
13	62.4	1,301	63.5	1,430	63.0	2,730
14	56.0	1,231	55.6	1,240	55.8	2,471
15	45.6	1,230	44.9	1,286	45.2	2,516
Mother's education						
None	31.8	976	30.6	970	31.2	1,946
Primary	53.3	3,662	55.0	3,707	54.1	7,370
Secondary +	83.0	2,035	84.8	2,009	83.9	4,044
Non-standard curriculum	41.2	443	38.9	450	40.0	893
Mother not in household	57.7	670	54.3	810	55.9	1,480
Wealth index quintiles						
Poorest	29.3	1,796	27.2	1,829	28.2	3,626
Second	51.3	1,640	50.2	1,702	50.7	3,343
Middle	61.2	1,630	65.4	1,601	63.3	3,232
Fourth	73.3	1,506	76.4	1,517	74.9	3,023
Richest	86.4	1,212	84.7	1,297	85.5	2,509
Total	58.0	7,785	58.6	7.947	58.3	15.733

 Table ED.4: Secondary school net attendance ratio

 Percentage of children of secondary school age** attending secondary school or higher (NAR), Myanmar, 2009-2010

* MICS indicator 56

** Secondary school age is 10-15 years

Table ED.4A: Secondary school age children attending primary schoolPercentage of children of secondary school age** attending primary schoolMyanmar, 2009-2010

	Ma	le	Fem	ale	Tot	al
	Per cent attending primary school	Number of children	Per cent attending primary school	Number of children	Per cent attending primary school	Number of children
State/Division						
Kachin	14.2	247	10.0	237	12.1	484
Kayah	14.1	55	8.7	58	11.4	113
Kayin	20.3	241	17.8	262	19.0	503
Chin	18.3	130	16.1	124	17.3	254
Mon	17.8	411	11.5	378	14.8	789
Rakhine	18.1	625	14.2	607	16.2	1,232
Shan (North)	19.5	325	20.1	387	19.8	712
Shan (East)	11.5	81	10.2	102	10.7	183
Shan (South)	10.6	318	8.4	355	9.4	673
Ayeyarwaddy	13.8	589	11.1	608	12.4	1,197
Bago (East)	14.1	563	11.6	624	12.8	1,186
Bago (West)	12.5	330	8.4	334	10.5	664
Magwe	10.8	691	7.7	698	9.2	1,389
Mandalay	12.4	1,113	11.8	1,040	12.1	2,153
Sagaing	9.7	929	11.7	898	10.7	1,827
Tanintharyi	8.3	244	7.2	273	7.7	517
Yangon	8.6	896	5.8	963	7.2	1,859
Area						
Urban	7.7	2,051	6.9	2,098	7.3	4,149
Rural	14.8	5,735	12.4	5,849	13.6	11,584
Age**						
10	40.6	1,371	39.7	1,353	40.2	2,724
11	20.0	1,310	15.3	1,324	17.7	2,634
12	8.9	1,343	5.8	1,315	7.4	2,658
13	4.0	1,301	2.6	1,430	3.3	2,730
14	1.3	1,231	0.9	1,240	1.1	2,471
15	0.2	1,230	0.2	1,286	0.2	2,516
Mother's education						
None	21.5	976	18.9	970	20.2	1,946
Primary	14.4	3,662	11.5	3,707	12.9	7,370
Secondary +	6.0	2,035	5.3	2,009	5.6	4,044
Non-standard curriculum	13.2	443	13.0	450	13.1	893
Mother not in household	13.6	670	11.8	810	12.6	1,480
Wealth index quintiles						
Poorest	21.9	1,796	17.0	1,829	19.4	3,626
Second	13.4	1,640	12.7	1,702	13.1	3,343
Middle	12.4	1,630	10.8	1,601	11.6	3,232
Fourth	8.7	1,506	7.0	1,517	7.8	3,023
Richest	5.1	1,212	4.8	1,297	5.0	2,509
Total	13.0	7,785	10.9	7,947	11.9	15,733

** Secondary school age is 10-15 years

Table ED.5: Grade Promotion rate from Grade 1 to Grade 5

Percentage of children entering first grade of primary school who eventually reach grade 5, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Per cent attending 2nd grade who were in 1st grade last year	Per cent attending 3rd grade who were in 2nd grade last year	Per cent attending 4th grade who were in 3rd grade last year	Per cent attending 5th grade who were in 4th grade last year	Per cent who reach grade 5 of those who enter 1st grade*
Sex					
Male	99.4	99.1	98.8	96.1	93.6
Female	99.6	98.6	98.5	96.3	93.1
State/Division					
Kachin	99.5	99.0	98.8	96.9	94.4
Kayah	100.0	99.4	96.8	94.3	90.8
Kayin	100.0	100.0	97.4	95.8	93.3
Chin	100.0	99.5	99.5	100.0	98.9
Mon	99.5	98.9	100.0	99.2	97.7
Rakhine	99.3	99.1	100.0	94.9	93.4
Shan (North)	98.7	98.1	96.5	96.8	90.4
Shan (East)	100.0	100.0	98.9	97.0	95.9
Shan (South)	100.0	99.3	99.1	95.6	94.1
Ayeyarwaddy	98.5	98.6	98.6	96.8	92.7
Bago (East)	98.4	97.6	96.9	95.3	88.7
Bago (West)	100.0	97.9	98.9	89.4	86.6
Magwe	100.0	98.0	98.9	93.9	91.1
Mandalay	100.0	99.6	99.2	95.8	94.6
Sagaing	99.5	99.0	100.0	97.0	95.6
Tanintharyi	100.0	98.7	99.4	96.6	94.8
Yangon	99.6	99.0	96.9	98.4	93.9
Area					
Urban	99.5	99.3	99.2	98.4	96.3
Rural	99.5	98.7	98.5	95.3	92.2
Mother's education					
None	98.4	97.6	98.2	93.3	88.1
Primary	99.5	98.9	98.3	95.0	92.0
Secondary +	99.9	100.0	99.7	98.3	97.8
Non-standard curriculum	99.1	97.4	97.0	94.7	88.6
Mother not in household	100.0	97.1	98.8	99.2	95.2
Wealth index quintiles					
Poorest	98.8	97.9	97.1	88.6	83.2
Second	99.8	98.1	98.7	96.8	93.6
Middle	99.9	99.1	99.2	96.5	94.9
Fourth	99.3	99.8	99.1	98.2	96.5
Richest	99.9	100.0	99.4	99.6	98.9
Total	99.5	98.8	98.6	96.2	93.3

* MICS indicator 57; MDG indicator 7

	Net primary school completion rate*	Number of children of primary school completion age***	Transition rate to secondary education**	Number of children who were in the last grade of primary school the previous year
Sex				· · · · ·
Male	51.2	1,440	95.6	1,149
Female	57.1	1,446	95.0	1,185
State/Division				
Kachin	60.2	87	96.9	74
Kayah	58.4	21	93.7	18
Kayin	49.2	97	95.8	91
Chin	48.1	46	99.4	41
Mon	56.0	152	98.5	115
Rakhine	31.7	304	94.9	130
Shan (North)	36.1	131	96.8	84
Shan (East)	51.1	34	97.0	24
Shan (South)	59.3	115	95.6	117
Ayeyarwaddy	50.9	196	95.3	172
Bago (East)	44.0	203	94.2	197
Bago (West)	50.5	107	88.4	93
Magwe	56.4	254	93.3	185
Mandalay	58.4	369	93.5	314
Sagaing	60.5	310	96.1	276
Tanintharyi	72.3	90	96.6	85
Yangon	70.1	372	97.3	316
Area				
Urban	66.6	770	97.7	657
Rural	49.6	2,117	94.3	1,677
Mother's education				
None	27.1	352	92.7	209
Primary	48.8	1,344	93.8	1,050
Secondary +	76.1	835	97.6	786
Non-standard curriculum	44.0	130	92.4	95
Mother not in household	53.1	225	99.2	189
Wealth index quintiles				
Poorest	31.2	789	87.2	389
Second	53.1	596	96.2	483
Middle	58.2	562	94.5	531
Fourth	65.8	516	97.9	511
Richest	78.7	425	99.6	419
Total	54.2	2,887	95.3	2,334

Table ED.6: Primary school completion and transition to secondary educationPrimary school completion rate and transition rate to secondary education, Myanmar, 2009-2010

* MICS indicator 59; MDG indicator 7b ** MICS indicator 58 *** Primary school completion age is 9 years

 Table ED.7: Education gender parity

 Ratio of girls to boys attending primary education and ratio of girls to boys attending secondary education, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Primary school net attendance ratio (NAR), girls	Primary school net attendance ratio (NAR), boys	Gender parity index (GPI) for primary school NAR*	Secondary school net attendance ratio (NAR), girls	Secondary school net attendance ratio (NAR), boys	Gender parity index (GPI) for secondary school NAR*
State/Division						
Kachin	96.6	94.9	1.02	73.3	62.7	1.17
Kayah	95.1	95.4	1.00	75.1	64.5	1.16
Kayin	96.0	93.0	1.03	62.1	56.2	1.10
Chin	89.4	88.9	1.01	61.7	65.6	0.94
Mon	93.7	93.9	1.00	59.0	52.2	1.13
Rakhine	73.7	78.0	0.94	28.4	33.3	0.85
Shan (North)	80.0	75.8	1.06	41.0	44.6	0.92
Shan (East)	90.1	81.4	1.11	54.1	42.8	1.26
Shan (South)	94.0	93.0	1.01	67.1	57.8	1.16
Ayeyarwaddy	89.9	89.8	1.00	56.2	53.2	1.06
Bago (East)	91.0	91.2	1.00	58.2	60.0	0.97
Bago (West)	90.9	84.9	1.07	54.6	55.3	0.99
Magwe	94.8	92.1	1.03	54.0	57.5	0.94
Mandalay	92.0	91.5	1.01	59.0	59.5	0.99
Sagaing	94.7	93.7	1.01	62.1	65.7	0.95
Tanintharyi	98.3	97.7	1.01	69.4	63.8	1.09
Yangon	92.3	92.2	1.00	75.5	73.9	1.02
Area						
Urban	92.9	93.0	1.00	77.0	75.0	1.03
Rural	89.8	88.6	1.01	52.0	51.9	1.00
Mother's education						
None	72.1	73.0	0.99	30.6	31.8	0.96
Primary	92.5	90.7	1.02	55.0	53.3	1.03
Secondary +	95.2	95.4	1.00	84.8	83.0	1.02
Non-standard curriculum	84.1	82.7	1.02	38.9	41.2	0.94
Mother not in household	93.6	93.4	1.00	54.3	57.7	0.94
Wealth index quintiles						
Poorest	81.8	81.0	1.01	27.2	29.3	0.93
Second	91.1	90.0	1.01	50.2	51.3	0.98
Middle	94.3	93.2	1.01	65.4	61.2	1.07
Fourth	95.3	94.6	1.01	76.4	73.3	1.04
Richest	95.1	94.7	1.00	84.7	86.4	0.98
Total	90.6	89.8	1.01	58.6	58.0	1.01

* MICS Indicator 61; MDG Indicator 9

Table ED.8: Young female literacy

	•	
Percentage of women aged 15-24	years that are literate, M	yanmar, 2009-2010

	Percentage literate*	Number of women aged 15-24 years
State/Division		
Kachin	96.4	321
Kayah	90.7	68
Kayin	86.5	300
Chin	78.0	145
Mon	87.8	476
Rakhine	54.6	847
Shan (North)	63.6	551
Shan (East)	65.1	128
Shan (South)	85.9	541
Ayeyarwaddy	91.0	913
Bago (East)	92.0	792
Bago (West)	94.5	476
Magwe	93.3	1,057
Mandalay	88.4	1,807
Sagaing	96.1	1,510
Tanintharyi	95.9	343
Yangon	95.6	1,696
Area		
Urban	94.9	3,558
Rural	84.9	8,414
Education		
None	1.2	454
Primary	73.4	3,424
Secondary +	100.0	7,966
Non-standard curriculum	24.6	128
Age		
15-19	89.6	5,984
20-24	86.0	5,988
Wealth index quintiles		
Poorest	69.0	2,283
Second	86.7	2,526
Middle	91.2	2,413
Fourth	94.9	2,374
Richest	96.6	2,375
Total	87.8	11,972

* MICS indicator 60; MDG indicator 8

 Table CP.1: Birth registration

 Per cent distribution of children aged 0-59 months by whether birth is registered and reasons for non-registration, Myanmar, 2009 2010

						Birth is no	ot registered	because:				Num-
	Birth is regis- tered*	Don't know if birth is regis- tered	Num- ber of children aged 0-59 months	Costs too much	Must travel too far	Didn't know child should be regis- tered	Late, did not want to pay fine	Doesn't know where to register	Other	Don't know	Total	ber of children aged 0-59 months without birth registra- tion
Sex												
Male	72.7	1.7	7,980	11.6	6.6	34.6	0.4	13.9	17.0	15.7	100.0	2,043
Female	72.1	2.2	7,558	11.6	7.0	33.3	0.1	13.3	19.7	15.0	100.0	1,940
State/Division												
Kachin	83.7	0.3	570	30.4	11.4	18.7	1.3	7.4	26.8	4.0	100.0	91
Kayah	86.5	0.7	145	20.9	6.5	11.5	0.7	10.2	31.8	18.5	100.0	19
Kayin	82.7	1.3	701	2.5	3.1	47.2	0.6	13.7	20.6	12.3	100.0	112
Chin	24.4	5.2	250	5.1	9.8	53.7	0.0	15.1	2.0	14.4	100.0	176
Mon	88.9	1.5	680	8.5	1.4	31.0	0.0	14.1	32.4	12.7	100.0	66
Rakhine	59.2	5.1	1,137	13.6	9.2	53.9	0.0	11.9	2.9	8.6	100.0	406
Shan (North)	52.3	6.1	835	11.6	9.6	19.8	0.1	18.5	16.1	24.2	100.0	347
Shan (East)	95.4	0.2	200	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	(*)	100.0	9
Shan (South)	79.2	0.1	822	14.7	12.8	13.5	0.0	6.4	44.3	8.3	100.0	170
Ayeyarwaddy	69.8	2.1	1,322	15.3	5.6	27.6	0.0	16.6	26.6	8.2	100.0	370
Bago (East)	54.3	0.1	1,000	8.6	4.3	54.8	0.3	9.4	17.8	4.6	100.0	456
Bago (West)	80.0	0.5	461	16.7	7.7	35.9	0.0	9.0	23.1	7.7	100.0	90
Magwe	56.9	2.5	1,138	7.2	2.0	32.6	0.0	12.3	10.6	35.4	100.0	462
Mandalay	70.1	2.1	1,708	9.4	6.8	40.8	0.0	16.2	18.4	8.4	100.0	475
Sagaing	54.2	4.3	1,364	8.7	7.5	20.6	1.3	17.3	17.0	27.6	100.0	566
Tanintharyi	90.1	0.2	360	22.9	22.7	3.5	0.0	5.2	40.3	5.3	100.0	35
Yangon	95.2	0.1	2,844	34.6	4.0	5.4	0.0	9.3	44.0	2.7	100.0	134
Area												
Urban	93.5	0.1	4,593	38.9	4.3	10.4	0.5	8.6	28.9	8.4	100.0	290
Rural	63.5	2.7	10,946	9.5	7.0	35.9	0.3	14.0	17.5	15.9	100.0	3,693
Age												
0-11 months	70.2	1.7	3,289	10.4	7.1	28.3	0.3	11.7	29.4	12.7	100.0	922
12-23 months	74.9	1.7	3,207	14.5	7.3	28.8	0.0	14.3	18.8	16.2	100.0	753
24-35 months	75.0	1.7	3,063	11.5	5.9	35.8	0.2	16.2	16.0	14.5	100.0	715
36-47 months	72.2	1.9	3,132	10.5	7.9	37.6	0.3	13.0	13.0	17.6	100.0	813
48-59 months	69.7	2.9	2,848	11.5	5.6	40.3	0.5	13.5	12.6	16.1	100.0	780
Mother's education												
None	52.4	5.3	1,594	14.2	5.0	32.0	0.1	13.6	13.7	21.4	100.0	675
Primary	66.2	2.5	7,100	11.3	6.4	36.0	0.2	14.7	17.5	13.9	100.0	2,222
Secondary +	85.3	0.5	6,459	11.3	10.0	29.2	0.6	11.4	24.4	13.2	100.0	914
Non-standard curriculum	52.7	2.5	386	7.0	1.6	42.1	0.0	11.3	15.4	22.7	100.0	173
Wealth index quintiles												
Poorest	50.4	4.0	3,851	14.3	5.7	34.4	0.3	14.1	13.4	17.8	100.0	1,755
Second	63.7	2.3	3,195	10.6	6.7	36.7	0.0	13.7	17.0	15.1	100.0	1,085
Middle	74.4	1.6	2,849	9.2	9.3	34.7	0.5	11.9	21.1	13.4	100.0	683
Fourth	87.0	0.7	2,880	6.4	7.2	26.0	0.0	14.8	33.9	11.7	100.0	354
Richest	95.9	0.2	2,764	10.8	7.8	21.5	2.5	10.6	44.3	2.5	100.0	106
Total	72.4	2.0	15.539	11.6	6.8	34.0	0.3	13.6	18.3	15.4	100.0	3.983

*MICS indicator 62

(*) An asterisk indicates that the percentage or proportion is calculated on fewer than 25 unweighted cases.

Table CP.2: Early marriagePercentage of women aged 15-19 years currently married, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Percentage of women 15-19 married *	Number of women aged 15-19 years
State/Division		
Kachin	10.8	153
Kayah	7.8	34
Kayin	6.3	151
Chin	7.3	85
Mon	5.0	238
Rakhine	6.5	437
Shan (North)	13.7	281
Shan (East)	22.3	71
Shan (South)	11.2	249
Ayeyarwaddy	10.9	465
Bago (East)	5.1	440
Bago (West)	8.0	236
Magwe	8.9	504
Mandalay	6.2	875
Sagaing	4.7	734
Tanintharyi	5.0	195
Yangon	6.3	835
Area		
Urban	5.1	1,748
Rural	8.4	4,236
Education		
None	20.3	178
Primary	12.4	1,403
Secondary +	5.2	4,344
Non-standard curriculum	13.9	59
Wealth index quintiles		
Poorest	9.0	1,129
Second	8.7	1,287
Middle	7.8	1,192
Fourth	7.2	1,212
Richest	4.3	1,165
Total	7.4	5,984

* MICS indicator 68

	Living		Living with ne	either parent		Living with on	h mother lv	Living with	father only	Impossible		Not living	One or	
	with both parents	Only father alive	Only mother alive	Both are alive	Both are dead	Father alive	Father dead	Mother alive	Mother dead	mine	Total	with a biological parent*	both parents dead**	Number of children
Sex														
Male	85.5	0.3	0.4	3.6	0.7	4.1	3.9	0.5	0.9	0.0	100.0	5.0	6.2	25,135
Female	84.9	0.4	0.6	4.0	0.9	3.8	4.1	0.4	1.0	0.1	100.0	5.8	6.9	24,919
State/Division														
Kachin	85.6	0.3	0.7	3.0	1.1	2.5	4.9	0.4	1.3	0.1	100.0	5.1	8.4	1,658
Kayah	91.5	0.1	0.2	1.7	0.4	1.6	4.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	100.0	2.3	5.0	408
Kayin	77.1	0.3	0.6	10.3	0.4	7.9	2.2	0.7	0.4	0.1	100.0	11.7	3.9	1,820
Chin	0.06	0.1	0.4	0.7	6.0	1.6	4.8	0.2	1.1	0.1	100.0	2.0	7.3	802
Mon	65.4	0.6	1.1	16.4	0.6	10.1	3.8	1.2	0.7	0.0	100.0	18.7	6.8	2,395
Rakhine	88.9	0.2	0.1	0.7	0.3	4.3	5.0	0.1	0.4	0.0	100.0	1.3	6.0	4,038
Shan (North)	86.3	0.1	0.4	2.2	0.6	2.7	5.2	0.7	1.6	0.0	100.0	3.4	8.0	2,480
Shan (East)	84.4	0.4	0.7	3.0	2.0	3.9	4.0	1.0	0.4	0.2	100.0	6.1	7.5	640
Shan (South)	91.5	0.1	0.3	1.6	0.7	1.7	3.3	0.1	0.6	0.0	100.0	2.7	5.0	2,344
Ayeyarwaddy	88.9	0.5	0.6	2.8	0.8	2.2	3.2	0.2	0.8	0.0	100.0	4.6	5.9	3,930
Bago (East)	84.4	0.5	0.9	4.0	0.7	3.0	5.1	0.6	0.9	0.0	100.0	6.0	8.0	3,464
Bago (West)	89.0	0.5	0.5	2.7	0.9	1.8	2.8	0.4	1.3	0.1	100.0	4.6	6.0	1,827
Magwe	85.3	0.5	0.4	2.4	0.4	4.5	4.5	0.4	1.5	0.0	100.0	3.7	7.4	4,087
Mandalay	85.6	0.4	0.5	3.5	1.1	3.6	3.6	0.5	1.3	0.1	100.0	5.4	6.8	6,397
Sagaing	84.8	0.5	0.3	2.9	0.7	4.5	4.4	0.5	1.4	0.0	100.0	4.5	7.3	5,215
Tanintharyi	78.4	0.8	0.9	9.2	1.2	4.0	4.5	0.6	0.3	0.0	100.0	12.2	7.8	1,446
Yangon	87.2	0.2	0.5	2.7	1.1	4.2	3.5	0.3	0.2	0.1	100.0	4.5	5.5	7,102
Area														
Urban	83.1	0.3	0.6	4.4	1.3	4.6	4.3	0.6	0.6	0.1	100.0	9.9	7.2	13,860
Rural	86.0	0.4	0.5	3.5	0.6	3.7	3.9	0.4	1.0	0.0	100.0	5.0	6.4	36,194
Age														
0-4 years	90.4	0.2	0.1	1.9	0.1	5.4	1.4	0.3	0.2	0.0	100.0	2.3	2.0	14,632
5-9 years	86.1	0.3	0.4	4.3	0.5	3.9	3.1	0.6	0.8	0.0	100.0	5.5	5.1	14,323
10-14 years	82.2	0.5	0.8	4.9	1.2	3.2	5.5	0.4	1.3	0.1	100.0	7.3	9.3	13,555
15-17 years	78.9	0.6	1.0	4.4	1.9	2.7	8.1	0.5	1.8	0.1	100.0	8.0	13.5	7,544

 Table CP.3: Children's living arrangements and orphanhood

 Per cent distribution of children aged 0-17 years according to living arrangements, percentage of children aged 0-17 years in households not living with a biological parent and percentage

114

	Living		Living with n	either parent		Living with onl	n mother Iy	Living with	father only	Impossible		Not living	One or	:
	with both parents	Only father alive	Only mother alive	Both are alive	Both are dead	Father alive	Father dead	Mother alive	Mother dead	to deter- mine	Total	with a biological parent*	both parents dead**	Number of children
Wealth index quintiles														
Poorest	87.7	0.3	0.3	1.6	0.6	3.4	4.7	0.2	1.0	0.1	100.0	2.9	7.0	12,226
Second	86.1	0.4	0.5	2.7	0.5	3.6	4.5	0.3	1.2	0.0	100.0	4.2	7.2	10,499
Middle	84.1	0.3	0.5	4.6	0.8	4.2	4.1	0.5	0.8	0.0	100.0	6.2	6.5	9,751
Fourth	83.0	0.5	0.6	5.6	1.1	4.2	3.5	0.6	0.8	0.0	100.0	7.8	6.5	9,260
Richest	84.1	0.3	0.6	5.2	1.0	4.6	2.9	0.6	0.5	0.1	100.0	7.1	5.3	8,319
Total	85.2	0.4	0.5	3.8	0.8	4.0	4.0	0.4	0.9	0.1	100.0	5.4	6.6	50,054
*MICS indicator 78 ** MICS indicator 75														

Table CP.3: Children's living arrangements and orphanhood (continued) Per cent distribution of children aged 0-17 years according to living arrangements, percentage of children aged 0-17 years in households not living with a biological parent and percentage

Table HA.1: Knowledge of preventing HIV transmissionPercentage of women aged 15-49 years who know the main ways of preventing HIV transmission, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Percentage v b	vho know tran e prevented by	smission can y:		Kaawaat	Decer/t	
	Heard of AIDS	Having only one faithful uninfected sex partner	Using a condom every time	Abstaining from sex	Knows all three ways	least one way	know any way	Number of women
State/Division								
Kachin	95.6	72.8	76.3	55.1	44.4	87.2	12.8	996
Kayah	92.8	83.9	80.9	59.1	49.0	90.8	9.2	205
Kayin	94.9	76.2	73.6	65.5	52.8	87.2	12.8	987
Chin	91.5	54.8	52.4	34.3	22.2	69.5	30.5	370
Mon	99.1	84.2	82.4	62.7	50.8	95.0	5.0	1,577
Rakhine	93.7	53.3	50.2	38.5	26.6	67.2	32.8	2,385
Shan (North)	66.6	49.4	49.3	39.1	30.9	58.1	41.9	1,498
Shan (East)	83.8	57.1	54.3	41.7	31.2	67.6	32.4	456
Shan (South)	92.0	77.8	72.2	63.6	54.1	84.0	16.0	1,701
Ayeyarwaddy	97.3	79.4	69.1	60.5	45.0	89.1	10.9	3,075
Bago (East)	98.0	73.6	72.8	54.2	41.7	85.2	14.8	2,470
Bago (West)	99.8	81.7	79.5	55.8	45.2	94.9	5.1	1,697
Magwe	99.3	80.7	73.1	64.8	51.0	90.8	9.2	3,446
Mandalay	96.7	71.0	65.2	54.6	38.9	85.0	15.0	5,791
Sagaing	92.3	78.7	70.3	66.2	51.6	87.0	13.0	4,530
Tanintharyi	99.5	73.7	74.0	62.1	46.5	90.7	9.3	928
Yangon	99.4	83.5	82.0	61.8	51.6	94.3	5.7	5,967
Area								
Urban	98.6	79.2	79.6	57.0	47.0	91.3	8.7	12,011
Rural	93.9	73.0	66.5	58.2	44.1	83.8	16.2	26,070
Age								
15-19	96.1	70.4	69.0	54.2	41.0	84.5	15.5	5,984
20-24	95.6	74.1	71.8	56.2	44.8	85.5	14.5	5,988
25-29	95.7	75.9	73.3	57.1	45.2	87.4	12.6	6,179
30-34	96.0	77.3	72.9	59.7	47.4	88.0	12.0	5,787
35-39	95.6	76.9	70.3	59.9	46.7	86.7	13.3	5,579
40-44	94.6	76.4	70.2	59.9	46.6	86.6	13.4	4,900
45-49	93.1	73.7	64.3	58.6	43.4	83.3	16.7	3,663
Education								
None	72.6	44.2	34.9	38.2	22.8	54.3	45.7	2,542
Primary	94.9	74.0	65.0	61.6	45.5	84.7	15.3	15,010
Secondary +	99.2	80.2	80.7	57.8	48.2	92.0	8.0	19,492
Non-standard cur- riculum	87.4	65.4	49.9	51.6	33.9	74.5	25.5	1,037
Wealth index quintiles								
Poorest	91.0	65.9	55.9	54.0	37.3	76.7	23.3	7,035
Second	94.5	74.3	66.9	60.4	46.1	84.7	15.3	7,475
Middle	94.9	75.7	70.5	60.6	47.3	86.3	13.7	7,526
Fourth	97.4	79.4	79.0	61.3	50.2	91.2	8.8	7,792
Richest	98.4	78.3	78.7	52.8	43.6	90.5	9.5	8,253
Total	95.4	75.0	70.6	57.8	45.0	86.1	13.9	38,081

Table HA.2: Identifying misconceptions about HIV/AIDSPercentage of women aged 15-49 years who correctly identify misconceptions about HIV/AIDS, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Per c	ent who know	that:	Reject two	Per cent who	o know that:	
	HIV cannot b	e transmit-		most common			
	ted Sharing food	by: Mosquito bites	A healthy looking person can be infected	tions and know a healthy-look- ing person can	HIV cannot be trans- mitted by Supernatural means	HIV can be transmitted by sharing needles	Number of women
o /p: : :				be infected			
State/Division							
Kachin	77.1	59.8	69.0	40.7	82.6	91.5	996
Kayah	77.8	66.5	68.0	49.7	77.6	89.7	205
Kayın	/3.9	60.5	42.0	29.8	78.0	85.2	987
Chin	07.7	70.1	54.9	38.9	/2.1	80.0	370
Mon	87.8	78.1	57.9	45.7	89.0	92.0	1,577
Raknine	50.9 52.2	02.1	49.1	34.0 26.0	72.7 EG 2	74.5	2,385
Shan (North)	52.2	40.4 EC 0	39.9 20.1	20.8	50.5 60 F	59.2	1,498
Shan (Last)	79.9	74.2	59.1	20.4 40.0	09.J 85.6	09.9 97.2	450
Avovarwaddy	70.0 66 A	74.5 57.9	51.6	40.0	05.0 91.2	07.2 90.9	2,075
Ayeyal waddy Bago (East)	74.5	57.8 65.4	66.5	30.0 /1 3	88.3	94.6	2 470
	85.2	81 2	61.7	41.5	95.5	94.0	1 697
Magwe	77.2	67.8	67.1	48.5	91 3	94.6	3 446
Magwe	73.2	59.3	54.6	32.7	84.1	91 0	5,791
Sagaing	76.3	62.7	54.3	32.7	85.7	87.2	4 530
Tanintharvi	85.3	73.8	59.1	42.8	88.6	92.1	928
Yangon	88.0	77.6	73.4	57.8	91.1	93.6	5.967
Area					•		-,
Urban	88.1	77.3	70.1	55.0	90.0	92.9	12,011
Rural	70.2	61.0	54.8	34.3	82.2	86.9	26,070
Age							
15-19	78.2	68.5	62.6	43.8	84.7	89.3	5,984
20-24	78.7	67.4	63.3	44.6	84.7	89.0	5,988
25-29	77.5	67.3	61.4	42.5	86.1	89.4	6,179
30-34	76.3	65.7	60.5	41.1	85.6	89.9	5,787
35-39	75.2	65.9	57.1	38.5	84.5	88.9	5,579
40-44	72.5	64.7	56.0	38.0	84.4	88.2	4,900
45-49	69.6	61.3	53.5	33.9	81.0	85.0	3,663
Education							
None	38.9	35.3	29.4	12.9	51.2	56.9	2,542
Primary	66.9	57.6	51.6	28.4	81.4	87.6	15,010
Secondary +	88.9	78.1	70.7	55.2	92.1	94.2	19,492
Non-standard curriculum	52.2	42.1	41.7	18.1	73.5	80.6	1,037
Wealth index quintiles							
Poorest	57.7	52.9	49.0	25.9	75.1	81.3	7,035
Second	69.6	58.9	55.1	32.3	83.0	87.9	7,475
Middle	75.5	64.2	57.2	37.8	84.5	88.5	7,526
Fourth	84.2	72.3	64.0	47.3	88.6	92.1	7,792
Richest	89.6	80.0	71.1	57.9	90.6	93.0	8,253
Total	75.9	66.1	59.7	40.8	84.6	88.8	38,081

 Table HA.3: Comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS transmission

 Percentage of women aged 15-49 years who have comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS transmission, Myanmar, 2009 2010

	Know 2 ways to prevent HIV transmission	Correctly identify 3 misconceptions about HIV transmission	Have comprehensive knowledge (identify 2 prevention methods and 3 misconceptions)*	Number of women
State/Division				
Kachin	63.8	40.7	28.7	996
Kayah	74.7	49.7	44.6	205
Kayin	64.8	29.8	23.5	987
Chin	40.9	38.9	22.9	370
Mon	73.4	45.7	37.7	1,577
Rakhine	40.6	34.0	20.7	2,385
Shan (North)	42.2	26.8	21.1	1,498
Shan (East)	46.0	26.4	17.5	456
Shan (South)	67.5	40.0	29.9	1,701
Ayeyarwaddy	61.5	36.0	26.6	3,075
Bago (East)	63.3	41.3	28.5	2,470
Bago (West)	67.3	48.3	33.1	1,697
Magwe	65.3	43.4	32.2	3,446
Mandalay	53.9	32.7	20.4	5,791
Sagaing	63.7	37.1	31.2	4,530
Tanintharyi	60.7	42.8	25.1	928
Yangon	72.7	57.8	46.3	5,967
Area				
Urban	69.0	55.0	41.2	12,011
Rural	58.1	34.3	25.0	26,070
Age				
15-19	57.6	43.8	30.9	5,984
20-24	62.3	44.6	32.8	5,988
15-24*	60.0	44.2	31.8	11,972
25-29	63.4	42.5	31.2	6,179
30-34	64.2	41.1	31.2	5,787
35-39	62.7	38.5	28.7	5,579
40-44	62.2	38.0	29.0	4,900
45-49	57.1	33.9	24.7	3,663
Education				
None	28.8	12.9	7.5	2,542
Primary	57.1	28.4	20.2	15,010
Secondary +	70.3	55.2	41.7	19,492
Non-standard curriculum	43.7	18.1	12.2	1,037
Wealth index quintiles				
Poorest	48.2	25.9	17.3	7,035
Second	58.8	32.3	23.7	7,475
Middle	62.2	37.8	28.4	7,526
Fourth	68.8	47.3	36.5	7,792
Richest	68.1	57.9	42.5	8,253
Total	61.6	40.8	30.1	38,081

* MICS indicator 82; MDG indicator 19b

Table HA.4: Knowledge of mother-to-child HIV transmissionPercentage of women aged 15-49 years who correctly identify means of HIV transmission from mother to childMyanmar, 2009-2010

	Know AIDS can be trans- mitted from mother to child	Per ce	ent who know Al				
		During preg- nancy	At delivery	Through breast milk	All three ways*	 Did not know any specific way 	Number of women
State/Division							
Kachin	90.7	86.2	75.8	75.4	65.1	5.0	996
Kayah	88.9	86.2	83.1	79.2	74.1	3.9	205
Kayin	85.6	79.7	66.9	72.1	58.2	9.3	987
Chin	82.7	80.6	56.3	57.2	49.0	8.8	370
Mon	92.5	84.1	79.5	85.4	71.2	6.6	1,577
Rakhine	78.3	67.2	57.2	62.2	44.7	15.4	2,385
Shan (North)	53.8	51.2	44.4	44.5	39.0	12.9	1,498
Shan (East)	73.2	64.9	65.5	64.0	56.4	10.7	456
Shan (South)	86.2	84.3	74.1	65.5	60.4	5.8	1,701
Ayeyarwaddy	90.1	83.9	71.6	81.5	65.7	7.3	3,075
Bago (East)	92.1	88.2	82.9	86.9	78.7	5.9	2,470
Bago (West)	94.6	91.2	85.6	86.3	79.6	5.1	1,697
Magwe	91.9	86.9	82.2	84.1	75.3	7.4	3,446
Mandalay	88.3	82.1	72.6	76.4	63.9	8.4	5,791
Sagaing	84.8	80.2	73.2	72.8	64.3	7.4	4,530
Tanintharyi	93.3	88.3	79.2	79.6	68.9	6.2	928
Yangon	89.5	83.4	75.6	76.6	66.7	9.9	5,967
Area							
Urban	89.9	83.7	74.3	75.6	64.5	8.6	12,011
Rural	85.7	80.4	72.9	75.6	65.2	8.2	26,070
Age							
15-19	87.1	81.0	72.2	74.3	63.1	9.0	5,984
20-24	87.0	81.2	73.0	75.0	64.4	8.7	5,988
25-29	87.7	82.2	74.3	76.6	66.3	8.0	6,179
30-34	88.1	82.0	74.3	76.9	66.0	7.9	5,787
35-39	87.3	82.1	73.4	76.1	65.4	8.3	5,579
40-44	86.6	81.1	74.3	75.8	65.6	8.0	4,900
45-49	84.5	79.9	71.6	74.1	64.1	8.6	3,663
Education							
None	55.5	49.1	43.8	45.8	37.2	17.2	2,542
Primary	86.1	80.7	72.9	77.0	66.1	8.8	15,010
Secondary +	92.4	86.6	78.1	78.6	68.0	6.8	19,492
Non-standard curriculum	78.4	74.5	64.6	71.9	60.1	9.0	1,037
Wealth index quintil	es						
Poorest	80.2	73.3	65.2	70.5	58.1	10.8	7,035
Second	87.0	82.1	75.5	78.5	69.1	7.5	7,475
Middle	87.5	83.0	75.2	77.2	67.6	7.4	7,526
Fourth	89.8	84.8	76.1	78.3	67.9	7.7	7,792
Richest	90.0	83.3	74.1	73.2	62.1	8.5	8,253
Total	87.0	81.5	73.4	75.6	65.0	8.3	38,081

* MICS indicator 89

 Table HA.5: Attitudes toward people living with HIV/AIDS

 Percentage of women aged 15-49 years who have heard of AIDS who express a discriminatory attitude towards people living with HIV/AIDS, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Per cent of women who:						
	Would not care for a family member who was sick with AIDS	If a family member had HIV would want to keep it a secret	Believe that a teacher with HIV should not be allowed to work	Would not buy food from a person with HIV/AIDS	Agree with at least one dis- criminatory statement	Agree with none of the discrimina- tory state- ments*	Number of women who have heard of AIDS
State/Division							
Kachin	15.4	12.4	39.0	44.8	61.9	38.1	952
Kayah	9.1	10.7	30.1	38.5	52.2	47.8	190
Kayin	12.1	8.8	33.7	42.3	55.4	44.6	937
Chin	8.5	14.4	29.1	38.8	50.8	49.2	339
Mon	8.0	10.3	37.9	48.8	59.6	40.4	1,562
Rakhine	15.0	24.1	51.3	64.6	80.0	20.0	2,235
Shan (North)	14.4	12.9	35.5	49.7	59.7	40.3	998
Shan (East)	14.0	22.6	36.8	37.0	55.8	44.2	382
Shan (South)	21.1	7.9	31.8	40.8	60.1	39.9	1,566
Ayeyarwaddy	14.4	8.1	50.1	58.2	69.0	31.0	2,993
Bago (East)	14.3	12.8	54.7	61.0	73.2	26.8	2,421
Bago (West)	10.7	9.1	32.1	50.5	58.1	41.9	1,693
Magwe	7.1	7.7	43.8	57.0	67.3	32.7	3,423
Mandalay	12.9	12.8	47.7	61.9	73.2	26.8	5,600
Sagaing	10.0	9.9	46.6	61.9	70.2	29.8	4,180
Tanintharyi	13.8	8.9	34.3	41.0	56.7	43.3	924
Yangon	9.1	6.9	29.1	42.9	52.3	47.7	5,930
Area							
Urban	8.5	9.5	29.3	41.7	53.7	46.3	11,838
Rural	13.4	11.4	47.5	59.5	70.5	29.5	24,488
Age							
15-19	11.2	12.7	37.2	51.7	63.3	36.7	5,749
20-24	10.5	11.1	36.7	49.5	61.1	38.9	5,727
25-29	11.1	10.3	39.9	52.1	63.6	36.4	5,915
30-34	13.7	10.5	42.0	54.3	65.6	34.4	5,555
35-39	12.3	9.8	44.7	55.6	66.3	33.7	5,334
40-44	12.0	9.9	45.9	57.3	68.8	31.2	4,634
45-49	12.4	10.6	48.6	58.3	69.2	30.8	3,411
Education							
None	19.2	18.3	53.3	64.9	77.3	22.7	1,846
Primary	14.4	12.0	53.2	64.7	75.6	24.4	14,240
Secondary +	9.1	8.9	31.2	43.8	55.3	44.7	19,332
Non-standard curriculum	14.3	14.3	58.1	70.2	82.2	17.8	907
Wealth index quintiles							
Poorest	15.4	14.9	54.9	67.0	78.1	21.9	6.405
Second	13.3	9.5	50.6	62.3	72.3	27.7	7.063
Middle	12.2	11.4	43.8	56.1	67.4	32.6	7.144
Fourth	10.1	9.1	36.1	48.4	60.0	40.0	7,591
Richest	9.0	9.4	26.3	38.6	51.2	48.8	8.122
Total	11.0	10 7	_0.0 A1 C	E2 7	сг 1	24.0	26 225
IUIdl	5.11	10.7	41.0	53.7	05.1	34.9	30,325

* MICS indicator 86

Table HA.6: Knowledge of a facility for HIV testing

Percentage of women aged 15-49 years who know where to get an HIV test, percentage of women who have been tested and, of those tested the percentage who have been told the result, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Know a place to get tested*	Have been tested**	Number of women	If tested, have been told result	Number of women who have been tested for HIV
State/Division					
Kachin	78.1	26.3	996	88.8	262
Kayah	61.8	17.0	205	89.2	35
Kayin	66.4	22.5	987	91.8	222
Chin	57.5	3.3	370	(90.0)	12
Mon	82.6	24.8	1,577	94.4	392
Rakhine	45.9	3.3	2,385	85.5	79
Shan (North)	49.2	11.6	1,498	93.3	174
Shan (East)	69.4	28.9	456	83.5	132
Shan (South)	81.1	18.2	1,701	91.0	310
Ayeyarwaddy	60.9	9.9	3,075	84.4	306
Bago (East)	76.4	13.8	2,470	85.3	342
Bago (West)	91.5	14.4	1,697	93.6	245
Magwe	73.9	8.8	3,446	72.9	302
Mandalay	57.8	14.1	5,791	88.6	817
Sagaing	71.6	9.4	4,530	85.2	424
Tanintharyi	83.8	16.0	928	88.9	148
Yangon	84.6	42.0	5,967	97.9	2,505
Area					
Urban	82.1	33.0	12,011	95.4	3,958
Rural	65.3	10.5	26,070	86.0	2,748
Age					
15-19	67.5	4.9	5,984	88.3	294
20-24	71.3	15.0	5,988	89.2	899
25-29	73.5	21.7	6,179	90.9	1,344
30-34	73.1	25.2	5,787	91.7	1,459
35-39	72.8	24.4	5,579	92.6	1,360
40-44	69.0	18.0	4,900	94.0	881
45-49	64.3	12.8	3,663	91.5	470
Education					
None	34.1	7.8	2,542	90.2	198
Primary	63.0	13.0	15,010	87.6	1,953
Secondary +	82.2	23.0	19,492	93.5	4,484
Non-standard curriculum	50.1	6.9	1,037	79.8	72
Wealth index quintiles					
Poorest	50.7	5.9	7,035	80.1	417
Second	65.6	10.6	7,475	84.8	795
Middle	71.5	13.9	7,526	88.8	1,048
Fourth	78.3	22.1	7,792	92.4	1,721
Richest	84.0	33.0	8,253	95.8	2,726
Total	70.6	17.6	38,081	91.5	6,706

* MICS indicator 87 ** MICS indicator 88

(%) Figures in parenthesis indicate that the percentage or proportion is based on 25 to 49 unweighted cases only.

©UNICEF Myanmar/2010/Mya Win


Appendices

Appendix A. Sample Design

The major features of sample design are described in this appendix. Sample design features include target sample size, sample allocation, sample frame and listing, choice of domains, sampling stages, stratification, and the calculation of sample weights.

The primary objective of the sample design for the Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey was to produce statistically reliable estimates of most indicators, at the national level, for urban and rural areas, and for the 17 states and divisions of the country: Kachin, Kayah, Kayin, Chin, Mon, Rakhine, Shan (North), Shan (East), Shan (South), Ayeyarwaddy, Bago (East), Bago (West), Magwe, Mandalay, Sagaing, Tanintharyi, and Yangon.

Although aiming to produce data for the national level, 10 townships in Ayeyarwaddy Division and four townships in Yangon Division affected by Cyclone Nargis in 2008 were excluded from the sampling frame. Moreover, five townships in Shan (North) State were removed from the sampling frame due to security concerns. Urban and rural areas in each state/division were defined as the sampling domains. A multi-stage, stratified probability proportional to size (PPS) cluster sampling design was adopted for the selection of the survey sample.

Sample Size and Sample Allocation

The target sample size for the Myanmar MICS was calculated as 29,250 households. For the calculation of the sample size, the key indicator used was the underweight prevalence among children under five years. The following formula was used to estimate the required sample size for these indicators:

n =
$$\frac{[(1.96)^2(r)(1-r)(f)(1.1)]}{[(0.12r)^2(p)(n_k)]}$$

where

- n is the required sample size, expressed as number of households
- 1.96 is a factor to achieve the 95 per cent level of confidence
- r is the predicted or anticipated prevalence (coverage rate) of the indicator
- 1.1 is the factor necessary to raise the sample size by 10 per cent for non-response
- f is the shortened symbol for deff (design effect)
- 0.12r is the margin of error to be tolerated at the 95 per cent level of confidence, defined as 12 per cent of r (relative sampling error of r)
- p is the proportion of the total population upon which the indicator, r, is based
- n_h is the average household size.

For the calculation, r (underweight prevalence) was anticipated to be 31.8 per cent of under-five children. The value of deff (design effect) was taken as 1.5 based on the absence of any estimate from previous surveys, p (percentage of children aged 0-4 years in the total population) was taken as 11.8 per cent, and n_h (average household size) was taken as 4.5 person per household.

The resulting number of households from this exercise was 29,250 households. The average cluster size in the Myanmar MICS was determined as 30 households, based on a number of considerations,

including the budget available, and the time that would be needed per team to complete one cluster. Dividing the total number of households by the number of households per cluster, it was calculated that the selection of a total number of 975 clusters would be needed for the Myanmar MICS.

A compromise allocation procedure was adopted for allocation of 975 clusters to the 17 states and divisions. In each state/division, the clusters (primary sampling units) were distributed to urban and rural domains, proportional to the size of urban and rural populations in that state/division. Table SD.1 below shows the allocation of clusters to the sampling domains.

Sampling Frame and Selection of Clusters

The 2006 updated list of villages from the Population Department, Ministry of Population and Immigration was used as the sampling frame for the selection of clusters. In urban areas wards were defined as primary sampling units (PSUs), and in rural areas village tracts were defined as PSUs. Before sampling, wards and village tracts of 19 townships in Ayeyarwaddy, Yangon and Shan (North) were removed from the sampling frame. PSUs were selected from each of the sampling domains by using systematic PPS (probability proportional to size) sampling procedures. Within each village tract, one village was selected by simple random sampling.

During the fieldwork period 40 of the selected enumeration areas were not visited because they were considered inaccessible due to security concerns. These were replaced with other clusters of similar size. Substitution of selected clusters is, however, not a recommended MICS procedure. According to MICS standard protocol when sampled enumeration areas are not accessible, they should be abandoned without selecting replacement clusters. This is because the replacement clusters will not have been selected with the same probability of selection as the other clusters. The situation in these geographical areas might also systematically differ from the areas which were not possible to visit, which could introduce bias in the data. The geographical location of the 40 clusters which were not accessible was as follows:

1.	Kachin State	1 cluster
2.	Kayin State	3 clusters
3.	Rakhine State	1 cluster
4.	Shan (North) State	1 cluster
5.	Shan (East) State	19 clusters
6.	Shan (South) State	10 clusters
7.	Sagaing Division	1 cluster
8.	Tanintharyi Division	4 clusters

Listing and Mapping Activities, and Selection of Households

Since the sampling frame (the 2006 list of villages from the Population Department) was not up to date, the number of households in all selected clusters was updated in consultation with local village/ ward authorities prior to the selection of households. For this purpose, survey teams visited each enumeration area and listed the occupied households one day ahead of field data collection. Survey teams were required to either obtain a map from the local authorities, or draw a map themselves, detailing all dwellings in the enumeration area. The map was then divided into segments of around 15 households. Two segments were selected at random by the field team, to make up a cluster of 30 households.

In instances where the field team did not succeed in drawing or obtaining a map, they made use of an alternative method of selection based on local administrative structures. In Myanmar all households are under the oversight of a structure of voluntary household leaders under the General Administration Department. Groups of around 10 households located close to each other share one 10 household leader, whose function is to perform simple administrative tasks and update administrative information on their assigned households, and 10 of these 10 household leaders are under the same 100 household leader. In spite of the title, because of the often unequal distribution of households in a village, a 100 household leader can be responsible for anything between 60 and 120 households.

With the alternative method of selecting households, field teams drew first the name of two 100 household leaders, attempting if possible, to select them from opposite sides of the village. Subsequently, from the area of responsibility of each of the two selected 100 household leaders, the name of one 10 household leader was drawn at random. Since 10 household leaders are only in charge of around 10 households, the remaining five households to make up a segment of 15, were taken from the neighbouring 10 household leader.

This alternative method of selection of households is similar to the method of mapping and segmenting in that the 10 households under one 10 household leader are located in a geographical cluster, which would correspond to the segments drawn on a map. It deviates from it in that the two-step selection of firstly two 100 household leaders and subsequently the two 10 household leaders means that the two selected segments would not be bordering each other, which would be possible with a random selection of segments. Secondly, the unequal number of households under the oversight of each 100 household leader gives different probability of selection for each household. Thirdly, as each 10 household leader is seldom in charge of as many as 15 households, the remaining five would have to be selected from the neighbouring one, but there may have been unequal practice as to how these remaining households were selected. It was not recorded in which enumeration areas this method was employed.

Calculation of Sample Weights

Weights for the Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey sample were calculated for 34 strata, that is rural and urban areas of 17 states and divisions. It was not considered possible to calculate weights at cluster level, since some clusters were replaced with others, and it was hence difficult to calculate selection probabilities at cluster level.

The major component of the weight Wh is the reciprocal of the sampling fraction¹³ employed in selecting the number of sample households in that particular sampling domain:

$$W_h = 1/f_h$$

where the term *fh* refers to the sampling fraction at the *h*-th stratum.

A second component which has to be taken into account in the calculation of sample weights is the level of non-response for the household and individual interviews. The adjustment for household non-response is equal to the inverse value of:

HHRR = (Number of interviewed households in the cluster of two segments)/ (Number of occupied households listed in the cluster of two segments)

 $^{^{\}rm 13}\,$ the ratio of the sample size to the size of the stratum

After the completion of fieldwork, response rates were calculated for each sampling domain. These were used to adjust the sample weights calculated for each cluster. Response rates in the Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey are shown in Table HH.1 in this report.

Similarly, the adjustment for non-response at the individual level (women and under-five children) is equal to the inverse value of:

WRR (or CRR) = Completed women's (or under-five's) questionnaires / Eligible women (or under-fives)

Numbers of eligible women and under-five children were obtained from the household listing in the Household Questionnaire in households where interviews were completed.

The unadjusted weights for the households were calculated by multiplying the above factors for each stratum. These weights were then standardized (or normalized), one purpose of which is to make the sum of the interviewed sample units equal the total sample size at the national level. Normalization is performed by multiplying the aforementioned unadjusted weights by the ratio of the number of completed households to the total unadjusted weighted number of households. A similar standardization procedure was followed in obtaining standardized weights for the women's and underfive's questionnaires. Adjusted (normalized) household weights varied between 0.12 for urban Kayah and 1.69 for rural Yangon in the 34 strata.

Sample weights were appended to all data sets and analyses were performed by weighting each household, woman or under-five with these sample weights.

		Population (2006)	N	umber of Cluster	s
State/Division -	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Kachin	390,383	851,838	1,242,221	13	29	42
Kayah	54,041	163,388	217,429	11	28	39
Kayin	186,086	1,253,205	1,439,291	7	36	43
Chin	92,132	367,755	459,887	7	32	39
Mon	588,641	1,551,544	2,140,185	15	36	51
Rakhine	397,989	2,275,395	2,673,384	8	45	53
Shan (North)	440,970	1,287,438	1,728,408	27	20	47
Shan (East)	150,752	682,942	833,694	10	30	40
Shan (South)	477,460	1,515,702	1,993,162	12	33	45
Ayeyarwaddy	785,586	4,932,806	5,718,392	17	80	97
Bago (East)	542,851	2,077,659	2,620,510	12	41	53
Bago (West)	356,491	1,504,974	1,861,465	9	39	48
Magwe	568,917	3,456,880	4,025,797	11	61	72
Mandalay	1,829,563	4,336,701	6,166,264	29	69	98
Sagaing	779,122	4,160,095	4,939,217	13	67	80
Tanintharyi	320,148	939,683	1,259,831	11	32	43
Yangon	4,339,618	1,776,091	6,115,709	65	20	85
Total	12,300,750	33,134,096	45,434,846	277	698	975

Table SD.1: Allocation of Sample Clusters (Primary Sampling Units) to Sampling Domains

Table SD.2: Household	. women's and	children's we	ight by stratum

Stratum		Household weight	Women's weight	Children's weight
1	Kachin urban	0.584676	0.626422	0.642606
2	Kayah urban	0.117873	0.115179	0.125168
3	Kayin urban	0.548767	0.540066	0.582732
4	Chin urban	0.266573	0.257834	0.283072
5	Mon urban	0.877408	0.84557	0.931715
6	Rakhine urban	0.978817	0.943299	1.039401
7	Shan (N) urban	0.34079	0.334637	0.36533
8	Shan (E) urban	0.328862	0.319758	0.349216
9	Shan (S) urban	1.010818	0.989027	1.073383
10	Ayeyarwaddy urban	0.880582	0.859031	0.935085
11	Bago (E) urban	1.114329	1.166083	1.191875
12	Bago (W) urban	1.093989	1.060901	1.161701
13	Magwe urban	1.259927	1.238654	1.33791
14	Mandalay urban	1.444458	1.429496	1.533862
15	Sagaing urban	1.300732	1.273669	1.381241
16	Tanintharyi urban	0.556051	0.552178	0.590468
17	Yangon urban	1.678455	1.629351	1.783861
18	Kachin rural	0.559488	0.602735	0.602972
19	Kayah rural	0.126887	0.124454	0.134741
20	Kayin rural	0.656062	0.638543	0.698277
21	Chin rural	0.25215	0.245392	0.267757
22	Mon rural	0.868218	0.840017	0.921956
23	Rakhine rural	1.173048	1.131106	1.245654
24	Shan (N) rural	1.365951	1.330372	1.450497
25	Shan (E) rural	0.365621	0.354865	0.388251
26	Shan (S) rural	1.025722	0.991642	1.089209
27	Ayeyarwaddy rural	0.891463	0.871573	0.947424
28	Bago (E) rural	1.153596	1.174789	1.23041
29	Bago (W) rural	1.082739	1.046664	1.149754
30	Magwe rural	1.241853	1.214375	1.318717
31	Mandalay rural	1.447675	1.475274	1.537279
32	Sagaing rural	1.37269	1.391385	1.463194
33	Tanintharyi rural	0.582751	0.573387	0.621803
34	Yangon rural	1.689373	1.64073	1.793936

Appendix B. List of Personnel Involved in the Survey

MICS STEERING COMMITTEE

1.	Director General Planning Department Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development	Chair
2.	Director General Foreign Economic Relations Department Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development	Member
3.	Deputy Director General (Public Health) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
4.	Deputy Director General (Disease Control) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
5.	Deputy Director General Department of Educational Planning and Training Ministry of Education	Member
6.	Deputy Director General Central Statistical Organization Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development	Member
7.	Deputy Director General Department of Population Ministry of Immigration and Population	Member
8.	Deputy Director General Department of Progress of Border Area and National Races and Development Affairs Ministry of Progress of Border Areas and National Races	Member
9.	Deputy Director General Department of Social Welfare Ministry of Social Welfare, Relief and Resettlement	Member
10.	Deputy Director General Department of Medical Research (Central Myanmar) Ministry of Health	Member
11.	Deputy Director General General Administrative Department Ministry of Home Affairs	Member

12.	Representative Myanmar Maternal and Child Welfare Association	Member
13.	Representative Myanmar Red Cross Society	Member
14.	Deputy Director General Department of Health Planning Ministry of Health	Secretary
15.	Deputy Director General Planning Department Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development	Joint Secretary

MICS WORKING COMMITTEE

1.	Deputy Director General Department of Health Planning Ministry of Health	Chair
2.	Director (Public Health) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
3.	Director (Disease Control) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
4.	Director Central Statistical Organization Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development	Member
5.	Deputy Director Department of Population Ministry of Immigration and Population	Member
6.	Director Department of Progress of Border Area and National Races and Development Affairs Ministry of Progress of Border Areas and National Races	Member
7.	Director (Health Information) Department of Health Planning Ministry of Health	Member
8.	Director Department of Health Planning Ministry of Health	Member
9.	Deputy Director (Maternal Health) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
10.	Deputy Director (Child Health) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
11.	Deputy Director (Nutrition) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member

12.	Deputy Director (Environmental Sanitation) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
13.	Deputy Director (Malaria) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
14.	Deputy Director (CEU) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
15.	Deputy Director (HIV/ AIDS) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
16.	Deputy Director (EPI) Department of Health Ministry of Health	Member
17.	Deputy Director Department of Educational Planning and Training Ministry of Education	Member
18.	Staff Officer General Administrative Department Ministry of Home Affairs	Member
19.	Director Planning Department Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development	Secretary
20.	Director Department of Health Planning Department of Medical Research (Central Myanmar) Ministry of Health	Joint Secretary

Appendix C. Estimates of Sampling Errors

The sample of respondents selected in the Myanmar Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey is only one of the samples that could have been selected from the same population, using the same design and size. Each of these samples would yield results that differ somewhat from the results of the actual sample selected. Sampling errors are a measure of the variability between all possible samples. The extent of variability is not known exactly, but can be estimated statistically from the survey results.

The following sampling error measures are presented in this appendix for each of the selected indicators:

- Standard error (se): Sampling errors are usually measured in terms of standard errors for particular indicators (means, proportions etc). Standard error is the square root of the variance. The Taylor linearization method is used for the estimation of standard errors.
- Coefficient of variation (*se/r*) is the ratio of the standard error to the value of the indicator
- Design effect (*deff*) is the ratio of the actual variance of an indicator, under the sampling method used in the survey, to the variance calculated under the assumption of simple random sampling. The square root of the design effect (*deft*) is used to show the efficiency of the sample design. A *deft* value of 1.0 indicates that the sample design is as efficient as a simple random sample, while a *deft* value above 1.0 indicates the increase in the standard error due to the use of a more complex sample design.
- Confidence limits are calculated to show the interval within which the true value for the population can be reasonably assumed to fall. For any given statistic calculated from the survey, the value of that statistic will fall within a range of plus or minus two times the standard error (p + 2.se or p 2.se) of the statistic in 95 per cent of all possible samples of identical size and design.

For the calculation of sampling errors from MICS data, SPSS Version 18 Complex Samples module has been used. The results are shown in the tables that follow. In addition to the sampling error measures described above, the tables also include weighted and unweighted counts of denominators for each indicator.

Sampling errors are calculated for indicators of primary interest, for the national total, for the states and divisions, and for urban and rural areas. Ten of the selected indicators are based on household members, 11 are based on women, and 10 are based on children under five. All indicators presented here are in the form of proportions. Table SE.1 shows the list of indicators for which sampling errors are calculated, including the base population (denominator) for each indicator. Tables SE.2 to SE.21 show the calculated sampling errors.

Table SE.1: Indicators selected for sampling error calculationsList of indicators selected for sampling error calculations, and base populations (denominators) for each indicator,Myanmar, 2009-2010

	MICS Indicator	Base Population
	HOUSEHOLI	D MEMBERS
11	Use of improved drinking water sources	All household members
12	Access to improved sanitation facilities	All household members
13	Water treatment	All household members
52	Pre-school attendance	Children aged 36-59 months
53	School readiness	Children aged 5 who are in grade one
55	Net primary school attendance rate	Children of primary school age
56	Net secondary school attendance rate	Children of secondary school age
59	Net primary completion rate	Children of primary school completion age
78	Children's living arrangement (not living with a biological parent)	Children aged under 18
75	Prevalence of orphans	Children aged under 18
	WO	MEN
45	Timely initiation of breastfeeding	Ever-married women aged 15-49 years with a live birth in the last two years
32	Neonatal tetanus protection	Ever-married women aged 15-49 years with a live birth in the last two years
4	Skilled attendant at delivery	Ever-married women aged 15-49 years with a live birth in the last two years
20	Antenatal care	Ever-married women aged 15-49 years with a live birth in the last two years
21	Contraceptive prevalence	Ever-married women aged 15-49
60	Young female literacy	Women aged 15-24 years
68	Young women 15-19 currently married	Women aged 15-19 years
82	Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	Women aged 15-24 years
86	Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	Women aged 15-49 years
88	Women who have been tested for HIV	Women aged 15-49 years
89	Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	Women aged 15-49 years
	UNDI	ER-5s
6	Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	Children under age 5
6	Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	Children under age 5
42	Children's vitamin A supplement	Children aged 6-59 months
15	Exclusive breastfeeding	Infants aged 0-5 months
-	Acute respiratory infection in last two weeks	Children under age 5
22	Antibiotic treatment of suspected pneumonia	Children under age 5 with suspected pneumonia in the last two weeks
-	Diarrhoea in last two weeks	Children under age 5
35	Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	Children under age 5 with diarrhoea in the last two weeks
46	Support for learning	Children under age 5
62	Birth registration	Children under age 5

		-	Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəb)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	SEHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.823	600.0	0.010	14.841	3.852	141,269	29,238	0.805	0.840
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.846	0.006	0.007	7.279	2.698	141,269	29,238	0.835	0.857
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.345	0.006	0.018	4.814	2.194	141,269	29,238	0.333	0.357
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.229	0.008	0.037	2.397	1.548	5,980	5,968	0.212	0.246
School readiness	ED.1	0.398	0.014	0.034	1.048	1.024	1,276	1,374	0.371	0.425
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.902	0.004	0.005	3.266	1.807	14,364	15,287	0.893	0.911
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.583	0.007	0.012	3.317	1.821	15,733	16,538	0.569	0.597
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.542	0.011	0.021	1.556	1.247	2,887	3,022	0.519	0.564
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.054	0.002	0.029	2.540	1.594	50,054	52,942	0.051	0.057
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.066	0.002	0:030	3.343	1.828	50,054	52,942	0.062	0.070
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.758	0.007	600.0	1.825	1.351	6,028	6,489	0.743	0.772
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.918	0.006	0.006	2.724	1.651	6,028	6,489	0.907	0.930
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.706	0.010	0.015	3.422	1.850	6,032	6,493	0.685	0.727
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.831	0.00	0.010	3.402	1.844	6,032	6,493	0.814	0.848
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.460	0.005	0.011	2.354	1.534	23,070	23,593	0.450	0.470
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.878	0.005	0.006	3.362	1.834	11,972	12,108	0.867	0.889
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.074	0.004	0.058	1.642	1.281	5,984	6,126	0.066	0.083
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.318	0.006	0.020	2.164	1.471	11,972	12,108	0.306	0.331
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.349	0.005	0.013	3.465	1.861	36,325	36,136	0.340	0.359
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.176	0.003	0.019	2.844	1.686	38,081	38,081	0.170	0.183
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.650	0.004	0.007	3.218	1.794	38,081	38,081	0.641	0.659

 Table SE.2: Sampling errors: National sample

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (*deff*), square root of design effects (*deft*) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

				Coefficient		Square root			Confidence	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	Standard error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (se/r)	Design effect (<i>deff</i>)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	Weighted count	Unweighted count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.280	0.005	0.019	2.105	1.451	14,821	14,865	0.269	0.291
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.226	0.005	0.022	2.116	1.455	15,430	15,443	0.216	0.235
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.559	0.008	0.014	3.312	1.820	13,993	14,009	0.544	0.575
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.236	0.010	0.042	0.825	0.908	1,546	1,530	0.216	0.256
Acute respiratory infection in last two weeks	CH.6	0.026	0.002	0.063	1.626	1.275	15,539	15,539	0.022	0.029
Antibiotic treatment of suspected pneumonia	CH.7	0.342	0.014	0.042	0.424	0.651	397	460	0.313	0.371
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.067	0.002	0.037	1.523	1.234	15,539	15,539	0.062	0.072
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.503	0.015	0:030	1.015	1.007	1,043	1,145	0.473	0.532
Support for learning	CD.1	0.579	0.006	0.010	2.220	1.490	15,539	15,539	0.568	0.591
Birth registration	CP.1	0.724	0.008	0.011	5.235	2.288	15,539	15,539	0.708	0.741

 Table SE.2: Sampling errors: National sample (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			HOUS	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.932	0.010	0.011	13.053	3.613	42,339	8,331	0.912	0.952
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.944	0.008	0.008	9.514	3.084	42,339	8,331	0.929	0.960
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.390	0.011	0.029	4.575	2.139	42,339	8,331	0.367	0.413
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.391	0.018	0.046	2.231	1.494	1,802	1,661	0.356	0.427
School readiness	ED.1	0.528	0.026	0.050	1.084	1.041	373	393	0.475	0.580
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.930	0.007	0.007	2.927	1.711	3,874	3,967	0.916	0.944
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.760	0.011	0.015	3.073	1.753	4,149	4,276	0.737	0.783
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.666	0.022	0.033	1.704	1.306	770	781	0.622	0.710
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.067	0.003	0.049	2.379	1.542	13,860	14,004	0.060	0.073
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.072	0.004	0.051	2.834	1.683	13,860	14,004	0.065	0.079
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.813	0.011	0.013	1.374	1.172	1,733	1,750	0.791	0.835
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.946	0.007	0.007	1.624	1.275	1,733	1,750	0.932	0.960
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.896	0.011	0.012	2.136	1.462	1,734	1,751	0.874	0.917
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.950	0.007	0.007	1.787	1.337	1,734	1,751	0.936	0.963
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.513	0.008	0.015	1.558	1.248	6,983	6,841	0.498	0.528
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.949	0.007	0.007	3.088	1.757	3,558	3,455	0.936	0.962
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.051	0.007	0.129	1.531	1.237	1,748	1,700	0.038	0.065
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.421	0.012	0.029	2.073	1.440	3,558	3,455	0.397	0.445
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.463	0.008	0.017	2.903	1.704	11,838	11,291	0.447	0.479
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.330	0.008	0.024	3.272	1.809	12,011	11,568	0.314	0.345
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.645	0.008	0.012	3.235	1.799	12,011	11,568	0.629	0.661

 Table SE.3: Sampling errors: Urban area

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			-	Coefficient		Square root	-	-	Confidence	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	standard error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	Design effect (<i>deff</i>)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	Weighted count	Unweighted count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.235	0.00	0.036	1.634	1.278	4,399	4,057	0.218	0.252
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.187	0.008	0.041	1.623	1.274	4,545	4,199	0.172	0.203
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.512	0.012	0.024	2.273	1.508	4,143	3,814	0.487	0.536
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.208	0.016	0.078	0.678	0.823	449	424	0.176	0.241
Acute respiratory infection in last two weeks	CH.6	0.024	0.003	0.121	1.525	1.235	4,593	4,238	0.018	0.030
Antibiotic treatment of suspected pneumonia	CH.7	0.348	0.027	0.079	0.406	0.637	109	123	0.293	0.403
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.066	0.005	0.072	1.568	1.252	4,593	4,238	0.056	0.076
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.573	0.032	0.055	1.155	1.075	303	284	0.510	0.637
Support for learning	CD.1	0.712	0.011	0.016	2.624	1.620	4,593	4,238	0.690	0.735
Birth registration	CP.1	0.935	0.006	0.006	2.559	1.600	4,593	4,238	0.923	0.948

 Table SE.3: Sampling errors: Urban area (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			HOUS	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.776	0.012	0.015	16.025	4.003	98,930	20,907	0.753	0.799
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.804	0.007	0.00	7.362	2.713	98,930	20,907	0.789	0.819
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.326	0.007	0.022	4.956	2.226	98,930	20,907	0.311	0.340
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.159	00.0	0.058	2.724	1.650	4,178	43,07	0.141	0.177
School readiness	ED.1	0.344	0.015	0.045	1.024	1.012	904	981	0.313	0.375
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.892	0.005	0.006	3.366	1.835	10,491	11,320	0.881	0.903
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.520	0.008	0.016	3.478	1.865	11,584	12,262	0.503	0.536
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.496	0.013	0.026	1.535	1.239	2,117	2,241	0.470	0.522
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.050	0.002	0.036	2.612	1.616	36,194	38,938	0.046	0.053
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.064	0.002	0.037	3.559	1.887	36,194	38,938	0.059	0.068
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.735	600.0	0.012	2.019	1.421	4,294	4,739	0.717	0.754
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.907	0.007	0.008	3.041	1.744	4,294	4,739	0.893	0.922
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.629	0.014	0.022	3.873	1.968	4,298	4,742	0.602	0.657
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.783	0.012	0.015	3.709	1.926	4,298	4,742	0.760	0.806
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.437	0.006	0.014	2.729	1.652	16,087	16,752	0.425	0.450
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.849	0.007	0.008	3.494	1.869	8,414	8,653	0.834	0.863
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.084	0.005	0.065	1.690	1.300	4,236	4,426	0.073	0.094
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.275	0.007	0.026	2.264	1.505	8,414	8,653	0.260	0.289
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.295	0.006	0.019	3.911	1.978	24,488	24,845	0.283	0.306
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.105	0.003	0.030	2.818	1.679	26,070	26,513	0.099	0.112
Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.652	0.005	0.008	3.205	1.790	26,070	26,513	0.642	0.663

 Table SE.4: Sampling errors: Rural area

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəp)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.299	0.007	0.022	2.268	1.506	10,421	10,808	0.286	0.312
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.242	0.006	0.025	2.309	1.519	10,885	11,244	0.229	0.254
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.579	0.010	0.017	3.840	1.960	9,849	10,195	0.560	0.598
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.248	0.012	0.049	0.886	0.941	1,096	1106	0.223	0.272
Acute respiratory infection in last two weeks	CH.6	0.026	0.002	0.074	1.670	1.292	10,946	11301	0.022	0.030
Antibiotic treatment of suspected pneumonia	CH.7	0.340	0.017	0.050	0.431	0.657	288	337	0.306	0.374
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.068	0.003	0.043	1.497	1.224	10,946	11,301	0.062	0.073
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.474	0.017	0.035	0.974	0.987	740	861	0.440	0.507
Support for learning	CD.1	0.524	0.007	0.013	2.167	1.472	10,946	11,301	0.510	0.538
Birth registration	CP.1	0.635	0.011	0.017	6.007	2.451	10,946	11,301	0.613	0.658

 Table SE.4: Sampling errors: Rural area (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	- - -		Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			NOH	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.893	0.025	0.028	7.963	2.822	4,034	1,258	0.843	0.942
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.921	0.016	0.018	4.677	2.163	4,034	1,258	0.889	0.954
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.475	0.031	0.065	4.784	2.187	4,034	1,258	0.413	0.536
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.346	0.041	0.117	2.694	1.641	229	372	0.265	0.428
School readiness	ED.1	0.869	0.032	0.037	0.735	0.858	47	83	0.805	0.933
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.958	0.007	0.007	0.920	0.959	492	868	0.944	0.971
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.679	0.029	0.043	3.381	1.839	484	852	0.620	0.738
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.602	0.049	0.082	1.539	1.241	87	153	0.503	0.700
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.051	0.005	0.098	1.522	1.234	1,658	2,924	0.041	0.062
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.084	0.006	0.068	1.220	1.105	1,658	2,924	0.072	0.095
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.836	0.022	0.027	1.413	1.189	238	390	0.792	0.881
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.949	0.011	0.011	0.879	0.937	238	390	0.928	0.970
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.604	0.048	0.080	3.814	1.953	238	390	0.507	0.701
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.773	0.038	0.049	3.168	1.780	238	390	0.698	0.849
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.387	0.025	0.065	2.983	1.727	069	1,132	0.337	0.437
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.964	0.008	0.008	0.956	0.978	321	525	0.948	0.980
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.108	0.021	0.200	1.194	1.093	153	250	0.065	0.150
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.277	0.022	0.078	1.235	1.111	321	525	0.233	0.320
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.381	0.018	0.046	2.042	1.429	952	1,559	0.346	0.417
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.263	0.017	0.064	2.353	1.534	966	1,631	0.230	0.296
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.651	0.016	0.025	1.897	1.377	966	1,631	0.619	0.684

 Table SE.5: Sampling errors: Kachin State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Ctandard Ctandard	Coefficient	Dacian affact	Square root	Mainhtad	l Inwaiahtad	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNE	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.179	0.014	0.076	1.129	1.062	546	890	0.151	0.206
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.130	0.013	0.099	1.354	1.163	564	919	0.104	0.156
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.728	0.051	0.070	10.689	3.269	507	825	0.627	0.830
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.406	0.048	0.119	0.992	0.996	64	104	0.309	0.502
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.107	0.011	0.099	1.096	1.047	570	929	0.086	0.128
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.392	0.055	0.140	1.252	1.119	61	100	0.282	0.502
Support for learning	CD.1	0.648	0.024	0.037	2.352	1.534	570	929	0.600	0.696
Birth registration	CP.1	0.837	0.028	0.033	5.352	2.313	570	929	0.781	0.893

 Table SE.5: Sampling errors: Kachin State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (*deff*), square root of design effects (*deft*) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

)							
	:		Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	ce limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	ot variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	ot design et- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			HOUS	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.696	0.051	0.073	14.258	3.776	834	1,170	0.595	0.798
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.812	0.019	0.024	2.847	1.687	834	1,170	0.774	0.851
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.843	0.034	0.040	10.022	3.166	834	1,170	0.776	0.910
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.607	0.045	0.074	3.397	1.843	53	400	0.517	0.697
School readiness	ED.1	0.742	0.072	0.097	3.318	1.822	15	124	0.598	0.885
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.953	0.010	0.010	2.070	1.439	119	953	0.933	0.972
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.699	0.033	0.047	4.700	2.168	113	906	0.633	0.765
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.584	0.055	0.094	2.076	1.441	21	167	0.474	0.694
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.023	0.005	0.220	3.717	1.928	408	3,270	0.013	0.033
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.050	0.007	0.142	3.486	1.867	408	3,270	0.036	0.064
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.713	0.036	0.050	3.017	1.737	59	480	0.641	0.784
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.935	0.012	0.013	1.144	1.070	59	480	0.910	0.959
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.645	0.029	0.045	1.786	1.336	59	480	0.587	0.704
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.862	0.025	0.029	2.587	1.608	59	480	0.812	0.913
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.323	0.022	0.069	2.598	1.612	139	1,142	0.278	0.367
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.907	0.013	0.015	1.196	1.094	68	558	0.880	0.934
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.078	0.019	0.244	1.419	1.191	34	282	0.040	0.116
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.511	0.033	0.065	2.452	1.566	68	558	0.445	0.578
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.478	0.021	0.043	2.646	1.627	190	1,565	0.437	0.519
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.170	0.011	0.064	1.415	1.190	205	1,685	0.148	0.192
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.741	0.021	0.029	3.930	1.982	205	1,685	0.699	0.783

 Table SE.6: Sampling errors: Kayah State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	l Inweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffap)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.204	0.014	0.068	1.295	1.138	144	1,083	0.176	0.232
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.146	0.010	0.070	0.909	0.954	145	1,094	0.126	0.166
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.832	0.036	0.043	9.137	3.023	131	991	0.760	0.904
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.240	0.050	0.210	1.458	1.207	14	106	0.139	0.340
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.097	0.013	0.133	2.092	1.446	145	1,097	0.071	0.123
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.545	0.043	0.080	0.799	0.894	14	106	0.458	0.632
Support for learning	CD.1	0.600	0.023	0.038	2.319	1.523	145	1,097	0.555	0.646
Birth registration	CP.1	0.865	0.024	0.027	5.182	2.276	145	1,097	0.818	0.912

 Table SE.6: Sampling errors: Kayah State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	:		Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			HOUS	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.511	0.039	0.077	8.015	2.831	4,142	1,290	0.432	0.590
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.736	0.029	0.039	5.404	2.325	4,142	1,290	0.678	0.793
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.269	0.018	0.068	2.193	1.481	4,142	1,290	0.233	0.306
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.251	0.045	0.178	3.543	1.882	228	335	0.162	0.341
School readiness	ED.1	0.164	0.047	0.287	1.327	1.152	53	83	0.070	0.259
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.945	0.012	0.013	2.261	1.504	493	765	0.920	0.970
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.593	0.038	0.064	4.604	2.146	503	782	0.518	0.668
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.492	0.064	0.131	2.468	1.571	97	150	0.363	0.620
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.117	0.010	0.089	2.969	1.723	1,820	2,836	0.096	0.138
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.039	0.006	0.148	2.539	1.593	1,820	2,836	0.028	0.051
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.884	0.015	0.017	1.027	1.013	289	465	0.854	0.914
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.942	0.011	0.011	0.980	0.990	289	465	0.920	0.963
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.687	0.051	0.074	5.607	2.368	290	467	0.585	0.789
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.850	0.033	0.038	3.883	1.971	290	467	0.784	0.915
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.360	0.021	0.060	2.251	1.500	702	1,129	0.318	0.403
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.865	0.024	0.028	2.438	1.561	300	483	0.816	0.914
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.063	0.016	0.260	1.090	1.044	151	242	0:030	0.095
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.262	0.024	0.091	1.422	1.192	300	483	0.214	0.309
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.446	0.021	0.048	2.743	1.656	937	1,511	0.404	0.488
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.225	0.014	0.061	1.736	1.318	987	1,590	0.197	0.253
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.582	0.019	0.032	2.292	1.514	987	1,590	0.544	0.619

 Table SE.7: Sampling errors: Kayin State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

146

			Standard	Coefficient	Decian offect	Square root	W/aightad	l Inweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.206	0.017	0.081	1.703	1.305	685	1,008	0.173	0.239
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.151	0.014	0.093	1.586	1.260	700	1,030	0.123	0.179
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.848	0.017	0.020	2.100	1.449	628	922	0.814	0.882
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.094	0.025	0.269	0.806	0.898	73	109	0.043	0.144
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.077	0.008	0.109	1.028	1.014	701	1,031	0.060	0.094
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.529	0.043	0.080	0.575	0.758	54	80	0.444	0.614
Support for learning	CD.1	0.588	0.023	0.039	2.199	1.483	701	1,031	0.542	0.633
Birth registration	CP.1	0.827	0.023	0.028	3.851	1.962	701	1,031	0.780	0.873

 Table SE.7: Sampling errors: Kayin State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (*deff*), square root of design effects (*deft*) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

		-	Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			HOUS	EHOLDS						
			ноизеноі	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.865	0.010	0.011	066.0	0.995	1696	1,169	0.845	0.885
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.869	0.022	0.025	4.971	2.230	1696	1,169	0.825	0.913
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.832	0.018	0.022	2.835	1.684	1696	1,169	0.796	0.869
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.327	0.058	0.177	6.017	2.453	107	395	0.211	0.443
School readiness	ED.1	0.802	0.054	0.068	1.467	1.211	21	80	0.693	0.910
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.892	0.012	0.013	1.347	1.161	233	917	0.868	0.915
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.637	0.026	0.041	2.995	1.731	254	266	0.584	0.690
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.481	0.066	0.137	3.077	1.754	46	179	0.349	0.612
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.020	0.003	0.128	1.067	1.033	802	3,155	0.015	0.026
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.073	0.007	0.098	2.396	1.548	802	3,155	0.059	0.087
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.882	0.016	0.018	0.799	0.894	85	346	0.851	0.913
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.764	0.037	0.049	2.651	1.628	85	346	0.690	0.839
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.389	0.056	0.144	4.561	2.136	85	346	0.277	0.502
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.500	0.056	0.112	4.333	2.082	85	346	0.388	0.612
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.078	0.013	0.163	2.016	1.420	223	901	0.052	0.103
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.780	0.021	0.027	1.546	1.243	145	588	0.738	0.823
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.073	0.013	0.176	0.831	0.912	85	343	0.047	0.098
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.251	0.033	0.131	3.360	1.833	145	588	0.186	0.317
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.492	0:030	0.061	4.849	2.202	339	1,366	0.433	0.552
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.033	0.007	0.211	2.292	1.514	370	1,494	0.019	0.048
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.490	0.029	0.060	5.130	2.265	370	1,494	0.432	0.549

 Table SE.8: Sampling errors: Chin State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (*deff*), square root of design effects (*deft*) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidence	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.358	0.025	0.069	2.363	1.537	240	889	0.308	0.407
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.307	0.021	0.067	1.845	1.358	249	923	0.266	0.348
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.340	0.035	0.104	4.677	2.163	228	846	0.269	0.410
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.254	0.059	0.233	1.436	1.198	21	79	0.136	0.372
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.131	0.014	0.110	1.671	1.293	250	925	0.102	0.159
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.463	0.044	0.096	0.952	0.976	33	121	0.374	0.552
Support for learning	CD.1	0.542	0.018	0.034	1.258	1.122	250	925	0.505	0.579
Birth registration	CP.1	0.244	0.027	0.111	3.717	1.928	250	925	0.190	0.299

 Table SE.8: Sampling errors: Chin State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	SEHOLDS						
			ноизено	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.863	0.020	0.023	5.307	2.304	6,390	1,530	0.823	0.904
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.912	0.017	0.019	5.802	2.409	6,390	1,530	0.877	0.947
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.658	0.029	0.044	5.796	2.408	6,390	1,530	0.599	0.716
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.132	0.025	0.187	1.532	1.238	268	290	0.082	0.181
School readiness	ED.1	0.160	0.031	0.192	0.695	0.833	87	100	0.099	0.222
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.938	0.010	0.011	1.619	1.272	744	855	0.917	0.959
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.554	0.033	0.060	4.027	2.007	789	906	0.488	0.621
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.560	0.033	0.060	0.785	0.886	152	175	0.493	0.627
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.187	0.013	0.071	3.201	1.789	2,395	2,751	0.160	0.213
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.068	0.005	0.071	1.009	1.004	2,395	2,751	0.058	0.078
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.916	0.018	0.019	1.087	1.043	230	273	0.881	0.951
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.989	0.006	0.006	0.911	0.954	230	273	0.977	1.000
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.817	0.050	0.062	4.621	2.150	230	273	0.716	0.918
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.967	0.016	0.016	2.131	1.460	230	273	0.936	0.999
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.456	0.020	0.044	1.859	1.364	956	1,136	0.416	0.496
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.878	0.019	0.021	1.865	1.366	476	565	0.840	0.916
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.050	0.014	0.285	1.191	1.091	238	283	0.021	0.078
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.411	0.026	0.064	1.595	1.263	476	565	0.358	0.463
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.404	0.021	0.052	3.391	1.841	1,562	1,856	0.362	0.446
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.248	0.013	0.052	1.649	1.284	1,577	1,873	0.223	0.274
Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.712	0.012	0.017	1.274	1.129	1,577	1,873	0.688	0.735

 Table SE.9: Sampling errors: Mon State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffap)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	JER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.241	0.018	0.076	1.344	1.159	674	729	0.205	0.278
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.178	0.017	0.093	1.369	1.170	679	735	0.145	0.211
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.801	0.031	0.039	4.136	2.034	618	668	0.738	0.864
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.470	0.059	0.126	0.950	0.975	63	68	0.351	0.589
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.053	0.008	0.143	0.840	0.916	680	736	0.038	0.068
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	*	*	*	*	*	36	39	*	*
Support for learning	CD.1	0.606	0.022	0.036	1.488	1.220	680	736	0.562	0.650
Birth registration	CP.1	0.889	0.018	0.020	2.428	1.558	680	736	0.853	0.925
An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer the	han 50 unweig	hted cases								

 Table SE.9: Sampling errors: Mon State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (*deff*), square root of design effects (*deft*) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			1							
	:		Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	D MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.577	0.054	0.093	18.698	4.324	9,303	1,590	0.470	0.684
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.480	0.037	0.078	8.937	2.989	9,303	1,590	0.406	0.555
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.181	0.026	0.144	7.235	2.690	9,303	1,590	0.129	0.233
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.054	0.016	0.304	2.069	1.438	485	398	0.021	0.086
School readiness	ED.1	*	*	*	*	*	38	34	*	*
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.758	0.019	0.026	2.394	1.547	1,337	1,165	0.719	0.797
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.309	0.026	0.083	3.340	1.828	1,232	1,077	0.258	0.361
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.317	0.037	0.118	1.701	1.304	304	264	0.242	0.392
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.013	0.002	0.176	1.465	1.210	4,038	3,526	0.009	0.018
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.060	0.00	0.155	5.480	2.341	4,038	3,526	0.042	0.079
			MC	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.442	0.028	0.064	1.143	1.069	391	355	0.386	0.499
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.911	0.023	0.025	2.254	1.501	391	355	0.866	0.957
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.631	0.047	0.075	3.396	1.843	391	355	0.536	0.726
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.797	0.036	0.046	2.905	1.704	391	355	0.724	0.870
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.487	0.022	0.045	2.839	1.685	1,593	1,445	0.443	0.532
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.546	0.045	0.083	6.345	2.519	847	769	0.456	0.637
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.065	0.015	0.237	1.535	1.239	437	397	0.034	0.095
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.217	0.020	0.091	1.758	1.326	847	769	0.177	0.256
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.200	0.012	0.059	1.790	1.338	2,235	2,033	0.176	0.224
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.033	0.006	0.175	2.290	1.513	2,385	2,168	0.022	0.045
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.447	0.021	0.047	3.804	1.950	2,385	2,168	0.405	0.489

 Table SE.10: Sampling errors: Rakhine State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəb)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.416	0.025	0.061	2.326	1.525	1,071	883	0.366	0.467
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.374	0.025	0.068	2.561	1.600	1,136	935	0.323	0.424
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.325	0.033	0.100	4.156	2.039	1,043	858	0.259	0.390
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.013	0.013	0.949	0.933	0.966	94	78	0.000	0.038
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.076	0.010	0.127	1.239	1.113	1,137	936	0.057	0.095
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.447	0.063	0.141	1.144	1.070	86	72	0.321	0.573
Support for learning	CD.1	0.335	0.023	0.070	2.307	1.519	1,137	936	0.288	0.382
Birth registration	CP.1	0.592	0.036	0.060	4.883	2.210	1,137	936	0.520	0.663
An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer the	han 50 unweig	hted cases								

 Table SE.10: Sampling errors: Rakhine State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	:		Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SNOH	SEHOLDS						
			ноизено	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.814	0.025	0.031	5.787	2.406	5,882	1,403	0.764	0.864
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.683	0.051	0.074	16.619	4.077	5,882	1,403	0.582	0.785
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.600	0.043	0.072	11.007	3.318	5,882	1,403	0.513	0.687
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.221	0.061	0.276	7.486	2.736	328	347	0.099	0.343
School readiness	ED.1	0.713	0.048	0.067	0.822	0.907	57	74	0.616	0.809
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.776	0.044	0.057	9.822	3.134	712	873	0.688	0.865
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.426	0.050	0.116	9.086	3.014	712	206	0.327	0.526
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.361	0.039	0.107	1.062	1.030	131	166	0.284	0.438
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.034	0.007	0.200	4.234	2.058	2,480	3,002	0.020	0.048
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.080	0.013	0.164	7.003	2.646	24,80	3,002	0.054	0.106
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.725	0.035	0.048	2.264	1.505	315	371	0.655	0.794
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.595	0.065	0.110	6.528	2.555	315	371	0.464	0.725
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.428	0.071	0.167	7.710	2.777	315	371	0.285	0.571
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.539	0.082	0.152	9.952	3.155	315	371	0.375	0.703
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.390	0.032	0.083	5.711	2.390	1,018	1,287	0.325	0.455
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.636	0.050	0.079	7.368	2.714	551	676	0.535	0.736
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.137	0.037	0.273	3.979	1.995	281	337	0.062	0.212
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.232	0.026	0.114	2.646	1.627	551	676	0.179	0.285
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.403	0.025	0.062	3.903	1.975	866	1,484	0.353	0.454
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.116	0.014	0.120	3.700	1.923	1,498	1,957	0.088	0.144
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.390	0.032	0.082	8.349	2.889	1,498	1,957	0.327	0.454

 Table SE.11: Sampling errors: Shan (North) State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (*deff*), square root of design effects (*deft*) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffeft)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.311	0.047	0.150	8.045	2.836	735	797	0.218	0.404
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.241	0.042	0.175	8.409	2.900	815	871	0.157	0.325
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.204	0.035	0.172	6.252	2.500	776	826	0.134	0.274
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.129	0.039	0.300	0.837	0.915	59	64	0.052	0.206
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.061	0.014	0.233	3.141	1.772	835	890	0.033	060.0
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	*	*	*	*	*	51	48	*	*
Support for learning	CD.1	0.370	0.035	0.096	4.803	2.192	835	890	0.299	0.441
Birth registration	CP.1	0.523	0.067	0.128	15.907	3.988	835	890	0.390	0.657

 Table SE.11: Sampling errors: Shan (North) State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer than 50 unweighted cases

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	ce limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	066.0	0.004	0.004	2.240	1.497	1,860	1,200	0.981	0.998
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.921	0.023	0.025	8.889	2.981	1,860	1,200	0.874	0.967
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.395	0.040	0.100	7.872	2.806	1,860	1,200	0.316	0.475
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.224	0.051	0.229	2.991	1.729	75	198	0.121	0.326
School readiness	ED.1	*	*	*	*	*	11	30	*	*
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.856	0.035	0.041	5.448	2.334	194	543	0.786	0.927
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.491	0.042	0.085	3.573	1.890	183	512	0.408	0.575
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.511	0.039	0.076	0.573	0.757	34	95	0.433	0.589
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.061	0.006	0.105	1.285	1.134	640	1,791	0.048	0.074
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.075	0.00	0.115	1.927	1.388	640	1,791	0.058	0.093
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.725	0.049	0.068	2.629	1.621	75	217	0.627	0.824
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.940	0.013	0.013	0.614	0.784	75	217	0.915	0.965
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.940	0.017	0.018	1.126	1.061	75	217	0.906	0.974
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.958	0.017	0.018	1.603	1.266	75	217	0.924	0.993
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.511	0.034	0.066	4.712	2.171	357	1,029	0.444	0.579
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.651	0.035	0.053	1.949	1.396	128	371	0.581	0.720
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.223	0.040	0.180	1.884	1.373	71	204	0.143	0.303
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.189	0.017	0.091	0.711	0.843	128	371	0.155	0.224
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.442	0.021	0.046	1.894	1.376	382	1,107	0.401	0.483
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.289	0.031	0.107	6.137	2.477	456	1,318	0.227	0.351
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.564	0.034	0.060	6.155	2.481	456	1,318	0.497	0.632

 Table SE.12: Sampling errors: Shan (East) State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	te limits
-	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəp)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.195	0.025	0.128	1.965	1.402	186	491	0.145	0.246
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.155	0.024	0.154	2.283	1.511	199	526	0.107	0.203
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.541	0.046	0.085	4.098	2.024	181	478	0.449	0.634
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.233	0.049	0.209	0.663	0.814	19	51	0.135	0.330
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.028	0.00	0.332	1.668	1.291	200	529	0.009	0.046
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	*	*	*	*	*	9	15	*	*
Support for learning	CD.1	0.763	0.015	0.020	0.685	0.827	200	529	0.732	0.794
Birth registration	CP.1	0.954	0.00	0.010	1.033	1.016	200	529	0.936	0.973

 Table SE.12: Sampling errors: Shan (East) State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer than 50 unweighted cases

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəb)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	EHOLDS						
			ноизено	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.890	0.036	0.041	18.068	4.251	6,215	1,350	0.817	0.962
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.856	0.036	0.042	14.274	3.778	6,215	1,350	0.784	0.928
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.631	0.034	0.053	6.513	2.552	6,215	1,350	0.564	0.698
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.350	0.044	0.124	2.475	1.573	325	299	0.263	0.437
School readiness	ED.1	*	*	*	*	*	48	47	*	*
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.935	0.009	0.010	0.865	0:930	674	629	0.917	0.953
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.627	0.023	0.036	1.431	1.196	673	658	0.582	0.672
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.593	0.048	0.081	1.071	1.035	115	113	0.497	0.689
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.027	0.006	0.227	3.324	1.823	2,344	2,293	0.015	0.040
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.050	0.010	0.199	4.774	2.185	2,344	2,293	0.030	0.070
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.893	0.038	0.043	4.868	2.206	314	317	0.816	0.970
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.962	0.021	0.022	3.854	1.963	314	317	0.920	1.000
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.760	0.047	0.062	3.801	1.950	314	317	0.666	0.854
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.940	0.015	0.016	1.260	1.123	314	317	0.910	0.970
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.458	0:030	0.066	4.364	2.089	1,166	1,177	0.397	0.519
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.859	0.020	0.023	1.777	1.333	541	546	0.819	0.899
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.112	0.032	0.286	2.563	1.601	249	251	0.048	0.175
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.341	0.038	0.112	3.509	1.873	541	546	0.265	0.417
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.399	0.025	0.063	4.113	2.028	1,566	1,580	0.349	0.449
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.182	0.021	0.115	5.076	2.253	1,701	1,717	0.140	0.224
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.604	0.037	0.062	9.959	3.156	1,701	1,717	0.529	0.679

 Table SE.13: Sampling errors: Shan (South) State

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010
			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəp)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.208	0.021	0.102	1.822	1.350	729	672	0.166	0.251
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.177	0.020	0.114	2.086	1.444	816	752	0.137	0.217
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.507	0.036	0.071	3.493	1.869	736	678	0.435	0.579
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.278	0.050	0.179	0.959	0.979	86	79	0.179	0.378
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.059	0.012	0.209	2.085	1.444	822	757	0.035	0.084
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	*	*	*	*	*	49	45	*	*
Support for learning	CD.1	0.593	0.024	0.040	1.795	1.340	822	757	0.545	0.641
Birth registration	CP.1	0.792	0.043	0.055	8.680	2.946	822	757	0.705	0.879
		-								

 Table SE.13: Sampling errors: Shan (South) State (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer than 50 unweighted cases

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	l Inweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.794	0.026	0.033	12.429	3.526	1,1306	2,910	0.741	0.847
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.831	0.013	0.016	3.745	1.935	1,1306	2,910	0.804	0.858
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.187	0.015	0.080	4.256	2.063	1,1306	2,910	0.157	0.217
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.162	0.024	0.146	2.022	1.422	467	494	0.114	0.209
School readiness	ED.1	0.473	0.039	0.081	0.560	0.749	85	95	0.396	0.550
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.898	0.009	0.010	1.141	1.068	1,060	1,191	0.880	0.917
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.547	0.019	0.035	1.976	1.406	1,197	1,345	0.509	0.585
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.509	0.032	0.063	0.908	0.953	196	220	0.445	0.573
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.046	0.005	0.103	2.272	1.507	3,930	4,416	0.037	0.056
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.059	0.005	0.077	1.646	1.283	3,930	4,416	0.050	0.068
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.733	0.020	0.027	1.270	1.127	565	649	0.694	0.772
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.911	0.012	0.013	1.108	1.053	565	649	0.887	0.934
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.540	0.036	0.066	3.358	1.832	565	649	0.468	0.612
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.735	0.029	0.039	2.785	1.669	565	649	0.677	0.793
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.477	0.014	0.029	1.738	1.318	2,018	2,320	0.450	0.505
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.910	0.011	0.012	1.491	1.221	913	1,050	0.888	0.931
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.109	0.015	0.136	1.210	1.100	465	535	0.079	0.138
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.286	0.016	0.056	1.340	1.158	913	1,050	0.254	0.319
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.310	0.013	0.042	2.722	1.650	2,993	3,442	0.284	0.336
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.099	0.008	0.076	2.235	1.495	3,075	3,536	0.084	0.114
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.657	0.013	0.019	2.509	1.584	3,075	3,536	0.631	0.682

 Table SE.14: Sampling errors: Ayeyarwaddy Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confiden	ce limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəp)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.333	0.014	0.042	1.187	1.089	1,272	1,345	0.305	0.361
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.265	0.014	0.052	1.374	1.172	1,319	1,395	0.238	0.293
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.627	0.020	0.033	2.245	1.498	1,190	1,258	0.586	0.668
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.250	0.036	0.144	0.963	0.981	132	140	0.178	0.322
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.094	0.008	0.083	1.007	1.003	1,322	1,398	0.078	0.109
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.466	0.036	0.077	0.673	0.821	124	131	0.394	0.538
Support for learning	CD.1	0.592	0.017	0.029	1.696	1.302	1,322	1,398	0.558	0.626
Birth registration	CP.1	0.698	0.028	0.040	5.239	2.289	1,322	1,398	0.642	0.755

 Table SE.14: Sampling errors: Ayeyarwaddy Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	l Inweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.835	0.027	0.032	8.371	2.893	9,054	1,590	0.781	0.888
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.798	0.028	0.035	7.764	2.786	9,054	1,590	0.742	0.854
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.524	0.020	0.037	2.456	1.567	9,054	1,590	0.485	0.563
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.195	0.021	0.110	0.925	0.962	389	318	0.152	0.237
School readiness	ED.1	0.289	0.053	0.184	0.935	0.967	79	69	0.183	0.395
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.911	0.013	0.014	1.650	1.284	953	831	0.886	0.936
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.590	0.028	0.047	3.268	1.808	1,186	1,035	0.535	0.646
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.440	0.037	0.084	0.970	0.985	203	177	0.366	0.514
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.060	0.008	0.135	3.550	1.884	3,464	3,021	0.044	0.077
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.080	0.00	0.112	3.317	1.821	3,464	3,021	0.062	0.098
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.634	0.035	0.054	1.752	1.324	401	342	0.565	0.703
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.915	0.017	0.019	1.292	1.137	401	342	0.881	0.949
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.590	0.038	0.064	2.040	1.428	401	342	0.514	0.666
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.737	0.034	0.046	2.023	1.422	401	342	0.669	0.804
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.460	0.018	0.040	1.678	1.295	1,476	1,258	0.424	0.497
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.920	0.016	0.017	2.222	1.491	792	675	0.889	0.951
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.051	0.00	0.187	0.701	0.837	440	375	0.032	0.070
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.305	0.028	0.091	2.463	1.569	792	675	0.249	0.361
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.268	0.014	0.053	2.099	1.449	2,421	2,064	0.240	0.296
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.138	0.011	0.076	1.954	1.398	2,470	2,106	0.117	0.159
Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.787	0.014	0.017	2.302	1.517	2,470	2,106	0.760	0.814

 Table SE.15: Sampling errors: Bago (East) Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	te limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəp)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.307	0.019	0.061	1.299	1.140	696	792	0.270	0.345
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.236	0.017	0.071	1.254	1.120	994	812	0.202	0.269
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.706	0.038	0.054	5.178	2.275	892	729	0.629	0.783
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.216	0.035	0.162	0.631	0.795	108	88	0.146	0.286
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.107	0.012	0.117	1.326	1.151	1,000	817	0.082	0.131
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.482	0.035	0.073	0.431	0.656	107	87	0.412	0.553
Support for learning	CD.1	0.432	0.019	0.044	1.224	1.106	1,000	817	0.393	0.470
Birth registration	CP.1	0.543	0.041	0.075	5.425	2.329	1,000	817	0.462	0.624

 Table SE.15: Sampling errors: Bago (East) Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	SEHOLDS						
			ноизено	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.912	0.029	0.031	14.719	3.836	6,432	1,440	0.854	0.969
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.884	0.015	0.017	3.342	1.828	6,432	1,440	0.853	0.915
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.092	0.011	0.121	2.137	1.462	6,432	1,440	0.069	0.114
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.247	0.031	0.126	0.755	0.869	168	146	0.185	0.309
School readiness	ED.1	*	*	*	*	*	50	46	*	×
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.877	0.024	0.027	2.502	1.582	519	478	0.829	0.924
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.549	0.033	0.061	2.762	1.662	664	612	0.482	0.616
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.505	0.057	0.113	1.282	1.132	107	0.66	0.390	0.619
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.046	0.008	0.172	2.401	1.550	1,827	1,684	0:030	0.062
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.060	0.008	0.137	2.008	1.417	1,827	1,684	0.044	0.076
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.756	0.030	0.039	0.809	0.899	180	172	0.697	0.815
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.983	0.010	0.010	0.996	0.998	180	172	0.963	1.000
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.808	0.030	0.037	1.011	1.006	180	172	0.748	0.869
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.895	0.027	0.030	1.331	1.154	180	172	0.841	0.949
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.519	0.014	0.028	0.843	0.918	1,052	1,003	0.490	0.548
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.945	0.013	0.014	1.570	1.253	476	454	0.918	0.972
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.080	0.020	0.250	1.210	1.100	236	225	0.040	0.120
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.366	0.018	0.050	0.646	0.804	476	454	0.330	0.402
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.419	0.025	0.059	4.111	2.028	1,693	1,613	0.369	0.469
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.144	0.014	0.099	2.651	1.628	1,697	1,617	0.116	0.173
Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.796	0.016	0.020	2.419	1.555	1,697	1,617	0.765	0.828

 Table SE.16: Sampling errors: Bago (West) Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confiden	ce limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffap)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.326	0.019	0.059	0.653	0.808	445	386	0.288	0.365
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.224	0.019	0.084	0.815	0.903	458	398	0.186	0.261
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.725	0.045	0.061	3.564	1.888	415	360	0.636	0.814
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	*	*	*	*	*	46	40	*	*
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.053	0.008	0.161	0.570	0.755	461	400	0.036	0.069
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	*	*	*	*	*	24	21	×	*
Support for learning	CD.1	0.743	0.020	0.027	0.839	0.916	461	400	0.702	0.783
Birth registration	CP.1	0.800	0.023	0.028	1.278	1.130	461	400	0.755	0.845

 Table SE.16: Sampling errors: Bago (West) Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer than 50 unweighted cases

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	IInweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	SEHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.793	0.037	0.047	18.008	4.244	12,619	2,160	0.719	0.867
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.842	0.014	0.017	3.245	1.801	12,619	2,160	0.813	0.870
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.436	0.033	0.076	9.750	3.123	12,619	2,160	0.369	0.503
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.167	0.024	0.146	1.422	1.192	444	336	0.118	0.215
School readiness	ED.1	0.229	0.022	0.098	0.268	0.518	120	96	0.184	0.274
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.935	0.00	0.009	1.146	1.071	1,183	950	0.918	0.952
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.558	0.019	0.034	1.606	1.267	1,389	1,116	0.520	0.595
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.564	0.038	0.068	1.214	1.102	254	204	0.487	0.641
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.037	0.005	0.136	2.343	1.531	4,087	3,284	0.027	0.047
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.074	0.007	0.096	2.406	1.551	4,087	3,284	0.060	0.088
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.837	0.024	0.028	1.515	1.231	448	368	0.790	0.884
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.937	0.016	0.017	1.616	1.271	448	368	0.905	0.970
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.648	0.036	0.055	2.070	1.439	448	368	0.576	0.719
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.802	0.031	0.039	2.262	1.504	448	368	0.740	0.865
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.380	0.020	0.052	2.651	1.628	1,944	1,596	0.341	0.420
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.933	0.010	0.011	1.529	1.236	1,057	868	0.912	0.954
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.089	0.020	0.218	1.931	1.389	504	414	0.050	0.128
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.350	0.020	0.058	1.564	1.251	1,057	868	0.310	0.391
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.327	0.017	0.052	3.669	1.916	3,423	2,810	0.293	0.361
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.088	0.007	0.079	1.692	1.301	3,446	2,829	0.074	0.102
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.753	0.014	0.019	2.981	1.727	3,446	2,829	0.725	0.781

 Table SE.17: Sampling errors: Magwe Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Ctandard Drebueto	Coefficient	Dacian affact	Square root	Waiahtad	l Inwaiahtad	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UNI	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.333	0.016	0.047	0.920	0.959	1,112	841	0.302	0.364
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.269	0.012	0.046	0.666	0.816	1,137	860	0.244	0.293
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.812	0.022	0.028	2.563	1.601	1,028	778	0.767	0.857
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.349	0.035	0.099	0.430	0.656	110	83	0.280	0.418
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.043	0.008	0.178	1.223	1.106	1,138	861	0.028	0.058
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	*	*	*	*	*	49	37	*	*
Support for learning	CD.1	0.494	0.023	0.046	1.791	1.338	1,138	861	0.448	0.539
Birth registration	CP.1	0.569	0.037	0.065	4.767	2.183	1,138	861	0.495	0.642

 Table SE.17: Sampling errors: Magwe Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer than 50 unweighted cases

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	l Inweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffeff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.819	0.027	0.033	14.180	3.766	20,833	2,938	0.766	0.873
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.911	0.013	0.014	5.820	2.413	20,833	2,938	0.886	0.937
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.237	0.014	0.061	3.390	1.841	20,833	2,938	0.208	0.265
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.269	0.029	0.108	1.834	1.354	656	427	0.211	0.327
School readiness	ED.1	0.510	0.044	0.086	1.078	1.038	204	141	0.423	0.598
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.917	0.010	0.011	1.613	1.270	1,875	1,296	0.898	0.937
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.593	0.019	0.032	2.264	1.505	2,153	1,488	0.554	0.631
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.584	0.036	0.062	1.359	1.166	369	255	0.512	0.656
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.055	0.005	0.085	1.833	1.354	6,397	4,422	0.045	0.064
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.068	0.005	0.076	1.860	1.364	6,397	4,422	0.058	0.078
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.725	0.027	0.037	1.660	1.288	678	464	0.672	0.779
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.909	0.017	0.019	1.591	1.261	678	464	0.876	0.943
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.729	0.032	0.044	2.413	1.554	678	464	0.665	0.793
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.822	0.027	0.033	2.272	1.507	678	464	0.769	0.876
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.457	0.015	0.032	1.878	1.370	3,098	2,121	0.428	0.487
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.884	0.011	0.013	1.546	1.243	1,807	1,237	0.861	0.906
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.062	0.00	0.151	0.898	0.947	875	599	0.043	0.081
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.214	0.015	0.069	1.584	1.258	1,807	1,237	0.184	0.243
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.268	0.012	0.046	2.984	1.728	5,600	3,837	0.243	0.293
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.141	0.008	0.059	2.297	1.515	5,791	3,967	0.124	0.158
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.639	0.00	0.015	1.490	1.221	5,791	3,967	0.621	0.658

 Table SE.18: Sampling errors: Mandalay Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	ot variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	ot design et- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.246	0.016	0.065	1.402	1.184	1,588	1,034	0.214	0.277
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.207	0.014	0.067	1.254	1.120	1,670	1,087	0.179	0.235
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.439	0.018	0.041	1.273	1.128	1,527	994	0.403	0.474
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.305	0.040	0.130	0.870	0.933	181	118	0.226	0.385
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.055	0.007	0.120	0.936	0.968	1,708	1,112	0.042	0.068
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.410	0.055	0.135	0.764	0.874	94	61	0.299	0.521
Support for learning	CD.1	0.530	0.018	0.034	1.490	1.220	1,708	1,112	0.494	0.567
Birth registration	CP.1	0.701	0.025	0.035	3.202	1.789	1,708	1,112	0.652	0.750

 Table SE.18: Sampling errors: Mandalay Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	IInweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (se)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	EHOLDS						
			ноизено	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.866	0.031	0.036	20.294	4.505	16,346	2,400	0.803	0.929
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.909	0.014	0.016	5.822	2.413	16,346	2,400	0.881	0.937
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.218	0.014	0.062	2.593	1.610	16,346	2,400	0.190	0.245
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.139	0.026	0.186	2.093	1.447	547	377	0.087	0.191
School readiness	ED.1	0.302	0.039	0.130	0.982	0.991	183	135	0.223	0.380
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.942	0.012	0.012	2.724	1.651	1,480	1,088	0.918	0.965
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.639	0.020	0.031	2.292	1.514	1,827	1,341	0.599	0.679
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.605	0.039	0.064	1.420	1.192	310	228	0.527	0.682
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.045	0.004	0.098	1.703	1.305	5,215	3,830	0.036	0.053
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.073	0.008	0.107	3.478	1.865	5,215	3,830	0.057	0.089
			W	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.811	0.020	0.025	1.023	1.011	530	386	0.771	0.851
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.935	0.011	0.012	0.823	0.907	530	386	0.913	0.958
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.767	0:030	0.039	1.927	1.388	533	388	0.707	0.827
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.867	0.020	0.023	1.325	1.151	533	388	0.828	0.907
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.407	0.015	0.037	1.612	1.270	2,378	1,733	0.377	0.437
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.961	0.009	0.009	2.146	1.465	1,510	1,098	0.943	0.978
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.047	0.008	0.165	0.709	0.842	734	534	0.031	0.062
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.346	0.022	0.063	2.298	1.516	1,510	1,098	0.302	0.389
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.298	0.019	0.062	4.986	2.233	4,180	3,045	0.261	0.335
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.094	0.009	0.091	2.815	1.678	4,530	3,298	0.077	0.111
Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.643	0.012	0.019	2.184	1.478	4,530	3,298	0.618	0.667

 Table SE.19: Sampling errors: Sagaing Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (<i>r</i>)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.285	0.017	0.059	1.237	1.112	1,309	903	0.251	0.318
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.225	0.018	0.078	1.670	1.292	1,360	938	0.189	0.260
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.616	0.025	0.041	2.235	1.495	1,224	844	0.566	0.666
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.289	0.040	0.140	0.762	0.873	141	97	0.208	0.370
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.025	0.005	0.190	0.880	0.938	1,364	941	0.016	0.035
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	*	*	*	*	*	35	24	*	*
Support for learning	CD.1	0.535	0.024	0.045	2.153	1.467	1,364	941	0.487	0.583
Birth registration	CP.1	0.542	0.025	0.046	2.321	1.524	1,364	941	0.492	0.591

 Table SE.19: Sampling errors: Sagaing Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer than 50 unweighted cases

		-	Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	of design ef- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			HOUS	EHOLDS						
			HOUSEHOI	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.727	0:030	0.042	6.037	2.457	3,706	1,290	0.666	0.788
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.844	0.031	0.037	9.623	3.102	3,706	1,290	0.781	0.906
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.262	0.019	0.071	2.341	1.530	3,706	1,290	0.225	0.300
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.137	0.024	0.173	1.136	1.066	146	239	0.089	0.184
School readiness	ED.1	*	*	*	*	*	27	47	*	*
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.980	0.008	0.008	2.227	1.492	428	743	0.964	0.995
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.667	0:030	0.045	3.636	1.907	517	868	0.607	0.727
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.723	0.045	0.062	1.560	1.249	06	156	0.633	0.813
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	0.122	0.00	0.077	2.075	1.441	1,446	2,512	0.103	0.141
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.078	0.008	0.099	2.054	1.433	1,446	2,512	0.062	0.093
			MO	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.677	0.035	0.052	1.219	1.104	123	217	0.607	0.747
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.973	0.012	0.013	1.232	1.110	123	217	0.948	0.997
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.921	0.020	0.022	1.219	1.104	123	217	0.881	0.962
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.963	0.014	0.014	1.166	1.080	123	217	0.935	0.991
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.384	0.020	0.053	1.557	1.248	500	881	0.343	0.425
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.959	0.010	0.010	1.401	1.184	343	605	0.939	0.978
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.050	0.015	0.301	1.614	1.270	195	343	0.020	0.079
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.290	0.019	0.065	1.044	1.022	343	605	0.253	0.328
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.433	0.017	0.038	1.840	1.356	924	1,629	0.400	0.467
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.160	0.010	0.065	1.293	1.137	928	1,637	0.139	0.180
Knowledge of mother- to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.689	0.012	0.018	1.133	1.064	928	1,637	0.664	0.713

 Table SE.20: Sampling errors: Tanintharyi Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

			Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(ffəp)	of design ef- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			NN	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.267	0.025	0.094	1.847	1.359	353	576	0.216	0.317
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.206	0.020	0.097	1.424	1.193	358	584	0.166	0.246
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.624	0.039	0.062	3.342	1.828	324	529	0.547	0.701
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.136	0.037	0.269	0.659	0.812	36	59	0.063	0.209
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.088	0.011	0.127	0.920	0.959	360	588	0.066	0.111
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.749	0.044	0.059	0.535	0.731	32	52	0.660	0.838
Support for learning	CD.1	0.697	0.020	0.028	1.086	1.042	360	588	0.658	0.737
Birth registration	CP.1	0.901	0.025	0.027	4.013	2.003	360	588	0.851	0.950

 Table SE.20: Sampling errors: Tanintharyi Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

An asterisk (*) indicates that the estimate is based on fewer than 50 unweighted cases

	-		Standard	Coefficient	Design effect	Square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidenc	e limits
	Table	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	ot design et- fect (<i>def</i> t)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			SUOH	SEHOLDS						
			ноизено	LD MEMBERS						
Use of improved drinking water sources	EN.1	0.925	0.018	0.019	11.410	3.378	20,618	2,550	0.890	0.961
Access to improved sanitation facilities	EN.5	0.938	0.014	0.015	8.585	2.930	20,618	2,550	0.911	0.966
Household water treatment	EN.2	0.345	0.016	0.047	2.978	1.726	20,618	2,550	0.313	0.378
Pre-school attendance	ED.1	0.340	0.024	0.071	1.537	1.240	1,066	597	0.292	0.388
School readiness	ED.1	0.378	0.050	0.131	0.932	0.965	151	06	0.278	0.477
Net primary school attendance rate	ED.3	0.923	0.012	0.013	2.286	1.512	1,869	1,112	0.898	0.947
Net secondary school attendance rate	ED.4	0.747	0.020	0.027	2.300	1.517	1,859	1,106	0.708	0.787
Primary completion rate	ED.6	0.701	0.035	0.051	1.321	1.149	372	221	0.630	0.772
Children not living with a biological parent	CP.3	.045	0.004	0.086	1.447	1.203	7,102	4,225	0.037	0.052
Prevalence of orphans	CP.3	0.055	0.005	0.086	1.825	1.351	7,102	4,225	0.045	0.064
			M	DMEN						
Percentage who started breastfeeding within one hour of birth	NU.2	0.781	0.018	0.023	1.225	1.107	1,105	677	0.746	0.817
Neonatal tetanus protection	CH.3	0.962	0.00	0.009	1.444	1.202	1,105	677	0.944	0.979
Skilled attendant at delivery	RH.4	0.877	0.018	0.020	1.986	1.409	1,105	677	0.842	0.913
Antenatal care	RH.2	0.947	0.013	0.014	2.327	1.526	1,105	677	0.920	0.973
Contraceptive prevalence	RH.1	0.587	0.011	0.019	1.152	1.073	3,758	2,303	0.565	0.609
Young female literacy	ED.8	0.956	0.010	0.011	2.502	1.582	1,696	1,040	0.936	0.976
Young women 15-19 years currently married	CP.2	0.063	0.013	0.204	1.413	1.189	835	512	0.037	0.088
Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	HA.3	0.472	0.020	0.043	1.749	1.323	1,696	1,040	0.431	0.513
Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	HA.5	0.477	0.011	0.023	1.712	1.308	5,930	3,635	0.455	0.499
Women who have been tested for HIV	HA.6	0.420	0.014	0.032	2.765	1.663	5,967	3,658	0.393	0.447
Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	HA.4	0.667	0.013	0.019	2.603	1.613	5,967	3,658	0.641	0.692

 Table SE.21: Sampling errors: Yangon Division

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deff) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

17	4

				Confficient					Confidence Confidence	i anti anti
	-		Standard	Coemcient	Design effect	square root	Weighted	Unweighted	Confidence	i limits
	lable	Value (r)	error (<i>se</i>)	of variation (<i>se/r</i>)	(deff)	ot design et- fect (<i>deft</i>)	count	count	r - 2se	r + 2se
			UND	DER-5s						
Underweight prevalence (NCHS standard)	NU.1A	0.246	0.013	0.052	1.349	1.162	2,762	1,546	0.220	0.271
Underweight prevalence (WHO standard)	NU.1	0.201	0.010	0.050	0.995	0.997	2,830	1,584	0.181	0.221
Children's vitamin A supplement	NU.5	0.447	0.016	0.036	1.535	1.239	2,546	1,425	0.415	0.480
Exclusive breastfeeding up to six months	NU.3	0.186	0.019	0.101	0.384	0.620	298	167	0.148	0.223
Diarrhoea in last two weeks	CH.4	0.067	0.007	0.109	1.341	1.158	2,844	1,592	0.052	0.081
Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	CH.5	0.566	0.050	0.088	1.061	1.030	189	106	0.466	0.666
Support for learning	CD.1	0.791	0.012	0.015	1.419	1.191	2,844	1,592	0.767	0.816
Birth registration	CP.1	0.952	0.00	0.009	2.557	1.599	2,844	1,592	0.935	0.969

 Table SE.21: Sampling errors: Yangon Division (continued)

 Standard errors, coefficients of variation, design effects (deff), square root of design effects (deft) and confidence intervals for selected indicators, Myanmar, 2009-2010

Appendix D. Data Quality Tables

Table DQ.1: Age distribution of household populationSingle-year age distribution of household population by sex (weighted), Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Ma	les	Fema	ales		Mal	es	Fema	ales
	Number	Per cent	Number	Per cent		Number	Per cent	Number	Per cent
0	1,636	2.5	1,580	2.1	41	812	1.2	1,054	1.4
1	1,540	2.3	1,441	1.9	42	893	1.3	1,052	1.4
2	1,483	2.2	1,414	1.9	43	805	1.2	936	1.3
3	1,512	2.3	1,445	1.9	44	668	1.0	824	1.1
4	1,351	2.0	1,231	1.7	45	952	1.4	996	1.3
5	1,433	2.1	1,412	1.9	46	700	1.0	849	1.1
6	1,545	2.3	1,468	2.0	47	713	1.1	733	1.0
7	1,476	2.2	1,395	1.9	48	659	1.0	815	1.1
8	1,395	2.1	1,421	1.9	49	627	0.9	391	0.5
9	1,400	2.1	1,379	1.8	50	857	1.3	1,222	1.6
10	1,466	2.2	1,433	1.9	51	586	0.9	793	1.1
11	1,294	1.9	1,321	1.8	52	627	0.9	749	1.0
12	1,334	2.0	1,313	1.8	53	614	0.9	737	1.0
13	1,392	2.1	1,371	1.8	54	525	0.8	656	0.9
14	1,213	1.8	1,417	1.9	55	607	0.9	751	1.0
15	1,246	1.9	1,161	1.6	56	524	0.8	642	0.9
16	1,259	1.9	1,339	1.8	57	435	0.7	508	0.7
17	1,161	1.7	1,377	1.8	58	474	0.7	557	0.7
18	1,062	1.6	1,243	1.7	59	339	0.5	416	0.6
19	1,039	1.6	1,227	1.6	60	572	0.9	689	0.9
20	1,143	1.7	1,270	1.7	61	329	0.5	381	0.5
21	962	1.4	1,179	1.6	62	363	0.5	436	0.6
22	1,069	1.6	1,253	1.7	63	324	0.5	445	0.6
23	1,062	1.6	1,338	1.8	64	285	0.4	338	0.5
24	952	1.4	1,259	1.7	65	405	0.6	480	0.6
25	1,156	1.7	1,352	1.8	66	200	0.3	308	0.4
26	1,019	1.5	1,336	1.8	67	269	0.4	348	0.5
27	1,094	1.6	1,189	1.6	68	214	0.3	277	0.4
28	1,078	1.6	1,319	1.8	69	141	0.2	192	0.3
29	912	1.4	1,208	1.6	70	340	0.5	396	0.5
30	1,248	1.9	1,432	1.9	71	201	0.3	253	0.3
31	984	1.5	1,165	1.6	72	177	0.3	255	0.3
32	1,073	1.6	1,109	1.5	73	176	0.3	217	0.3
33	977	1.5	1,141	1.5	74	151	0.2	204	0.3
34	923	1.4	1,103	1.5	75	204	0.3	302	0.4
35	1,180	1.8	1,274	1.7	76	119	0.2	194	0.3
36	991	1.5	1,128	1.5	77	109	0.2	162	0.2
37	900	1.3	1,053	1.4	78	123	0.2	186	0.2
38	1,093	1.6	1,153	1.5	79	68	0.1	98	0.1
39	859	1.3	1,108	1.5	80+	493	0.7	798	1.1
40	1,113	1.7	1,148	1.5	DK/ Missing	8	0.0	12	0.0
					Total	66,712	100.0	74,557	100.0

Table DQ.2: Age distribution of eligible and interviewed women

Household population of women age 10-54, interviewed women age 15-49, and percentage of eligible women who were interviewed (weighted), by five-year age group, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Household population of women age 10-54	Interviewed wor	men age 15-49	Percentage of eligible women
	Number	Number	Per cent	Interviewed
Age				
10-14	6,856	na	na	na
15-19	6,347	6,126	16.1	96.5
20-24	6,299	5,982	15.7	95.0
25-29	6,405	6,117	16.1	95.5
30-34	5,950	5,780	15.2	97.1
35-39	5,717	5,567	14.6	97.4
40-44	5,014	4,882	12.8	97.4
45-49	3,783	3,627	9.5	95.9
50-54	4,156	na	na	na
15-49	39,515	38,081	100.0	96.4

na: not applicable

Note: Weights for both household population of women and interviewed women are household weights. Age is based on the household schedule.

Table DQ.3: Age distribution of eligible and interviewed under-5s

Household population of children age 0-4, children whose mothers/caretakers were interviewed, and percentage of under-5 children whose mothers/caretakers were interviewed (weighted), by five-year age group, Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Household population of children age 0-7	Interviewed cl	nildren age 0-4	Percentage of eligible children
	Number	Number	Per cent	interviewed
Age				
0	3,216	3,213	22.0	99.9
1	2,981	2,976	20.4	99.8
2	2,897	2,892	19.8	99.8
3	2,957	2,949	20.2	99.7
4	2,581	2,578	17.6	99.9
5	2,845	na	na	na
6	3,012	na	na	na
7	2,871	na	na	na
0-4	14,632	14,607	100.0	99.8

na: not applicable

Note: Weights for both household population of children and interviewed children are household weights. Age is based on the household schedule.

	Ma	ales	Ferr	nales	To	tal
	Number	Per cent	Number	Per cent	Number	Per cent
Age in months						
0-2	358	4.5	329	4.4	687	4.4
3-5	427	5.4	432	5.7	859	5.5
6-8	433	5.4	387	5.1	820	5.3
9-11	459	5.8	464	6.1	923	5.9
12-14	454	5.7	436	5.8	890	5.7
15-17	417	5.2	399	5.3	815	5.2
18-20	395	5.0	367	4.9	762	4.9
21-23	384	4.8	355	4.7	740	4.8
24-26	379	4.7	365	4.8	744	4.8
27-29	361	4.5	414	5.5	776	5.0
30-32	389	4.9	366	4.8	755	4.9
33-35	430	5.4	359	4.7	789	5.1
36-38	423	5.3	397	5.3	820	5.3
39-41	402	5.0	409	5.4	812	5.2
42-44	406	5.1	405	5.4	810	5.2
45-47	367	4.6	322	4.3	689	4.4
48-50	393	4.9	354	4.7	747	4.8
51-53	348	4.4	319	4.2	666	4.3
54-56	375	4.7	342	4.5	717	4.6
57-59	379	4.7	338	4.5	717	4.6
Total	7,980	100.0	7,558	100.0	15,539	100.0

Table DQ.4: Age distribution of under-5 childrenAge distribution of under-5 children by 3-month groups (weighted), Myanmar, 2009-2010

	Ag	e and period ratio	s*	Eligibility boundary	
	Males	Females	Total	(lower-upper)	Module or questionnaire
Age in household ques	stionnaire				
1	0.99	0.97	0.98		
2	0.98	0.99	0.98		
3	1.04	1.06	1.05		
4	0.94	0.90	0.92	Upper	Under-5 questionnaire
5	0.99	1.03	1.01	Lower	Education
6	1.04	1.03	1.04		
8	0.98	1.02	1.00		
9	0.99	0.98	0.98		
10	1.06	1.04	1.05		
13	1.06	1.00	1.03		
14	0.94	1.08	1.01		
15	1.01	0.89	0.95	Lower	Women's questionnaire
16	1.03	1.04	1.03		
17	1.00	1.04	1.02	Upper	Orphaned and vulnerable children
18	1.07	1.07	1.07		
23	1.03	1.04	1.04		
24	0.90	0.96	0.93	Upper	Education
25	1.11	1.03	1.06		
48	0.99	1.26	1.12		
49	0.88	0.48	0.67	Upper	Women's questionnaire
50	1.24	1.52	1.39		
Age in women's quest	ionnaire				
23	na	1.04	na		
24	na	0.96	na		
25	na	1.02	na		
Months since last birt	h in women's qu	uestionnaire			
6-11	na	1.04	na		
12-17	na	1.03	na		
18-23	na	1.02	na	Upper	Tetanus toxoid and maternal and child
24-29	22	0.96	22		nearth
30-35	na	1 10	na		
30-35	na	1.10	na		

Table DQ.5: Heaping on ages and periodsAge and period ratios at boundaries of eligibility by type of information collected (weighted), Myanmar, 2009-2010

* Age or period ratios are calculated as x / ((xn-1 + xn + xn+1) / 3), where x is age or period. na: not applicable

Table DQ.6: Completeness of reporting

Percentage of observations missing information for selected questions and indicators (weighted), Myanmar, 2009-2010

Questionnaire and Subject	Reference group	Per cent with missing information*	Number of cases
Women			
Date of Birth	All women age 15-49		
Month only		1.4	38,081
Month and year missing		0.0	38,081
Under-5			
Date of Birth	All under-5 children surveyed		
Month only		0.0	15,539
Month and year missing		0.0	15,539
Anthropometry	All under-5 children surveyed		
Height		0.5	15,539
Weight		0.5	15,539
Height or Weight		0.5	15,539

* Includes "Don't know" responses

Table DQ.7: Presence of mother in the household and the person interviewed for the under-5 questionnaire

Distribution of children under five by whether the mother lives in the same household, and the person interviewed for the under-5 questionnaire (weighted), Myanmar, 2009-2010

		Mother in th	ie household		Mother	not in the ho	ousehold		
	Mother inter- viewed	Father inter- viewed	Other adult female inter- viewed	Other adult male inter- viewed	Father inter- viewed	Other adult female inter- viewed	Other adult male inter- viewed	Total	Number of chil- dren aged 0-4 years
Age									
0	99.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.0	100.0	3,216
1	97.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	2.1	0.0	100.0	2,981
2	96.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	3.0	0.1	100.0	2,897
3	96.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	3.4	0.1	100.0	2,957
4	96.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	3.6	0.0	100.0	2,581
Total	97.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	2.5	0.0	100.0	14,632

 Table DQ.8: School attendance by single age

 Distribution of household population age 5-24 by education level and grade attended in the current year (weighted), Myanmar 2009-2010

	Pre-		P	rimary scho	o				Secondar	y school			-non	-	Don't	Not at-	-	-
	school	Grade 1	Grade 2	Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5	Grade 6	Grade 7	Grade 8	Grade 9	Grade 10	Grade 11	stan- dard	Higher	know	tending school	Total	Number
Age																		
5	6.8	54.9	6.6	4.	O.	0.	O.	o.	O.	O.	O.	0.	o.	.2	O.	31.1	100.0	2,845
9	1.7	30.7	52.1	5.0	ω	O.	0.	0.	0.	O.	O.	O.	o.	1	O.	10.0	100.0	3,012
7	ω	8.8	40.6	39.5	4.4	۲.		.1	0.	O.	O.	O.	o.	4.	O.	5.2	100.0	2,871
8	Ļ	2.9	14.1	36.4	35.8	5.0	۲.		O.	O.	O.	O.	o.	¢.	Ō.	4.6	100.0	2,816
6	O.	1.2	5.1	16.4	32.0	36.9	3.0	7		Ō.	O.	1.	o.	<u>1</u> .	Ō.	4.8	100.0	2,778
10	O.	'n	2.8	6.7	15.5	30.1	30.8	4.1	ω	O.	O.	O.	o.	4.	O.	8.6	100.0	2,899
11	O.	2	1.4	3.0	7.1	14.7	28.0	31.7	2.9	Ż	O.	0.	o.	Ŀ.	O.	10.5	100.0	2,616
12	O.	2	'n	1.9	3.5	6.3	11.3	25.6	27.8	3.8	Ļ	O.	o.	¢.	o;	18.8	100.0	2,647
13	O.	.1	0.	9.	1.4	3.3	4.3	9.7	22.3	26.6	3.0	Ż	o.	0.	O.	28.5	100.0	2,763
14	O.	O.	0.	'n	'n	1.4	1.8	3.9	7.6	20.7	23.8	2.3	o.	0.	O.	37.6	100.0	2,630
15	0.	0.	0.	0.	Ŀ.	ω	6.	1.4	3.2	6.2	16.6	22.1	2	.2	0.	48.9	100.0	2,408
16	0.	0.	0.	0.	0.	ť.	.2	۲.	1.4	2.5	5.8	22.5	5.9	.2	0.	60.7	100.0	2,599
17	0.	0.	0.	0.	т.	0.	O.	¢.	ω	1.2	1.8	13.7	13.5	1	0.	69.1	100.0	2,538
18	O.	O.	O.	Ŀ.	O.	O.	o.	.1	Ż	ω	9.	9.9	16.0	.2	o;	76.1	100.0	2,305
19	0.	O.	0.	0.	Ō.	0.	.1	o.	<u>1</u> .	0.	ù	4.6	15.5	0.	0.	79.3	100.0	2,266
20	0.	0.	0.	0.	O.	0.	0.	o.	O.	Ŀ.	Ŀ	1.9	11.9	.2	0.	86.0	100.0	2,412
21	0.	0.	0.	0.	Ō.	0.	O.	o.	Ŀ	0.	Ŀ	۲.	7.1	<u>1</u> .	0.	92.0	100.0	2,141
22	0.	0.	0.	0.	0.	0.	0.	0.	O.	0.	Ŀ	'n	6.2	0.	0.	93.1	100.0	2,322
23	0.	0.	0.	Ĺ	0.	0.	.1	o.	Ō.	0.	0.	Ŀ	3.5	1	0.	96.1	100.0	2,400
24	0.	0.	0.	0.	0.	Ŀ	0.		0.	Ŀ	0.	Ŀ	1.9	0.	0.	97.9	100.0	2,211
Total	'n	5.6	7.0	6.1	5.5	5.3	4.3	4.0	3.4	3.2	2.6	3.6	3.7	.2	O.	44.9	100.0	51,478

	Chi	ildren Ever Bo	n	0	hildren Living	50	Chi	ldren deceas	ed	
	Number of sons ever born	Number of daughters ever born	Sex ratio	Number of sons living	Number of daughters living	Sex ratio	Number of deceased sons	Number of deceased daughters	Sex ratio	Number of women
Age										
15-19	125	96	1.29	122	95	1.28	3	1	1.91	5,984
20-24	1,338	1,175	1.14	1,274	1,129	1.13	64	45	1.40	5,988
25-29	3,269	3,103	1.05	3,098	2,974	1.04	171	129	1.33	6,179
30-34	5,070	4,988	1.02	4,739	4,756	1.00	332	232	1.43	5,787
35-39	6,587	6,297	1.05	6,135	5,916	1.04	452	380	1.19	5,579
40-44	6,992	6, 786	1.03	6,358	6,274	1.01	635	511	1.24	4,900
45-49	5,867	5,771	1.02	5,319	5,333	1.00	548	438	1.25	3,663
Total	29,248	28,215	1.04	27,044	26,478	1.02	2,204	1,737	1.27	38,081
Note: Sex ratios are calc	ulated as nun	nber of males,	/ number of fer	males						

 Table DQ.9: Sex ratio at birth among children ever born and living

 Sex ratio at birth among children ever born, children living, and deceased children, by age of women (weighted), Myanmar, 2009-2010

Appendix E. MICS Indicators: Numerators and Denominators

NDIC	DATOR	NUMERATOR	DENOMINATOR
-	l Under-five mortality rate	Probability of dying by exact age 5 years	
(1	2 Infant mortality rate	Probability of dying by exact age 1 year	
7	t Skilled attendant at delivery	Number of women aged 15-49 years with a birth in the 2 years preceding the survey that were attended during childbirth by skilled health personnel	Total number of women surveyed aged 15-49 years with a birth in the 2 years preceding the survey
Ţ	5 Institutional deliveries	Number of women aged 15-49 years with a birth in the 2 years preceding the survey that delivered in a health facility	Total number of women surveyed aged 15-49 years with a birth in 2 years preceding the survey
ÿ	5 Underweight prevalence	Number of children under age five that fall below minus two standard deviations from the median weight for age of the NCHS/WHO standard (moderate and severe); number that fall below minus three standard deviations (severe)	Total number of children under age five that were weighed
	Stunting prevalence	Number of children under age five that fall below minus two standard deviations from the median height for age of the NCHS/WHO standard (moderate and severe); number that fall below minus three standard deviations (severe)	Total number of children under age five measured
ŵ	3 Wasting prevalence	Number of children under age five that fall below minus two standard deviations from the median weight for height of the NCHS/WHO standard (moderate and severe); number that fall below minus three standard deviations (severe)	Total number of children under age five weighed and measured
0,) Low-birth weight infants	Number of last live births in the 2 years preceding the survey weighing below 2,500 grams	Total number of last live births in the 2 years preceding the survey
10) Infants weighed at birth	Number of last live births in the 2 years preceding the survey that were weighed at birth	Total number of last live births in the 2 years preceding the survey
11	L Use of improved drinking water sources	Number of household members living in households using improved sources of drinking water	Total number of household members in households surveyed
12	2 Access to improved sanitation facilities	Number of household members with improved sanitation facilities	Total number of household members in households surveyed
19	3 Water treatment	Number of household members using water that has been treated	Total number of household members in households surveyed
10	Exclusive breastfeeding rate	Number of infants aged 0-5 months that are exclusively breastfed	Total number of infants aged 0-5 months surveyed
16	5 Continued breastfeeding rate	Number of infants aged 12-15 months, and 20-23 months, that are currently breastfeeding	Total number of children aged 12-15 months and 20-23 months surveyed
11	7 Timely complementary feeding rate	Number of infants aged 6-9 months that are receiving breast milk and complementary foods	Total number of infants aged 6-9 months surveyed

INDICA	UTOR.	NUMERATOR	DENOMINATOR
18	Frequency of complementary feeding	Number of infants aged 6-11 months that receive breast milk and complementary food at least the minimum recommended number of times per day (two times per day for infants aged 6-8 months, three times per day for infants aged 9-11 months)	Total number of infants aged 6-11 months surveyed
19	Adequately fed infants	Number of infants aged 0-11 months that are appropriately fed: infants aged 0-5 months that are exclusively breastfed and infants aged 6-11 months that are breastfed and ate solid or semi-solid foods the appropriate number of times (see above) yesterday	Total number of infants aged 0-11 months surveyed
20	Antenatal care	Number of women aged 15-49 years that were attended at least once during pregnancy in the 2 years preceding the survey by skilled health personnel	Total number of women surveyed aged 15-49 years with a birth in the 2 years preceding the survey
21	Contraceptive prevalence	Number of women currently married or in union aged 15-49 years that are using (or whose partner is using) a contraceptive method (either modern or traditional)	Total number of women aged 15-49 years that are currently married or in union
22	Antibiotic treatment of suspected pneumonia	Number of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia in the previous 2 weeks receiving antibiotics	Total number of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia in the previous 2 weeks
23	Care-seeking for suspected pneumonia	Number of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia in the previous 2 weeks that are taken to an appropriate health provider	Total number of children aged 0-59 months with suspected pneumonia in the previous 2 weeks
24	Solid fuels	Number of residents in households that use solid fuels (wood, charcoal, crop residues and dung) as the primary source of domestic energy to cook	Total number of residents in households surveyed
25	Tuberculosis immunization coverage	Number of children aged 12-23 months receiving BCG vaccine before their first birthday	Total number of children aged 12-23 months surveyed
26	Polio immunization coverage	Number of children aged 12-23 months receiving OPV3 vaccine before their first birthday	Total number of children aged 12-23 months surveyed
27	Immunization coverage for diphtheria, pertussis and tetanus (DPT)	Number of children aged 12-23 months receiving DPT3 vaccine before their first birthday	Total number of children aged 12-23 months surveyed
28	Measles immunization coverage	Number of children aged 12-23 months receiving measles vaccine before their first birthday	Total number of children aged 12-23 months surveyed
29	Hepatitis B immunization coverage	Number of children aged 12-23 months immunized against hepatitis before their first birthday	Total number of children aged 12-23 months surveyed
31	Fully immunized children	Number of children aged 12-23 months receiving DPT1-3, OPV-1-3, BCG and measles vaccines before their first birthday	Total number of children aged 12-23 months surveyed
32	Neonatal tetanus protection	Number of mothers with live births in the previous year that were given at least two doses of tetanus toxoid (TT) vaccine within the appropriate interval prior to giving birth	Total number of women surveyed aged 15-49 years with a birth in the year preceding the survey
33	Use of oral rehydration therapy (ORT)	Number of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea in the previous 2 weeks that received oral rehydration salts and/or an appropriate household solution	Total number of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea in the previous 2 weeks

INDICA	TTOR	NUMERATOR	DENOMINATOR
34	Home management of diarrhoea	Number of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea in the previous 2 weeks that received more fluids AND continued eating somewhat less, the same or more food	Total number of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea in the previous 2 weeks
35	Received ORT or increased fluids and continued feeding	Number of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea that received ORT (oral rehydration salts or an appropriate household solution) or received more fluids AND continued eating somewhat less, the same or more food	Total number of children aged 0-59 months with diarrhoea in the previous 2 weeks
42	Vitamin A supplementation (under-fives)	Number of children aged 6-59 months receiving at least one high-dose vitamin A supplement in the previous 6 months	Total number of children aged 6-59 months surveyed
43	Vitamin A supplementation (post-partum mothers)	Number of women with a live birth in the 2 years preceding the survey that received a high-dose vitamin A supplement within 8 weeks after birth	Total number of women that had a live birth in the 2 years preceding the survey
44	Content of antenatal care	Number of women with a live birth in the 2 years preceding the survey that received antenatal care during the last pregnancy	Total number of women with a live birth in the 2 years preceding the survey
45	Timely initiation of breastfeeding	Number of women with a live birth in the 2 years preceding the survey that put the newborn infant to the breast within 1 hour of birth	Total number of women with a live birth in the 2 years preceding the survey
46	Support for learning	Number of children aged 0-59 months living in households in which an adult has engaged in four or more activities to promote learning and school readiness in the past 3 days	Total number of children aged 0-59 months surveyed
47	Father's support for learning	Number of children aged 0-59 months whose father has engaged in one or more activities to promote learning and school readiness in the past 3 days	Total number of children aged 0-59 months
52	Pre-school attendance	Number of children aged 36-59 months that attend some form of early childhood education programme	Total number of children aged 36-59 months surveyed
53	School readiness	Number of children in first grade that attended some form of pre-school the previous year	Total number of children in the first grade surveyed
54	Net intake rate in primary education	Number of children of school-entry age that are currently attending first grade	Total number of children of primary- school entry age surveyed
55	Net primary school attendance rate	Number of children of primary-school age currently attending primary or secondary school	Total number of children of primary- school age surveyed
56	Net secondary school attendance rate	Number of children of secondary-school age currently attending secondary school or higher	Total number of children of secondary-school age surveyed
57	Children reaching grade five	Proportion of children entering the first grade of primary school that eventually reach grade five	
58	Transition rate to secondary school	Number of children that were in the last grade of primary school during the previous school year that attend secondary school	Total number of children that were in the last grade of primary school during the previous school year surveyed
59	Net primary completion rate	Number of children aged 9 attending the last grade of primary school (excluding repeaters)	Total number of children of primary school completion age (age 9) surveyed

INDICA	VTOR	NUMERATOR	DENOMINATOR
60	Young female literacy rate	Number of women aged 15-24 years that are able to read a short simple statement about everyday life	Total number of women aged 15-24 years surveyed
61	Gender parity index	Proportion of girls in primary and secondary education	Proportion of boys in primary and secondary education
62	Birth registration	Number of children aged 0-59 months whose births are reported registered	Total number of children aged 0-59 months surveyed
68	Young women aged 15-19 years currently married	Number of women aged 15-19 years currently married	Total number of women aged 15-19 years surveyed
75	Prevalence of orphans	Number of children under age 18 with at least one dead parent	Total number of children under age 18 surveyed
78	Children's living arrangements	Number of children aged 0-17 years not living with a biological parent	Total number of children aged 0-17 years surveyed
82	Comprehensive knowledge about HIV prevention among young people	Number of women aged 15-24 years that correctly identify two ways of avoiding HIV infection and reject three common misconceptions about HIV transmission	Total number of women aged 15-24 years surveyed
86	Attitude towards people with HIV/AIDS	Number of women expressing acceptance on all four questions about people with HIV or AIDS	Total number of women surveyed
87	Women who know where to be tested for HIV	Number of women that state knowledge of a place to be tested	Total number of women surveyed
88	Women who have been tested for HIV	Number of women that report being tested for HIV	Total number of women surveyed
89	Knowledge of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	Number of women that correctly identify all three means of vertical transmission	Total number of women surveyed

Appendix F. Questionnaires



HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE

WE ARE FROM MINISTRY OF HEALTH. WE ARE WORKING ON A PROJECT CONCERNED WITH FAMILY HEALTH AND EDUCATION. I WOULD LIKE TO TALK TO YOU ABOUT THIS. THE INTERVIEW WILL TAKE ABOUT (30) MINUTES. ALL THE INFORMATION WE OBTAIN WILL REMAIN STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL AND YOUR ANSWERS WILL NEVER BE IDENTIFIED. DURING THIS TIME I WOULD LIKE TO SPEAK WITH THE HOUSEHOLD HEAD AND ALL MOTHERS OR OTHERS WHO TAKE CARE OF CHILDREN IN THE HOUSEHOLD.

MAY I START NOW? If permission is given, begin the interview.

HOUSEHOLD INFORMATION PANEL	НН
HH1. Cluster number:	HH2. Household number:
HH3. Interviewer name and number:	HH4. Supervisor name and number:
Name	Name
HH5. Day/Month/Year of interview:	/
HH6. Area:	HH7. Region:
Urban1	(a) State/Division
Rural2	(b) Township (c) Ward/Village
HH 8. Name of head of household:	
After all questionnaires for the household have been co	ompleted, fill in the following information:

HH9. Result of HH interview:	HH10. Respondent to HH questionnaire:
Completed1	Name:
Not at home2 Refused	Line No:
Other (<i>specify</i>)6	HH11. Total number of household members:
HH12. No. of women eligible for interview:	HH13. No. of women questionnaires completed:
HH14. No. of children under age 5:	HH15. No. of under-5 questionnaires completed:
Interviewer/supervisor notes: Use this space to reco as call-back times, incomplete individual interview for	rd notes about the interview with this household, such ms, number of attempts to re-visit, etc.

HH16. Data entry clerk:

HL				HL12. If alive: DOES (name 's) NATURAL FATHER LIVE IN THIS HOUSEHOLD? Record Line no. of father or 00 for 'no'	FATHER									
	complete listing. uation sheet used .		age 0-17 years 9-HL12	HL11. Is (<i>nume</i> 's) NATURAL FATHER ALIVE? ALIVE? 1 YES 2 NOS NEXT LINE 8 DKS NEXT LINE	Y N DK	128	128	128	128	128	128	128	128	128
	sex (HL4). OR AT WORK). If yes, s. Tick here if contin		For children ask HI	HL10. If alive: DOES (name's) NATURAL MOTHER LIVE IN THIS HOUSEHOLD? Record Line no. of mother or 00 for 'no'	MOTHER									
	JSEHOLD. (<i>HL3</i>), and their . DREN IN SCHOOL ousehold member			HL9. Is (<i>name`s</i>) NATURAL MOTHER ALIVE? 1 YES 2 NO⇔ HL11 8 DK⇔ HL11	Y N DK	128	128	128	128	128	128	128	128	128
	HEAD OF THE HOL ? household head MAY INCLUDE CHI. "e more than 15 h	ole for:	UNDER-5 INTERVIEW	HL8. For each child under 5: WHO IS THE MOTHER OR PRIMARY CARETAKER OF THIS CHILD? THIS CHILD? Record Line no. of mother/caretak	MOTHER									
	RTING WITH THE elationship to the E NOW? (THESE I n sheet if there an	Eligit	women's Interview	HL6. Circle Line no. if Noman is age 15-49	15-49 YRS	01	02	03	04	05	90	07	08	60
	ES HERE, STA (HL2), their r, NOT AT HOME a continuation			HL5(a) What is his/her marital status? Married 1 Single 2 Widow 3 Divorced 4 Separated 5 (Ask to 10 years and above HH members)	M-STATUS									
	WHO USUALLY LIV sehold members (:VEN IF THEY ARE n at a time. Add i			HL5. How oLD IS (name)? How oLD wAS (name) ON HIS/HER LAST BIRTHDAY? BIRTHDAY? Record jn completed year 98=DK*	AGE									
	I PERSON V ist all hous VE HERE, E each perso			HL4. Is (<i>name</i>) MALE OR FEMALE ? 1 MALE 2 FEM.	M	1 2	1 2	1 2	1 2	1 2	12	1 2	1 2	1 2
ORM	IAME OF EACH I in line 01. L HERS WHO LI vith HL5 for e			HL3. WHAT IS THE RELATION- SHIP OF (<i>nume</i>) TO THE HEAD OF THE HOUSE- HOLD?	REL.	0 1								
SEHOLD LISTING FO	, PLEASE TELL ME THE N e head of the household isk: Are THERE ANY OTI ask questions starting w			HL2. Name	NAME									
HOUS	FIRST, List th Then a Then,			HL1. Line no.	LINE	6	02	03	04	05	00	07	80	60

	· ·		_	_								1
HL 12. If alive: DOES (name's) NATURAL FATHER LIVE IN THIS HOUSEHOLD? Record Line no. of father or 00 for 'no'	FATHER										en Under Five.	Stepchild
HL11. Is (<i>name 's</i>) NATURAL FATHER ALIVE? ALIVE? ALIVE? 2 NOSI NEXT LINE BDKSI NEXT LINE NEXT LINE	Y N DK	128	128	128	128	128	128				maire. omaire for Child	= Other Relative = Adopted/Foster/ = Not Related
HL10. <i>If alive:</i> DOES (<i>name's</i>) NATURAL MOTHER LIVE IN THIS HOUSEHOLD? <i>Record Line no.</i> <i>of mother or 00</i> <i>for 'no'</i>	MOTHER	 						THIS HOUSEHOLD?			e Women's Question 1 panel of the Questi	51 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
HL9. Is (<i>name</i> 's) мотнек ALIVE? 1 YES 2 NO⇔ HL11 8 DK⇔ HL11	Y N DK	128	128	128	128	128	128	ARENTS LIVING IN			mation panel of th in the information	Sister-In-Law t hew By Blood hew By Marriage
HL8. For each child under 5: WHO IS THE MOTHER OR PRIMARY OR PRIMARY CARETAKER OF THIS CHILD? THIS CHI	MOTHER							DR DO NOT HAVE P	Under-5s		r age 50"). nation in the infor ther or caretaker the household.	09 = Brother or 10 = Uncle/Aunt 11 = Niece/Nepl 12 = Niece/Nepl
HL6. Circle Line no. if Noman is age 15-49	15-49 YRS	10	11	12	13	14	15	F YOUR FAMILY C lete form.	Women 15-49		to not know/ove lentifying inform er of his/her mo ild under five in	
HL5(a) What is his/her marital status? Married 1 Single 2 Widow 3 Divorced 4 Separated 5 (Ask to 10 years and above HH members)	M-STATUS							ot MEMBERS OF ame and comp			de meaning "c er and other ia the line numb m and each ch	ter
HL5. How oLD Is (name)? How oLD was (name) oN HIS/HER LAST BIRTHDAY? Record jrear jrear 98=DK*	AGE							N IF THEY ARE NO <i>insert child's n</i> e			old members (co le and line numb ine number ANL ch eligible wom	i = Grandchild = Parent = Parent-In-Law
HL4. Is (<i>name</i>) MALE OR FEMALE ? 2 FEM. 2 FEM.	ч М	1 2	1 2	1 2	1 2	1 2	1 2	ERE – EVE JOL? <i>If yes</i>		ls	rly househ te her nan name and l aire for ec	usehold: 06 07 07
HL3. WHAT IS THE RELATION- SHIP OF (<i>name</i>).TO THE HEAD OF THE HOUSE- HOLD?	REL.							ONS LIVING HE KK OR AT SCHO 21/4.		Tota	only for elde 49 years, wri vrite his/her n ate questionn	to head of ho
HL2. Name	NAME							HERE ANY OTHER PERSI DING CHILDREN AT WOR complete the totals belo			instructions: to be used br each woman age 15- ich child under age 5, w ould now have a separ	es for HL3: Relationship lead Vife or Husband on or Daughter on or Daughter In-Law
HL1. Line no.	LINE	10	1	12	13	4	15	ARE TI INCLUI			* See 1 Now fi For ea You sh	* Codé 01 = H 02 = V 03 = S 04 = S

EDUG	CATION MO	DULE							ED
	For	household member	s age 5 and abo	эмс			For household member.	s age 5-24 years	
Щ <u>.</u>	ED1A.	ED2.		D3.	ED4.	ED5	ED6.	ED7.	ED8.
Line		HAS (name) EVER	WHAT IS THE HIC	SHEST LEVEL OF	DURING THIS	SINCE LAST	DURING THIS SCHOOL YEAR	DID (name)	DURING THAT PREVIOUS
no.	NAME	ATTENDED SCHOOL OR PRESCHOOL?	SCHOOL (name) WHAT IS THE HIC	ATTENDED? SHEST GRADE	SCHOOL YEAR (2009-2010),	(DAY OF THE WEEK), HOW	(ZUU9-ZU1U), WHICH LEVEL AND GRADE IS (<i>name</i>)	ATTEND SCHOOL OR PRESCHOOL	SCHOOL YEAK (ZUUS-ZUUS), WHICH LEVEL AND GRADE DID
			(name) COMPLE	TED AT THIS	DID (name)	MANY DAYS	ATTENDING?	AT ANY TIME	(name) ATTEND?
			LEVELY		ATTEND SCHOOL OR	DID (name)	I EVEL -	DURING THF PREVIOUS	
			0 PRE-SCHOOL		PRESCHOOL	SCHOOL?	0 PRESCHOOL	SCHOOL	0 PRESCHOOL
			1 PRIMARY		AT ANY TIME?		1 PRIMARY	YEAR, THAT IS	1 PRIMARY
		1 YES ⇔ ED3 2 NO ☉	2 SECONDARY /	ND HIGHER		INSERT NI IMPERIOE	2 SECONDARY AND HIGHER 3 Courtedeatry AND	(2008-2009)?	2 SECONDARY AND HIGHER
		2 NO 3	U CULLEGE UN		1 YES	DAYSIN	HIGHER	1 YES	HIGHER
			6 NON-STANDAR	D CURRICULUM	2 N0 ⇔ ED7	SPACE	6 NON STANDARD CURRICULUM		6 NON STANDARD CURRICULUM
			8 DK			BELOW	8 DK	2 NO 2	8 DK
			Genne.				George.		Geve.
			98 DK				98 DK	NEXT LINE	98 DK
			If less than 1 gr	ade, enter 00. For			If less than 1 grade, enter 00.		If less than 1 grade, enter 00.
			Non-standard ci will be 98	urriculum, grade			For Non-standard curriculum, grade will be 98		For Non-standard curriculum, grade will be 98
LINE	NAME	YES NO	LEVEL	EDU	YES NO	ED5	LEVEL GRADE	Y N DK	LEVEL GRADE
6		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
02		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
8		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	128	012368
4		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
05		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
90		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
07		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
80		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
60		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
9		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
7		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
12		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
13		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
14		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
15		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
16		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
17		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368
18		1 2⇔NEXT LINE	012368		1 2		012368	1 2 8	012368

WATER AND SANITATION MODULE		WS
WS1. WHAT IS THE MAIN SOURCE OF DRINKING	Piped water	
WATER FOR MEMBERS OF YOUR HOUSEHOLD?	Piped into dwelling 11	11⇔WS5
	Piped into yard or plot 12	12⇔WS5
(PLEASE CIRCLE ONLY ONE MAIN SOURCE OF	Public tap/standpipe 13	
DRINKING WATER)	Tubewell/borehole	
	Dug well	
	Protected well	
	Unprotected well	
	Protected spring 41	
	Unprotected spring 47	⇒WS3
	Rainwater collection 51	
	Tanker-truck	
	Cart with small tank/drum71	
	Surface water (river, stream, dam, lake,	
	pond, canal, irrigation channel)	
	Bottled water	
	Other (specify)96	96⇔WS3
WS2. WHAT IS THE MAIN SOURCE OF WATER USED	Piped water	
BY YOUR HOUSEHOLD FOR OTHER PURPOSES	Piped into dwelling11	11⇔WS5
SUCH AS COOKING AND HANDWASHING?	Piped into yard or plot12	12⇔WS5
(D)	Public tap/standpipe	
(PLEASE CIRCLE ONLY ONE MAIN SOURCE OF	I ube-well/borehole	
WATER FOR COOKING AND WASHING)	Dug well 21	
	Protected well	
	Water from spring	
	Protected spring 41	
	Unprotected spring 42	
	Rainwater collection 51	
	Tanker-truck 61	
	Cart with small tank/drum	
	Surface water (river, stream, dam, lake,	
	pond, canal, irrigation channel)	
	Other (specify)96	
WS3. HOW LONG DOES IT TAKE TO GO THERE, GET		
WATER, AND COME BACK?	No. of minutes	
	Water on premises	995⇔WS5
	DK	
WS4. WHO USUALLY GOES TO THIS SOURCE TO	Adult woman 1	
FETCH THE WATER FOR YOUR HOUSEHOLD?	Fomalo child (under 15)	
Proha	Male child (under 15)	
IS THIS PERSON LINDER AGE 152 WHAT SEX?		
Circle code that hest describes this person	DK 8	
WS5. DO YOU TREAT YOUR WATER IN ANY WAY TO	Yes 1	
MAKE IT SAFER TO DRINK?	No	2⇔WS7
	DK	8⇔WS7
WS6. WHAT DO YOU USUALLY DO TO THE WATER	BoilA	
TO MAKE IT SAFER TO DRINK?	Add bleach/chlorineB	
	Strain it through a clothC	
ANYTHING ELSE?	Use water filter (ceramic, sand,	
	composite, etc.)D	
Record all items mentioned.	Solar disinfectionE	
	Let it stand and settleF	
	a tter (14)	
	Other (specify) X	
	_ LIK 7	1

WS7. WHAT KIND OF TOILET FACILITY DO	Flush / pour flush	
MEMBERS OF YOUR HOUSEHOLD USUALLY	Flush to piped sewer system	
USE?	Flush to septic tank 12	
	Flush to somewhere else 14	
If "flush" or "pour flush" probe:		
WHERE DOES IT FLUSH TO?	Ventilated Improved Bit latring (VID) 21	
WHERE DOES IT FLOSH TO ?	Dit latring with slab	
Kana and a second se	Pit latrine with side / anon nit	
If necessary, ask permission to observe the facility.	Pit latrine without slab / open pit	
	Composting toilet	
	Bucket	
	Hanging toilet/hanging latrine 51	
	No facilities or bush or field	
	Other (specify) 96	
		95⇔ NEXT
		MODULE
WS8. DO YOU SHARE THIS FACILITY WITH OTHER	Yes1	
HOUSEHOLDS?	No2	2⇔ NEXT
		MODULE
WS9. HOW MANY HOUSEHOLDS IN TOTAL USE THIS		
TOILET FACILITY?	No of households (if less than 10)	
	Top or more households	
	Ten or more nousenoids	
	DK	

HAND WASHING PRACTICE MODULE HW				
HW1. DO YOUR HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS USE TO WASH HANDS WHEN	YesNoAfter going to toilet12Before eating12After eating12After cleaning child's feces12Before feeding child12Before cooking food12	DK 8 8 8 8 8 8	2, 8⇔skip HW 2 2, 8⇔skip HW 3 2, 8⇔skip HW 4 2, 8⇔skip HW 5 2, 8⇔skip HW 5	
HW2. WHAT DO YOU USUALLY USE FOR HAND WASHING AFTER TOILETING? (PLEASE CIRCLE RELEVANT CODE AFTER CHECKING IF THERE IS SOAP AND WATER AT THE PLACE OF WASHING BY ENUMERATOR)	Water only Soap and water Other (Specify) Do not wash hand Don't know	1 2 3 4 5		
HW3. WHAT DO YOU USUALLY USE FOR HAND WASHING BEFORE EATING? (PLEASE CIRCLE RELEVANT CODE AFTER CHECKING IF THERE IS SOAP AND WATER AT THE PLACE OF WASHING BY ENUMERATOR)	Water only Soap and water Other (Specify) Do not wash hand Don't know	1 2 3 4 5		
HW4. WHAT DO YOU USUALLY USE FOR HAND WASHING AFTER CLEANING CHILD'S FECES? (PLEASE CIRCLE RELEVANT CODE AFTER CHECKING IF THERE IS SOAP AND WATER AT THE PLACE OF WASHING BY ENUMERATOR)	Water only Soap and water Other (Specify) Do not wash hand Don't know No under 3 years children	1 2 3 4 5 6		
HW5. WHAT DO YOU USUALLY USE FOR HAND WASHING BEFORE FEEDING CHILD? (PLEASE CIRCLE RELEVANT CODE AFTER CHECKING IF THERE IS SOAP AND WATER AT THE PLACE OF WASHING BY ENUMERATOR)	Water only Soap and water Other (Specify) Do not wash hand Don't know No under 3 years children	1 2 3 4 5 6		
HW6. WHAT DO YOU USUALLY USE FOR HAND WASHING BEFORE COOKING FOOD? (PLEASE CIRCLE RELEVANT CODE AFTER CHECKING IF THERE IS SOAP AND WATER AT THE PLACE OF WASHING BY ENUMERATOR)	Water only Soap and water Other (Specify) Do not wash hand Don't know	1 2 3 4 5		
HOUSEHOLD CHARACTERISTICS MODULE HC				
---	-----------------------------	--------	--	--
HC2. HOW MANY ROOMS IN THIS HOUSEHOLD ARE USED FOR SLEEPING?	No. of rooms			
HC3. Main material of the dwelling floor:	Natural floor			
	Earth/Mud 11			
Record observation.	Sand 12			
	Rudimentary floor			
	Wood planks 21			
	Bamboo			
	Finished floor			
	Parquet or polished wood			
	Ceramic tile			
	Cernet 33			
	Other (specific)			
HC4 Main material of the roof	Natural roofing			
HC4. Main material of the foot.	No Roof 11			
Record observation	Palm leaf 12			
necora observation.	Rudimentary Roofing			
	Thatch			
	Bamboo			
	Wood planks			
	Finished roofing			
	Iron Sheet			
	Cement 32			
	Ceramic tiles			
	Other (specify)96			
HC5. Main material of the walls.	Natural walls			
	No walls 11			
Record observation.	Cane/palm/trunks			
	Mud			
	Rudimentary walls			
	Wood 22			
	Finished walls			
	Cement 31			
	Stone with lime/cement 32			
	Bricks			
	Wood planks/Shingles			
	Other (specify) 96			
HC6. WHAT TYPE OF FUEL DOES YOUR HOUSEHOLD	Electricity01	01⇔HC8		
MAINLY USE FOR COOKING?	Liquid Propane Gas (LPG) 02	02⇔HC8		
	Natural gas03	03⇔HC8		
	Biogas04	04⇔HC8		
	Kerosene			
	Coal / Lignite			
	Charcoal			
	Straw/shruhs/grass			
	Animal dung 10			
	Agricultural crop residue			
	Other (specify) 96			
HC7. IN THIS HOUSEHOLD, IS FOOD COOKED ON	Open fire			
AN OPEN FIRE, AN OPEN STOVE OR A CLOSED	Open stove			
STOVE?	Closed stove 3	3⇔HC8		
Probe for type.	Other (specify)6	6⇔HC8		

HC7A. DOES THE FIRE/STOVE HAVE A CHIMNEY OR	Yes	1	
A HOOD?	NO	2	
HC8. IS THE COOKING USUALLY DONE IN	In the house	1	
THE HOUSE, IN A SEPARATE BUILDING,	In a separate building	2	
OR OUTDOORS?	Outdoors	3	
	Other (specify)	_6	
HC9. DOES YOUR HOUSEHOLD HAVE:	Yes	No	
ELECTRICITY?	Electricity1	2	
A RADIO?	Radio1	2	
A TELEVISION?	Television1	2	
A MOBILE TELEPHONE?	Mobile Telephone 1	2	
A NON-MOBILE TELEPHONE?	Non-Mobile Telephone 1	2	
A REFRIGERATOR?	Refrigerator 1	2	
HC10. DOES ANY MEMBER OF YOUR HOUSEHOLD			
OWN:	Yes	No	
A watch?	Watch1	2	
A BICYCLE?	Bicycle1	2	
A MOTORCYCLE OR SCOOTER?	Motorcycle/Scooter1	2	
AN ANIMAL-DRAWN CART?	Animal drawn-cart/boat1	2	
A CAR OR TRUCK?	Car/Truck1	2	
A BOAT WITH A MOTOR?	Motorized Boat1	2	

BED-NET USE MODULE		TN
TN1. DOES YOUR HOUSEHOLD HAVE ANY MOSQUITO NETS THAT CAN BE USED WHILE SLEEPING?	Yes1 No2	2⇔next MODULE
TN2. How many mosquito nets does your Household have?	Number of nets	
TN2A. HOW MANY SEASONS A YEAR DO YOU USE THE BED NETS? (May have more than one answer)	During the summer season	
TN 2B.CHECK NUMBER OF UNDER 5 CHILDREN IN THE HOUSEHOLD IN HL8 AND RECORD THE CHILD LINE NUMBER IN THE BLANK PLEASE CHECK EACH CHILDREN UNDER 5 SLEPT IN THE MOSQUITO BED-NET LAST NIGHT	Total number of under-five children in the household Slept under mosquito bed-net last night- Yes No Child line number Child line number 1 2 Child line number 1 2	

HOUSEHOLD EXPENDITURE MODUL	Æ		EX
EXPENDITURE DURING LAST MONTH	a. Transport		
EX1. HOW MUCH DID THIS HOUSEHOLD SPEND ON THE	b. Housing		
FOLLOWING IN THE LAST MONTH? (in kyats only)	c. Clothing		
	d. Food		
	e. Education		
	f. Health Care		
	g. Fuel for heating/cookin	g DDDDDD	
	h. Contributions to Social	/Religious	
	Activities		
	i. Others (Specify)		
EX2. WHAT WAS THE TOTAL HOUSEHOLD EXPENDITURE IN THE LAST MONTH? Include everything that the household and its members spent money on, including food, clothing, transport, rent and rates, alcohol and tobaccos, school fees, entertainment and any other expenses.	Under 50,000 Kyats Ks 50,000 – Ks 100,000 Ks 100,000 – Ks 200,000 . Over Ks 200,000 Don't know Refuse		

HEALTH CARE EXPENDITU	JRE		EX	
EX3. DURING LAST MONTH, D MEMBER OF YOUR HOUS CHILDBIRTH OR SUFFER FROM ANY ILLNESSES OF	ID ANY EHOLD HAVE A R INJURIES?	Yes 1 No 2 ⇔ next module		
EX4. HOW MANY WERE THEY?		Number		
	Name Line No	Name Line No	Name Line No	
EX5. DID THE HOUSEHOLD MEMBER(S) WHO HAD A CHILDBIRTH OR SUFFERING FROM ILLNESS OR INJURY CONSULT ANY PROFESSIONAL?	Yes 1 No 2 ⇔ next person	Yes 1 No 2 ⇔ next person	Yes 1 No 2 ⇔ next module	

EX6. WHAT KIND OF HEALTH WORKER DID (name) CONSULT? (Circle all health workers mentioned, but do NOT prompt with any suggestions)	Doctor Lady Health Visitor/ Health Assistant Nurse Midwife Traditional healer/ Practitioners Auxiliary Midwife Voluntary health worker Others (Specify)	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Doctor Lady Health Visitor/ Health Assistant Nurse Midwife Traditional healer/ Practitioners Auxiliary Midwife Voluntary health worker Others (Specify)	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Doctor Lady Health Visitor/ Health Assistant Nurse Midwife Traditional healer/ Practitioners Auxiliary Midwife Voluntary health worker Others (Specify)	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
EX7. WHERE DID THE CONSULTATION TAKE PLACE? (Circle all facilities mentioned)	Public Sector Hospital Clinic Primary (or) Rural Health Centre Bub Rural Health Centre Other public facility Private Sector Hospital Clinic Phivate Sector Hospital Clinic Pharmacy Their own home Other private medical (specify)	1 2 3 4 8 1 2 3 4 8	Public Sector Hospital Clinic Primary (or) Rural Health Centre Bub Rural Health Centre Other public facility Private Sector Hospital Clinic Pharmacy Their own home Other private medical (specify)	1 2 3 4 8 1 2 3 4 8	Public Sector Hospital Clinic Primary (or) Rural Health Centre Health Centre Sub Rural Health Centre Other public facility Private Sector Hospital Clinic Pharmacy Their own home Other private medical (specify)	1 2 3 4 8 1 2 3 4 8
EX8. HOW MUCH DID THE HOUSEHOLD SPEND FOR THE FOLLOWING FOR THE HEALTH CARE OF (name) IN THE PAST MONTH? (IN KYATS ONLY) a Transportation b Consultation fees (including transporting fees for health care personnel) c Medicine d In-patient stay/long-term care in hospital (include all costs) e Diagnostic and laboratory tests such as X-rays or blood tests	a b c d f		a b c d f		a b c d e f	
f Other health care (excluding medicines, vaccinations)						

MADDUDD

MARRIED)

WOMEN'S INFORMATION PANEL

This module is to be administered to all women age 15 through 49 (see column HL6 of HH listing).

Fill in one form for each eligible woman

Fill in the cluster and household number, and the name and line number of the woman in the space below. Fill in your name, number and the date.

WM1. Cluster number:	WM2. Household number:
WM3. Woman's Name:	WM4. Woman's Line Number:
WM5. Interviewer name and number:	WM6. Day/Month/Year of interview:
WM7. Result of women's interview	Completed 1 Not at home 2 Refused 3 Partly completed 4 Incapacitated 5 Other (specify) 6

Repeat greeting if not already read to this woman:

WE ARE FROM MINISTRY OF HEALTH. WE ARE WORKING ON A PROJECT CONCERNED WITH FAMILY HEALTH AND EDUCATION. I WOULD LIKE TO TALK TO YOU ABOUT THIS. THE INTERVIEW WILL TAKE ABOUT (30) MINUTES. ALL THE INFORMATION WE OBTAIN WILL REMAIN STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL AND YOUR ANSWERS WILL NEVER BE IDENTIFIED. ALSO, YOU ARE NOT OBLIGED TO ANSWER ANY QUESTION YOU DON'T WANT TO, AND YOU MAY WITHDRAW FROM THE INTERVIEW AT ANY TIME. MAY I START NOW?

If permission is given, begin the interview. If the woman does not agree to continue, thank her, complete WM7, and go to the next interview. Discuss this result with your supervisor for a future revisit.

WM8.	N WHAT MONTH AND YEAR WERE YOU BORN?	Date of birth:	
		Month	
		DK month98	
		Year	
		DK vear 9998	
WM9.	HOW OLD WERE YOU AT YOUR LAST BIRTHDAY?	Age (in completed years)	
wм10.	HAVE YOU EVER ATTENDED SCHOOL?	Yes1	2⇔WM14
		No2	
WM11.	WHAT IS THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF SCHOOL YOU	Primary1	1⇔WM14
AT	TENDED: PRIMARY, SECONDARY OR HIGHER?	Secondary2	2,3⇔Nex⊤
		Higher3	MODULE
		Non-standard curriculum6	6⇔WM14
WM12	WHAT IS THE HIGHEST GRADE YOU COMPLETED		
AT	THAT LEVEL?	Grade	
мw14.	Now, I would like you to read this	Cannot read at all1	
SE	NTENCE TO ME.	Able to read with difficulties2	
Show t	he sentences to respondents. If respondent	Able to read whole sentence very well3	
cannot	read whole sentence, probe: CAN YOU	No sentences translated into ethnic language	
READ P	ART OF THE SENTENCE TO ME?	4	
1.	leacher comes near to me.	(specify language)	
2.	Younger brother is writing.	Blind/mute, visually/speech impaired5	
3.	the but in the field		
	II That San is carrying eggnlant and limes		
-4. 5	Seeds are throwing in the field under the		
J. J.	sunshine. Have an apple.		

WM

CHILD MORTALITY MODULE		
CM1. NOW I WOULD LIKE TO ASK ABOUT ALL THE		
BIRTHS YOU HAVE HAD DURING YOUR LIFE.	Yes1	
HAVE YOU EVER GIVEN BIRTH?	No2	2⇔CM7
	No.	
CM3. DO YOU HAVE ANY SONS OR DAUGHTERS TO	Yes1	0-1-0145
WHOM YOU HAVE GIVEN BIRTH WHO ARE NOW	NO	2⇔CM5
LIVING WITH YOU?		
CM4. HOW MANY SONS LIVE WITH YOU?	Sono at homo	
(ANY SONS AT HOME RECORD OU)	Sons at nome	
(ANY DAUGHTER AT HOME RECORD "00")	Doughtors at home	
(ANY DAUGHTER AT HOME RECORD OU)		
CM5. DO YOU HAVE ANY SONS OR DAUGHTERS TO		
WHOM YOU HAVE GIVEN BIRTH WHO ARE ALIVE	Yes1	
BUT DO NOT LIVE WITH YOU?	No	2⇔CM7
CM6. HOW MANY SONS ARE ALIVE BUT DO NOT		
LIVE WITH YOU?	Sons elsewhere	
HOW MANY DAUGHTERS ARE ALIVE BUT DO NOT		
LIVE WITH YOU?	Daughters elsewhere	
(ANY SONS OR DAUGHTER ELSEWHERE RECORD		
"00")		
CM7. HAVE YOU EVER GIVEN BIRTH TO A BOY OR A		
GIRL WHO WAS BORN ALIVE BUT LATER DIED?	Yes1	
	No	2⇔CM9
CM8 HOW MANY BOYS HAVE DIED?		
HOW MANY CIPI S HAVE DIED?	Boys dead	
HOW MANT SINES HAVE DIED!		
(ANYONE HAD DIED RECORD "00")	Girls dead	
CM9. SUM ANSWERS TO CM4, CM6 AND CM8		
	Sum	
CM10. JUST TO MAKE SURE THAT I HAVE THIS	RIGHT, YOU HAVE HAD IN TOTAL BIRTHS DURING YO	UR LIFE. IS
THIS CORRECT?	¬	
	CHECK CM3 TO CM9 AND CORRECT YOU	JR NUMBER
GOTOCIMIZ		OLE
CM12. HAVE YOU EVER GIVEN BIRTH DURING LAST		
TWO YEARS?	Yes1	
	No2	

CM14. Now I would like to record the names of all your births, whether still alive or not, starting with the first one you had. RECORD NAMES OF ALL THE BIRTHS IN CM15. RECORD TWINS AND TRIPLETS ON SEPARATE LINES. (IF THERE ARE MORE THAN 11 BIRTHS, USE AN ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNAIRE, STARTING WITH THE SECOND ROW).

				1		1	
CM15	CM16	CM17	CM18	CM19	CM20 IF DEAD:	CM21	CM22
What name was given to your next baby? (NAME)	Were any of these births twins?	Is (NAME) a boy or a girl?	In what month and year was (NAME) born? PROBE: What is his/her birthday?	Is (NAME) still alive?	How old was (NAME) when he/she died? IF '1 YR', PROBE: How many months old was (NAME)? RECORD DAYS IF LESS THAN 1 MONTH; MONTHS IF LESS THAN TWO YEARS: OR YEARS.	IF ALIVE: How old was (NAME) at his/her last birthday? RECORD AGE IN COMPLETED YEARS.	IF ALIVE: Is (NAME) living with you?
01	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN	YES1
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2	YEARS	NO2
					YEARS3		
					(Ask for next child)		
02	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN YEARS	YES1
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2		NO2
					YEARS3		
	SDIG 1	DOV 1		NES L(CMDI)	(Ask for next child)	ACENI	VEC 1
03	MULT 2	GIRL 2	MONTH	YES1 (CM21) NO2	DAYS I	YEARS	YES1 NO2
			YEAK		MONTHS.2		
					(Ask for next child)		
04	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN	YES1
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2	YEARS	NO2
					YEARS3		
					(Ask for next child)		
05	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN YEARS	YES1
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2		NO2
					YEARS3		
					(Ask for next child)		
06	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN YEARS	YES1
	MOLT 2	OIKL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2		102
					YEARS		
07	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	(Ask for next child)	AGE IN	YES1
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2	YEARS	NO2
					YEARS3		
					(Ask for next child)		
08	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN	YES1
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2		NO2
					YEARS3 (Ask for next child)		

CM15	CM16	CM17	СМ18	СМ19	CM20 IF DEAD:	CM21	CM22
What name was given to your next baby? (NAME)	Were any of these births twins?	Is (NAME) a boy or a girl?	In what month and year was (NAME) born? PROBE: What is his/her birthday?	Is (NAME) still alive?	How old was (NAME) when he/she died? IF '1 YR', PROBE: How many months old was (NAME)? RECORD DAYS IF LESS THAN 1 MONTH; MONTHS IF LESS THAN TWO YEARS; OR YEARS.	IF ALIVE: How old was (NAME) at his/her last birthday? RECORD AGE IN COMPLETED YEARS.	IF ALIVE: Is (NAME) living with you?
09	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN YEARS	YES1
	MOLI 2	GIKL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2		NO2
					(Ask for next child)		
10	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN YEARS	YESI
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2		NO2
					(Ask for next child)		
11	SING 1	BOY 1	MONTH	YES1 (CM21)	DAYS 1	AGE IN YEARS	YES1
	MULT 2	GIRL 2	YEAR	NO2	MONTHS.2		NO2
					(Ask for next child)		
I	LEASE MAR	K IF YO	U USED MORE THAT	N ONE SHEET FOR N	MORE THAN 11 CHILDREN	·	
СМ23 С	CM23 COMPARE CM9 WITH NUMBER OF BIRTHS IN HISTORY ABOVE AND MARK:						
	ARE SAM		DIFFERE		(PROBE AND RECONCILE)		
	CHECK: FOR EACH BIRTH: YEAR OF BIRTH IS RECORDED.						
F	OR EACH LIV	ING CHILD:	CURRENT AGE IS RI	ECORDED.			\mid
		FOR EACH	DEAD CHILD: AGE /	AT DEATH IS RECOR	RDED.		

Version 1. 20101229 **TETANUS TOXOID (TT) MODULE** TT This module is to be administered to all women with a live birth in the 2 years preceding date of interview. TT1. DO YOU HAVE A CARD OR OTHER DOCUMENT Yes (card seen).....1 WITH YOUR OWN IMMUNIZATIONS LISTED? Yes (card not seen).....2 If a card is presented, use it to assist with answers DK8 to the following questions. TT2. WHEN YOU WERE PREGNANT WITH YOUR LAST Yes.....1 CHILD, DID YOU RECEIVE ANY INJECTION TO 2⇔TT5 PREVENT HIM OR HER FROM GETTING TETANUS. THAT IS CONVULSIONS AFTER BIRTH (AN ANTI-8⇔TT5 TETANUS SHOT, AN INJECTION AT THE TOP OF THE ARM OR SHOULDER)? TT3. If yes: HOW MANY TIMES DID YOU RECEIVE No. of times..... THIS ANTI-TETANUS INJECTION DURING YOUR LAST PREGNANCY? 98⇔TT5 TT4. How many TT doses during last pregnancy were reported in TT3? □ At least two TT injections during last pregnancy. ⇔ Goto Next Module □ Fewer than two TT injections during last pregnancy. ⇔Continue with TT5 TT5. DID YOU RECEIVE ANY TETANUS TOXOID Yes......1 INJECTION AT ANY TIME BEFORE YOUR LAST No.....2 PREGNANCY? 2⇔NEXT MODULE DK 8 8⇔next MODULE TT6. How many times did you receive it? No. of times..... TT7. IN WHAT MONTH AND YEAR DID YOU RECEIVE Month THE LAST ANTI-TETANUS INJECTION BEFORE THAT LAST PREGNANCY? Year __ __ __ __ Skip to next module only if year of injection is given. ⇔NEXT Otherwise, continue with TT8. MODULE ₽118 TT8. HOW MANY YEARS AGO DID YOU RECEIVE THE Years ago..... LAST ANTI-TETANUS INJECTION BEFORE THAT LAST PREGNANCY?

MATERNAL AND NEWBORN HEALTI	MATERNAL AND NEWBORN HEALTH MODULE MN					
This module is to be administered to all women with a	a live birth in the 2 years preceding date of interview	ν.				
Check child mortality module CM15 and record name of last-born child here						
Use this child's name in the following questions, whe	re indicated.					
MN1. IN THE FIRST TWO MONTHS AFTER YOUR	Yes1					
LAST BIRTH [THE BIRTH OF name], DID YOU	No2					
RECEIVE A VITAMIN A DOSE LIKE THIS?	DK8					
Show 200 000 III cansule or dispenser						
MN2 DID YOU SEE ANYONE FOR ANTENATAL CARE	Health professional:					
FOR THIS PREGNANCY?	Doctor A					
FOR MICHAEOMARCH	Lady Health Visitor/Nurse B					
If ves: WHOM DID YOU SEE? ANYONE FLSE?	Midwife					
Jy yes. Whom bib roo deer warone eeder	Auxiliary midwife					
Probe for the type of person seen and circle all	Other person					
answers given.	Traditional birth attendantF					
	Community health workerG					
	Relative/friendH					
	Other (specify) X	Y⇔MN7				
	No oneY					
MN2A. HOW MANY ANTE-NATAL VISIT DID YOU GO	Number of AN visit times					
DURING THIS PREGNANCY?						
MN3. AS PART OF YOUR ANTENATAL CARE,						
WAS ANY OF THE FOLLOWING DONE AT LEAST						
ONCE?	Yes No					
MN3A. WERE YOU WEIGHED?	a) Weight 1 2					
MN3B. WAS YOUR BLOOD PRESSURE MEASURED?	b) Blood pressure 1 2					
MN3C. DID YOU GIVE A URINE SAMPLE?	c) Urine sample 1 2					
MN3D. DID YOU RECEIVE VITAMIN B1?	d) Vitamin B1 1 2					
MIN3E. DID YOU RECEIVE IRON TABLETS?	e) Iron tablets 1 2					
MN7. WHO ASSISTED WITH THE DELIVERY OF	Health professional:					
YOUR LAST CHILD (name)?	Doctor A					
, , ,	Lady Health Visitor/NurseB					
ANYONE ELSE?	Midwife C					
	Auxiliary midwifeD					
Probe for the type of person assisting and circle all	Other person					
answers given.	Traditional birth attendantF					
	Community health workerG					
	Relative/friendH					
	Other (marife)					
	Solf					
	Jell					

MN8. WHERE DID YOU GIVE BIRTH TO (name)? If source is hospital, health center, or clinic, write the name of the place below. Prohe to identify the	Home Your home11 Other home12 Public sector	
type of source and circle the appropriate code.	Govt. hospital	
(Name of place)	Private Medical Sector Private hospital	
	Others(<i>specify</i>)96	
MN8A. AFTER (NAME) WAS BORN, DID ANY HEALTH CARE PROVIDER CHECK ON YOUR HEALTH?	Yes1 No2	2⇔MN 8D
MN8B. How long after delivery did the first check take place? If within one hour, record 00 at within 1 hour If within 1 to 24 hours, record hours at after 1 hour If less than one week, record days.	Within 1 Hours	-
MN8c. WHO CHECKED ON YOUR HEALTH AT THAT TIME? Probe for most qualify person? ANYONE ELSE? Probe for the type of person assisting and circle all answers given.	Health professional: DoctorA Lady Health Visitor/NurseB MidwifeC Auxiliary midwifeD Other person Traditional birth attendantF Community health workerG	
	Other (specify)X	
MN8D. AFTER (NAME) WAS BORN, DID ANY HEALTH CARE PROVIDER CHECK ON YOUR NEWBORN BABY'S HEALTH?	Yes1 No2	2⇔MN 9
MN8E. HOW LONG AFTER DELIVERY DID THE FIRST CHECK ON YOUR BABY TAKE PLACE? IF WITHIN ONE HOUR, RECORD 00 AT WITHIN 1 HOUR IF WITHIN 1 TO 24 HOURS, RECORD HOURS AT AFTER 1 HOUR IF LESS THAN ONE WEEK, RECORD DAYS.	Within 1 Hours 1 After 1 Hour 2 Days 3 Weeks 4 Don't know 98	
MN8F. WHO CHECKED ON YOUR BABY'S HEALTH AT THAT TIME? Probe for most qualify person? ANYONE ELSE?	Health professional: Doctor	
Probe for the type of person assisting and circle all answers given.	Auxiliary midwife	
MN9. WHEN YOUR LAST CHILD (name) WAS BORN.	Very large	
WAS HE/SHE VERY LARGE, LARGER THAN AVERAGE, AVERAGE, SMALLER THAN AVERAGE, OR VERY SMALL?	Larger than average	

	Very small5	
	DK 8	
MN10. WAS (name) WEIGHED AT BIRTH?	Yes1	
	No2	2⇔MN12
	DK8	8⇔MN12
MN11. HOW MUCH DID (name) WEIGH?		
Record weight from health card if available	From card1 (kilograms)	
Record Height from health card, if available.	From recall2 (kilograms)	
	DK99998	
MN12. DID YOU EVER BREASTFEED (name)?	Yes1	2 CONEVE
	NO2	MODULE
MN13. HOW LONG AFTER BIRTH DID YOU FIRST	Immediately000	
PUT (<i>name</i>) TO THE BREAST?	Hours 1	
If less than 1 hour, record '00' hours.	or	
If less than 24 hours, record hours.	Days2	
Otherwise, record days.	Don't know/remember 998	
CONTRACEPTION MODULE	Don't know/remember	СР
CP1. I WOULD LIKE TO TALK WITH YOU ABOUT		
ANOTHER SUBJECT - FAMILY PLANNING - AND	Yes, currently pregnant1	1⇔ NEXT
YOUR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH.	No 2	MODULE
ARE YOU PREGNANT NOW?	NO2	
	Unsure or DK8	
CP2. SOME PEOPLE USE VARIOUS WAYS OR	Vec 1	
ARE YOU CURRENTLY DOING SOMETHING OR		
USING ANY METHOD TO DELAY OR AVOID	No2	2⇔ NEXT
GETTING PREGNANT?		MODULE
CP3. WHICH METHOD ARE YOU USING?	Female sterilizationA Male sterilization	
Do not prompt.	Pill	
If more than one method is mentioned, circle each	IUDD	
one.	InjectionsE	
	Male condomG	
	Female condomH	
	DiaphragmI	
	Lactation amenorrhea	
	method (LAM)K	
	Periodic abstinenceL Withdrawal	
	With Graver	
	Other (specify) X	
HIV/AIDS MODULE		HA
HA1. NOW I WOULD LIKE TO TALK WITH YOU	Voc. 4	
ABOUT SOMETHING ELSE.	165	
HAVE YOU EVER HEARD OF THE VIRUS HIV	No2	2⇔ NEXT
OR AN ILLNESS CALLED AIDS?	Vaa	MODULE
GETTING INFECTED WITH THE AIDS VIRUS BY	1 No	
HAVING ONE SEX PARTNER WHO IS NOT		

INFECTED AND ALSO HAS NO OTHER PARTNERS?	DK8	
HA3 CAN PEOPLE GET INFECTED WITH THE AIDS	Yes 1	
VIRUS BECAUSE OF WITCHCRAFT OR OTHER	No	
SUPERNATURAL MEANS?	DK	
HA4. CAN PEOPLE REDUCE THEIR CHANCE OF	Yes1	
GETTING THE AIDS VIRUS BY USING A	No2	
CONDOM EVERY TIME THEY HAVE SEX?	DK8	
HA5. CAN PEOPLE GET THE AIDS VIRUS FROM	Yes1	
MOSQUITO BITES?	No2	
	DK8	
HA6. CAN PEOPLE REDUCE THEIR CHANCE OF	Yes1	
GETTING INFECTED WITH THE AIDS VIRUS BY	No2	
NOT HAVING SEX AT ALL?	DK8	
HA7. CAN PEOPLE GET THE AIDS VIRUS BY	Yes1	
SHARING FOOD WITH A PERSON WHO HAS	No2	
AIDS?	DK8	
HA7A. CAN PEOPLE GET THE AIDS VIRUS BY	Yes1	
GETTING INJECTIONS WITH A NEEDLE THAT	No2	
WAS ALREADY USED BY SOMEONE ELSE?	DK	
HA8. IS IT POSSIBLE FOR A HEALTHY-LOOKING	Yes1	
PERSON TO HAVE THE AIDS VIRUS?	N0	
	0K0	
EROM & MOTHER TO & RARY?		
FROM A MOTHER TO A BABT?	Yes No DK	
HA9A DURING PREGNANCY2	During pregnancy 1 2 8	
HA9B DUBING DELIVERY?	During delivery 1 2 8	
HA9C BY BREASTEEEDING?	By breastfeeding 1 2 8	
HA10 IF A FEMALE TEACHER HAS THE AIDS	Yes 1	
VIRUS BUT IS NOT SICK, SHOULD SHE BE	No. 2	
ALLOWED TO CONTINUE TEACHING IN	DK/not sure/depends 8	
SCHOOL?		
HA11. WOULD YOU BUY FRESH VEGETABLES	Yes1	
FROM A SHOPKEEPER OR VENDOR IF YOU	No2	
KNEW THAT THIS PERSON HAD THE AIDS	DK/not sure/depends 8	
VIRUS?		
HA12. IF A MEMBER OF YOUR FAMILY BECAME	Yes1	
INFECTED WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD	No2	
YOU WANT IT TO REMAIN A SECRET?	DK/not sure/depends 8	
HA13 IE & MEMBER OF VOUR FAMILY RECAME	Divisional and poind of	
TIATS. IF A MEMBER OF TOOR FAMILT BECAME	Yes1	
SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU	Yes1 No2	
SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR	Yes	
SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD?	Yes	
SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS,	Yes	
SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF	Yes1 No2 DK/not sure/depends8 Yes1	
SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 2 Yes 2 Yes 2	2⇔HA18
HATS. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS?	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Wes 1 No. 2	2⇔HA18
HA15. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2	2⇔HA18
HA15. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN	Yes 1 No 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2	2⇔HA18
INATOL IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS?	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2	2⇔HA18
HA15. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST,	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Asked for the test 1	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT
 HA10. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST, WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED, 	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Asked for the test 1	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE
 HA10. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST, WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED, OR WAS IT REQUIRED? 	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT
 HA10. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST, WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED, OR WAS IT REQUIRED? (MAY HAVE MORE THAN ONE ANSWER) 	Yes 1 No 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT MODULE
 HA10. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST, WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED, OR WAS IT REQUIRED? (MAY HAVE MORE THAN ONE ANSWER) 	Yes 1 No 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2 Required 3	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT MODULE 3⇔NEXT
 HATS. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST, WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED, OR WAS IT REQUIRED? (MAY HAVE MORE THAN ONE ANSWER) 	Yes 1 No 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2 Required 3	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT MODULE 3⇔NEXT MODULE
 HA10. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST, WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED, OR WAS IT REQUIRED? (MAY HAVE MORE THAN ONE ANSWER) HA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE 	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2 Required 3	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT MODULE 3⇔NEXT MODULE
 HA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE HA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE 	Yes 1 No. 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Yes 1 No. 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2 Required 3 Yes 1	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT MODULE 3⇔NEXT MODULE
 HA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE HA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE WHA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE WHERE YOU CAN GO TO GET SUCH A TEST TO 	Yes 1 No 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2 Required 3 Yes 1 No 2	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT MODULE 3⇔NEXT MODULE
 HA13. IF A MEMBER OF FOUR PAMILT BECAME SICK WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD? HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS, BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES AIDS? HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN TOLD THE RESULTS? HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST, WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED, OR WAS IT REQUIRED? (MAY HAVE MORE THAN ONE ANSWER) HA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE WHERE YOU CAN GO TO GET SUCH A TEST TO SEE IF YOU HAVE THE AIDS VIRUS? 	Yes 1 No 2 DK/not sure/depends 8 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Yes 1 No 2 Asked for the test 1 Offered and accepted 2 Required 3 Yes 1 No 2	2⇔HA18 1⇔NEXT MODULE 2⇔NEXT MODULE 3⇔NEXT MODULE

MICS QUESTIONNAIRE FOR INDIVIDUAL WOMEN (NEVER-

MARRIED)

WOMEN'S INFORMATION PANEL

This module is to be administered to all women age 15 through 49 (see column HL6 of HH listing).

Fill in one form for each eligible woman

Fill in the cluster and household number, and the name and line number of the woman in the space below. Fill in your name, number and the date.

WM

WM1. Cluster number:	WM2. Household number:
WM3. Woman's Name:	WM4. Woman's Line Number:
WM5.Interviewer name and number:	WM6. Day/Month/Year of interview:
WM7. Result of women's interview	Completed 1 Not at home 2 Refused 3 Partly completed 4 Incapacitated 5 Other (specify) 6

Repeat greeting if not already read to this woman:

WE ARE FROM MINISTRY OF HEALTH. WE ARE WORKING ON A PROJECT CONCERNED WITH FAMILY HEALTH AND EDUCATION. I WOULD LIKE TO TALK TO YOU ABOUT THIS. THE INTERVIEW WILL TAKE ABOUT (30) MINUTES. ALL THE INFORMATION WE OBTAIN WILL REMAIN STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL AND YOUR ANSWERS WILL NEVER BE IDENTIFIED. ALSO, YOU ARE NOT OBLIGED TO ANSWER ANY QUESTION YOU DON'T WANT TO, AND YOU MAY WITHDRAW FROM THE INTERVIEW AT ANY TIME. MAY I START NOW?

If permission is given, begin the interview. If the woman does not agree to continue, thank her, complete WM7, and go to the next interview. Discuss this result with your supervisor for a future revisit.

WM8. IN WHAT MONTH AND YEAR WERE YOU BORN?	Date of birth: Month	
WM9. HOW OLD WERE YOU AT YOUR LAST BIRTHDAY?	Age (in completed years)	
WM10. HAVE YOU EVER ATTENDED SCHOOL?	Yes1 No2	2⇔WM14
WM11. WHAT IS THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF SCHOOL YOU ATTENDED: PRIMARY, SECONDARY OR HIGHER?	Primary1 Secondary2 Higher3 Non-standard curriculum6	1⇔WM14 2,3⇔NEXT MODULE 6⇔WM14
WM12. WHAT IS THE HIGHEST GRADE YOU COMPLETED AT THAT LEVEL?	Grade	
 MW14. Now, I WOULD LIKE YOU TO READ THIS SENTENCE TO ME. Show the sentences to respondents. If respondent cannot read whole sentence, probe: CAN YOU READ PART OF THE SENTENCE TO ME? 1. Teacher comes near to me. 2. Younger brother is writing. 3. White and red lotuses are blooming beside the hut in the field. 4. U Thar San is carrying eggplant and limes. 5. Seeds are throwing in the field under the sunshine. Have an apple. 	Cannot read at all	

HIV/AIDS MODULE		HA
HA1. NOW I WOULD LIKE TO TALK WITH YOU ABOUT	Yes1	
SOMETHING ELSE.		
HAVE YOU EVER HEARD OF THE VIRUS HIV OR AN	No2	2⇔ NEXT
ILLNESS CALLED AIDS?		MODULE
HA2. CAN PEOPLE PROTECT THEMSELVES FROM	Yes1	
GETTING INFECTED WITH THE AIDS VIRUS BY	No2	
HAVING ONE SEX PARTNER WHO IS NOT	DK 8	
INFECTED AND ALSO HAS NO OTHER	0 DK 0	
HA3 CAN PEOPLE GET INFECTED WITH THE AIDS	Vpc 1	
VIRUS BECAUSE OF WITCHCRAFT OR OTHER	No 2	
SUPERNATURAL MEANS?	DK 8	
HA4. CAN PEOPLE REDUCE THEIR CHANCE OF	Yes	
GETTING THE AIDS VIRUS BY USING A	No2	
CONDOM EVERY TIME THEY HAVE SEX?	DK8	
HA5. CAN PEOPLE GET THE AIDS VIRUS FROM	Yes1	
MOSQUITO BITES?	No2	
	DK8	
HA6. CAN PEOPLE REDUCE THEIR CHANCE OF	Yes1	
GETTING INFECTED WITH THE AIDS VIRUS BY	No	
NOT HAVING SEX AT ALL?	DK8	
HA7. CAN PEOPLE GET THE AIDS VIRUS BY	Yes1	
SHARING FOOD WITH A PERSON WHO HAS	No	
	DK	
	1 No. 2	
WAS ALREADY LISED BY SOMEONE ELSE?	NO2	
HAS IS IT POSSIBLE FOR A HEALTHY-LOOKING	Vec 1	
PERSON TO HAVE THE AIDS VIRUS?	No. 2	
	DK	
HA9. CAN THE AIDS VIRUS BE TRANSMITTED		
FROM A MOTHER TO A BABY?		
	Yes No DK	
HA9A. DURING PREGNANCY?	During pregnancy1 2 8	
HA9B. DURING DELIVERY?	During delivery 1 2 8	
HA9C. BY BREASTFEEDING?	By breastfeeding 1 2 8	
HA10. IF A FEMALE TEACHER HAS THE AIDS VIRUS	Yes1	
BUT IS NOT SICK, SHOULD SHE BE ALLOWED TO	No2	
CONTINUE TEACHING IN SCHOOL?	DK/not sure/depends	
HA11. WOULD YOU BUY FRESH VEGETABLES FROM	Yes1	
A SHOPKEEPER OR VENDOR IF YOU KNEW THAT	NO2	
	Vec 1	
INFECTED WITH THE AIDS VIPUS WOULD YOU	No 2	
WANT IT TO REMAIN A SECRET?	DK/not sure/depends 8	
HA13. IF A MEMBER OF YOUR FAMILY BECAME SICK	Yes 1	
WITH THE AIDS VIRUS, WOULD YOU BE WILLING	No	
TO CARE FOR HIM OR HER IN YOUR	DK/not sure/depends	
HOUSEHOLD?		
HA15. I DO NOT WANT TO KNOW THE RESULTS,	Yes1	
BUT HAVE YOU EVER BEEN TESTED TO SEE IF		
YOU HAVE HIV, THE VIRUS THAT CAUSES	No2	2⇔HA18
AIDS?		
HA16. I DO NOT WANT YOU TO TELL ME THE	Yes1	
RESULTS OF THE TEST, BUT HAVE YOU BEEN	No2	
TOLD THE RESULTS?		
HA17. DID YOU, YOURSELF, ASK FOR THE TEST.	Asked for the test 1	1⇔NEXT
WAS IT OFFERED TO YOU AND YOU ACCEPTED,		MODULE
OR WAS IT REQUIRED?	Offered and accepted2	2⇔NEXT
(MAY HAVE MORE THAN ONE ANSWER)		MODULE
	Required3	3⇔next
		MODULE

HA18. AT THIS TIME, DO YOU KNOW OF A PLACE WHERE YOU CAN GO TO GET SUCH A TEST TO SEE IF YOU HAVE THE AIDS VIRUS?	Yes1	
	No2	



UNDER-FIVE CHILD INFORMATION PANEL UF				
This questionnaire is to be administered to all mothers or caretakers (see household listing, column HL8) who care for a child that lives with them and is under the age of 5 years (see household listing, column HL5). A separate questionnaire should be used for each eligible child. Fill in the cluster and household number, and names and line numbers of the child and the mother/caretaker in the space below. Insert your own name and number, and the date.				
UF1. Cluster number:	UF2. Household number:			
UF3. Child's Name:	UF4. Child's Line Number:			
UF5. Mother's/Caretaker's Name:	UF6. Mother's/Caretaker's Line Number:			
UF7. Interviewer name and number:	UF8. Day/Month/Year of interview:			
	/			
UF9. Result of interview for children under 5	Completed1			
(Codes refer to mother/caretaker.)	Not at home 2 Refused 3 Partly completed 4 Incapacitated 5			
	Other (specify) 6			

Repeat greeting if not already read to this respondent:

WE ARE FROM MINISTRY OF HEALTH. WE ARE WORKING ON A PROJECT CONCERNED WITH FAMILY HEALTH AND EDUCATION. I WOULD LIKE TO TALK TO YOU ABOUT THIS. THE INTERVIEW WILL TAKE ABOUT (30) MINUTES. ALL THE INFORMATION WE OBTAIN WILL REMAIN STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL AND YOUR ANSWERS WILL NEVER BE IDENTIFIED. ALSO, YOU ARE NOT OBLIGED TO ANSWER ANY QUESTION YOU DON'T WANT TO, AND YOU MAY WITHDRAW FROM THE INTERVIEW AT ANY TIME. MAY I START NOW?

If permission is given, begin the interview. If the respondent does not agree to continue, thank him/her and go to the next interview.Discuss this result with your supervisor for a future revisit.

In the information value content of the day; otherwise, circle 98 for day. UF11. How OLD WAS (name) AT HIS/HER LAST BIRTHDAY? Age in completed years.	UF10. Now I would like to ask you some QUESTIONS ABOUT THE HEALTH OF EACH CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 5 IN YOUR CARE, WHO LIVES WITH YOU NOW. Now I WANT TO ASK YOU ABOUT (<i>name</i>). IN WHAT MONTH AND YEAR WAS (<i>name</i>) BORN? <i>Probe:</i> WHAT IS HIS/HER BIRTHDAY?	Date of birth: Day	
day. UF11. How OLD WAS (name) AT HIS/HER LAST BIRTHDAY? Age in completed years Record age in completed years. (math display="block")	date, also enter the day; otherwise, circle 98 for		
UF11. How OLD WAS (name) AT HIS/HER LAST BIRTHDAY? Age in completed years	day.		
Record age in completed years.	UF11. HOW OLD WAS (<i>name</i>) AT HIS/HER LAST BIRTHDAY?	Age in completed years	
	Record age in completed years.		

BIRTH REGISTRATION AND EARLY	LEARNING N	MODUL	Æ			BR
BR1. DOES (name) HAVE A BIRTH CERTIFICATE?	Yes, seen				1	1⇔BR5
MAY I SEE IT?	Yes, not seen				2	
	No				3	
	חא				8	
BR2 HAS (name's) BIRTH BEEN REGISTERED WITH	Yes				1	1⇔BR5
THE CIVIL AUTHORITIES?	No			•••••	2	
	DK				8	8⇔BR4
BR3. WHY IS (name's) BIRTH NOT REGISTERED?	Costs too muc	h			1	
	Must travel too	o far			2	
(IF THERE HAS MORE THAN ONE REASON, RECORD	Did not know i	t should b	be regist	ered	3	
MOST IMPORTANT ONE)	Did not want to	o pay fine			4	
	Does not know	v where to	o registe	r	5	
	Others (16)					
	Other (specify)				_ 6	
	UK				0	
CHILD'S BIRTH?	No				2	
BR5.Check age of child in UF11: Child is 3 or 4 year	rs old?					
	o oran					
☐ Yes.						
□No. ⇔Go to BR8						
BR6. DOES (name) ATTEND ANY ORGANIZED	Yes				1	
LEARNING OR EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION					~	
PROGRAMME, SUCH AS A PRIVATE OR	NO	•••••	•••••	•••••	2	2⇔BR8
GOVERNMENT FACILITY, INCLUDING	חא				8	
BR7 WITHIN THE LAST SEVEN DAYS ABOUT HOW	DR				0	0-7 DINO
MANY HOURS DID (name) ATTEND?	No. of hours					
BR8. IN THE PAST 3 DAYS, DID YOU OR ANY						
HOUSEHOLD MEMBER OVER 15 YEARS OF						
AGE ENGAGE IN ANY OF THE FOLLOWING						
ACTIVITIES WITH (name):						
If yes, ask: WHO ENGAGED IN THIS ACTIVITY WITH						
THE CHILD - THE MOTHER, THE CHILD'S FATHER						
OR ANOTHER ADULT MEMBER OF THE						
HOUSEHOLD (INCLUDING THE						
Circle all that apply		Mother	Father	Other	No one	
BR8A READ BOOKS OF LOOK AT PICTURE BOOKS		would	raulei	Oulei	NO ONE	
WITH (name)?	Books	A	В	Х	Y	
BR8B TELL STORIES TO (name)?	Stories	Δ	в	x	Y	
	Clones	~	D	~	•	
BR8c. SING SONGS WITH (name)?	Songs	А	В	х	Y	
BR8D. TAKE (name) OUTSIDE THE HOME,	Take outside	Δ	B	x	×	
COMPOUND, YARD OR ENCLOSURE?	Take outside	~	Б	^		
BR8E. PLAY WITH (name)?	Play with	А	в	х	Y	
BR8F. SPEND TIME WITH (name) NAMING,	Spend time	_	-			
COUNTING, AND/OR DRAWING PEOPLE,	with	A	В	х	Y	
ANIMALS AND THINGS?						

Version 1. 20101229					
VITAMIN A MODULE		VA			
VA1. HAS (<i>name</i>) EVER RECEIVED A VITAMIN A CAPSULE (SUPPLEMENT) LIKE THIS ONE?	Yes	2⇔next MODULE			
Show capsule or dispenser for different doses – 100,000 IU for those 6-11 months old, 200,000 IU for those 12-59 months old.	DK8	8⇔NEXT MODULE			
VA2. HOW MANY MONTHS AGO DID (name) TAKE THE LAST DOSE?	Months ago				
	DK 98				
VA3. WHERE DID (name) GET THIS LAST DOSE?	Regular distribution by health staff				
	Other (specify) 6				
	DK8				
BREASTFEEDING MODULE		BF			
BF1. HAS (name) EVER BEEN BREASTFED?	Yes	2⇔BF3			
	DK	8⇔BF3			
BF2. IS HE/SHE STILL BEING BREASTFED?	Yes1 No2				
	DK				
BF3. SINCE THIS TIME YESTERDAY, DID HE/SHE RECEIVE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING:					
Read each item aloud and record response before proceeding to the next item.	Y N DK				
BF3A. VITAMIN, MINERAL SUPPLEMENTS OR	A. Vitamin supplements 1 2 8				
BF3B. PLAIN WATER? BF3C. SWEETENED. FLAVOURED WATER OR	B. Plain water				
FRUIT JUICE OR TEA OR INFUSION? BF3D. ORAL REHYDRATION SOLUTION (ORS)? BF3E. INFANT FORMULA? BF3F. TINNED, POWDERED OR FRESH MILK? BF3G. ANY OTHER LIQUIDS? BF3H. SOLID OR SEMI-SOLID (MUSHY) FOOD?	D. ORS				
BF4. Check BF3H: Child received solid or semi-solid (mushy) food?					
□ Yes. ⇔ Continue with BF5					
\square No or DK. \Rightarrow Go to Next Module					
BF5. SINCE THIS TIME YESTERDAY, HOW MANY TIMES DID (name) EAT SOLID, SEMI-SOLID, OR SOLT FOODS OTHER THAN HOURDS?	No. of times				
If 7 or more times, record '7'.	Don't know				

CARE OF ILLNESS MODULE		CA
CA1. HAS (name) HAD DIARRHOEA IN THE LAST	Yes 1	
TWO WEEKS, THAT IS, SINCE (day of the week)		
OF THE WEEK BEFORE LAST?	No2	2⇔CA5
Diarrhoea is determined as perceived by	DK8	8⇔CA5
mother or caretaker, or as three or more loose		
or watery stools per day, or blood in stool.		
CA2. DURING THIS LAST EPISODE OF DIARRHOEA,		
DID (name) DRINK ANY OF THE FOLLOWING:		
Read each item aloud and record response		
before proceeding to the next item.	Yes No DK	
CA2A, A FLUID MADE FROM A SPECIAL PACKET		
CALLED (local name for ORS packet solution)?	A. Fluid from ORS packet 1 2 8	
CA2B. GOVERNMENT-RECOMMENDED HOMEMADE		
FLUID?	B. Homemade fluid made of	
CA3 DURING (name's) ILLNESS DID HE/SHE DRINK	Much less or none 1	
MUCH LESS, ABOUT THE SAME, OR MORE THAN	About the same (or somewhat less)	
USUAL?	More	
	DK	
LESS ABOUT THE SAME OF MORE FOOD THAN	None	
USUAL?	Somewhat less	
	About the same4	
If "less", probe:	More	
MUCH LESS OR A LITTLE LESS?	DK A	
CA5 HAS (name) HAD AN ILLNESS WITH A COLICH	DK	
AT ANY TIME IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS. THAT IS.	No	2⇔CA14
SINCE (day of the week) OF THE WEEK BEFORE		
LAST?	DK8	8⇔CA14
CA6. WHEN (name) HAD AN ILLNESS WITH A	Yes1	
COUGH, DID HE/SHE BREATHE FASTER THAN	No2	2⇔CA14
DIFFICULTY BREATHING?	DK	8⇔CA14
CA7. WERE THE SYMPTOMS DUE TO A PROBLEM IN	Problem in chest	
THE CHEST OR A BLOCKED NOSE?	Blocked nose2	2⇔CA14
	Both	
	Other (specify) 6	6⇔CA14
	DK	
CA8. DID YOU SEEK ADVICE OR TREATMENT FOR	Yes1	
THE ILLNESS OUTSIDE THE HOME?	No2	2⇔CA10
	DK a	0
	DK8	8⇔CA10

CA9. FROM WHERE DID YOU SEEK CARE?	Public sector	
	Govt. hospitalA	
ANYWHERE ELSE?	Govt. health centre (RHC)B	
	Govt, health post (Sub-center)C	
Circle all providers mentioned	Village health worker	
but do NOT prompt with any suggestions	Mobile/outreach clinic E	
but do NOT prompt with any suggestions.	LIHC/MCH center	
	Traditional medicine clinic	
	Other public (masifu)	
If source is hospital, health center, or clinic,		
write the name of the place below. Probe to	Drivete medical exeter	
identify the type of source and circle the	Private medical sector	
appropriate code	Private hospitalI	
appropriate code.	Private physician J	
	Private pharmacyK	
	Mobile clinicL	
	Traditional medicine clinicM	
(Name of place)		
(**************************************	Other private	
	medical (specify) O	
	(1 57)	
	Other source	
	Relative or friend P	
	Shon	
	010pQ	
	Other (specify)	
CATU. WAS (name) GIVEN MEDICINE TO TREAT	Yes	220444
THIS ILLNESS?	No2	2⇔CA14
	DK8	8⇔CA14
	A set the Let the	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (name) GIVEN?	AntibioticA	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (name) GIVEN?	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (name) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (name) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/carataker	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY Child not able to drink or breastfeedA Child becomes sicker	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (name) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker.	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY Child not able to drink or breastfeedA Child becomes sickerB Child develops a fever	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker.	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY DKY Child not able to drink or breastfeedA Child becomes sickerB Child develops a feverC Child has fast breathing	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY DKY Child not able to drink or breastfeedA Child becomes sickerB Child develops a feverC Child has fast breathingD Child has difficult breathingD	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY DKY Child not able to drink or breastfeedA Child becomes sickerB Child becomes sickerB Child develops a feverC Child has fast breathingD Child has difficult breathingE	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY.	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY DKY Child not able to drink or breastfeedA Child becomes sickerB Child becomes sickerB Child develops a feverC Child has fast breathingD Child has difficult breathingE Child has blood in stoolF	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed. A Child becomes sicker. B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing. D Child has difficult breathing. E Child has blood in stool. F Child is eating or drinking poorly. G	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH	AntibioticA Paracetamol/ PanadolP Cough tablets/syrupQ Vitamins/ tonicR Others (Specify)X DKY DKY Child not able to drink or breastfeedA Child becomes sickerB Child becomes sickerB Child develops a feverC Child has fast breathingD Child has fast breathingE Child has blood in stoolF Child is eating or drinking poorlyG	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH FACILITY RIGHT AWAY?	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed. A Child becomes sicker. B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing. D Child has difficult breathing. E Child has blood in stool. F Child is eating or drinking poorly. G Other (specify) X	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH FACILITY RIGHT AWAY?	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed. A Child becomes sicker. B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing. D Child has difficult breathing. E Child is eating or drinking poorly. G Other (specify) X	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH FACILITY RIGHT AWAY? Keep asking for more signs or symptoms until	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed. A Child becomes sicker. B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing. D Child has difficult breathing. E Child is eating or drinking poorly. G Other (specify) X Other (specify) Y	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (name) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH FACILITY RIGHT AWAY? Keep asking for more signs or symptoms until the mother/caretaker cannot recall any	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed A Child becomes sicker B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing D Child has difficult breathing E Child is eating or drinking poorly G Other (specify) X Other (specify) Y	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH FACILITY RIGHT AWAY? Keep asking for more signs or symptoms until the mother/caretaker cannot recall any additional symptoms	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed A Child becomes sicker. B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing D Child has difficult breathing. E Child is eating or drinking poorly. G Other (<i>specify</i>) X Other (<i>specify</i>) Y Other (<i>specify</i>) Y	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (name) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH FACILITY RIGHT AWAY? Keep asking for more signs or symptoms until the mother/caretaker cannot recall any additional symptoms.	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed A Child becomes sicker. B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing D Child has difficult breathing. E Child is eating or drinking poorly. G Other (<i>specify</i>) X Other (<i>specify</i>) Y Other (<i>specify</i>) Y	
CA11. WHAT MEDICINE WAS (<i>name</i>) GIVEN? CIRCLE ALL MEDICINES GIVEN Ask the following question (CA14) only once for each mother/caretaker. CA14. SOMETIMES CHILDREN HAVE SEVERE ILLNESSES AND SHOULD BE TAKEN IMMEDIATELY TO A HEALTH FACILITY. WHAT TYPES OF SYMPTOMS WOULD CAUSE YOU TO TAKE YOUR CHILD TO A HEALTH FACILITY RIGHT AWAY? Keep asking for more signs or symptoms until the mother/caretaker cannot recall any additional symptoms. Circle all symptoms mentioned,	Antibiotic. A Paracetamol/ Panadol. P Cough tablets/syrup Q Vitamins/ tonic. R Others (Specify) X DK Y Child not able to drink or breastfeed A Child becomes sicker. B Child develops a fever C Child has fast breathing D Child has difficult breathing. E Child is eating or drinking poorly. G Other (<i>specify</i>) X Other (<i>specify</i>) Y Other (<i>specify</i>) Y	

IMMUNIZATION MODULE IM										
If an immunization card is available, copy the dates in IM2-IM8 for each type of immunization or vitamin A dose recorded on the card. IM10-IM18 are for recording vaccinations that are not recorded on the card. IM10-IM18										
IM1. IS THERE A VACCINATION CARD FOR (name)?	Yes.	seen						1	
		Yes, not seen					2⇔IM10			
		No							3	3⇔IM10
(a) Copy dates for each vaccination fro	m the			Date	of Im	muniz	ation			
(b) Write '44' in day column if card sh	ows that	DA	٩Y	MO	NTH		YE	AR		
vaccination was given but no date	onsulut									
recorded.										
IM2. BCG BC	CG									
IM3B. POLIO 1 O	PV1									
IM3c. Polio 2 O	PV2									
IM3D. POLIO 3 O	PV3									
IM4A. DPT1 DI	PT1									
IM4B. DPT2 DI	PT2									
IM4c. DPT3 DI	PT3									
IM5A. HEPB1 H	1									
ІМ5в. НЕРВ2 Н2	2									
IM5C. HEPB3 H3	3									
IM6. MEASLES (1) M	EASLES1									
IM8A. VITAMIN A (1) VI	тА1									
IM8B. VITAMIN A (2) VI	TA2									
IM9. IN ADDITION TO THE VACCINATIONS AN VITAMIN A CAPSULES SHOWN ON THIS	ND CARD,	Yes.							1	1⇔IM19
DID (name) RECEIVE ANY OTHER	IONE	(Prol	(Probe for vaccinations and write '66' in the							
RECEIVED IN CAMPAIGNS OR IMMUNIZA	TION	corre	spone	ling da	ay con	umn o	n IM2	to IM	8B.)	
DAYS?		No							2	2⇔IM19
Record 'Yes' only if respondent mentio	ns					8⇔IM19				
Measles, or Vitamin A supplements.	-3,	DK							0	0 - IN 10
If the child does not have immunizat	ion card	ask f	from 1	M10	to IM	18 an	d circ	le the	answ	vered code
IM10. HAS (name) EVER RECEIVED ANY	ion cui u,	Yes.							1	
VACCINATIONS TO PREVENT HIM/HER F	ROM						0			
GETTING DISEASES, INCLUDING VACCIN RECEIVED IN A CAMPAIGN OR IMMUNIZ	NATIONS ATION	i No2 2⇔IM19					2⇔IM19			
DAY?		DK8					8	8⇔IM19		
IM11. HAS (name) EVER BEEN GIVEN A BC	G	Yes.							1	
VACCINATION AGAINST TUBERCULOSIS	- THAT	No							2	
7 DAYS TO ONE AND A HALF MONTH OF	AGE								2	
THAT CAUSED A SCAR?		DK							8	
INITZ. HAS (name) EVER BEEN GIVEN ANY "VACCINATION DROPS IN THE MOUTH"	0	Yes.							1	
PROTECT HIM/HER FROM GETTING DISE	EASES -	No							2	2⇔IM15

THAT IS, POLIO?		8⇔IM15			
IM13. HOW OLD WAS HE/SHE WHEN THE FIRST DOSE WAS GIVEN – JUST AFTER BIRTH (WITHIN TWO WEEKS) OR LATER?	Just after birth (within two weeks)1				
IM14. HOW MANY TIMES HAS HE/SHE BEEN GIVEN					
THESE DROPS?	No. of times				
IM15. HAS (<i>name</i>) EVER BEEN GIVEN "DPT VACCINATION INJECTIONS" – THAT IS, AN INJECTION IN THE THIGH OR BUTTOCKS AT THE	Yes1 No2	2⇔IM16a			
AGE OF ONE AND A HALF, TWO AND A HALF AND THREE AND A HALF MONTHS - TO PREVENT	DK	8⇔IM16A			
COUGH, DIPHTHERIA?					
IM16. HOW MANY TIMES?					
	No. of times				
	DK				
IM16A. HAS (name) EVER BEEN GIVEN "HEPATITIS	Yes1				
INJECTION IN THE THIGH OR BUTTOCKS AT THE AGE OF ONE AND A HALF. TWO AND A HALF AND	No2	2⇔IM17			
THREE AND A HALF MONTHS – TO PREVENT HIM/HER FROM HEPATITIS?	DK 8	8⇔IM17			
IM16B. HOW MANY TIMES?					
	No. of times				
	DK				
IM17. HAS (name) EVER BEEN GIVEN "MEASLES	Yes1				
IN THE ARM AT THE AGE OF 9 MONTHS OR	No2				
MEASLES?	DK 8				
IM19.Please tell me if (<i>name</i>) has participated in any of the following campaigns, national immunization days:					
IM19a. 2009 January 10 national immunization day (campaign A) IM19b. 2009 February 7 national immunization day (campaign B)	Y N DK Campaign A1 2 8 Campaign B1 2 8				
Does another eligible child reside in the household for whom this respondent is mother/caretaker? Check household listing, column HL8.					
□ Yes. ⇔ End the current questionnaire and then					

Go to QUESTIONNAIRE FOR CHILDREN UNDER FIVE to administer the questionnaire for the next eligible child.

 \square No. \Rightarrow End the interview with this respondent by thanking him/her for his/her cooperation.

If this is the last eligible child in the household, go on to ANTHROPOMETRY MODULE.

ANTHROPOMETRY MODULE		AN			
After questionnaires for all children are complete, the measurer weighs and measures each child.					
Record weight and length/height below, taking care to record the measurements on the correct questionnaire for					
each child. Check the child's name and line number on the household listing before recording measurements.					
AN1. Child's weight.					
	Kilograms (kg)				
AN2. Child's length or height.					
Check age of child in UF11:					
\Box Child under 2 years old \Rightarrow Measure length	Length (cm)				
(lying down).	Lying down 1				
	Height (cm)				
□ Child age 2 or more years. → Measure	Standing up2				
AN3 Measurer's identification code					
ANS. Measurer's identification code.					
	Measurer code				
AN4. Result of measurement.					
	Measured 1				
	Not present2				
	Refused3				
	Other (specify) 6				
AN5. Is there another child in the household who is eligible for measurement?					
□ Yes. ⇔ Record measurements for next child.					
\Box No. \Rightarrow End the interview with this household by thanking all participants for their cooperation.					

Gather together all questionnaires for this household and check that all identification numbers are inserted on each page. Tally on the Household Information Panel the number of interviews completed.